

The TAP-Plus Approach to Anti-Corruption in the Natural Resource Value Chain

JUNE 2020

Norman Eisen Daniel Kaufmann Nathaniel Heller J. Preston Whitt Mario G. Picón Victoria Bassetti John Hudak

With Theodore Becker-Jacob, Andrew Kenealy, Kelsey Landau, Robin Lewis, Jimena Montoya Villavicencio Christine Stenglein, Praneetha Vissapragada



About the Leveraging Transparency to Reduce Corruption (LTRC) Project

LTRC is a global initiative launched in 2017 by the Brookings Institution, with Results for Development and the Natural Resource Governance Institute, to develop and disseminate leading practices for reducing corruption along the natural resource value chain that are grounded in rigorous evidence and field work.

LTRC is an action-research initiative that seeks to identify and advance discussion of evidence-informed transparency, accountability, and participation policies and programs. We pilot adapted interventions in the extractives sector (one of the most corruption-challenged industries in the world) to tackle governance issues identified by local and global stakeholders. LTRC scales up and rigorously evaluates the most promising strategies from among those pilots.

LTRC's principal objectives are to increase stakeholder knowledge and understanding of the most effective ways to tackle corruption risks along the natural resource value chain, and to improve sustainable development outcomes through the reduction or prevention of corruption.

About the Brookings Institution

The Brookings Institution is a nonprofit organization devoted to independent research and policy solutions. Its mission is to conduct high-quality, independent research and, based on that research, to provide innovative, practical recommendations for policymakers and the public. The conclusions and recommendations of any Brookings publication are solely those of its author(s), and do not reflect the views of the Institution, its management, or its other scholars.

This publication is based on research primarily funded by the BHP Foundation. The findings, interpretations, and conclusions in this report are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect positions or policies of the BHP Foundation or other donors. Brookings recognizes that the value it provides is in its absolute commitment to quality, independence, and impact. Activities supported by its donors reflect this commitment.



The TAP-Plus Approach to Anti-Corruption in the Natural Resource Value Chain

JUNE 2020

Norman Eisen Daniel Kaufmann Nathaniel Heller J. Preston Whitt Mario G. Picón Victoria Bassetti John Hudak

With Theodore Becker-Jacob, Andrew Kenealy, Kelsey Landau, Robin Lewis, Jimena Montoya Villavicencio, Christine Stenglein, Praneetha Vissapragada

Table of Contents

Acknowledgments	5
Executive Summary	6
Introduction	11
The Challenge of Natural Resource Corruption	11
The Leveraging Transparency to Reduce Corruption Project	14
Chapter One: Corruption Along the Natural Resource Value Chain	19
1.1 Defining and Measuring Corruption	19
1.2 Resource Wealth, Corruption, and Development Outcomes: The Resource Curse 1.2.a The Resource Curse and Democracy	
1.2.b The Resource Curse and Conflict 1.2.c The Resource Curse and Corruption	
1.3 Corruption Risks Along the Natural Resource Value Chain 1.3.a NRVC Step 1: Acquiring the Consent of Affected Communities	29
1.3.b NRVC Step 2: Contracting and Licensing the Rights to Extract 1.3.c NRVC Step 3: Extracting and Producing the Resource	32
1.3.d NRVC Step 4: Revenue Collection and Taxation 1.3.e NRVC Step 5: Revenue Expenditure and Investment	40
1.4 Conclusion	43
Chapter Two: Improving Governance through Transparency, Accountability, and Participation	
2.1 Additional Definitions	45
2.2 The Evolution of Our Understanding of Transparency, Accountability, and Participation	
2.2.b The Freedom of Information Movement	
2.2.c Participation	56
2.2.d Accountability	58
2.2.e Transparency, Accountability, and Participation	63
2.3 The Implementation Gap	67
2.4 Publish What You Pay and The Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative	70
2.4.a Publish What You Pay and The Early History of the EITI: A Focus on Transparency Alone	70
2.4.b EITI's Evolutions: Expanding the Standard Across the NRVC	
2.4.c EITI's Success and Shortcomings	80
2.5 Conclusion	89

Chapter Three: The Role of Context	
3.1 The Importance of Context	
3.2 Contextual Factors	
3.2.a State Capture	
3.2.b Social Trust, Political Trust, and Conflict	
3.2.c Civic Space and Media Freedom	
3.2.d Rule of Law	
3.2.e Government Effectiveness and Capacity	
3.3 Recent Interventions Reflecting TAP with Contextual Considerations	
3.4 Conclusion	
Chapter Four: Actioning the TAP-Plus Approach	
Key Institutions, Structures, and Programs Affecting TAP-Plus Strategies: Three Examples	
4.1.a State-Owned Enterprise Reforms	
4.1.b Sovereign Wealth Funds	
4.1.c Beneficial Ownership Screening and Verification Programs	
4.2 Considering Pilot Opportunities	
4.2.a Investigative Journalism of Beneficial Ownership Data in Mongolia	
4.2.b Citizen Engagement and Bottom-Up Accountability in Nigerian Budget Tracking	
4.3 Conclusion	
Conclusion	
Annex 1: Description and Limitations of the LTRC Literature Review Process	
Annex 2: Unpacking the Resource Curse by Type of Resource	
Annex 3: Different Micro/Macro-Level Relationships for Different Contextual Factors	140
Annex 4: Key Context Studies	
Annex 5: Measures, Indices, and Other Methodological Considerations	
Measurement and Specification Issues	
Subnational Comparative Method	
Case Criteria and Characteristics	
Existing Measures and Indices	
Measures of Conflict and Social Trust	
Measures of Rule of Law	
Measuring Civic Space and Media Freedom	
Measuring Government Effectiveness	
Measuring Capture	
Works Cited	



Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank the following individuals for their invaluable assistance in the development and production of this paper:

Research, writing, and production assistance: Principal assistance was provided by Theodore Becker-Jacob, Andrew Kenealy, Kelsey Landau, Robin Lewis, Jimena Montoya Villavicencio, Christine Stenglein, and Praneetha Vissapragada. Additional assistance was provided by Agneska Bloch, Benjamin Daly-Jones, Emily Caroline (Snell) Freeman, Alyssa Gao, Joseph Glandorf, Anna Green, Olivia Krawitt, Olivia Leiwant, Madeline McCann, Mark McKibbin, Rachel Penner, and Meilin Scanish. Thanks also to Erin Fletcher for her comments on the draft.

Project management: Robin Lewis

Graphic design and layout: Neal Cox and Jennifer Kaczor of MillerCox Design

Communications and dissemination: Jessica Harris and Louis Serino

The authors would also like to extend their sincere thanks to members of LTRC's advisory board and other experts for their insightful comments:

Kingsley Y. Amoako Nicole Bieske Lisa Caripis Tom Butler Danielle Brian Jonathan Fox Ian Gary Sean Hagan **Robin Hodess** Alan Hudson Michael Jarvis Carey Kluttz **Paul Felipe Lagunes** Alison Miranda Alla Morrison Michael Moses Alina Mungiu-Pippidi Tiago Carneiro Peixoto Michael Ross Landry Signé Tina Søreide

This paper solely reflects the views of the authors. Any errors are those of the authors alone.

Executive Summary¹

orruption in extractive industries is a barrier to good governance and sustainable development in countries around the globe. This is a particularly acute issue along the natural resource value chain. Overall state fragility, conflict, and endemic corruption are present in many resource-rich countries, where poverty remains deep and widespread. Resource-rich countries, on the whole, have shown little progress over the past fifteen years in multiple dimensions; if anything, there has been some deterioration. Their economic progress in particular has been subpar compared with the rest of the world. Worse, their overall governance quality levels not only have failed to improve on average but also are markedly lower than for the rest of the world. If anything, the evidence suggests that the corruption challenge has become even more dire. Arguably, resource-rich countries, with some notable exceptions, pose the thorniest development challenge.

Yet it need not stay this way. Research suggests that a major development dividend would ensue with respect to improving governance and controlling corruption were governance and anti-corruption reforms adopted (Kaufmann and Kraay 2002). Many anti-corruption practitioners and academics, particularly those working in the transparency and social accountability field, have coalesced in recent years around a troika of factors required for good governance progress—transparency (T), accountability (A), and participation (P), or TAP. Where there is effective accountability, where transparency is widespread, and where there is vibrant and unimpeded civic participation, the likelihood of corruption reduction is greater than where efforts are focused solely on transparency measures.

In this introductory paper, we introduce the Leveraging Transparency to Reduce Corruption project (LTRC), a global initiative launched by Brookings with support from other leading researchers to develop best practices for reducing corruption along the natural resource value chain grounded in rigorous evidence and field work. This paper provides the initial basis for the LTRC project's upcoming field studies. In what follows, we distill key lessons from recent academic and practitioner literature on TAP interventions in general and in the natural resource

¹ This extensive paper—the result of a collaboration over time among multiple authors and contributors across Brookings, Results for Development, and the Natural Resource Governance Institute in the joint Leveraging Transparency to Reduce Corruption (LTRC) project draws on an extensive literature review available online at the project's website as well as expertise, materials, and different perspectives from the authors and contributors. Complementing the already published bibliography review found at https://www.brookings.edu/ research/annotated-bibliography-transparency-accountability-and-participation-along-the-natural-resource-value-chain/, this paper is the first such lengthy written output containing evidence and analysis by LTRC, a project that will test key propositions and gather data and further information for research. As such, the present paper's contribution should be considered "live" and subject to future additions and modifications. Likewise, this paper ought not be viewed in isolation. Selected areas will be further developed in a briefer companion paper: Kaufmann, Eisen, and Heller, "Beyond Transparency: Pathways to Understanding and Addressing Corruption and State Capture in Natural Resources," forthcoming (in brief, referred to as "Kaufmann, Eisen, and Heller, forthcoming" where relevant below).

space specifically, and we consider what factors are likely to enable or constrain such interventions' success. As an organizing framework, we rely on the natural resource value chain (NRVC), which consists of a five-stage, decisionmaking process for converting natural resources into long-term, sustainable development, ranging from exploration and discovery to revenue management. The stages (or steps) of the NRVC build from the foundational work of the Natural Resource Charter by the Natural Resource Governance Institute (NRGI 2014).

Based in large part on this review of the existing evidence, the bibliography review, and lessons from experience, we argue that narrowly focusing on the adoption of TAP measures, while more likely to have some impact than transparency solutions alone—even when fully implemented—are unlikely to suffice. For step-change improvements that drive broader anti-corruption and development outcomes, more is needed.

Accordingly, in this paper we advance a framework, "TAP-Plus," which includes specific factors that need to be considered in addition to the traditional focus on the adoption of transparency, accountability and participation (TAP) measures. These factors are elaborated in this paper and are to be further tested in the next stages of research. Specifically, the TAP-Plus approach hypothesizes that three factors require particular attention for scaled-up impact: one, interventions that address *the implementation gap* within TAP interventions; two, consideration of *contextual factors*² in design of realistic TAP programs; and, three, inclusion of *complementary measures*³—beyond the traditional TAP field—which interact with TAP interventions and may have a significant impact in preventing or reducing corruption and improve sustainable development outcomes. In this paper, we elaborate on these key factors, explaining the implementation gap, contextual considerations, and, to an extent, complementary measures and interventions.⁴

In the Introduction to the paper, we set forth the dimensions of the global challenge of corruption along the NRVC. We discuss the history—and limits—of fighting such corruption through TAP mechanisms. To address those limits, we introduce the need to traverse beyond the traditional notions of adopting TAP measures by integrating additional factors complementary to TAP (i.e., those beyond the transparency and accountability field), as well as taking the implementation gap and context into account. We label this combined approach as TAP-Plus.

In Chapter One, we survey the theoretical and practical debates around reducing corruption along the natural resource value chain. We build on the traditional working definitions for key concepts such as corruption, "the abuse of entrusted power for private gain" (Transparency International n.d.), which we then expand to encompass the challenge of state (and kleptocratic) capture in which public institutions are distorted by private interests (Hellman, Jones, and Kaufmann 2003) or by the autocratic political leader.

We next turn to a discussion of the "resource curse," the contested hypothesis that natural resource wealth leads to economic and governance deterioration that, among other things, impairs a country's macroeconomic health and makes it vulnerable to corruption (Auty 1993; Lederman and Maloney 2008). Based on a review of the literature, we identify effective public

² As the authors note in Chapter Three, contextual factors "comprise elements of institutional design, function, and legitimacy that are deeply associated with democratic governance." In this paper, we focus upon the following contextual factors: (1) state capture; (2) social trust, political trust, and conflict; (3) civic space and media freedom; (4) rule of law; and (5) government effectiveness and capacity. Further details are available in Chapter Three.

³ Here we refer to critical institutions, structures, or programs that are deeply interwoven with the natural resource value chain and may mediate corruption pathways. Examples include, but are not limited to, state-owned enterprises, sovereign wealth funds, and beneficial ownership regimes. See Chapter Four for further information.

⁴ Further discussion of institutions, structures, or programs that are complementary to TAP, the related importance of interactive effects, as well as the interdisciplinary approaches to program design is to be found in Kaufmann, Eisen, and Heller, forthcoming.

and private institutions as a key mediating factor of the curse. If institutions are nonexistent, captured, or ineffective to withstand the pressures that often accompany natural resource endowments, then corruption, dysfunctional governance, and violent conflict are likely to ensue. Drawing on the existing literature on the value and decisionmaking chain in natural resources (NRGI 2014), Chapter One then presents the five stages of the NRVC and articulates corruption risks for each stage.

In Chapter Two, building upon evidence that the resource curse is not inevitable, we discuss several decades worth of interventions aimed at reducing corruption in natural resource governance. Early scholarship focused on pure transparency interventions as the critical pathway for effectuating the principal-agent theory of representative government. That scholarly work argued that representative government cannot function without transparency because citizens (the principals) will not have the information they need to hold representatives (the agents) to account. The belief that transparency leads to reduced corruption has long been the basis for these pure transparency interventions, but the evidence surrounding their effectiveness is mixed (World Bank 2016). Notable among these interventions is the freedom of information (FOI) movement, which some studies find has had limited impact on corruption or other outcomes (Calland and Bentley 2013). Research has also shown that transparency initiatives do not, in and of themselves, mitigate corruption, the resource curse, or other outcomes (Calland and Bentley 2013). Taking scholarly evidence and practitioner experience into account, in the first stage of the work presented here, we posit that transparency alone is far from sufficient and that at least it also requires voice, participation, and related mechanisms to hold decisionmakers effectively accountable.

Consequently, Chapter Two then turns to the evolution of TAP in the extractives field, which started with a narrow focus on narrow disclosures and subsequently broadened. We review intertwined transparency initiatives in natural resource governance—Publish What You Pay (PWYP) and the Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative (EITI) and trace the evolution of the latter from a single transparency intervention (payments disclosure) introduced over a decade ago into the modern-day EITI Standard, which incorporates a much broader transparency mandate, as well as significant elements of accountability and participation. We then discuss quantitative evaluations of EITI's effectiveness, which suggest that it has been successful in generating transparency around natural resources, but that its broader efficacy in reducing corruption has been mixed according to studies based on data in past years (e.g., Hubert and Pitman 2017; Sovacool et al. 2016; Corrigan 2017). Further, we also present ongoing analysis of the most recent data which suggests a more nuanced and complex reality regarding governance performance by countries in EITI.

Chapter Two discusses the implementation gap. Within TAP, insufficient attention has been paid to a silent brake that inhibits impactful interventions and reforms, namely the implementation gap or the deficit between the adoption of TAP measures on the one hand and such measures being effectively put into practice and implemented on the other. The Chapter explains how it has been identified by some researchers as a key inhibitor of the effectiveness of some—primarily law- or policy-oriented—TAP interventions.

In Chapter Three, we develop our argument that while TAP interventions have shown promise, substantial work remains to be done. A traditional TAP approach in of itself is unlikely to suffice for sustained and large-scale impact. Key additional contextual factors, often traversing well beyond a TAP intervention or program, need to be fully integrated to attain more impact.

Recognizing that traditional TAP interventions alone often will not suffice to achieve sustained and largescale impact, LTRC has identified an initial set of contextual factors requiring attention in TAP program design and implementation. The type of TAP intervention that is likely to be effective in very underdeveloped, transitional, or weak post-conflict settings would differ from those in a more robust and stable emerging economy. Even across countries at similar stages of development, context will differ, and thus the appropriate TAP design would also need to be adapted accordingly.

For purposes of this paper, the contextual factors considered here-each associated with democratic governance—are: (1) state capture; (2) social trust, political trust, and conflict; (3) civic space and media freedom; (4) rule of law; and, (5) government effectiveness and capacity. The third factor, civic space and media freedom, is contextual within the TAP realm (by definition), while the other four tend to apply more broadly, beyond the confines of the TAP field. They all need to be considered in shaping particular TAP interventions in order to enhance the likelihood of concrete impact in a particular country setting. We discuss each of these factors and their links to TAP approaches in turn. We note, however, that this set of five, while all important, ought not overrule other contextual factors that may also need to be considered in program design and execution.

In Chapter Four we further advance the TAP-Plus conceptual framework by introducing natural resource specific *complementary* institutions, structures, or programs—including legal and regulatory as well as public finance and institutional structures that we posit are essential to consider in addition to TAP interventions for effectively reducing corruption. We consider that, where possible, measures aimed at these natural resource specific complementary institutions, structures, or programs should be linked with context-informed TAP interventions. However, we caution that it will not always be possible to do so.

In the first part of the chapter, we address three particular natural resource specific complementary institutions, structures, and programs of particular relevance to the design of interventions under LTRC: state-owned enterprises (SOEs), sovereign wealth funds, and beneficial ownership disclosure programs. These entities and the issues relating to their reform can be—depending on the jurisdiction in question—highly relevant to creating an environment that enables or constrains a given TAP intervention. For example, political interference in SOEs' board appointments can hinder the effectiveness of technical or objective decisionmaking. Programs that limit political interference can serve anti-corruption ends. Further, to concretely illustrate the importance of complementary efforts to TAP, we also delve into beneficial ownership initiatives such as enforcing laws that prohibit politicians and high-level officials from "holding interests in companies applying for extractives licenses."

These complementary efforts are different from contextual factors, since they are natural resource specific and are often (though not always) actionable, concrete interventions amenable to implementation during the TAP program life cycle, namely in the short to medium term.

We advance the notion that the general absence of complementary efforts to the traditional set of TAP interventions has limited the impact of TAP. A major leap towards integrating TAP with other fields of relevant inquiry in a concrete, actionable manner including legal and regulatory, revenue management, and institutional reforms—remains underexplored, warranting emphasis.

The second half of Chapter Four suggests how to start bringing these strands together by offering a couple of hypothetical and preliminary examples of how the TAP-Plus approach could look in the countries of Mongolia and Nigeria. These are preliminary and subject to revisions and extension into other possible case studies.

In the Mongolia example, we explore the issue of beneficial ownership transparency efforts and how they can be improved with a TAP-Plus approach that prioritizes one particular contextual factor media freedom—and complementary measures, such as legal amendments for disclosing beneficial ownership of mining licenses. In Mongolia, murky ownership arrangements of natural resource companies are a source of large corruption risks. LTRC has identified beneficial ownership disclosure as a key vehicle for TAP-Plus approaches in coordination with other anti-corruption efforts across the natural resource value chain. This potential program would attempt to address an implementation gap (the disclosure regime currently suffers from a significant lag time and lacks comprehensiveness) or help improve use of beneficial ownership information by a wider set of civil society organizations. As part of our approach, we would explicitly and strategically adapt the pilot to a challenging though not insurmountable contextual factor: media freedom. As part of the complementary effort in the TAP-Plus approach, we would advance the need for legislative changes in beneficial ownership, reinforcing the proposals by the EITI Working Group in Mongolia on this matter.

In the Nigeria example, we initially discuss a possible initiative that would bolster citizen engagement and bottom-up accountability efforts while complementing these with measures beyond the conventional TAP realm, that inter alia may tackle an implementation gap in budget transparency efforts.⁵

In addition, we provide a set of five annexes offering more detail on the methodology used with respect to the literature review process, the operation of the resource curse, the macro- and micro-level mapping of contextual factors, and the various measures and indices upon which we rely in this paper and in the LTRC project.

Finally, the authors wish to note that following the completion but prior to the publication of this paper, the world has been struck by the COVID-19 pandemic. LTRC intends to publish a supplement to this paper analyzing the impacts of the pandemic on our and others' anti-corruption research along the natural resource value chain.

⁵ This possible case study could also explore methods such as "storytelling" and the use of public fora to create genuine accountability regarding budget leakage and corruption and to bolster citizen engagement. The possible contextual factors that would be considered are political trust and conflict. Civil Society organizations and citizens would be able to use budget-related information to identify services intended to be provided and hold officials accountable for spending resources for earmarked services. Further work would be needed to identify concrete and actionable complementary measures (non-contextual) to traditional transparency measures—beyond TAP.

Introduction

The Challenge of Natural Resource Corruption

In September 2013, the governor of the Central Bank of Nigeria (CBN), Lamido Sanusi, notified President Goodluck Jonathan that as much as \$50 billion in oil revenue was unaccounted for (Sanusi 2013; Sayne and Gillies 2016; Sanusi 2015). Sanusi claimed that over an 18-month period, the state-owned oil company, the Nigerian National Petroleum Corporation (NNPC), failed to transfer the total sum of the revenue to the Federation Account within the CBN as is required under Nigerian law (CBN n.d.; Fetzer and Kyburz 2017). This stolen wealth set in motion a political scandal that would rock Nigeria, see Sanusi ousted, and contribute to the defeat of President Jonathan in the 2015 election (Nossiter 2014, 2015).

Nigeria is one of many resource-rich countries (RRCs) facing extreme and intractable corruption challenges. In too many cases, resource wealth that could support growth and development instead fuels plunder, bribery, and continued poverty (Auty 1993; Sala-i Martin and Subramanian 2013; Ross 2015). Chart 0.1 shows that "in 1990 only about 20 percent of the world's poor were living in resource-rich countries" but that "if current trends continue (that is, unless institutions and governance improve), by 2030 half the world's poor will live in resource-rich

countries" (Kaufmann 2015, 2). Neither does this trend look better when considering absolute numbers: "the numbers of people living below the poverty line in resource-rich countries have not declined they continue to hover at about 1 billion people worldwide—and they are not expected to decline in the next 15 years unless governance improves"—in stark contrast to the trend of rapidly declining poverty levels in non-RRCs (Kaufmann 2015, 2). The paradox of resource wealth is that it appears to inhibit, rather than support, efforts to address fundamental societal problems, as evidenced by the increasing concentration of extreme poverty in RRCs relative to non-RRCs.

Much recent research finds a correlation between increased extractive industry activity and high levels of corruption and poor governance (Williams and Dupuy 2016, 2). Chart 0.2 compares the Worldwide Governance Indicator (WGI) scores for Control of Corruption by RRCs and non-RRCs, or the "perceptions of the extent to which public power is exercised for private gain, including both petty and grand forms of corruption, as well as 'capture' of the state by elites and private interests" (Kaufmann, Kraay, and Mastruzzi 2011, 223). As the chart demonstrates, control of corruption has actually been decreasing in RRCs, the very countries that could benefit most from its reduction.



CHART 0.1: Share of the Poor Living Under \$2 a Day in Non Resource-Rich Countries vs. Resource-Rich Countries, 1990 & 2030

Source: Kaufmann 2015, based on Brookings Poverty database (2013) and estimations.⁶

CHART 0.2: Control of Corruption, 2000 & 2018 (WGI): Resource-Rich and Non Resource-Rich Developing Countries

Base sample has 137 developing countries, of which country groupings include Resource-rich (79), Non Resource-rich (58).



Source: Kaufmann, Kraay, and Mastruzzi 2010, Kaufmann 2019.

6 Further detail may be found in Kaufmann (2019).

The dividends from reducing natural resource corruption are immense, potentially dwarfing the billions in foreign aid that have flowed into developing countries. If the wealth of the 94 (as of 2013) natural resource-dependent nations were used to pursue anti-poverty goals, by 2030 more than half a billion people would be lifted out of extreme poverty (Longchamp and Perrot 2017).⁷ Chart 0.3 shows the correlation between GDP per capita and the Control of Corruption Worldwide Governance Indicator. While this relationship is only a correlation, with mutual causality at play, the size of the dividend is almost three-to-one and is particularly high in RRCs.





Source: Kaufmann 2016, Kaufmann 2019.8

⁷ Longchamp and Perrot (2017, 6) explains, "using the United Nations Conference on Trade and Development's (UNCTAD) criteria, which look at the ratio of the value of a country's commodity exports to the value of its merchandise exports, 94 countries were dependent on commodities in 2013, compared with only 58 in 1995 (UNCTAD 2015, 15; Dobbs et al. 2013, 25). For the most part, the new arrivals are developing countries, including the Democratic Republic of the Congo and Zambia with copper, Angola and Equatorial Guinea with oil, Mozambique and Tanzania with gas, and Sierra Leone with iron ore (Collier 2013). Some 69 percent of people in extreme poverty live in commodity-rich developing countries (Dobbs et al. 2013). Half of the known iron, oil, and gas reserves can be found in these same countries. If this wealth could be used to benefit these countries' citizens, extreme poverty could almost be halved by 2030, and some 540 million people could find their way out of poverty (Dobbs et al. 2013, 31-33)."

⁸ Data derived from GDP per capita from World Bank World Development Indicators (2012), Corruption Control data from Worldwide Governance Indicators (WGI 2012), and IMF resource-rich country classifications (2010).

The extent to which the value of a natural resource endowment is retained by the country of origin—and how that value in turn contributes to sustainable development and economic well-being—varies dramatically across geographies. Nations with natural resource endowments, that rank among the wealthiest in the world, that are among the most economically developed, and that operate with high levels of governance (e.g., Norway), are in the minority. ⁹ More typically, countries with resource endowments face significant rates of poverty (e.g., the Democratic Republic of the Congo) and corruption (e.g., Venezuela) (Labrador 2019).

The Leveraging Transparency to Reduce Corruption Project

In recent decades, scholars and practitioners have sought to address this thorny blend of issues through strong transparency, accountability, and participation mechanisms—sometimes collectively referred to as "TAP." Thanks to decades of efforts, outcomes of TAP initiatives have consistently improved, but much more remains to be done.

In 2017, Brookings, supported by Results for Development (R4D) and the Natural Resource Governance Institute (NRGI), launched the Leveraging Transparency to Reduce Corruption project (LTRC). LTRC is an action-research initiative that has established a knowledge platform to promote the use and discussion of evidence-informed policies and programs. More than that, LTRC is a lab that will pilot adapted interventions to tackle governance challenges identified by local and global stakeholders in the extractives industry, with a plan to scale up and rigorously evaluate the most promising strategies. LTRC's principal objectives are to increase stakeholder knowledge and understanding of the most effective ways to tackle corruption risks along the natural resource value chain, and to improve sustainable development outcomes through the reduction or prevention of corruption. LTRC aims to contribute to the learning environment around governance challenges in the extractive sector in the countries where we work. Over the next few years, LTRC will develop and study pilot interventions, launch larger-scale studies, and disseminate lessons learned from the evidence base. We will provide stakeholders with tools and elements for analysis, fostering sustained impact and enhancing local capacity. Figure 0.1 illustrates the planned phases of work.¹⁰

We hope that this emphasis on constant engagement in the field, paired with the implementation and study of rigorous evidence-informed strategies, will facilitate the discussion around scaling up or replicating the most promising national and subnational pilots. LTRC will lead this debate acknowledging the intrinsic challenges of scaling up initiatives and the need to adapt the strategy based on the learning generated from the pilot experience.

In every country LTRC decides to work in, there will be an effort to understand the challenges and priorities in the country in terms of governance across the NRVC, as well as an effort to identify existing and planned programs, policies, and initiatives in order to improve the likelihood of an impactful contribution.

LTRC is a project that aims at learning from what governments, civil society, industry, and donors are doing in diverse locations around the world and looking for incremental approaches that enhance learning loops and the capacity of local actors to use knowledge generated in their own countries and elsewhere. LTRC positions itself as a partner—not a

⁹ The resource curse need not be an RRC's destiny (Lederman and Maloney 2007), as shown by the oft-cited case of Botswana. Like Botswana, some RRCs have managed to capitalize on resource endowments while delivering significant benefits to their citizens (Iimi 2007; Van der Ploeg 2011; Sanborn, Ramírez, and Hurtado 2017). Robust institutions are a critical determinant of their success, as we discuss in Section 1.2.

¹⁰ More information about LTRC can be found at www.brookings.edu/ltrc.

FIGURE 0.1: Phases of Work Under the LTRC Project



Source: Authors.

competitor—of existing programs and actively looks for opportunities to increase impact. To undertake this ambitious project, LTRC leverages some of the RRC and extractives industry expertise of NRGI, the public policy focus of Brookings, and the experience of R4D in strengthening systems and local capacity. However, to succeed, strong partnerships with global initiatives and local stakeholders committed to similar goals will be essential.

This paper is a product of the first phase of the LTRC project. It is based in part on an extensive bibliographical review, as well as some ideas regarding addressing corruption in natural resources that will be set forth in a briefer companion article

entitled "Beyond Transparency: Pathways to Effective Anti-Corruption Initiatives in Natural Resource Governance" (Kaufmann, Eisen, and Heller, forthcoming).¹¹ While many aspects of the literature review are presented in detail in this longer paper, the companion article will elaborate on some critical aspects that are cross-referenced in this paper.

Regarding the bibliographical review, for LTRC generally and this paper in particular, consideration was given to numerous recent works from leading organizations and scholars across multiple disciplines in the TAP and natural resource spaces, which were identified by the LTRC team. Highly-cited and relevant journal articles, books, and some blog posts

11 A draft of this document was provided in advance of the LTRC advisory board convening on February 4, 2019. Copies of the draft are available upon request.

were also considered. Overall the literature review included more than 650 resources, leading to an annotated bibliography of over 150 salient items.¹² In addition, this paper draws on the expertise and views of LTRC's principal investigators and the many authors involved in this effort.¹³

LTRC considers corruption as a main outcome variable. It is not, however, an ultimate development outcome (such as poverty or inequality), but an intermediary outcome. And as discussed further below, corruption is often—yet not always—a symptom of governance and institutional failure in RRCs.

Over the past fifteen years or so, progress has been achieved in applying TAP approaches to the governance of natural resources. Yet the evidence indicates limited impact of these interventions.

When considering the reasons for this, there is a clear "implementation gap"—the gap between adoption and implementation of TAP initiatives and between law and practice in particular. This implementation gap is often behind the suboptimal results of past TAP initiatives, even when suitable laws are enacted, and regulations put in place. Flawed TAP implementation can occur when a program does not focus on priority disclosures or the need for detailed information, when there is no adaptation for low capacity settings, and when the data generated is not used. When these types of problems occur, TAP efforts have proven insufficient to empower civil society and citizens to hold the government authorities and companies truly accountable. To be sure, the implementation gap can occur at any spot on the governance continuum, e.g. governmental actors or civil society participants may also fail to execute fully a reform agenda as envisioned.

In addition, many TAP efforts have had limited impact because there are key factors beyond TAP at play that have been insufficiently considered. As this paper shows, past experience demonstrates the need for a more systematic consideration of factors that complement TAP strategies in order to achieve enhanced impact.¹⁴ As a result, we propose a new approach, which we call TAP-Plus.

TAP-Plus is an integrative approach that features a T, A, and/or P strategy or set of interventions that prioritizes contextual factors affecting the likelihood of success of a TAP initiative(s). As the first of three essential elements in this approach, we define five key contextual factors deeply associated with democratic governance: (1) state capture; (2) social trust, political trust, and conflict; (3) civic space and media freedom; (4) rule of law; and (5) government effectiveness. (We discuss each of these factors and their links to TAP approaches in Chapter Three.) LTRC looks at context not as a fixed and immobile condition but rather as complex and dynamic. In Chapter Four, we acknowledge that even in difficult conditions, such as repressive and non-democratic settings, there are conditions and trends that may open windows of opportunity for strategies like the ones LTRC proposes that can build synergies between transparency, accountability, and participation on the one hand and complementary reforms beyond TAP on the other.

A look at all these elements that support an effective TAP-Plus strategy allows LTRC and its partners at the local and global level to inform the design and timing of strategies, supplementing existing efforts and identifying what can be addressed and included in the design. LTRC is opportunistic in looking for jurisdictions in which to work where shifts in context can

¹² The annotated bibliography can be found at www.brookings.edu/ltrc.

¹³ At the same time it ought to be emphasized that this paper is still in draft form, awaiting further feedback, and it does not aim to be an exhaustive synthesis of the literature or of the state of the art in governance of the sector.

¹⁴ Refer to Kaufmann, Eisen, and Heller (forthcoming) for further details.

make TAP work better to reduce corruption and to look at complementary reforms that would support these TAP efforts. These additional efforts beyond TAP will of course often be dependent on factors such as national processes or political considerations that fall outside the control of a project of the size and scope of LTRC (and in some cases, outside the control of projects no matter their size and scope).

Nevertheless, we postulate that the possibilities for integrating TAP strategies with initiatives in other fields beyond TAP--in a concrete, actionable manner—remains greatly underexplored. As part of the third element needed for an effective TAP strategy, we consider that critical reforms beyond TAP—that could be fully integrated with TAP and lie in disciplines such as law, fiscal policy, politics, and public administration or business management, among others-offer an opportunity to strengthen context-adapted TAP strategies. We discuss in Chapter Four, how matters beyond TAP itself can help (or hinder) the effectiveness of, for example, multi-stakeholder initiatives such as the EITI.¹⁵ On this matter, we intend to analyze reforms relevant to NRVC-specific institutions such as state-owned enterprises or sovereign wealth funds and initiatives such as those related to beneficial ownership, which could come from fields beyond the ones oriented to TAP, to better understand their interactions with NRVC corruption and development outcomes. Once LTRC has identified a challenge to focus on within a country (through consultations with key stakeholders and in-country partners), we will analyze

the existing landscape of ongoing or past initiatives there with a TAP-Plus lens. This will allow LTRC to understand what is missing in terms of T, A, and/or P approaches, as well as the implementation and contextual factors, both within and beyond TAP, as well as the (actionable) complementary matters beyond TAP, that would strengthen a TAP strategy.

LTRC is guided by an overall theory of change that outlines the inputs and desired outcomes of TAP interventions in the natural resource space (see Figure 0.2).¹⁶ Each country-based project will have a detailed theory of change that will focus on specific T, A, and/or P interventions that are being introduced or that already exist and are being reinforced by LTRC projects, any relevant institutional reforms (for example, related to corporate governance or management of state-owned enterprises), and the expected interaction effects among them. We will carefully consider the implications of our five priority contextual factors in a given jurisdiction with respect to the suitability and feasibility of any intervention(s) and the identification of the relevant institutional reforms. (For further detail on our selection process for, and understanding of, these factors, see Chapter Three and Annex 5). Examples of prospective outcomes of interest are detailed in Figure 0.2. Of particular interest to our team will be evidence pointing toward mitigation of corruption risks, limiting of corruption, and how those outcomes are linked to broader sustainable development objectives.

¹⁵ The fact that integrating complementary actions beyond TAP may be warranted across countries with vastly different "contexts" is discussed further in Kaufmann, Eisen, and Heller (forthcoming).

¹⁶ We discuss the elements in the figure throughout the paper.





Source: Authors.

We turn now to the beginning of our analysis: the problem of corruption along the natural resource value chain.

CHAPTER ONE: Corruption Along the Natural Resource Value Chain

TRC's core outcomes of interest are reducing corruption along the natural resource value chain and improving sustainable development outcomes—critical outcomes that scholars across disciplines have focused on for decades. This chapter draws from those debates to frame LTRC's focus on natural resource corruption reduction (as well as the ensuing impacts of sustainable development goals) and the interventions that LTRC will undertake to achieve those ends.

1.1 Defining and Measuring Corruption

For the LTRC project, we begin with perhaps the most widely used definition of corruption: "the abuse of entrusted power for private gain" (Transparency International n.d.), which builds on and broadens the previously widely accepted definition as the "abuse of public office for private gain." 17 This broader definition is particularly apt given the vast scope of corruption that manifests in the natural resources field. Additionally, the growing recognition of the challenge of state capture in general—and in transitional or fragile democracies in particular-suggests that a broader definition of corruption may be warranted. Moreover, corruption can occur because of the behaviors of private entities or pseudo-public entities, and, thus, the focus on "public office" can underestimate the occurrence of corruption.

Corruption is more complex than a two-way, onetime transaction (Jancsics and Jávor 2012). It can involve a network of actors, from domestic elites to international actors to brokers or middlemen, as well as an enabling environment (Cooley and Sharman 2015). That enabling environment can include offshore havens for corrupt gains, vehicles for creating shell companies to conceal information about payments, or broad weaknesses in anti-corruption norms and oversight mechanisms, whether those weaknesses are structural or the result of individuals turning a blind eye (Cooley and Sharman 2015; Button, Shepherd, and Blackbourn 2018). Anticorruption efforts must consider these factors (see Chapter Three) and address both political power-holders and enabling networks.

A big tent understanding of corrupt behaviors contains many subtypes of corruption. Two commonly discussed subtypes are grand and petty corruption, which are roughly synonymous with political and bureaucratic corruption, respectively. Petty, or bureaucratic, corruption is defined as the "abuse of entrusted power by low- and mid-level public officials in their interactions with ordinary citizens who often are trying to access basic goods or services in places like hospitals, schools, police departments, and other agencies" (Transparency International n.d.). This is substantially similar to administrative corruption, which takes place on a transactional level

¹⁷ This definition is typically attributed to, but is not original to, Transparency International (see World Bank 1997, 8). It has been relied upon by, among others, the International Monetary Fund, the Open Government Partnership, and the United States Office of Government Ethics.

and in the implementation of the laws, regulations, and policies of the government. It is not always petty or small-scale.

Grand or political corruption, by contrast, is "the abuse of office by those who decide on laws and regulations and the basic allocation of resources in a society (i.e., those who make the 'rules of the game')" (Rocha Menocal et al. 2015, 12). Transparency International adds that it includes "acts committed at a high level of government that distort policies or the central functioning of the state, enabling leaders to benefit at the expense of the public good" (n.d.).

Grand corruption has enormous effects on economics, politics, policy, and development goals. For that reason, dissecting the forms of grand corruption is important. Because the root causes and impacts of grand corruption vary, so too must the means of addressing them. One major—perhaps *the* major form of grand corruption is capture: a systemic and pernicious corruption that afflicts the shaping of the rules of the game or a nation's laws, regulations, and policies (Hellman, Jones, and Kaufmann 2000). Capture, as such, can be far more costly (and thus "macro-critical") than administrative corruption (which takes place in implementing the rules).

For the purposes of LTRC, in state capture, powerful, elite economic interests exert undue influence on democratic institutions and shape the game and the institutions of government for their own private gain at the expense of the public good.¹⁸ These elites often, but not always, collude directly with or bribe politicians (Hellman and Kaufmann 2001; Carpenter and Moss 2014 [the former on the broader notion of state capture, the latter focused more specifically on regulatory capture, which had been studied earlier by Stigler, among others]). Decades of debate surround the measurement of corruption. For example, an extensive volume edited by Sampford et al. (2006) covers the challenges to measuring corruption in meticulous detail. Some authors in that compendium ardently defend Transparency International's Corruption Perceptions Index, while others diagnose the failings of any such effort that relies on potentially "noisy" and subjective data. While we are sensitive to the concerns raised in this theoretical debate, LTRC's concrete goal of reducing corruption requires a practicable means of measuring corruption.

Kaufmann, Kraay, and Mastruzzi (2007) states: "Since corruption usually leaves no paper trail, perceptions of corruption based on individuals' actual experiences are sometimes the best, and the only, information we have All efforts to measure corruption using any kind of data involve an irreducible element of uncertainty Efforts to measure corruption should aim at minimizing measurement error and be transparent about what inevitably will always remain as residual error" (1-2). Following this lead, we will use, at least in part, data generated by informed responses by experts, users of services, citizens, and firm managers when necessary. At the same time, LTRC may generate and gather additional data, possibly including at the project or intervention level, supplemented by data on institutional features. We will be explicit about all data limitations, as well as explore opportunities for data advances, at every step of the small-scale study design in Phase Two (see Chapter Four).

Finally, in defining the term "natural resources," we follow the World Trade Organization (2010) in considering them as "stocks of materials that exist in the natural environment that are both scarce and 'economically useful' in production or consumption, either in their raw state or after a minimal amount of

¹⁸ Since none of the traditional definitions of corruption can fully encompass the notion of state capture, it has been suggested that the traditional definition be complemented with the notion of privatization of public policy, or even be expanded to also encompass privatization of the rule of law and regulatory regimes. We bear some of these considerations in mind when relevant in the analysis that follows. Kaufmann, Eisen, and Heller, forthcoming will also focus further on salient aspects of state capture.

processing" (6, emphasis added). In this report, we further use the term "extractive industries" to refer to the industries of oil, gas, and mining, but note that, under other, more expansive definitions (e.g., Schrecker, Birn, and Aguilera 2018), other industries may also fall under this classification.

Against these data considerations, limitations, and opportunities, this chapter proceeds as follows: Section 1.2 asks and answers why corruption is so pervasive and insidious in RRCs, then Section 1.3 traces the specific corruption risks along the steps of the NRVC.

1.2 Resource Wealth, Corruption, and Development Outcomes: The Resource Curse

The term "resource curse" was coined in the early 1990s to describe the seeming paradox that natural resource wealth can impede sustained economic growth (Auty 1993; Lederman and Maloney 2008). This now-famous, much-debated theory seeks to explain a puzzling phenomenon uncovered by researchers: how natural resource abundance can distort a country's macroeconomic health, devastating its potential for sustainable growth and development (Auty 1993).

Building upon the work of Auty (1993), Sachs and Warner (1997) finds a negative relationship between natural resource dependence and economic growth. Auty (2001), Papyrakis and Gerlagh (2004), Kronenberg (2004), and many others further analyze natural resource abundance and other economic development indicators and begin to collectively indicate the negative causal effect of natural resource abundance on economic growth and macroeconomic fundamentals such as long-term trends in commodity prices, volatility of revenues, and pro-cyclicality of policy and capital flows. According to Frankel (2012), commodity prices undergo large cyclical fluctuations. Countries with more volatile primary product prices grow more slowly relative to other primary product exporters (Van der Ploeg and Poelhekke 2009; Blattman, Hwang, and Williamson 2007). Finally, research demonstrates that fiscal policy and capital inflows are procyclical in most developing countries (Frankel 2012; Kaminsky, Reinhart, and Végh 2005).

This issue is sometimes also referred to as the "Dutch disease," which describes the possible causal relationship between the disproportionate development of one particular economic sector coupled with a relative decline in others. The term was coined in 1977 by The Economist in reference to the decline of manufacturing in the Netherlands after the discovery and exploitation of the Groningen natural gas field in 1959. The Dutch disease theory attempts to explain why this apparent contradiction occurred, as scholars theorized that natural resource exploitation led to an influx of foreign investment and revenue, resulting in the appreciation of local currency, which in turn stifled exports and investment in non-extractive sectors. Moreover, capital-intense sectors like gas extraction produced few jobs (Brahmbhatt, Canuto, and Vostroknutova 2010).

However, subsequent research has shown that purely macroeconomic factors can explain some, but not all, of this negative relationship between resource abundance and economic development (Beverelli, Dell'Erba, and Rocha 2011; Toto Same 2008). As a result, efforts to explain the causes of the apparent resource curse have expanded to look at social and political elements (Ross 2015).

Given their profound significance, it is unsurprising that good institutions have emerged as one of the most important mediators of the resource curse.¹⁹ Institutions are understood to be "the rules of the game in a society," or the constraints humans have devised over time to shape incentives (North 1990, 3).

¹⁹ By good institutions, we mean "institutions that promote accountability and state competence," following the definition provided by Robinson, Torvik, and Verdier (2006, 447).

They organize social, economic, and political interaction in a society (Acemoglu, Johnson, and Robinson 2005). Sala-i-Martin and Subramanian (2003) was among the first to suggest that institutions might play a role in mitigating the relationship between resource wealth and poor economic growth. They argue that, when controlling for good institutional quality at the country level, natural resources were not significantly related to economic growth. Similarly, Robinson, Torvik, and Verdier (2006) shows that countries with accountable institutions tend to benefit from resource booms. Van der Ploeg (2006), Collier and Goderis (2008), and Mehlum, Moene, and Torvik (2006) find the same-institutional strength can mitigate the pernicious effects of the resource curse.

Different insights have subsequently emerged to address potential endogeneity issues in the above argument, since the path that institutional quality takes depends on the initial conditions (Ross 2015). Still, various real-world analyses of the resource curse favor institutionalist, governance-focused explanations. Acemoglu, Johnson, and Robinson (2001a, 2002) point to Canada, Australia, the United States, and New Zealand as examples of countries that had high quality institutions in place at the time of their resource discoveries. On the other hand, countries such as Angola, Nigeria, Sierra Leone, and the Democratic Republic of the Congo did not have developed institutions at the time their resource booms began or had lasting colonial institutions that were set up to extract their resources for a foreign power (Acemoglu, Johnson, and Robinson 2001a; Stevens and Dietsche 2008). Acemoglu, Johnson, and Robinson (2001b) uses the case of Botswana as a prime illustration of why institutions matter. Botswana, a developing country, possessed good institutions that were capable of protecting and enforcing private property as well as resisting colonial institutional destruction.

Does the existing institutional context determine whether natural resource abundance turns into a curse? Or, conversely, does natural resource abundance generate perverse incentives within existing institutions that lead to poor socio-economic performance? The answer, we believe, can vary depending on initial conditions, context, and ongoing trends in the unit of analysis. There is a dynamic relationship between a nation's institutions and resource abundance.

By the same token, institutional strength can be weakened by resource abundance-related stressors. Ross (2015) concludes, "There is now considerable evidence that under certain conditions one type of resource wealth—petroleum—tends to produce a 'political resource curse.'" Next, we discuss the implications of natural resource abundance with respect to democracy, conflict, and corruption.

Researchers have refined the institutional understanding of the resource curse in several ways that will shape the framing and development of the strategies we will pilot. First, the type of resource affects the curse's mechanism of action, as Ross (2015) demonstrates. Oil differs from diamonds, which differ from mineral ore, in a variety of important characteristics that influence how the resource curse emerges. Different types of resources result in different political economies distinguished by three closely related, relevant factors, as described by Le Billon (2012)²⁰ and summarized in Table 1.1 . We will frequently refer to these characteristics; for more, see Annex 2.

²⁰ Note that Le Billon (2012) includes a fourth characteristic, "renewability." Although it is an important factor, we do not discuss it here, because the focus of the LTRC project is on non-renewable mineral and hydrocarbon resources.

TABLE 1.1: Characteristics Related to the Resource Curse

CHARACTERISTIC	DESCRIPTION
Lootability	The ease with which an unsanctioned actor can extract and sell the resource. Resources are more easily looted if they tend to occur in diffuse geophysical deposits and are produced by a larger number of firms (Le Billon 2012). Some resources, like petroleum, require a hefty technological investment that usually only an experienced, wealthy government or company can provide. Other resources, like alluvial diamonds, have lower economic barriers to entry and can be effectively "dug up" with a pickaxe or gold pan (Snyder and Bhavnani 2005).
Relative Location	The social, economic, cultural, and political context of where the resource is physically located. Important relative location considerations could include proximity to a capital or border and whether the resource is located in a territory controlled by a dominant or oppressed group or tribe. Relative location is most influential in particular local contexts where "political geography" and "socially constructed space" interact (Le Billon 2012, 28).
Level of Economic Dependence	The amount of the government's income and the society's private employment and welfare that rests on a particular resource. Diffusely- deposited resources tend to employ larger numbers of employees, since extracting and processing them is relatively labor-intensive (Le Billon 2012). Oil typically has higher rent share by gross value and is easier to tax, so oil-rich countries tend to exhibit a higher fiscal dependence on their oil (Ross 2012).

1.2.a The Resource Curse and Democracy

Natural resource wealth may affect governance institutions directly. Isham et al. (2005), for example, explains that the quality of institutions decreases when governments use their natural resource income to pay for their inefficiencies. These governments find themselves empowered to suppress opposition groups, avoid accountability, and slow down modernization, each of which degrades the quality of their institutions. Egorov, Guriev, and Sonin (2009) and Caselli and Tesei (2016) show that, in cases where institutions are already shaky, point-source resource booms will incentivize those in power to undermine those institutions further.

Since the economic benefits of being and staying in power in a resource-rich non-democracy are enormous, it is unsurprising that Jensen and Wantchekon (2004), Ross (2001), and Rose-Ackerman (1978) find a positive relationship between authoritarian regimes and economic dependence on oil and mineral resources. Smith (2007) shows that authoritarian regimes survive longer in oil-rich countries, though the timing of oil dependence is a key factor. What explains this close relationship? As Ross (2012) argues, building upon Mahdavy (1970) and Karl (1997), "When dictators must finance themselves through taxes, they are met with demands for greater accountability; when they can fund themselves by selling off state-owned assets, like oil and gas, they can elude democratizing pressures" (11). In other words, the revenue from natural resources can be employed to block the development of, or undermine the existence of, a functional democracy and democratic institutions in a country. Box 1.1 surveys this topic.

Box 1.1: The Resource-Rich Authoritarian Playbook

Once in power, authoritarians can employ a variety of methods to stay in power, including:

- "providing the population with benefits, infrastructure projects, patronage, or outright graft" (Isham et al. 2003, 6);
- bloating the public sector through direct, unnecessary hires, subsidies, and handouts (Wiens 2015; Robinson, Torvik, and Verdier 2006);
- buying off political rivals (Acemoglu, Johnson, and Robinson 2005);
- meeting demands for redistribution to alleviate pressure for democracy (Wiens 2015; Dunning 2008; Morrison 2009).

From Nigeria (Sala-i-Martin and Subramanian 2003; Global Witness 2017a) to the Congo (Acemoglu, Johnson, and Robinson 2001a) to Cambodia (Global Witness 2009), examples of oligarchs and authoritarian leaders using the above "playbook" abound. Ross (2012) points out that dependence on oil explains the different fate of Arab Spring uprisings; while protesters were able to overthrow governments in oil-poor countries such as Tunisia and Egypt, this was not the case in oil-rich states like Libya, Bahrain, Algeria, and Saudi Arabia.

This democracy-focused implication of resource abundance has profound repercussions for efforts to prevent or cure the curse, suggesting that solutions must at a minimum take into account background democracy factors that we discuss in Chapter Three.

There are researchers who question the democracy implications. For example, Haber and Menaldo (2011) concludes from panel data that there is no resource curse, and that there may even be a "resource blessing." Gurses (2011) finds that oil wealth helps sustain democracy. (See also Wacziarg 2012 and Karl 1997, among others.)

The general field consensus (e.g., Bebbington et al. 2017), however, seems to disagree with these detractors, and so do we. Andersen and Ross (2014) responds to Haber and Menaldo's (2011) finding of a

"resource blessing," arguing that transformations in the political economy of oil in the 1970s are what led to a resource curse beginning in the 1980s and that Haber and Menaldo's study rested on the questionable assumption that the relationship between oil wealth and democracy had remained the same since 1800. Frankel's (2012) literature review regarding resource dependence and authoritarian government supports a correlation, and Andersen and Aslaksen (2013) finds that natural resource wealth in oil or non-lootable diamonds increases the durability of authoritarian regimes (but not that of democratic regimes). As Ross (2015) puts it regarding the case of oil: "in short, there is strong evidence that higher levels of oil wealth help authoritarian regimes, and authoritarian rulers, ward off democratic pressures. These effects are commonly attributed to a rentier mechanism, although other mechanisms and

conditions might also matter" (248). Overall, our claim that certain types of natural resource abundance tend to harm democracy is supported by the literature.

1.2.b The Resource Curse and Conflict

The resource curse literature probes another factor that will loom large in Chapter Three: conflict. Natural resources, and the rent (as opposed to the products) they generate, have a significant causal effect on the likelihood of conflict. With growth in income from production, more people want to buy, sell, and work, which raises the opportunity cost of engaging in warfare. But, if the income growth comes from resource rents, warfare designed to capture those rents for oneself or one's group becomes a more attractive option (Van der Ploeg 2011). Significant research has demonstrated the strong links between natural resource abundance and conflict. De Soysa (2000), Humphreys (2005), and Collier (2007) all find a correlation between an economic dependence on natural resources and civil war (Frankel 2012). In contrast to incomes from other types of production, resource rents tend to increase the likelihood of civil conflict (Fearon and Laitin 2003; Collier and Hoeffler 2004; Fearon 2005). Collier and Hoeffler (2004) finds about 22 percent probability of civil war in a country where primary commodity exports account for about 33 percent of GDP. This number is only one percent in countries with no such exports.

Understanding the relationship between resource wealth and conflict requires examining the ways in which resources can catalyze conflict. What are the exact mechanisms by which resources induce conflicts? Governments of less developed countries, where resource windfall discoveries represent a "particularly valuable" opportunity to bolster limited fiscal capacity, may be less able to provide security against violence and theft or to put down rebellion and disquiet (Venables 2016, 161; Skaperdas 2002; Mehlum, Moene, and Torvik 2002; Fearon and Laitin 2003; Van der Ploeg 2011). Multinational companies interested in gaining access to a region or the resources it produces may finance local rebels or warlords in exchange for "booty futures"—the rights to exploit resources that those combatants hope to capture in future battles (Bannon and Collier 2003, 14; Murshed and Tadjoeddin 2009).

Moreover, conflicts further weaken state institutions and socioeconomic linkages (Le Billon 2012) and cause a "degradation of the social contract" such that ongoing conflicts last longer and new conflicts are more likely to arise (Murshed and Tadjoeddin 2009, 1). (See Chapter Three for more discussion on this topic).

There are, of course, caveats to the relationship between resources and conflict that any effort to derive lessons from the literature, and apply them to experimentation, must carefully consider. First, as noted in Table 1.1 among natural resources, oil and alluvial gemstones seem especially tied to conflict (Isham et al. 2005; Lujala 2010; Ross 2004). Some types of gemstones tend to be easily lootable and are therefore targeted by "conflict entrepreneurs" (Korf 2005, 201). For oil, the massive upfront investment increases companies' exposure to risk and can make them more willing to extort or engage in other behaviors that support local conflicts (Ross 2012). Rigterink (2010) and Nillesen and Bulte (2014) emphasize that the resource-conflict relationship is heavily reliant on the type of resource, with the former noting that quantitative evidence of the link between resource abundance and civil war onset is "quite fragile when taking resources a single category" because "results are sensitive to changing specifications" and debates over the mechanisms that link the two remain unsettled (Rigterink 2010, 21).

Conflict is also most likely to occur if the resourcerich region is different from the rest of the country in terms of ethnicity, culture, or religion (Caselli and Coleman 2013). However, Caselli and Coleman also finds that "one of the insights is that the incidence of ethnic conflict is nonmonotonic in expropriable resources as a fraction of total resources, with a low incidence for either low or high value" (2013, 163–4). Van der Ploeg's (2011) economic model, built from Hodler (2006) and Van der Ploeg and Poelkhekke (2009), shows that "if the country is homogenous ... there is no fighting. ... The resource curse is more severe in countries that have many ethnic or religious fractions" (26). In fact, Nillesen and Bulte (2014)'s extensive literature review finds that grievances (such as poverty or ethnicity) are a necessary mediating factor; otherwise, "there is no unconditional relation between resource wealth and conflict" (81).

1.2.c The Resource Curse and Corruption

Finally, the institutional resource curse literature demonstrates how resource wealth incentivizes corruption. Understanding these dynamics is critical to altering them, which LTRC aims to do.

From broader panel data, a number of studies find a positive correlation between economic dependence on natural resources and higher perceived rates of corruption (Leite and Weidmann 2002; Arezki and Brückner 2011; Sala-i-Martin and Subramanian 2013; Bhattacharyya and Hodler 2010; Ross 2015). Papyrakis and Gerlagh (2004) shows a significant positive relationship between the share of mineral production in GDP and perceived corruption. Andersen and Aslaksen (2013) tracks "foreign deposits into the banks of tax havens," showing "that when autocracies (but not democracies) experience a rise in oil and gas rents, there is a corresponding rise in transfers to these tax havens" (Ross 2015, 249).

At a more granular level, Sala-i Martin and Subramanian (2013) describes Nigeria's recent political history as "shaped by getting access to the revenues from oil" (596). In Brazil, Monteiro and Ferraz (2012) and Caselli and Michaels (2013) demonstrate that large sums of oil revenues are diverted from development spending, most likely through mayors hiring unnecessary government workers or keeping funds for themselves. In São Tomé and Principe, Vicente (2010) finds that, after a resource boom, politicians increased corruption in sectors that would enable them to stay in power, especially direct vote-buying and indirect corruption in scholarship allocations and customs (which the authors postulate as a proxy for increased imports from the elite).

These studies and others have identified four main mechanisms of resource-fueled corruption through which natural resource rent is captured, which our theory of change and our experimental design must consider. In countries burdened by the resource curse:

- Politicians will see more opportunity for personal enrichment, leading to relatively fewer "civic-minded" candidates and relatively more individualistic candidates (Brollo et al. 2013);
- Politicians in power discount the future (both their political future and the country's macroeconomic future) and either steal money themselves or bloat the public sector through vote-buying and patronage in public service jobs (Robinson, Torvik, and Verdier 2006; Caselli and Michaels 2013);
- The huge potential payoffs to a company that acquires exclusive rights to develop a resource deposit raises the attractiveness of potentially corrupt behavior;²¹
- Finally, as described earlier, transfers and payoffs to citizens could reduce the sting of perceived corruption and reduce the demand for anti-corruption reforms (Manzetti and Wilson 2007; Dunning 2008; Morrison 2009; Ross 2012; Wiens 2015).

Because of its effects on corruption, resource abundance can produce a self-reinforcing curse: its elements and outcomes interact with one another, setting up a series of devastating feedback loops. As we know, natural resource wealth creates more incentives and opportunities for corruption. Once

²¹ According to Gupta (2017), this increase in "unethical practices" only occurs when an industry is less subject to normal, competitive market pressures. This has historically been the case in natural resource extraction, although that situation is evolving: see Williams and Dupuy (2016).

corruption undermines citizens' trust in government, citizens are less likely to actively cooperate with—or even support—efforts to clean up the system (Morris and Klesner 2010). Businesses act similarly. If firms perceive a corrupt system in which their competitors have stronger political connections, they are more likely to bypass courts, pursue extra-legal benefits, and pay bribes themselves (Hellman, Jones, and Kaufmann 2003). Thus, corruption leads to a vicious cycle and deterioration in the very institutional quality necessary to productively manage resource wealth (Papyrakis and Gerlagh 2004; Mehlum, Moene, and Torvik 2006; Kolstad and Wiig 2011; Sala-i-Martin and Subramanian 2013).

1.3 Corruption Risks Along the Natural Resource Value Chain

In this section, we review each stage along the NRVC, focusing on real-world scenarios of exposure to corruption and highlighting how TAP has addressed or can address those concerns. We return to these risks and their resolution throughout this paper and, in particular, as part of our discussion of the LTRC experimental design.

We follow those who segment the NRVC into five stages, as shown in Figure 1.1.

1: Consent	2: Contract	3: Production	4: Revenue	5: Spending
Consultation between extractives companies, governments, and citizens before the implementation of an extractives project. Includes project-specific consultation, FPIC, environmental impact assessments, and special considerations for indigenous/margin- alized populations.	Awarding and com- pletion of concessions, licenses, and contracts to begin exploitation. Includes open contracting and beneficial ownership.	All steps of exploita- tion and production. Includes special considerations for parastatal resource companies, local sourcing requirements, and environmental impacts of extraction.	Paying and collecting resource-derived reve- nues from companies to governments and/or communities. Includes any efforts to avoid taxes, like transfer pricing.	How resource-derived revenues are managed, spent, transferred, invested, etc. Includes decentralization and revenue sharing and social expenditures of resource wealth.

FIGURE 1.1: LTRC's Natural Resource Value Chain (NRVC)

Source: Authors.

As will be seen, we rely heavily on the work of Natural Resource Governance Institute (NRGI) to assess activities along that chain, including NRGI's foundational work on the Natural Resource Charter (see Figure 1.2) (NRGI 2014).²²



FIGURE 1.2: NRGI's Natural Resource Charter Decision Chain

Source: NRGI 2014.

In 2016, the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) released a detailed map of the risk structures along the NRVC. Drawing on that work, Table 1.2 provides a summary matrix of these risks. The OECD's assessment is also a pillar of the analysis that follows in this subsection. For a detailed assessment of corruption risks surrounding the awarding of licenses, permits, and contracts in the mining sector, please see the Mining Awards Corruption Risk Assessment (MACRA) Tool (Nest 2017) and related "Combatting Corruption in Mining Approvals" report (Caripis 2017) published by Transparency International's Mining For Sustainable Development Programme.

²² NRGI (2010) describes the NRVC as "a way of describing the stages by which the full value of a product is managed and ultimately realized." While each definition offers something of significance, we combine some of the existing definitions of the NRVC used among the business community and especially among leading NGOs. By finding common ground among definitions, we seek to provide a comprehensive research framework in which to assess interventions in the natural resource space.

TABLE 1.2: The OECD's Typology of Risks along the Natural Value Resource Chain (NRVC)

NRVC STEP	TYPES OF RISK
1. Consent of Affected Communities	 Underestimation of environmental impacts or overestimation of economic benefits Opaque land tenure and community decisionmaking systems
2. Contracts and Licenses	 Asymmetries in information and legal and technical capacity Opaque negotiation processes Discretionary bid evaluation or license allocation
3. Extraction and Production	Lack of enforcement and oversightExtortion of and insecurity for local communities
4. Revenue Collection and Taxation	 Inefficient and discretionary taxation regimes Lack of government capacity and expertise Commodity trading loopholes
5. Revenue Management, Expenditure, and Investment	 Weak governance of wealth, stabilization, social development, and subsidy funds Incoherence and lack of coordination between local and central governments

Source: Derived from OECD 2016.

1.3.a NRVC Step 1: Acquiring the Consent of Affected Communities

Consent is the first step in the NRVC, and includes "deciding to extract," or the process in which "a government or community [decides] if and when to begin extracting their natural resources and convert them into monetary or other benefits" (NRGI 2010). During this time, "governments may take the opportunity to get prior informed consent from the local communities, to designate environmentally or culturally significant areas as off-limits to exploration and production, or even to reserve certain areas for particular methods of extraction" (NRGI 2010).

The first step in the consent process requires an assessment of the costs and benefits, which must be conveyed to the community or representative decisionmakers. Often, the costs are formulated in environmental impact assessments (EIAs), in which the party interested in extracting the resource evaluates the environmental damage that is likely to occur. Box 1.2 details some possible corruption risks with EIA processes.

Regardless of whether an EIA is conducted, interested parties can convince communities to support extractive projects by promising benefits that never materialize or are minuscule in the context of the larger, hidden impacts. Outright fraud and intimidation can also come into play. In Honduras's Patuca River valley, attendees at a consultation meeting for a dam project were offered rice, and, in exchange, they had to sign attendance records. The following year, those signatures were falsely used as evidence of their consent (Chayes 2017). There have further been reports of violence and intimidation being used to acquire the facade of consent in places like Liberia (Global Witness 2015).

Box 1.2: EIA Corruption Risks

The typical EIA process is exposed to possible corruption at various points (Dupuy and Williams 2016):

- Even before the EIA is begun, companies might offer or be expected to pay bribes in exchange for "fast-tracking," or exemption from EIA requirements. In Guatemala, for example, "the EIA has generally served as a tool for the state to pursue political rents" (Dougherty 2015, 13);
- During the scope-setting phase, interested parties may use corrupt means to deliberately leave out problematic topics. Kenya's Nairobi Thika Highway improvement project allegedly suffered from "a potentially coercive relationship between a project proponent and a lead expert" that resulted in an EIA that did not include sufficient mitigation strategies for impacts on water and skipped noise and vibration impacts entirely (Barczewski 2013, 6);
- During report preparation, the expert leading the evaluation may have a stake in the results, and may be influenced to cherry-pick or falsify data. For instance, in 2006, the EIA used to obtain approval for a 74-year lease on a bauxite mineral mine was exposed as having been copied from an unrelated bauxite project in Russia. Civil society organizations allege that such "cut and paste jobs" are common (Ghosh 2007), and Barczewski (2013) finds that, in Kenya, experts conducting EIA studies created templates to facilitate such copying;
- When a report is finalized, the results may not be shared outside of the company in a thorough, comprehensible fashion, and the affected community may never see the results. The 2015 Environmental Democracy Index shows that the Philippines, Bangladesh, Saint Lucia, the Republic of the Congo, Namibia, and Malaysia all have no legal obligation to make EIAs public without the public having to make an official request (World Resources Institute 2015).

Finally, local-level elite capture and corruption can also mar community consent processes. In a 2015 survey of mining industry stakeholders commissioned by the International Council on Mining and Metals (ICMM), a major constraint on real consent was that companies often "engage only with the better educated and more articulate sectors of a community, who do not necessarily represent the broader community and may not seek to share benefits widely" (Macdonald 2017, 18). In several consultations for hydrocarbon projects in Bolivia, "it was not clear who the representative institutions and persons were, as mistrust toward these organizations was great, or parallel organizations existed; during the consultation procedure negotiations with individual community members were held and local authorities were corrupted" (Schilling-Vacaflor 2012, 12).

1.3.b NRVC Step 2: Contracting and Licensing the Rights to Extract

Once a community has provided its consent (or, as suggested by the cases described above, once consent has been bypassed),²³ the next step for a natural resource project is to secure the legal rights to the resource. This usually takes the form of a contract or licensing negotiation that involves a level of dealmaking in which "the government must decide on a framework for awarding rights to explore and extract, and establish the legal and financial terms governing those rights" (NRGI 2010).²⁴ While different regulatory regimes will have a different balance of challenges and risk factors, the categories of risk factors are the same (Columbia Center on Sustainable Investment 2015; NRGI 2015).²⁵ They include: information, capacity, and expertise asymmetry; opaque negotiation processes; and policymaker discretion over allocations of rights.²⁶

Many governments lack sufficient geospatial information systems or legal and technical expertise to engage in contract negotiations on a level playing field, and to fully measure, value, map, and negotiate over their resources. As a result, extractive companies often enter contract or licensing negotiations with more information than government officials and are at an advantage when agreeing to terms (OECD 2016). In many contracting regimes, so little information is publicly available that it is impossible even to know whether capacity is an issue, and rules governing the evaluation of contract bids and proposals are often nonexistent, unclear, or unenforced. This opacity and discretion are the main drivers of corruption in the second step of the NRVC, creating the space for special kickbacks and enabling the approval of deals that are not in the public's best interest (Rosenblum and Maples 2009). Box 1.3 provides some concrete examples of these risks.

Private companies may be legally required to include a role for the state-owned enterprise (SOE) during the contracting phase,²⁷ ostensibly for helping transfer technology to the developing agency. But some officials use this contact point to demand bribes. Furthermore, just like regular politicians, executives in an SOE may have conflicts of interest. The OECD (2016) reports two relevant cases. In one, the president of an SOE's board, who also happened to manage a private company, contracted with the SOE. When contractual disagreements emerged, this individual pushed to resolve this case in his private company's favor. In another, SOE executives and political leaders signed inflated contracts with local service providers and small companies and demanded kickbacks that they then funneled to the dominant political party's campaign funds.

²³ One question for the field is whether consent mechanisms like "free, prior, and informed consent" (FPIC) reliably lower corruption risks at later stages of the NRVC. While there is some evidence from related initiatives like REDD+ (reducing emissions from deforestation and forest degradation and enhancing carbon stocks) that "policies, institutions, systems, and processes" designed in earlier stages of natural resource governance "will influence the presence or absence of risks and conditions for corruption in subsequent phases,", this question has not—to our knowledge—been rigorously tested (Dermawan et al. 2011, 1). The general lack of successful, sustainable FPIC processes may explain why.

²⁴ The landmark "Contract Disclosure Survey" published by Oxfam in 2018 examines contract disclosure commitments across 40 leading oil, gas, and mining companies (see Munilla and Brophy 2018).

²⁵ A 2017 report from Transparency International examines corruption risks in the contracting and licensing stage across 18 resource-rich countries, arguing that "corruption risks exist in mining approvals regimes of countries across the globe" (Caripis 2017).

²⁶ One important new tool for mitigating corruption in the contracting and licensing stage of the NRVC is Transparency International's "Mining Awards Corruption Risk Assessment Tool" (Nest 2017).

²⁷ State-owned enterprises (SOEs), including national oil companies (NOCs), pose special concerns due to their hybrid nature of straddling the public and private sectors. SOEs can be perpetrators, vehicles, and victims of corruption at every stage of the NRVC. In many countries, the SOE acts as both "administrator and regulator," allowing it to force private companies into collaborations that may be inefficient or allow for opportunities for corruption (OECD 2016, 16). For more, see Gillies, Heller, and Kaufmann (2018) and the OECD's 2015 Guidelines on Corporate Governance of State-Owned Enterprises.

Box 1.3: Capacity and Opacity Challenges at Natural Resource Value Chain Step 2: Contract

- The 2005 agreement between Mittal Steel and the National Transitional Government of Liberia was infamously skewed in Mittal's favor, due to capacity challenges during the civil war. One of President Ellen Johnson Sirleaf's first presidential acts was to insist on the agreement's renegotiation (Global Witness 2006, 2007).
- Within governments, corrupt actors can intentionally weaken ministries charged with overseeing or approving contracts. Transparency International Zimbabwe claimed that such targeted "de-fanging" happened to the Zimbabwe Mining Development Corporation in 2012 (TI Zimbabwe 2012).
- In the Democratic Republic of the Congo, the government secretly assigned rights to oil blocks that overlap with legally protected rainforests to an extremely opaque company, COMICO. Global Witness (2018b) recently unmasked some of COMICO's hidden owners and holding companies, which include "a former Congolese politician and businessman, who was a cabinet member of Jean-Pierre Bemba's Congolese political party[,] ... [a] Portuguese businessman linked to the Brazilian Car Wash scandal[,] ... [and] a former business associate ... who was previously convicted of playing a part in a fraudulent investment scheme."

In many cases, ethical private interests do not want such an opaque and discretionary operating environment, while in other cases, less ethical businesses leverage the opacity to their benefit. In Nigeria during the Obasanjo and Yar'Adua administrations (from 1999 to 2010), oil companies "confront[ed] costly delays and inefficiencies in their dealings with Nigerian state institutions. Though they [did] not constitute corruption per se, such delays create[d] the motive and opportunity for 'greasing the wheels' ... the bottleneck around reviewing contracts ensure[d] that top officials remain[ed] the gatekeepers of the industry" (Gillies 2009, 3). With such a tempting payoff on the other side of a frustrating hurdle, companies may find it cheaper to simply try to capture the state or specific regulatory agencies themselves (Al-Kasim, Søreide, and Williams 2008). In 2017, Sayne, Gillies, and Watkins reviewed more than 100 real instances where, in contexts lacking transparent, accountable contracting procedures, allegations arose that an oil, gas, or mining contract or license was secured via corruption. Based on this review, they published a list of "twelve red flags" indicating that rights to extract a natural resource might have been corruptly assigned. These red flags are reproduced in Box 1.4.

1.3.c NRVC Step 3: Extracting and Producing the Resource

Production involves the actual extraction of a natural resource from its source and any refinement or other conditioning necessary for its ultimate production and sale. This step also includes the laws, rules, and regulations around "safety, health, and environmental practices" (Ríos, Bruyas, and Liss 2015, 13). Critically, the production process should institutionalize a regulatory framework focused on monitoring



and accountability, in an effort to guarantee that contracts are executed according to agreed-upon terms and that "capacity building for regulatory agencies" ensures their ability to regulate and to enforce the law (Ríos, Bruyas, and Liss 2015, 13). During the extraction phase, most potentially negative impacts are accrued to the local community and the environment, and actual extraction usually occurs in remote locations that only sporadically have the necessary state presence to enforce regulations and protections (Williams and Dupuy 2016; ELLA 2012b). As Box 1.5 illustrates, this opens the door to local occurrences of corruption, and foreshadows the emphasis on rule of law and local context covered in Chapters Three and Four. In many cases, issues from NRVC2 continue as problems at NRVC3, since "existing staff have little time to monitor and enforce EIA recommendations" and mitigation measures (Kakonge 2006, 19). Even though this narrative is common for institutions that govern the extraction and production phase in developing countries, capacity excuses are often a cover for corrupt political systems. In Honduras, for instance:

the businesses whose activities constitute the most serious menace to biodiversity and therefore *require* "weak" environmental and legal institutions in order to flourish are businesses in the hands of private-sector network members. These are the activities

Box 1.5: Corruption Risks at the Local Level at NRVC3 (Production)

Local authorities are expected to form a first line of public defense, but these smaller governance structures can often be more easily bought out, bribed, or co-opted. As a result, the protective rules codified in the central government can become riddled with loopholes and lack of enforcement. In Indonesia, "most mining districts lack capacity and funding," to the extent that, in one district's Energy and Mining Office, "the occupational safety and health inspection budget enabled the office to conduct inspections at less than 25 percent of the district's 285 coal mining operations" in 2011 (Venugopal 2014, 11). In Peru, timber exporters were able to falsify sustainable origin documents through corrupt agreements with regional leaders, and, when a public prosecutor attempted to intervene in 2015, "under pressure from the timber sector, the new law allowing public prosecutors to seize timber was weakened" and the president of Peru's forest and wildlife inspection agency [was] sacked (Global Witness 2017c).

the Honduran government has selected as pillars of its development strategy. Some scholars suggest that the environmental degradation that results from such policies is also deliberate—that it is used to create a rootless class of poor laborers for industries controlled by the kleptocratic network (Chayes 2017, 54 [emphasis in original]).

Whether the root cause of this lack of enforcement is inability or malfeasance, the fact remains that companies aware of a likely lack of consequences are disincentivized from implementing costly mitigation strategies or compensating communities.

Even companies acting in good faith can become embroiled in corruption at the extraction stage due to the high levels of discretion granted to power-seeking government officials, as well as opaque business relationships. Officials can encourage fulfilling local hiring requirements based on ethnic, family, or political party ties.²⁸ They can demand bribes or kickbacks in exchange for waiving requirements, add or remove companies from exemption lists, or capriciously enforce sanctions (Martini 2014). Officials' corrupt natural resource interests may extend so deeply throughout an economy that regular due diligence efforts cannot reveal them (Kubba and Schornick 2015).

Because communities living in such contexts often resort to protest and disobedience to defend their interests, the third step of the NRVC is also one at which direct violence and extortion are common, as described in Chapter Three. Some companies take advantage of gaps in state presence to threaten anyone who questions or opposes their activities, although actual culpability is rarely proven.

²⁸ By requiring extractives companies to hire, train, spend, and borrow in the localities from which resources are extracted, local content provisions policies aim to foster local economic growth and technological transfer that can make natural resource extraction less "extractive." Yet some critics believe that "local content is detrimental to development ... arguing that 'local content without oversight gives nothing' and will only lead to capture and corruption" (Kolstad and Kinyondo 2015, 15). Indeed, local content requirements can actually create new channels of corruption and inefficiencies, including: "local content interventions being closely aligned with public officials' or investors' other local businesses; targets resulting in selection of contractors unable to meet prequalification without falsifying capabilities; extorting fees to be part of a tender list; authorization of single/sole sourcing without appropriate governance arrangements; bid-rigging between contractors to increase prices; or bribing officials to provide certification" (Esteves, Coyne, and Moreno 2013, 7).
Box 1.6: Examples of Threats and Violence against Environmental Defenders at Natural Resource Value Chain Step 3: Production

- In Mongolia in 2017, an "influx of mining companies and transporting trucks in the Dalanjargalan subdivision of Dornogovi province caused heavy dust which severely degraded pastures and threatened the health and safety of livestock and people. Media workers filmed mining company representatives intimidating journalists and herders" (Amnesty International 2018, 263).
- In the Philippines in 2016, a leading environmental activist was murdered in her home after opposing local coal mining (Amnesty International 2017). That same year in South Africa, after years of violent attacks and death threats, the chairman of a local NGO opposed to a local open-cast titanium mine in the area was shot eight times (Front Line Defenders 2017).
- The government of Turkey infamously signed a contract with BP in 2003 that obliged the government to pay fees if it intervened in BP's operations, even if it did so to enforce the country's laws (Amnesty International 2003).
- Ecuador's Interior Ministry filed a complaint against, and threatened to close, the Ecological Action Corporation after that organization published information about the environmental impact of mining in a certain province. Authorities later declared a state of emergency in the province and arrested a local indigenous leader of the opposition to the mine (Amnesty International 2017).
- Several indigenous activists have been tortured and murdered for opposing a hydropower plant project secretly owned by the spouse of a powerful politician in Honduras (Global Witness 2017b).

Governments can be both complicit and complacent in the face of threats to environmental defenders. Corrupt actors within the government can be inclined to use the power of the state to criminalize environmental dissent and protest through outlawing demonstrations, limiting NGOs' registration and access to funding, and surveilling environmental rights defenders (Cowman 2017). Box 1.6 provides five case examples, and Chapter Three explores these dire challenges in more detail. Finally, several of the worst risks of corruption at NRVC3 result from local instances of what Østensen and Stridsman (2017) call "shadow value chains," where the resource is produced independent of, or is stolen or diverted from, the official value chain. This practice, of course, has huge implications for the revenue base of governments; just as importantly, it also results in severe local impacts around the areas of production. Box 1.7 covers two elements of the shadow value chain: artisanal mining²⁹ (which is distinct from illegal mining) and resource theft.

²⁹ Artisanal or small-scale mining, simply put, is the unofficial but accepted practice of labor-intensive, non-mechanized extraction of a resource in a traditional, allowed area, even if the individual miners do not have the official licenses or legal permissions that the government requires larger mining operations to acquire (Wagner 2016). For more information on artisanal mining, see Pact's Mines to Markets program (Pact n.d.).

Box 1.7: Shadow Value Chains

Artisanal mining produces many of the world's minerals from outside of the official resource value chain. Although not necessarily illegal, these men (and, increasingly, women [Bush 2009]) are by definition operating in a legal gray area outside of state oversight, and usually experience some degree of economic dependence and marginalization. This creates a "perfect" scenario for criminal organizations to exploit or outright enslave workers. Those organizations can also convert artisanal mining into illegal mining, bringing in destructive machinery or operating in prohibited or protected areas (Wagner 2016). This can result in a harsh backlash that further marginalizes the men and women of traditional artisanal mining communities (Bush 2009; Hilson 2017).

In other cases, the resource is produced from official channels, then stolen and diverted. Nigeria epitomizes this problem. With thousands of miles of exposed pipelines and high-quality petroleum that does not require extensive additional refining, sprawling networks of thieves puncture legal companies' oil infrastructure to siphon off crude oil for local sale as gasoline substitutes or to fill barges to mix into official stores on offshore tankers in the Gulf of Guinea (Katsouris and Sayne 2013). The infrastructure punctured by the thieves is often severely damaged, resulting in environmental damage and dissuading investment (Gillies 2009). Political leaders, Nigeria's national oil company, law enforcement agencies, and "big men" industry intermediaries have all been implicated in facilitating and benefitting from this oil theft (McPherson and MacSearraigh 2007; Gillies 2009; Katsouris and Sayne 2013; Østensen and Stridsman 2017).

There is evidence, however, that multi-pronged interventions can allow ASM to operate with state oversight and facilitate local economic development. In Cote d'Ivoire, the Property Rights and Artisanal Diamond Development Program (PRADD), co-sponsored by USAID and the EU, targets the country's Artisanal Small Scale Diamond Mining (ASDAM) sector (UN Economic Commission for Africa). This program not only attempts to strengthen the technical capacity of actors within ASDAM through diamond mining best practices, but also promotes international good governance through the Kimberley Process and prioritizes engagement with affected mining communities (Tetra Tech n.d.). This context-based intervention, working to facilitate diamonds sold in legal channels with government oversight, demonstrates an effective counter to shadow value chains.

1.3.d NRVC Step 4: Revenue Collection and Taxation

Revenue collection and management includes the post-sale return of revenues to government coffers and how government agencies collect and manage revenues. This step does not include the impact or destination of revenue as it is returned to the public or invested into agreed-upon budget and spending priorities. Rather, this step centers on public finance and the accounting security around those financial transactions. As such, at this step in the NRVC, the corruption risks shift to the monetary value of the resource rather than the resource itself. Even if a natural resource is extracted with proper legal authorization, a fair contract, and informed consent from the community affected by its extraction, the money that the resource is worth can still be affected by corruption at this stage.

From the outset, however, it is important to note that both corrupt and compliant companies engage in a number of legal activities to lower their tax burden. While not necessarily corruption per se, these efforts do run the risk of severely hobbling a government's ability to fund itself, which can create an environment in which corruption can flourish. And, because these efforts are often opaque, the line between legal tax minimization and corrupt profiteering can be quite blurred.

To attract investment, governments may feel compelled to allow for negotiation of tax levels during contracting or some level of adjustment for companies during price downturns. Companies will aim to maximize their take (and minimize the government's take) by "locking in" advantageous terms through tax holidays, favorable depreciation rates, and stabilization clauses. Government negotiators may be at a technical or experiential disadvantage, leading to overly generous terms for companies that stem from being "out-negotiated" rather than from corruption (Hubert 2017). This asymmetry is especially likely (and steep) upon the initial discovery of a resource, when the government has never before dealt with that resource or its exploration (see, e.g., the discussion of offshore oil in Ghana in Hickey et al. 2015).

In many cases, corrupt companies attempt to bribe officials to secure better terms, and corrupt officials

Box 1.8: Sweet Tax Deals and Their Dangers

The OECD corruption risk assessment (2016) notes multiple examples of bribes paid to "local tax officials in exchange for reducing the company's tax assessment and minimising its tax obligations ... in one specific case, the bribe was intended to reduce the amount of expatriate employment taxes payable by the company. Payroll expenses were regularly underreported and improper payments mischaracterised in the company's books and records" (78-79). However, as has occurred in Tanzania, these deals can be dangerous (Forstater and Readhead 2017a). In the late 1990s, several foreign companies signed confidential Mining Development Agreements that fixed very favorable terms for extensive periods. After facing years of criticism for low tax payments, including a five-year period in which shareholders received US \$444 million in dividends while the company paid zero corporate income tax, the British company Acacia Mining reported in 2017 that it had exported US \$1 billion worth of gold the previous year but paid only eight percent in taxes and royalties. A dispute erupted with the government halting all gold exports while demanding additional tax payments. The company's defense is that it complied with the terms of the original agreement, which seems to be true; of course, that agreement was extremely favorable to the company (OpenOil 2016).

use their discretion to enrich themselves (Hubert 2017). Furthermore, corrupt companies may not be content with making use of the status quo institutions, regulations, and monitoring and auditing systems. They may directly target those entities through undue influence and capture in order to evade taxation. For example, tax assessors can collude with company officials to apply loopholes or

to not investigate otherwise-questionable financial statements. Box 1.8 offers some examples, including how "golden tax deals can come back and bite you" (Forstater and Readhead 2017a).

Even when officials do not extract bribes through coercive or suggestive means, governments may lack the capacity and expertise to properly audit company

Box 1.9: Examples of Transfer Pricing Schemes

- Prior to renegotiation, the now-infamous Liberia Mittal Steel agreement allowed the company to set the price at which it exported iron ore, an extremely favorable term that they may have secured through bribery, by selling to subsidiaries at a lower price, Mittal was able to lower the royalty due to the Liberian government and then re-sell the final exported product at market price (Global Witness 2006, 2007).
- In addition, governments can struggle to enforce rules against tax evasion via transfer pricing, due to a lack of capacity and technical understanding, or due to opaque information about the transactions. In South Africa, for example "the revenue authority has a dedicated transfer pricing audit team of 20 people, and 30 audits between 2012 and 2015 resulted in adjustments totalling nearly \$2 billion, generating about \$500 million in additional government revenue. However, it does not appear that there has been a successful prosecution for transfer mispricing in South Africa. The challenges of administrative capacity are not limited to the revenue authority; they extend to the courts, where judges may lack the capacity to truly understand a complicated transfer mispricing case" (Hubert 2017, 45).
- Nigeria's NOC sells crude oil "on an intercompany basis" and underreports its earnings in order to cover budget deficits due to its own internal mismanagement and corruption (Sayne, Gillies, and Katsouris 2015, 18).
- According to McPherson and MacSearraigh (2007): "Accounting practices of most NOCs should be a cause for concern. Often, the books are unavailable or, if available, they are non-transparent and confusing. In general, lack of transparency, weak or nonexistent audits, and unnecessarily convoluted accounting, tax, or financial structures should be taken as signals of possible problems" (210). Longchamp and Perrot (2017) have collected a database of more than 60 examples of corruption cases involving SOEs and commodities trading. They conclude that there are "major risks of revenue misappropriation" for SOEs in just this one part of the NRVC (36).

financial statements or production and export declarations.³⁰ This allows corrupt companies to keep more resource rents for themselves by distorting project revenues, costs, or production data. One common tactic is to under-report the quantity, quality, or value of the product, especially for resources like alluvial gemstones that are easy to smuggle, or other valuable minerals that occur alongside lower-value minerals and can be hidden in concentrate or mixtures (OECD 2016; Hubert 2017). Despite a widely lauded semi-independent government agency being charged with verifying the quality and quantity of exported minerals, the Acacia dispute in Box 1.8 involves unproven allegations that the company hid higher-value minerals in gold concentrate (Forstater and Readhead 2017b). In Zimbabwe, Bikita Minerals (Pvt) Ltd. owns a rich lithium deposit, but does not report exporting lithium, yielding allegations that it exports lithium under the guise of the lower value petalite and accusations of "rent-seeking behavior by

the country's ruling elites who ... demand resource rents from extractive industries in exchange for shielding them from compulsory acquisition" (Maguwu 2017, 2). Efforts to avoid taxation may or may not be illegal. Companies may also sell the resources they produce to subsidiaries they own at a special, not necessarily illegal "transfer price" that lowers the tax bill to the government whose land they extracted (Readhead 2016, 6).

Some SOEs have their own versions of transfer pricing and quantity underreporting schemes to keep rent for themselves (Longchamp and Perrot 2017). Box 1.9 offers some examples. More obviously corrupt illegal production and theft of resources, as described above at NRVC3, also have tremendous implications for government revenue. Box 1.10 provides additional examples relevant to NRVC4.

Box 1.10: Lost Government Income from Shadow Value Chains

- In 2016, around 28 percent of Peru's gold was produced illegally at a value of about \$2.6 billion, almost double the value of the cocaine the country produced that year. In Colombia, a staggering 80 percent of gold comes from illegal sources (Wagner 2016).
- Many Colombian cartels have developed "resource portfolios" of drug crops and gold, threatening hopes for peace and hobbling negotiations to end the world's longest running civil conflict (Rettberg and Ortiz-Riomalo 2016; Massé and Le Billon 2017).
- Nigeria's lost revenue from stolen oil in 2016 totaled more than one-fifth of its revenue target, and roughly one-sixth of its total budget (Nigeria Natural Resource Charter 2018).
- Some contend that Indonesia's decentralized licensing regime has empowered "illegal tin-mining activities" that "have resulted in loss of revenue for the district" (Venugopal 2014, 12).

³⁰ For a recent report on the challenges of government cost auditing in the oil and gas sector, see Oxfam's "Examining the Crude Details" (Readhead, Mulé, and Op de Beke 2018).

1.3.e NRVC Step 5: Revenue Expenditure and Investment

Investment and spending form the final step in the NRVC and focus on how citizens benefit from the allocation of revenues generated from natural resources. At this step, the government must manage the income it has collected or earned from resource extraction. This requires processes and institutions to be in place to ensure that funding streams arrive at their intended destinations, and "systematic and rigorous monitoring and audits of public investment programs by independent organizations (including civil society groups)" (NRGI 2010). However, the massive and volatile inflows that natural resources can create often render this practice ineffectual. The risks manifest in three broad areas: resource wealth funds, revenue-sharing schemes, and regular government budgets.

Many countries establish natural resource funds to smooth budgeting, shield the domestic economy from destabilizing inflows of foreign capital, and force savings for specific development priorities or future generations. While macroeconomically prudent, these funds can also represent a trove of spoils and pork-barrel spending opportunities over which corrupt politicians can compete. Foreign banks also often play a significant role in natural resource fund corruption, due to the practice of entrusting foreign, external managers with oversight. In some cases, those managers have undisclosed political ties in-country (OECD 2016). Some funds have been explicitly created with special rules to make them less subject to parliamentary or civic oversight and more opaque and discretionary (Bauer, Rietveld, and Toledano 2014). Still others are just created prematurely, which Cust and Mihalyi (2017) calls the "presource curse," and are subject to the prevailing lowcapacity, poor governance environment (Bauer and Mihalyi 2018). As Bell and Faria (2007) puts it:

one must not assume that "new" institutions will somehow master government and administrative skills that existing institutions lack ... oversight and transparency play a key role in law enforcement. ... Without this, government officials, oversight committees, and the public will simply not have the basic information necessary to ensure responsible use of the nation's resources. ... Transparency cannot ensure the responsible use of resource revenues, but without transparency, abuse is almost certain (287-288).

Another corruption risk at the spending stage involves sharing revenues at the local level, either by giving local governments the authority to collect and retain taxes on natural resource extraction, or, more commonly, through intergovernmental transfer systems.

Revenue sharing is a growing trend, pursued with four typical objectives: recognizing local claims on natural resources, compensating for the locallyconcentrated negative impacts of extraction, promoting development in resource-rich regions or "sharing the wealth" with resource-poor regions, and trying to mitigate violent conflict (Bauer et al. 2016b, 24-25). Additionally, decentralization has long been pushed as an anti-corruption measure, backed by early evidence that fiscal decentralization was strongly associated with lower levels of corruption (Fisman and Gatti 2002). Unfortunately, evidence now shows that natural resource revenue decentralization, without explicit strategies to safeguard the environment and develop local accountability institutions, is not a panacea for these issues or the resource curse. Indeed, decentralization generates its own set of local-level corruption issues (Morgandi 2008; Bauer et al. 2016a). Chapter Four outlines LTRC's proposed response to this issue, while Box 1.12 explains the three major risks of decentralized revenue sharing: local capacity, elite capture, and conflict.

Box 1.11: Corruption in Natural Resource Funds

While some natural resource funds, like those of Chile, Norway, and Saudi Arabia have, at least historically, successfully stabilized the national budget and protected their economies, corruption and mismanagement are more common.

- The "Libyan and Kuwaiti funds have incurred billions of dollars in avoidable losses due to financial transactions that benefited friends of the regime or investment managers" (Bauer, Rietveld, and Toledano 2014, 16).
- Triwibowo and Seixas Miranda (2016) demonstrates how the Petroleum Fund (PF) in Timor-Leste led to large and beneficial savings, but had major shortfalls in the implementation of withdrawal rules and poor investment decisions. While civil society organizations (CSOs) are integral parts of the PF's management through involvement in the Independent Consultative Council, their level of influence is limited, which contributed to the problem.
- In Azerbaijan, Ibadoglu (2015) finds that although savings of about 50 percent of GDP had been accumulated by 2014, decisions on how to invest those savings were made on an ad hoc basis. Lack of withdrawal rules, poor enforcement of existing rules, and limited independent or parliamentary oversight undermine the effectiveness of the fund. The fund discloses some information on how it accumulates and invests money, but this partial transparency has not translated into accountability.
- The OECD (2016) offers many additional examples—highlighting in particular the different actors involved—of "cases where conflict of interest and political capture have led to mismanagement, misuse and misappropriation of funds" (93).
 - "It is common to find government officials or well-connected elite on the supervisory board of these funds. In one particular case, the board was almost exclusively composed of members belonging to the President's inner circle. This resulted in a series of opaque and high-risk investments in hedge funds and complex derivative transactions. ... Indeed, suspicions of corruption underlie several cases where non-commercially credible or imprudent investments were made in companies affiliated to (owned, managed and/or advised by) well-connected elites. In all cases identified, the amounts of revenues missing from the funds' accounts or lost as a result of mismanagement, misconduct and lack of oversight amounted to billions of dollars" (93).
 - In another case, the natural resource fund filed suit against a foreign bank for "bribing key officials and top executives of the fund to influence decisions over the fund's investments" (93).
- In Nigeria in 2013, members of parliament accused one natural resource investment fund manager of contracting UBS Securities, his former employer, as the external manager "without following due process" (Bauer et al. 2014, 45).

Box 1.12: Three Risk Categories for Decentralized Revenue Sharing

Local governments often do not have the capacity to manage large windfall revenues and are not subject to the same transparency and accountability mechanisms that exist at the federal level. As a result, "decentralization also distributes the opportunities for corruption more widely and often with less formal oversight" (Bauer et al. 2016a, 23), such that "soaring government expenditures have often led to … profligate spending on government employee bonuses and vanity projects" (Bauer et al. 2016b, 41). In Nigeria, subnational governments are highly dependent on volatile oil revenue allocations, but how they actually spend those allocations is extremely opaque: "Petroleum revenues are the lifeblood of official corruption … federal, state, and local government structures essentially function as mechanisms for dividing up and spending what Nigerians refer to as their 'national cake': oil and gas revenues" (Page 2018, 9).

Local elite capture is also a pressing risk because participatory decentralization can easily become clientelism (Bénit-Gbaffou 2011). Furthermore, empirical work has shown that fiscal decentralization only lowers corruption if there is a supervisory body like a free press to monitor bureaucrats' behavior (Lessmann and Markwardt 2010), but that local media is often lacking (as addressed in more detail in Chapter Three). In Peru, especially in regions lacking robust civil societies, clientelism and corruption abound (Crabtree 2014). In Ghana and Sierra Leone, the mining wealth sharing systems "put into the hands of traditional authorities and district assemblies, which have lengthy histories of embezzling funds, a share of the mine royalties earmarked for local economic development. It is a setup, however, that is undermined by a tendency for elite capture, and it may contribute to political corruption at the community level" (Standing and Hilson 2013, 10). Similarly, Indonesia's system gives subnational governments little to no ability to enforce rules, a lack of incentives to perform well, and very weak accountability to citizens. Local political space "opened up by decentralization in Indonesia has simply helped local rent-seekers to secure privileged positions without the constraining effect of national-level party politics" (Venugopal 2014, 12; Hadiz 2010).

Finally, revenue decentralization can exacerbate conflict. While some violent conflicts have been headed off by resource revenue payouts, like Aceh and West Papua in Indonesia (Bauer et al. 2016b), in other cases, conflict worsened. Poorly designed systems can incentivize the use of violence to capture extractive sites or local governments (ibid) or create additional grievances if regions perceive an unfair distribution (ELLA 2012b). Peru's "canon minero" and royalty decentralization is the prime example of this negative case. Rules established at the national level do not allow for sufficient savings, forcing local and regional governments to spend more than what is rational and not necessarily on productive investments, and raising the stakes for controlling those governments. Most regions do not disclose comprehensive information with respect to how much money they receive and how it is used (Lasa Aresti 2016a; Lasa Aresti 2016b notes similar opacity in the case of Iraq). Leaders in power play a "polarized political game that generates short-term policies ... conflicts begin to be seen as a way to achieve a better bargaining position" (ELLA 2012b, 5; Arellano-Yanguas 2011). During the Humala administration, various subnational politicians, from local mayors to regional presidents, were accused of using public funds to incite conflicts for their own political gain (Whitt 2013).

The third category of corruption risk at NRVC5, although not specific to natural resources, involves the general government budgetary process, which is subject to many corruption risks as well as evidence-thin, ideology-based spending patterns. Officials often favor investing in megaprojects, regardless of need or cost-benefit, because such projects are excellent opportunities for hiding illicit funds and collecting bribes, as well as winning votes (Karl 2007). Indeed, "certain politicians-members of parliament, general secretaries, ministers, or even heads of state-attempt to shape investment expenditures largely to suit their own interests," allocating projects to their own companies, friends, family, or political contributors; "this is the case especially where key monitoring or control bodies are not well developed, and institutional monitoring is correspondingly weak" (Edling 2005, 25-26). As Isaksen (2005) explains, budgetary corruption can misallocate much-needed resources from social development to private greed, render development plans ineffective by prioritizing elites' districts or supporters, and undermine a society's confidence in the rule of law and their trust in government.

1.4 Conclusion

Is the resource curse the destiny of all resource-rich countries? Certainly not. We have shown that natural resource wealth creates the incentives and facilitates the mechanisms by which corruption robs a society of funds that could otherwise be used for sustainable development. But interventions to change those incentive structures and alter those mechanisms can potentially prevent or reduce such wealth diversion and the corrupt practices that lead to it.

We now turn to those interventions. The last few decades have seen several attempts to tackle corruption both within and beyond the natural resources space. These efforts have built formal and informal institutions to change incentives and alter behavior in order to achieve effective accountability. We will focus on approaches increasing transparency, bolstering public participation and public decisionmaking, and/or enhancing accountability mechanisms. In the next section, we present a historical perspective on transparency, accountability, and participatory approaches: how they have fared, and how they can potentially be improved in the natural resource governance space.



CHAPTER TWO:

Improving Governance through Transparency, Accountability, and Participation

Chapter One showed that resource-rich countries are at greater risk for corruption and that the magnitude and perniciousness of that corruption are necessary targets in order to increase the beneficial, sustainable use of natural resource wealth. As one approach to reducing corruption in natural resources and indeed other sectors, the governance field has spent years refining methods and proposing, testing, and evaluating solutions to these challenges. Many solutions hailed as silver bullets have failed, leaving us considerable lessons to be learned about what does *not* work and about how TAP approaches may work better.

Thanks to existing studies and several reviews, including our own, we have isolated characteristics that can make a TAP intervention more likely to be effective in improving anti-corruption outcomes. This chapter traces the history of those characteristics. The conclusion we draw from the historical evolution of TAP efforts is that a bundled approach that incorporates two or even all three of the elements of TAP is needed to successfully reduce corruption and improve sustainable development outcomes.

We begin at broad aperture, considering TAP efforts such as freedom of information laws and the Open Government Partnership (OGP) that range across sectors, including, but not limited to, the natural resource value chain. Then, we turn to the evolution of TAP in the extractives space. Our survey includes a detailed review of the successes and failures of the most important transparency-focused international multi-stakeholder initiative relevant to the natural resource value chain: the Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative (EITI).

2.1 Additional Definitions

Due to the amount of work in this space, numerous definitions of relevant terms exist. For consistency's sake, we briefly define each TAP component as well as what we mean by governance in a way that serves the purposes of LTRC. We mean neither to devalue other definitions nor to suggest that in other settings our definitions will always be superior.

Transparency means making "information on relevant laws, regulations and other policies publicly available," and "notify[ing] interested parties of relevant laws and regulations and changes to them" (Kaufmann and Bellver 2005, 4). This is the supply side of transparency-that is, government's role in transparency. On the demand side, information must actually reach and be taken in by citizens (Naurin 2006; Lieberman, Posner, and Tsai 2014). Fung et al. (2004) and Fung, Graham, and Weil (2007) point out that information must be salient, accessible, and consequential. Finally, transparency requires information that is accurate and comprehensive. Governments or other elite institutions that provide information that is false, misleading, or incomplete fail to be transparent.

Accountability is an essential aspect of democratic systems. "Accountability exists when there is a relationship where an individual or body, and the performance of tasks or functions by that individual or body, are subject to another's oversight, direction, or request that they provide information or justification for their actions" (Stapenhurst and O'Brien n.d., 1). Schedler (1999) discusses political accountability as having two connotations: answerability ("the obligation of public officials to inform about and to explain what they are doing") and enforceability ("the capacity of accounting agencies to impose sanctions on powerholders") (14). More succinctly, Fox (2007), in discussing accountability, notes that "one could call answerability the 'soft face,' while the 'hard face' includes answerability plus the possibility of sanctions" (668). Oversight may happen through executive, legislative or judicial bodies, independent institutions, elections, or societal mechanisms involving civil society or the media.

Participation focuses on "citizen involvement in local and national political processes," a category of behavior that can include anything from voting, protesting, or attending municipal meetings to working with civic groups (Carothers and Brechenmacher 2014, 10). Similarly, Williamson and Eisen (2016) describes participation as "public engagement in the political process" (4). We follow the approach taken in Rocha Menocal and Sharma (2008) that describes participation (using the roughly equivalent term "voice") as "the expression of preferences, opinions, and views. Mechanisms for expressing voice are key to ensuring that different preferences, opinions, and views can be expressed, heard, and acted upon. Mechanisms for voice can be formal or informal" (5). While some approaches view participation as a subcategory of accountability, we view them as distinct, given participation's focus on the principal side of the principal-agent equation. Indeed, at the far end of participation, where citizens are given decisionmaking power rather than merely expressive power—for example with participatory budgeting-the principal-agent relationship is telescoped. (See Section 2.2 for a brief discussion of principal-agent theory).

CONCEPT	DEFINITION	SOURCES		
Transparency	The practice of ensuring that information on relevant laws, regulations, and policies is publicly available, salient, accessible, consequential, comprehensive, and accurate.	Kaufmann and Bellver 2005; Fung et al. 2004; Fung, Graham, and Weil 2007; OGP 2014; Transparency International n.d.		
Accountability	A system where an individual or body, and their performance of tasks or functions, are subject to over- sight by another individual or body that has the power to request information or justification for their actions and impose sanctions.	Stapenhurst and O'Brien n.d.; World Bank 2017; Rocha Menocal and Sharma 2008; Fox 2007, 2015		
Participation	The ability of citizens to engage in local and national political processes and express their preferences, opinions, and views through either formal or informal mechanisms.	Williamson and Eisen 2016; IAP2 n.d.; Rocha Menocal and Sharma 2008		

TABLE 2.1: Working Glossary for TAP

Finally, **governance** rests at the center of this work. The World Bank (2017) defines governance as "the process through which state and non-state actors interact to design and implement policies within a given set of formal and informal rules that shape and are shaped by power" (3). ³¹ Alternatively, governance is also defined as the "traditions and institutions by which authority in a country is exercised." This includes 1) the "process by which governments are selected, monitored and replaced," 2) the "capacity of the government to effectively formulate and implement sound policies," and 3) the "respect of citizens and the state for the institutions that govern economic and social interactions among them" (Kaufmann, Kraay, and Mastruzzi 2011, 222).

In the context of this paper, we are interested in how those processes relate to natural resource governance, which we define as how governments interact with the institutions (public, private, or semi-private) that extract natural resources from sites within a given jurisdiction and how those extractive institutions and related government entities interact with other government entities and with citizens. This definition describes an ecosystem of related governance components that work around and within a natural resource value chain (for more on the NRVC, see above).³² This encompasses a variety of concepts, institutions, processes, and behaviors, and measuring it is a complex process.³³ In the end, we subscribe to the view that a holistic embrace of the construct of "governance" is one that puts the contestation and exercise of political power at the

center. In other words, we do not view governance as simply a technocratic exercise of institutional design and execution within public sector departments or ministries.

2.2 The Evolution of Our Understanding of Transparency, Accountability, and Participation

Principal-agent theory-arguably the dominant analytical framework of democratic governance studies-models representative government in broad strokes. We rely upon it in our conceptualization of TAP although we acknowledge that it has its critics and that the following explanation simplifies a very complex analytical framework.³⁴ The theory features government actors (agents) who act on behalf of citizens (principals) (World Bank 2016). A principal-agent problem is introduced when the parties' interests do not align and when, therefore, the agent may be incentivized to imperfectly represent the principal. Corruption is a symptom of a principal-agent problem in our framework. The problem cannot be cured without some form of accountability or disciplinary mechanism. In turn, this framework cannot function without some measure of transparency in policy, actions, and expenditure for without it, principals cannot be aware of agents' actions that diverge from their interests. It also requires an element of participation from principals as a means of expressing their interests and imposing accountability (Williamson and Eisen 2016; Kolstad and Wiig 2009).

³¹ There are multiple definitions of governance, and we do not claim that this one is best suited to all circumstances. We rely on it because of its broad extension and usefulness in the context of this paper.

³² Other definitions of resource governance exist, including: "the rules, disclosures, oversight procedures, and enabling environment that allow citizens to hold their government to account for managing their extractive resource wealth" (NRGI 2017b, 1); "the institutions, rules, and practices that determine how company executives and government officials make decisions and engage and affect citizens, communities, and the environments they inhabit" (NRGI 2017a, 3); "Good resource governance is the effective, accountable, and transparent management of oil, gas, and mineral resources. This definition implies the enactment of rules to promote the use of natural resources to improve public welfare and as well as strengthening public institutions, like the justice system and oversight bodies, to enforce these rules. In most cases, it also requires political will to transform subsoil assets into tangible benefits for citizens" (Bauer and Quiroz 2016, 245).

³³ See Chapter Three for more details.

³⁴ In unruly democracies operating across multiple administrative levels and involving millions of so-called principals (i.e. voters), classical principal-agent theory may offer only a limited analytical framework (Sabel 2004; Booth and Cammack 2013). In addition, principal-agent theory may, in some cases, under- or mis-evaluate the role companies play in outcomes of interest.

Each element of transparency, accountability, and participation has its own mechanisms for tackling corruption. We begin with a discussion of the transparency-centric scholarship to show that transparency alone tends to be insufficient to ensure impact or social change. In response, scholars and practitioners have sought to combine additional transparency, accountability, and participation mechanisms, which Sections 2.4.b and 2.4.c analyze.

2.2.a Transparency

Transparency forms a cornerstone of broader governance theory. It is not a new concept; deliberate mechanisms for knowledge circulation and for civilian oversight of public funds and policies was a key feature of Athenian democracy (Ober 2002). In 1948, transparency was incorporated into Article 19 of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, which ensured the right "to seek, receive, and impart information and ideas through any media and regardless of frontiers" (United Nations 1948).

Representative government cannot function without some measure of transparency in policy, actions, and expenditure. The role of transparency may be understood through the lens of principal-agent theory, which forms a central intellectual underpinning for contemporary understandings of governance and representative government (World Bank 2016). Without transparency, citizens (i.e., the principals) cannot be aware of their representatives/government actors' (i.e., the agents) actions. Asymmetric information thus becomes a barrier to effective governance.

The transparency needed to facilitate principal-agent function does not arise effortlessly. Government actors (and other actors, such as firms, about whom the government holds information) may and often do contest transparency. Stiglitz (1999) identifies two motivations often driving resistance to transparency. The first is insulation from making a mistake and then receiving condemnation from the public. The second is greater opportunity for special interest groups to influence policymaking, which allows for quid pro quos, often legal (e.g., electoral and political financing, "revolving door" jobs) and sometimes illegal (e.g., bribes and gratuities). As the World Bank's 2017 World Development Report notes:

information asymmetries, while arising from problems of whether actions or outcomes are unobservable, are in the end rarely an accident of history. Rather, the lack of disclosure of information is often the result of powerful actors intentionally withholding information or resisting attempts to make it accessible—in other words, information asymmetries are also embedded in existing power asymmetries (World Bank 2017, 247).

Empirical studies seeking to validate the central role of transparency in representative governance have had varied results, although there is evidence of a correlation between greater transparency and improved governance. Islam (2003) shows that the release of economic information is correlated with improved governance indicators such as government effectiveness, regulatory burden, control of corruption, voice and accountability, the rule of law, bureaucratic efficiency, and contract repudiation and expropriation risk. Mauro (2002, 21) suggests that policies aimed at improving transparency and disseminating information help with controlling corruption and fostering economic growth.³⁵

Historically, initiatives using transparency to limit corruption often relied on theories of change that posited transparency alone would work and assumed that other pre-conditions for accountability were in place. From the broad national freedom of information movement (discussed in Section 2.2.b) to

³⁵ One body of work, however, notes that certain transparency initiatives may have a corrosive effect on democratic governance. Chong et al. 2015 shows through an experimental exercise in Mexico's local elections that the provision of information about corruption may be insufficient to promote accountability as voters may react to the information by withdrawing their participation in the electoral process. See also Lindstedt & Naurin 2010, Malesky et al. 2012 (adverse effects of transparency on participation in Vietnam).

international, extractives-specific initiatives such as the EITI (described in Section 2.4), the focus has been on producing and publishing information in the relevant sector (itself a necessary and always challenging task) then leaving to other, often unspecified players the job of using, translating, and acting upon the data to promote accountability and improve public sector decisionmaking and spending. But in fact, the path from transparency to accountability to reduced corruption can be a rocky and winding one. In even the most simplified models of this pathway, transparency is just the first step (Peixoto 2013, Figure 2.1).

Some interventions justified this focus on transparency alone because it is relatively inexpensive, and, if successful, relatively scalable (e.g., Ravallion et al. 2013; see also Box 2.4 on the Transparency for Development program in the following section). Other efforts have been justified based on rigorous empirical correlations of greater transparency with lower corruption (e.g., Kaufmann and Bellver 2005; D'Souza and Kaufmann 2013). The common assumption, or at least aspiration, of these initiatives has been that the existence of public information would trigger collective action and effective accountability leading to disincentives for corrupt activities. Research has been clear in dismissing this linear and simplistic story. The most extensive view of the evidence conducted by the World Bank in its 2016 report "Making Politics Work for Development: Harnessing Transparency and Citizen Engagement," tells a complicated story where "the details of transparency are important" (World Bank 2016). In most cases, making government activity or even malfeasance itself transparent neither automatically motivates collective action nor sufficiently shifts incentive structures (Fox 2005, 2007; Williamson and Eisen 2016). Table 2.2 summarizes a representative sample of foundational, transparency-focused research that demonstrates this.

Thus, improving transparency is necessary but not sufficient to improve broader governance outcomes, including reducing corruption. In addition to the empirical literature referenced above, a wide array of more theoretical work has led to this consensus, including several recent extensive reviews and meta-analyses. Transparency is best understood as a necessary first step (Joshi 2013; Gaventa and McGee 2013). A framework developed by Gillies and Heuty (2011) and depicted in Figure 2.1 shows the value and limitations of natural resource transparency.

TABLE 2.2:	Selection of	^{Empirical}	Transparency	Studies
-------------------	--------------	----------------------	--------------	----------------

YEAR	AUTHORS	GEOGRAPHY	SECTOR	STUDY DESIGN	FINDING
2009	Kolstad and Wiig	Global, 87 countries	Governance	Regression analysis of 87 countries from 1965 to 1990	Transparency alone does not mitigate the resource curse effect of reduced growth from resource wealth. ³⁶
2010	Banerjee et al.	India	Education	Randomized intervention to (a) improve understanding of participatory institutions and (b) share a community scorecard	Making government structures more transparent and illustrating comparative education failed to motivate action.
2010	Lindstedt and Naurin	Global, 111 countries	Governance	Panel data analysis using two World Bank cross-country transparency indices, press freedom indices, the Polity IV index, and indices of perceived corruption	There is some evidence that education, media circulation, and free and fair elections can have an impact on transparency and its role in reducing corruption.
2011	Keefer and Khemani	Benin	Education	Natural experiment based on community access to radio in northern Benin	Mass media broadcasts increased the amount people were willing to pay for bed nets, allowing local officials to charge an inappropri- ate premium.
2013	Costa	Global, 63 countries	Governance	Difference-in-difference comparison of corruption perceptions before and after freedom of information reform	The adoption of Freedom of Infor- mation laws is associated with increases in perceived corruption and decreases in the quality of governance in the short term.
2013	Ravallion et al.	India	Employment	Randomized controlled trial treating communities with an informational video about their rights under a rural employment program	Even though participants had higher knowledge after the inter- vention, program performance did not improve.
2014	Lieberman et al.	Kenya	Education	Randomized educational intervention	Provision of information on chil- dren's educational performance had no discernible impact on collective action.

36 The authors use Freedom of Press as a proxy for transparency. See their work for a defense of this methodological choice.



FIGURE 2.1: Gillies and Heuty's (2011) Model of the Ideal Impact of Transparency

Source: Gillies and Heuty 2011.

As we have shown, transparency can only reduce informational asymmetries that in turn, in the best case, help change *some* of the incentives of potentially corrupt public officials. But these "incentives created by transparency are only some of the factors that determine the actual decision that is ultimately made" (Gillies and Heuty 2011, 32).

Putting transparency theory into practice is more complicated than might be expected. The critical questions often come with what is made transparent, when, and to whom. The practical difficulties start to become obvious, for example, with increasingly complex information, such as the contracting, licensing, or beneficial ownership information that are key to addressing the natural resource value chain corruption risks outlined above (Brockmyer and Fox 2015).

For example, Bria et al. (2016) examines Indonesia's oil and gas industries and finds that the southeast Asian nation faces real challenges and risks of corruption through decentralization, given its lack of transparency and capacity at the subnational level. The authors recommend that Indonesia commit to greater transparency at multiple levels of the natural resource value chain, including contracting and licensing, as a necessary (but insufficient) first step. Similarly, Shortell and Htun Aung (2016) attributes the underperformance of Myanmar's gemstone industry to informal practices and a lack of consistent disclosure of information that limit the ability of the public and CSOs to understand fully what is happening within this important sector. Those limitations make it nearly impossible for CSOs, the media, and the public to hold the government accountable generally, and individuals accountable specifically. Following a review of 131 real-world corruption cases in the natural resource value chain, Chêne (2017) recognizes that in natural resource governance, "transparency initiatives [alone] are unlikely to be effective in reducing corruption and increasing accountability if they are not supported by an enabling environment and combined with wider processes of institutional change" (16). Infomediaries may be required for disclosures of highly technical or legal information, and of information that does not draw the interest of a limited-attention public. In such cases, an infomediary can effectively convey the information to a principal or support the principal in using the information (Peixoto 2013; Carter 2016). (Note that the infomediation concept drives, in part, our focus on media freedom as a key contextual factor, as described in the next chapter.) Box 2.1 offers two examples on this challenge from the realm of open contracting.

The timing of information disclosure can also be an issue. Many transparency initiatives engage in ex

Box 2.1: The Need for Infomediaries in Open Contracting

In a report profiling transparency and disclosure requirements for Mexican oil companies, NRGI examines how a government oversight administrative body—the National Hydrocarbons Commission (CNH)—reviews contracts. NRGI praises CNH for publishing relevant laws and regulations as well as the full text of winning contracts. However, the report notes that such disclosure requirements are not comprehensive enough to provide the information necessary for public knowledge nor to empower the public to hold institutions accountable. The report recommends CNH build upon its existing efforts by disclosing a list of individuals involved in the contracting process and guiding the public and CSOs on the best ways to use the available information and data (NRGI 2016).

Likewise, an analysis of 103 oil contracts by eight Latin American countries—Argentina, Bolivia, Chile, Colombia, Ecuador, Paraguay, Peru, and Venezuela—over an extended period of time found extensive interpretive complexities. Many contract provisions, particularly fiscal terms, required significant contextual information and financial sophistication, making disclosure alone unlikely to yield greater accountability or improved natural resource governance (Kyle 2014).

The recognition of infomediaries like CSOs and journalists as "an essential part of the change process" in open contracting led Hivos and ARTICLE 19 to launch the Open Up Contracting program in 2016 (Dietrich 2017). Their goal is to "develop the capacities infomediary CSOs need to access, analyze, and translate complex contracting data and documents into actionable information for evidence-based advocacy with their respective governments" (Ibid.). Five of their planned projects are focused on extractives. post information dissemination; others are ex ante (i.e., concern something that is about to happen). The former allows for post hoc accountability or sanction, which is a type of "post mortem" transparency necessary for any functioning principal-agent relationship. However, ex-ante transparency may have a deterrent effect and keep undesirable events from happening in the first place. This is an extremely important, but underrated, difference in transparency efforts.

In addition, the speed with which information is released can also dramatically impact its usefulness. Information that is only nominally available-accessible in theory but not in practice-may not alleviate information asymmetries (Fox and Haight 2010; Djankov et al. 2010). One effort that illustrates this shortcoming is "Ask Your Government! The 6 Question Campaign," which made identical budget information requests to 80 governments, 44 of which had right-to-information laws. Of the governments with right-to-information laws, only 35 percent released all information requested. For all responses released (with and without right-to-information laws), the average time for completion of request was 62 days (Mendel and Darbishire 2011). While countries with right-to-information laws did release more information than those without, and released information faster, clearly, the mere existence of transparency policies and initiatives does not guarantee that citizens are able to access government information in a timely, affordable manner.

None of the above should be taken to mean that transparency reforms are wasted efforts, or that informational interventions do not have anything to contribute. Indeed, transparency initiatives alone can set off a positive dynamic and serve as building blocks for broader reforms; see, e.g., Gaventa and McGee 2010 and Kaufmann, Eisen, and Heller (forthcoming). Moreover, the absence of transparency can have devastating effects. It can make natural resource corruption less risky for the corrupt and increase opportunities for corrupt businesses and policymakers to collude on rent-seeking (Kolstad and Wiig 2009). As evidenced by the review of corruption risks along the natural resource value chain above, many points along the value chain remain opaque, especially to locally impacted communities. Without basic transparency reforms, downstream participation and accountability strategies are often doomed to fail (or at least disadvantaged from the start). Affected populations need interventions that improve disclosures of environmental impacts or tax payments to overcome inhibitive information asymmetries (among many, Le Billon 2011 and Lindner 2014; see also Box 2.3 on Free, Prior, and Informed Consent).

While transparency approaches can be strengthened by enhancing the quality, depth, and relevance of the information disclosed, additional efforts are needed to help citizens actually receive information and act on the basis of it—and to ensure that effective accountability is triggered (World Bank 2017; Williamson and Eisen 2016). In the Gillies and Heuty model (2011), the first-level effects of transparency—increasing the costs of power-holders' malfeasance and creating public rewards for good decisions—can only be achieved with improved participation, and in all cases, participation will be necessary to reliably move from those first-level effects to the second-level effects of substantively different actions and behaviors.

2.2.b The Freedom of Information Movement

For decades, the most consistent and pervasive transparency initiatives have revolved around the use of freedom of information (FOI) laws which require that governments publish or make available data and information (Berliner 2014, 480). The data subject to FOI vary widely. They may (or may not) include budgeting, the provision of revenue, beneficial ownership, conflicts of interest, government statistics in a variety of specific policy areas, internal bureaucratic communications, information on grants and contracts, and a host of other topics.

FOI movements and associated laws have high ambitions: ensuring that sunshine on government reveals corruption or, better yet, prevents it. Berliner (2014) notes, "Access to information about official rules and activities can empower citizens and journalists, constrain politicians, and expose corruption" (479). With so much promise attached to FOI laws, their extensive adoption is no surprise. The FOI movement is now widely viewed as a part of the governance mainstream, and freedom of information is often framed as a right rather than a privilege (Snell and Sebina 2007; Calland and Bentley 2013).

The United States was an early adopter, passing the Freedom of Information Act in 1967.37 Over the course of the next 15 to 20 years, there was only a slow uptake of similar laws in other jurisdictions. This was predictable, since, in 1967, the Soviet Union was still intact, many Latin American countries were in the midst of extended periods of dictatorship, and much of the rest of the world was transitioning (or was yet to start transitioning) to democratic systems. Even traditionally democratic Western countries were slow to adopt FOI reforms. The United Kingdom did not pass an FOI law until 2000, and Germany failed to approve FOI legislation until 2005. Ackerman and Sandoval-Ballesteros (2006) shows that by 1987, only 14 countries had passed FOI laws; however, Berliner (2014) notes that "by the end of 2008, they had been passed by 78 countries on five continents" (480).³⁸

Gauging the efficacy of FOI laws is not straightforward. For example, in 2005, an FOI law went into effect in India, after a series of state-level reforms over the previous decade. The law, known as the Right to Information Act, allows citizens to request information for a nominal fee. The government must assess the request and either convey the information or reject it. If a request is rejected, citizens have the right to appeal the decision. Peisakhin and Pinto (2010) evaluate whether the law helped curb corruption (in a country with a notorious reputation for it) using a field experiment. In this trial, Indian citizens applying for a ration card were randomly assigned to four groups: one that applied for a ration card and filed an FOI request; one that applied for a ration card with a letter of support from an NGO; one that applied for a ration card using a middle-man (paying a bribe); and, finally, one that applied for a ration card in the standard way (the control group). The authors find that while paying a bribe remains the most efficient way to expedite the approval of a ration card application, those who filed FOI requests received approval at a higher rate and more quickly than the control group or the other experimental group. One year out, 100 percent of those in the bribe group and 87 percent of those in the FOI group received ration cards. In contrast, only 24 percent of those in the control group and 17 percent of those with NGO support received ration cards. The FOI group waited a median of 120 days to be approved, compared to 82 days for those who paid a bribe; the other two groups both waited a median of 343 days (Peisakhin and Pinto 2010, 273). Based on these findings, the authors argue that even in a system with pervasive corruption, the exercise of rights under an FOI law can significantly change administrative processes and reduce inertia or corruption.

Overall, however, Calland and Bentley (2013) sounds a note of caution: "There is very little evidence of the effectiveness of FOI generally or transnationally, no systematic assessment of the impact of FOI on social change, and only limited assessment of its impact on institutional change" (72). The authors note that longitudinal assessments to assess FOI effectiveness and impact are apt to require a longer timeframe. Despite further research since the authors' 2013 conclusion, there remains a need for rigorous, substantive consideration of the effect of FOI laws on

³⁷ The earliest western nation to adopt a FOI law may have been Sweden, which in 1766 passed the Freedom of the Press Act that gave Swedish citizens the right to access government archives. The Act's preamble stated "this freedom should also be regarded as one of the best means of improving morality and promoting obedience to the laws, when abuses and illegalities are revealed to the public through the press."

³⁸ For more on the spread of FOI laws globally, see Ackerman and Sandoval-Ballesteros 2006 and Banisar 2006; for the developed world, see Cain, Egan, and Fabbrini 2003 and Hazell and Worthy 2010; for Latin America, see Michener 2015; and for Africa, see Darch and Underwood 2005 and Ross 2009.

combating corruption (Vadlamannati and Cooray 2016, 2017). (We take the emphasis on impact to heart in planning for our small-scale studies, as discussed in Chapter Four.)

FOI skeptics sort into two camps. Some argue that while the passage of FOI laws can facilitate positive democratic outcomes, their implementation is not always even, and citizens can face significant challenges in accessing information. A second strand of research questions whether FOI laws actually improve governance, reduce corruption, or advance other social or economic benefits. We share the concerns of the first criticism but question the conclusions of the second.

Hazell and Worthy (2010) assesses FOI laws in a variety of Western countries including the United Kingdom and notes their overall benefits. Yet even in the world's most-established democracies—the countries often perceived as the most open—the authors highlight numerous challenges. For example, delays are endemic to FOI regimes, and appeal systems can be time-consuming. The presence of an FOI regime does not, in itself, affect a cultural shift towards openness.

In Worthy's 2010 assessment of the United Kingdom's 2000 FOI law, the author concludes it "has undoubtedly made government more transparent." But he notes that transparency is dependent on the individual department in question, that levels of transparency are affected by such factors as the nature of the information, and that some officials believe that the media does not use the information responsibly (Worthy 2010, 568). Worthy also highlights how few citizens take advantage of the system. He writes, "FOI is not powerful enough a tool to tackle the complex, deep-rooted issues that prevent increased participation, understanding, or trust in the United Kingdom. Although FOI was intended to shape the political environment, the environment also shapes the Act" (Ibid, 578).

FOI laws elsewhere face similarly mixed results. Roberts (2010) reviews eight studies that use a variety

of methodologies, including surveys, interviews, and field work, and that examine the efficacy of India's FOI laws. Roberts synthesizes their findings to conclude that the law has improved transparency in India. He finds that implementation and access have been uneven. The poor in India—a significant portion of the population in the world's second-most-populous country—have limited ability to use the FOI system even though they belong to the group most in need of a better functioning, less corrupt government. In addition, low capacity in the information bureaucracy to deal with appeals to FOI decisions threatens the integrity of the entire system.

In Mexico, Lagunes and Pocasangre (2018) finds that the country's FOI law, which was implemented in 2002, has been more successful than the literature would suggest, though government entities abided mostly by the strict letter of the law rather than the broader, more inclusive spirit. The authors sent information requests containing 13 questions (10 focusing on technical information and three on more sensitive personal information) to national government entities in 2007, 2013, and 2015. They find that these entities responded to information requests between 71 and 81 percent of the time, with the rate of disclosure increasing from 2007 to 2015. However, fee requests (which are legal under Mexican law but not required) also increased and response time slowed; furthermore, information was not always in easily accessible formats or not precisely what the requester asked for. So, too, do the authors note that "raising Mexico's level of accountability requires more than access to government information," and that, while the country's FOI law has indeed helped to uncover corruption, this corruption must also be penalized in order to be effective (173).

The question, then, generally stands open: how effective are FOI laws in combating corruption? Calland and Bentley (2013) provides the most comprehensive assessment. The authors caution against the notion that greater transparency through FOI legislation is inherently good: "In countries with weak rule of law and/or poorly capacitated institutions of governance, the question is being asked whether a comprehensive FOI law will do more harm than good by raising expectations that cannot be met" (70). Costa (2013), using multiple corruption perception indices, finds an increase in perceived corruption, especially in countries with a free press, and a decrease in the quality of governance in countries that adopted FOI laws—at least in the short term. Kolstad and Wiig (2009) observes that a transparency initiative can have more negative effects-from decreasing public sector effectiveness to helping corrupt actors identify the right officials to bribe-than positive effects in aiding the detection of corruption. Mungiu-Pippidi (2015), empirically testing the impact of FOI legislation through bivariate regression analysis, finds no significant difference in corruption between countries that adopted FOI legislation and those that did not. However, she further finds that FOI legislation has a positive effect on corruption reduction when implemented in a society with a preexisting higher level of social openness.

Such considerations are essential to our inquiry. If a broad, transparency-based intervention such as a FOI law has no impact on corruption or other social, economic, or political outcomes, this may raise concerns about the value of transparency measures generally. Calland and Bentley (2013) suggest the mixed success of FOI laws may induce cynicism about the possibility of fighting corruption, and Costa (2013) documents term fluctuations in perceptions in corruption following the implementation of FOI laws. Still, that FOI laws have passed at all is a promising sign. Thanks to such laws, information is now made available to an inquiring public, an essential first step to reducing corruption.

Despite their limitations, FOI laws have served an important role in theorizing and spurring the implementation of TAP policies, practices, and procedures. Anecdotally, citizens, infomediaries, and other stakeholders have fought for and value FOI laws. Most scholars argue that they are preferable to more opaque systems (Birkinshaw 2006, 2010). Berliner (2014) argues that one of the central benefits to greater access to information is that the laws created "institutionalized transparency." He writes: FOI laws not only grant members of the public the right to access information, they also institutionalize transparency in rules and procedures that bind future governments to maintain that right. Indeed, no FOI law has ever been revoked. While transparent practices can exist in the absence of FOI laws, such noninstitutionalized transparency gives less assurance that those practices will be sustained in the future or implemented impartially (482–3).

FOI laws were one of the first large-scale transparency efforts to catch on globally—though they would not be the last. Most current transparency initiatives tend to be sector specific. One of the most notable, the Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative, concerns the NRVC. We examine that initiative in section 2.4 of this chapter.

2.2.c Participation

As we discuss above, the "P" in TAP involves the ability of citizens to engage in local and national political processes and express their preferences, opinions, and views through either formal or informal mechanisms. Participation methods may be conventional or unconventional, ad hoc or formalized. We focus on one type of participation intervention that actively shifts some power to non-state actors (whether citizens directly or other infomediaries) in the decisionmaking processes. These civic engagement initiatives thus attempt to rectify power asymmetries, building on the transparency efforts that sought to rebalance information asymmetries. As Fox (2004) explains, civic engagement requires discovering "how to trigger and sustain 'virtuous circles' of mutual empowerment between institutional reformers and social actors in the public interest" (70).

As illustrated by Table 2.3, adapted from the International Association for Public Participation's (IAP2) influential characterization, varying degrees of decisionmaking power can be shifted to citizens and still be considered participation. Engagement initiatives that merely "consult" citizens afford them the

CONSULT	INVOLVE	COLLABORATE	EMPOWER
Collection of citizen feedback regarding decision options.	Consistent engagement with citizens throughout the decisionmaking process in order to increase under- standing and consideration of citizen preferences.	Partnership with citizens throughout decisionmaking process, including the devel- opment of options and the identification of a preferred decision.	Delegation of final decision- making authority to citizens.

TABLE 2.3: Participation in Public Policy

Source: IAP2 2018.

least decisionmaking power, while initiatives that "empower" delegate the most. Likewise, Arnstein's seminal work creating a ladder of public participation emphasizes participatory "muscle" versus tokenism or citizen placation as a means of evaluating participation levels (Arnstein 1969).

Theorists have suggested a wide variety of specific components that effective participation strategies must consider:

- Most participation strategies include (or presuppose) a transparency component at the beginning of their theory of change (e.g., Björkman Nyqvist, de Walque, and Svensson 2017).
- Most participation strategies also seek to reduce the cost of participation. Among other things, the actors (be they CSOs, journalists, or activists) have to attain enough capacity to monitor and bargain effectively in asymmetrical power systems that may be skewed against their interests.
- Citizen "voice" involves representation as well as aggregation to channel demands and assure that government properly reacts in the interest of citizens (Fox 2015). This organized voice is the one that may have a chance at rebalancing power asymmetries and then be able to reshape the local policy arena to promote government responsiveness.

The study of participation development programs has generated a broad literature with some that have high expectations for program outcomes (World Bank 1996), while others have more sober, cautionary assessments (Cooke and Kothari 2001; Sen 2016; Bradshaw, Linneker, and Overton 2016). Some particular efforts, like participatory scorecards, community monitoring programs, and social audits, have been rigorously shown to improve education, health, and infrastructure (e.g., Björkman and Svensson 2009; Gaventa and Barrett 2012; Reinikka and Svensson 2011; Björkman Nyqvist et al. 2017; Donato and Garcia Mosqueira 2018). Others have shown little to no demonstrable impact (e.g., Olken 2007; Banerjee, Glennerster, and Duflo 2008; Rocha Menocal and Sharma 2008; Raffler, Posner, and Parkerson 2018).

Arguably the most extensive review of participation, at least broadly defined, Mansuri and Rao's (2013) analysis of almost 500 participatory interventions painted a distinctly murky picture—with the measurement of their impact on corruption remaining an open question. Banerjee et al. (2010) concludes its study of randomized evaluations of participatory mechanisms in the education sector with a categorical statement: "it seems clear that the current faith in participation as a panacea for the problems of service delivery is unwarranted. ... It is possible that participation can be made to work on a more systematic basis in various contexts, but it would take a lot of patience and experimentation" to get there (29).

POSITIVE RESULTS	NULL RESULTS	MIXED RESULTS	
1. Björkman and Svensson 2009	1. Olken 2007	1. Gould 1996	
2. Gaventa and Barrett 2010	2. Banerjee et al. 2008	2. Uphoff 1998	
3. Reinikka and Svensson 2011	3. Banerjee et al. 2010	3. Alkire 2002	
4. Barr et al. 2012	4. Rocha Menocal and Sharma 2008	4. Mansuri and Rao 2004	
5. Björkman Nyqvist et al. 2017	5. Raffler, Posner, and Parkerson 2018	5. Chambers 2009	
6. Donato and Garcia Mosqueira 2018		6. Mansuri and Rao 2013	
7. Lagunes 2017			

TABLE 2.4: Summary of Selected Empirical Civic Engagement Studies by Findings

Overall, while the evidence for participation interventions' success is more extensive than for transparency interventions, the results are still quite mixed. Table 2.4 summarizes the illustrative literature we reviewed (as described in Annex 1).

The literature on participation interventions in natural resource governance offers an array of explanations for these results. The majority of existing initiatives, according to Mejía Acosta's (2013) review, "lack robust theories of change" that connect process improvements such as greater transparency and participation to desired outcomes (94). A variety of studies and theoretical pieces have criticized initial EITI efforts for focusing too narrowly on publishing information and too little on truly empowering the limited national EITI multi-stakeholder groups (MSGs) to take real, representative decisions. While some MSGs have become "legitimate arenas for dialogue" (Rustad, Le Billon, and Lujala 2017, 159), in other places they often have very little power to influence decisions or ensure changes or responses based on their concerns (Kolstad and Søreide 2009; Kolstad and Wiig 2009; Olcer 2009; MSI Integrity 2015; Sovacool and Andrews 2015; Sovacool et al. 2016; Corrigan 2017; Dupuy 2017; Rustad et al. 2017). Section 2.4 of this chapter treats the EITI more fully.

We are left with something of a conundrum. Participation and transparency can sometimes

achieve their goal of reducing corruption, but not always. Surveying theory around transparency and participation shows a pattern in which principal responsiveness to the interventions is assumed as given, but, does not in fact actually occur (e.g., Fox 2015; Mansuri and Rao 2013). Gaventa and Barrett (2010) begins to point to explanations for the mixed results including government failure to implement decisions from participatory processes: "bureaucratic brick walls" and even reprisals for participation (57). Mejía Acosta hits upon this in his (2013) review when he "found very vague or implicit references to the question of what happens when government officials refuse to be accountable for their actions" (102). The next section, drawing from Fox (2015) and Williamson and Eisen (2016), shows that what is missing is an explicit, intentional focus on accountability.

2.2.d Accountability

Since the foundational World Development Report, "Making Services Work for Poor People" (World Bank 2003), helped put the concept of accountability at the forefront of the development discourse, there have been many advances in our understanding of the concept. There is increasing awareness, for instance, that routes to accountability should not be studied in isolation because they are intertwined (Devarajan, Khemani, and Walton 2014), and that the earlier World Bank approaches did not fully model the role of organized civil society (Gaventa and Barrett 2012). Further, as Fox (2007) notes, accountability includes both answerability to citizen voice and sanction for malfeasance.

Accountability must be approached as a complex, adaptive system: an ecosystem in which different actors (both informal and formal), approaches, and tools are active at multiple levels of governance and at different directions (Halloran 2016). What this means is that accountability interventions can be designed and combined with transparency and participatory approaches to increase their effectiveness in achieving desired outcomes, including corruption reduction.

We discuss below a framework as an initial building block for effective accountability systems. One building block draws from the "sandwich strategies" in the social accountability literature (Fox 2015, 355). Openings from above led by reform champions (who control or influence some amount of formal political power) that meet non-state collective action from below are regarded as more promising than uni-directional, top-down, or bottom-up approaches. This approach is depicted in Figure 2.2.

Such a framework based on the general social accountability field, while promising, would of course need substantial adaptation to align with the realities of resource-rich countries and its or the extractive sectors. Further, there is the need to consider what modifications are needed to align with a focus on anti-corruption outcomes (rather than, for example, service delivery, which has traditionally been the social accountability focus of the World Bank).

Box 2.2: A Tactical versus Strategic Example

Focused on elections as the mechanism of accountability, Adida et al.'s (2017) access to information impact evaluation purposefully compared tactical and strategic approaches. In different treatment arms, researchers showed participants a video that highlighted their legislator's performance relative to other legislators; showed that video with concrete examples of how legislative performance can directly harm or help constituents; and showed both of the above with additional elements to facilitate coordination across multiple villages in the constituency. Their results showed that only the latter, most-strategic treatment had a significant effect. "Access to information leads voters to reward good legislative performance and punish poor legislative performance only when that information is accompanied by an intervention designed to increase the salience of the legislative performance dimension and an effort to facilitate across-village coordination" (15, emphasis in original).

FIGURE 2.2: The Sandwich Strategy for Social Accountability



Source: Fox 2015.

Sandwich strategies are a variation of a larger concept differentiating strategic approaches and tactical approaches to governance reform.³⁹ A tactical approach involves a bounded intervention. For example, many transparency initiatives assume that information provision alone will inspire strong enough collective action to influence public sector performance. A strategic approach, on the other hand, involves multiple tactics or tools that are, at least in theory, mutually reinforcing. These approaches often stretch beyond the immediate problem to factor in larger contextual constraints and opportunities and combine strengthening voice (capacity for citizen collective action or, in our phraseology, participation) with building "teeth" (accessible and responsive accountability institutions). Box 2.2 offers a concrete example.

The question, then, is how to implement a combined approach to accountability that includes transparency and participation and then to maximize the potential of all three. While not new to LTRC, the field only relatively recently recognized the importance of this dynamic. Rocha Menocal and Sharma's

39 The tactical vs. strategic debate is not original to the social development arena: it originated in the business strategy and planning literature for the private sector. See Mintzberg, Ahlstrand, and Lampel (2005).

2008 review demonstrates that "in many countries donor focus [had] been much more on voice than on accountability" (24).⁴⁰

Nevertheless, practitioners now seem aware that strengthening governing institutions is a necessary complement to transparency-based efforts (Bria et al. 2016; Sayne and Gillies 2016; Walter 2016; Sayne, Gillies, and Katsouris 2015; Mildner and Lauster 2011) and that interventions make the largest contribution to developmental outcomes when multiple forms of engagement are used jointly (Gaventa and Barrett 2012; Halloran 2016; Joshi 2017). Furthermore, the broader TAP field has also refined its understanding to recognize that there has to be a corresponding, real opening from above (i.e., political power holders) for any bottom-up initiative to achieve true accountability and change the behavior of corrupt actors.

This need for accountability rings especially true considering the resource curse literature cited in Chapter One and the importance of accountable, capable public institutions to counteract the curse. Mejía Acosta (2013) highlights the research gap of "the importance of incentives and sanctions for ensuring effective impact of [transparency and accountability initiatives]" in the natural resource space (102). Similarly, Kolstad and Wiig (2009) underlines the need for true accountability "whereby other groups can hold a government to account and sanction misbehavior. ... The resource curse literature provides evidence that proper institutions that constrain rent-seeking and patronage are the key to avoiding a detrimental effect of resource rents" (529).

A variety of interventions around free, prior, and informed consent (FPIC), reviewed in Box 2.3, further demonstrate the need for transparency and participation in efforts to improve answerability and sanctionability. LTRC's relevant accountability framework needs to evolve beyond consideration of just two stakeholders, e.g., government actors and citizens. Indeed, it must acknowledge that the term "stakeholder" itself risks simplifying a complex, interactive blend of interest holders and actors in a particular sector. "Government actors" and "citizens" are not homogenous or monolithic stakeholders. Moreover, any relevant frameworks in the extractives fields need to integrate industry as well. Their incentives and stance can alter the full accountability dynamics in a resource-rich country. In this context, to integrate the role of industry, it may be promising to traverse beyond social accountability.⁴¹ International and domestic oil and mining companies often exert as much influence as governments, and so too do national oil or mining companies. Incentives and behaviors have often been such that important segments of industry have operated against effective accountability, though some prominent, well-governed companies show that they can be part of a good governance and effective accountability framework. (Industry-focused efforts that are complementary to TAP interventions are discussed in detail in Chapter Four.)

Similarly, to fully develop an accountability framework for extractives anti-corruption and the resource curse, we must also prioritize and delineate the role of the media (Schiffrin and Lugalambi, 2017; Collier, 2007; Boldbaatar, Kunz and Werker, 2019). Boldbaatar, Kunz and Werker (2019, 3) applied elements of wider social accountability frameworks, including media, to Step Two in the NRVC, as shown in Table 2.5. This framework breaks down the specific steps between disclosure and improved resource governance, and it explicitly differentiates between voice and empowerment, where, active media and key opinion leaders "cultivate discussion" with citizens for an informed public debate afterwards (see Kaufmann, Eisen, and Heller forthcoming).

⁴⁰ The authors are forthcoming about the limitations of their methodology: "The small size and limitations of the sample on which this evaluation is based suggest that this evaluation can only provide a partial view of what is otherwise a very broad [citizen's voice and accountability] universe, and the discussion of findings, conclusions, and recommendations should be appreciated with this important caveat in mind" (vii).

⁴¹ See Kramarz, T., & Park, S., 2016, 14–16, for instance. Refer to Kaufmann, Eisen, and Heller (forthcoming) for further details.

Box 2.3: Free, Prior, and Informed Consent

For centuries, governments and companies have exploited individuals and their land for gain while offering citizens little information about procedures, rights, or avenues for redress. Led by advocacy organizations like Oxfam, reformers have sought to offer greater protections over the right to consent to the use of land, a concept that has been codified as FPIC: free, prior, and informed consent (see Greenspan et al. 2015). FPIC efforts are integral to the intersection of natural resources and human rights, but the challenges of properly ensuring an FPIC process mirror those of an effective TAP program. Information must be provided in an understandable way, "free from force, intimidation, manipulation, coercion or pressure by any government or company" and "prior to government allocating land for particular land uses and prior to approval of specific projects" (Oxfam Australia 2010, 8). Regarding accountability, "consent requires that the people involved in the project allow indigenous communities to say "Yes" or "No" to the project and at each stage of the project ... the right to give or withhold consent is the most important difference between the rights of Indigenous Peoples and other project-affected communities" (8).

Perhaps unsurprisingly, given the early challenges to TAP work identified above, a 2007 review of seven FPIC processes found that "systems of decisionmaking are complex and may involve multiple fora and institutions Failures of accountability ... result from a variety of factors including ... purposeful manipulation of indigenous institutions [and] decisionmaking... . National laws vary widely in the extent to which indigenous peoples' rights to their lands and to FPIC are recognised. Even where these rights are recognised there are notable deficiencies in implementation. In the same way, even where corporations profess to respect indigenous rights and international law, they may not adhere to their own standards in their actual dealings with communities. Corruption, manipulation, and other malpractices are all too common" (Colchester and Farhan Ferrari 2007, 1). Similarly, in Bolivia, Schilling-Vacaflor (2012) examines case studies of three indigenous areas, finding that prior consultation generated community tension, that enforcement was inconsistent, and that procedures for consultation were deficient overall. In a recent case study that investigates Tullow Oil's compliance with FPIC in Kenya, Oxfam finds that despite improvements in community engagement, Tullow Oil has yet to achieve FPIC (Oxfam 2017).

In other words, "recognition and enjoyment of [FPIC] are two quite different things. The gap between what is clearly established in good practice to be a requirement of international law and actual practice is still very wide" (MacInnes, Colchester, and Whitmore 2017, 158). For prior consultation policies to result in meaningful outcomes, they must include all elements: "a progressive and specific legal framework; communities with access to expert knowledge and relevant information, ... mobilization capacity, and the opportunity to shape public debates; the support of international [human rights] advocates and organizations; and the transparency of the process, including broader public debates and media scrutiny" (Schilling-Vacaflor 2012, 20). More specifically, there must be a "grievance mechanism to address non-compliance; and, clear sanctions and enforcement mechanisms to resolve conflicts at the project level and ensure compliance with agreed plans" (Asia Indigenous Peoples Pact Foundation 2016).

DISCLOSURE	USEFUL DISCLOSURE	MOBILIZED DISCLOSURE	VOICE	EMPOWERMENT	COLLABORATIVE ACTION	IMPROVED RESOURCE GOVERNANCE
Demand from civil society	Technical capacity to make sense of data	Capable independent groups to interpret information	Media and opinion leaders are engaged with the citizenry	Informed and aware citizens	Effective actions and leadership from trusted third parties	Issues linked to effective political processes
Government capacity to supply information requirements on company	Quality, disaggre- gated, clear, understand- able data	Government capable of respectful debate	Dialogue platforms and early stakeholder engagement	Strong corporate governance and procedural legitimacy of collaborative forums	Well-designed institutions for participation in decisionmaking, shared knowl- edge, and trust	Political will and competent institutions who can undertake political reform

TABLE 2.5: From Disclosure to Improved Resource Governance

Source: Boldbaatar, Kunz, and Werker 2019. The authors note that stages are depicted in the top row, drivers in the second row, and enablers in the bottom row.

2.2.e Transparency, Accountability, and Participation

In recent years, the field has come to agree that all three elements—transparency, accountability, and participation—are required to more effectively tackle governance challenges. As Chapters Three and Four will further explain, frameworks like the sandwich approach or Williamson and Eisen's six conditions for success (2016) will guide the design of the strategies to be piloted under the LTRC project.

FIGURE 2.3: Williamson and Eisen's Six Conditions for Successful Open Government Initiatives (2016)



Source: Williamson and Eisen 2016.

Several studies have found that the success of bottom-up initiatives depends on providing a platform for citizen voice and obtaining ample support from topdown forces. Avenues should be established for citizens to express their concerns to government institutions (Gaventa and Barrett 2012). Likewise, it is crucial to have strong accountability mechanisms—supported by the public sector—in place (Joshi 2013; Lassibille et al. 2010; Pande 2008; Banerjee et al. 2010; Sirker and Cosic 2007). This requires participation to be met with support from key government officials (Gaventa and Barrett 2012; Lagunes 2017). This more strategic approach does not necessarily preclude an interest in scale, as described in Box 2.4.

Box 2.4: The Transparency for Development (T4D) Program

Despite its name, T4D was one of the largest mixed-methods tests of a light-touch information and participation intervention to improve health outcomes. "One of the objectives of the T4D project is to identify evidence that is actionable and could be widely adopted to improve T/A efforts globally and at a large scale ... we seek to test whether a relatively small investment by a CSO facilitator could result in citizen participation, action, and ultimately, improvements in outcomes" (T4D 2017, 6-7). To that end, Phase One of the program used a rigorous RCT to test a long causal chain from an adapted citizen scorecard with facilitated civic action planning to improvements in health such as higher rates of birth in a facility. Although the full results are forthcoming, the RCT was unable to make a statement of impact on the majority of its intended outcomes.

This result was not entirely unsurprising. Early testing when designing the RCT began echoing broader results from the field that intentional efforts were needed to generate government buy-in for the 'voice' a light-touch participation might raise (Fox 2015; Mansuri and Rao 2013). At the same time, the T4D team did not want to eschew their guiding principle of identifying scalable results. To that end, in Phase Two, "faced with a promising but complex intervention ... the approach developed here is ... small-scale experimentation ... designed to be far less costly and, relative to the typical large-scale RCT, to refocus and somewhat expand the scope of inquiry: refocusing it on the variation around the causal pathways resulting from the intervention so as to better understand their nature, implications, and whether they come with hitherto unknown side effects; and expanded to be more generally valid by including further contexts and potentially further causal pathways" (Kosack et al. 2017, 35–36).

Although results are still forthcoming and Phase Two was not subject to RCT testing, early indications are that some Phase Two locations were more successful than Phase One. This suggests that a) the more strategic approach to accountability through bundled TAP is indeed more effective, and b) such more strategic approaches are still scalable. Indeed, although somewhat more intensive, "government participation is usually central for scaling up health initiatives" anyway (Mansuri and Rao 2013, 8). Below are examples of several other TAP interventions that demonstrate the value of a joint, strategic approach:⁴²

- Deininger, Ayalew Ali, and Alemu (2011) examines the intervention of a community-focused land certification program in Ethiopia that sought to increase transparency and accountability while also engaging individuals to participate in administrative processes through, for instance, a decentralized process of field adjudication and community identification of boundaries. The authors find that after the intervention, the public had greater tenure security. In addition, land owners rented out more land than under the prior system, generating additional economic activity.
- Fearon, Humphreys, and Weinstein (2015) examines community-driven reconstruction program interventions in two regions of northern Liberia. The program interventions brought together community leaders and members to undertake community development and social inclusion projects. These initiatives were designed to increase leaders' accountability and public participation in decisionmaking in post-conflict contexts where trust in local leaders and fellow community members was low. To measure the impact of their interventions, the authors used a fund-matching challenge in treated and control communities and found that treated communities were more likely than control communities to elect leaders who were able to mobilize the community toward the goal of matching fund contributions for a public good. Similarly, the authors find that for villages that received the community-driven development program stimulus, "changes in community capacity for collective action can take place over a short period of time; can be the product of outside intervention; and, can develop without fundamental changes either to the structure of economic relations or to more macro-level political processes" (466).
- In an experiment run at the local level in Nigeria, Fetzer and Kyburz (2017) capitalizes on natural variation in local level governance. The authors measure a non-traditional intervention. It does not put into place a typical TAP-based effort to engage with a region or community with natural resources in an effort to change outcomes. Instead, they use an exogenous governance shock—democratization in Nigeria—as a change agent. After democratization, some local communities elected members of governing councils; others saw subnational governments appoint local leaders. These differences forced inherent variation in accountability and participation, and in many cases, transparency. The paper looks at how sharp variation in oil revenue—oil shocks can induce violence, and whether democratic accountability can mitigate violence. The research shows that democratically elected governmentsgovernments with more accountability in systems with expanded participation—mitigated violence.
- A 2019 synthesis of experimental and quasiexperimental studies of TAP in the extractives sector (see reference for specific studies) by the International Initiative for Impact Evaluation (3iE) observes that providing information only to political elites "does not lead to trickle down" to citizens. In Mozambique, this led to a change in the attitude from the elite towards more corruption and capture. However, when the information was shared with the public and the elite alike and was complemented with deliberation or stakeholder engagements, it increased the level of trust. In some cases, as in Uganda, it deepened the interaction between communities and decisionmakers. (The study did not explicitly measure the interventions' impacts on corruption).

In Chapter 4, we provide more examples of combined transparency, accountability, and participation interventions and the lessons they convey in presenting our own research agenda.

⁴² In addition to these TAP interventions, LTRC will be watching closely the recently launched Anti-Corruption Evidence (ACE) program run out of SOAS, University of London which uses a sectoral and political settlement approach to corruption. ACE uses four strategic tools to amplify or modify existing TAP structures in the three countries in which it operates (ACE Research Consortium n.d.).

2.3 The Implementation Gap

Many well-intended, theoretically impactful TAP efforts have failed to produce the desired outcomes. Laws have been passed, commitments have been made, yet the results have been paltry. The efforts exist on paper but have minimal consequence on the ground. This implementation gap has been identified by some researchers as a key brake inhibiting the effectiveness of some, primarily law- or policy-oriented, TAP interventions.

In the last decade researchers have attempted to analyze and measure these implementation gaps, or "the difference between the country's legal framework surrounding good governance and anti-corruption and the actual implementation and enforcement of that same legal framework" (Nadgrodkiewicz, Nakagaki, and Tomicic 2012, 4). In 2007, the international civil society organization (CSO) Global Integrity began assessing what it called the implementation gap in the countries it evaluated. These and previous evaluations have not, however, specialized in the natural resource space. Therefore, we draw from the only effort that exists to date that systematically analyzes the implementation gap in natural resource governance by using the Resource Governance Index (RGI). The RGI assesses the quality of natural resource governance and uses several specific indicators to identify between gaps between laws and regulations as written and as implemented (NRGI 2017a).

In Figure 2.4, the RGI shows a significant gap between the legal framework and actual practice, with countries with weaker governance showing an even larger gap. The main message of the RGI analysis is that more progress occurs in the adoption of rules than in their actual implementation, and the RGI calls for improved governance that focuses on implementing existing legal frameworks (NRGI 2017a).



FIGURE 2.4: Law versus Practice in the 2017 Resource Governance Index⁴³

Source: NRGI 2017a.

Similarly, in Chart 2.1, the authors calculate the percentage of effective practice indicators (out of the total practice indicators by country) and plot that along the country's score on the legal index.

^{43 &}quot;The data in the index also inform the computation of a country's scores for legal framework and implementation. The legal framework score includes all indicators relating to the coverage and quality of the laws and regulations that shape resource governance (e.g., whether a country has a rule requiring the disclosure of contracts). The practice score covers indicators regarding actions taken by the government (e.g., whether officials have actually disclosed contracts). This practice measure shows how well a government implements the policies and laws it has established" (NRGI 2017a, 15).



CHART 2.1: Law versus Practice in the Environmental Democracy Index⁴⁴

Source: Authors' calculations using data from Worker and De Silva 2015.

Given that some, but not all, TAP interventions involve changes to laws and policies (or rely upon those changes already being in place), anticipating the various ways an implementation gap may manifest is important. For example, mandatory transparency laws may be on the books, but the information may be disclosed at such a slow pace and so incompletely that the transparency is merely notional. (See Section 2.2.b regarding the freedom of information movement.) Or, a local government might have an open meetings law, allowing for civic participation in decisionmaking meetings, but it might fail to provide notice of the meetings in a timely manner or hold them in locations so remote that participation is exceedingly difficult. Gaventa and Barrett (2012, 2405) notes some participation

efforts where "those who challenged the status quo found themselves 'uninvited' to invited spaces of participation." Siregar et al. (2017) describes four citizen complaint systems set up in Indonesia, some of which were regarded by users as convoluted and user-unfriendly.

One example of how implementation gaps are anticipated and measured can be seen in the efforts of the Open Government Partnership (OGP), a multilateral initiative promoting transparency and other open government principles. The OGP was formally launched on September 20, 2011, when eight founding governments and nine founding civil society organizations endorsed the Open Government Declaration.

^{44 &}quot;The practice indicators are scored qualitatively on a three-point scale: 1. YES (practice is observed in full), 2. LIMITED (practice is observed irregularly or partially), and 3. NO (no observation of practice). Similar to the legal indicators, practice indicators are typically accompanied with guidance to limit subjectivity for the researcher. Unlike the legal indicators, the scores are simply presented as sums and not averaged. There are four practice indicators under the transparency pillar, seven under the participation pillar, and 13 under the justice pillar ... Practice indicator results are supplemental to the legal index and therefore do not affect the index averages" (Worker and De Silva 2015, 7-8).

Since OGP's founding, it has dealt with a vast range of sectors and governance themes. Its Openness in Natural Resources Working Group has concentrated on transparency and accountability in natural resource governance among its member countries. It "takes a focused approach on natural resource issues," among others, "zeroing in on disclosure of contracts, beneficial ownership, and environmental policy, management, and compliance data, as well as adherence to open data standards" (OGP n.d.).⁴⁵ As of this writing, the 75 participating countries have made a total of 180 natural resource-related commitments (OGP 2018b).

This OGP commitment regime has explicitly made the implementation gap a part of its accountability ecosystem. A 2017 OGP-led review of whether most of the natural resource commitments had been fulfilled found substantial gaps. Only about half of them had been completed or substantially implemented. Less than half of them had a high enough level of specificity to be confidently regarded as measurable and verifiable. And few of the transformational natural resource commitments were completed within the proposed timeline (Jia et al. 2017).

Assessing what is creating implementation gaps can be more complex. The implementation gap can be particularly extreme in resource-rich countries (RRCs) because natural resources can be detrimental to institutional quality (Sala-i-Martin and Subramanian 2013). In a 2012 paper, Global Integrity and the Center for International Private Enterprise articulated a set of political, economic, and socio-cultural factors that affect the implementation gap and suggested a series of approaches useful in overcoming it (Nadgrodkiewicz, Nakagaki, and Tomicic 2012).

2.4 Publish What You Pay and The Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative

The evolution of several integral multi-stakeholder initiatives provides a critically important lens on the field's understanding of the best ways to reduce corruption via TAP. Two of the notable and wide-ranging initiatives are Publish What You Pay (PWYP), a coalition of civil society actors advocating for mandatory disclosure of company payments and revenues received by governments, and the Extractives Industry Transparency Initiative (EITI), a multi-stakeholder effort designed to ensure "transparency and accountability about how a country's natural resources are governed" in implementing countries (EITI 2015). Chart 2.2 provides a chronological look at the evolution of the EITI and other key players in the TAP space in the extractives industries; this section focuses on these initiatives.

2.4.a Publish What You Pay and The Early History of the EITI: A Focus on Transparency Alone

Both PWYP and the EITI emerged from the recognition in the late 1990s and early 2000s of the challenges faced by jurisdictions engaging in extraction and in particular the literature on the resource curse that Chapter One describes. These scholarly assessments, combined with nongovernmental organization (NGO) efforts (notably by Global Witness, Human Rights Watch, and Oxfam America) and journalistic investigations, brought the resource curse to the attention of the wider public (Rich and Moberg 2015; Aaronson 2011; Gillies 2010). In 1999, civil society groups, galvanized by the publication of the landmark Global Witness report "A Crude Awakening," began organizing under the banner of "Publish What You Pay," calling for company reporting of oil payments and revenues. A formal coalition by that name consisting of civil society organizations

⁴⁵ The OGP and EITI have clear points of overlap, and indeed, the EITI is a "major theme within OGP natural resource commitments" (Jia et al. 2017, 1). In 2018, OGP and the EITI formalized these intersections, signing a Memorandum of Understanding to "align their complementary spheres of work," including transparency around revenues, beneficial ownership, state-owned enterprises, contracts, and commodity trading (EITI Secretariat 2018; OGP 2018a).
working toward an open and accountable energy sector was formed in 2002 to "pool the diverse yet complementary strengths of the NGOs interested in campaigning for revenue transparency" (Van Oranje and Parham 2009, 35). By emphasizing the significance of revenue transparency in preventing corruption in resource-rich countries, PWYP helped to launch the so-called Transparency Revolution in natural resource governance (Khadiagala 2014, 16). Van Alstine (2014) argues that PWYP and the EITI have "acted as key catalysts in mainstreaming a growing consensus in favor of transparency in the extractive sector," with PWYP in particular calling for "mandatory transparency interventions" and using "a variety of different campaigning strategies to further its objectives," which include "influenc[ing] hard law" (252, 253).

Companies were initially cautious about PWYP's efforts with industry players, such as mining companies and the newly formed International Council on Mining and Metals (ICMM), largely absent from early discussions (Van Oranje and Parham 2009). (The ICMM now supports the EITI, and all of its member companies are EITI members; for more, see Box 2.5).

Box 2.5: The International Council on Mining and Metals (ICMM)

ICMM, an international organization consisting of 27 mining and metals companies and more than 30 regional and commodities associations, seeks to "strengthen the social and environmental performance of the mining and metals industry and build recognition of its contribution to local communities and society at large" (ICMM n.d.b.; ICMM 2019). As a key representative of industry in the EITI's multi-stakeholder model, ICMM has helped to shape the development of the EITI, and remains a strong supporter of the initiative.

Founded in 2001, ICMM first endorsed the EITI Statement of Principles in 2003, and followed with a further statement of support in 2005 that urged its member companies to, among others, "support regular publication of all payments made to governments implementing the EITI" (Bickham 2015, 46). In 2009, ICMM linked its preexisting "Sustainable Development Framework," which all member companies were already required to implement, to the adoption of the EITI, thus requiring ICMM member companies to endorse and engage with EITI efforts (ICMM 2009). The next year, ICMM and the EITI signed a Memorandum of Understanding containing such commitments as the collection of "ICMM member companies' financial contributions to the EITI" and the outlining of potential areas of cooperation (Bickham 2015, 46-47). In 2011, ICMM member companies "were prime movers" in revising the EITI Rules, including in the development of "provisions to track value transfers through minerals for infrastructure barter deals; greater focus on subnational payments; the creation of a requirement for compliant countries to produce an annual report on their activities; and, strengthening the need for explicit follow-up on any discrepancies identified through reconciliation reports" (Bickham 2015, 47). These efforts have continued to the present, with ICMM "having been closely engaged in the development of the EITI Standard," and a 2015 review of ICMM member attitudes toward the EITI finding strong support (ICMM n.d.a.; Bickham 2015, 16). Representatives from two ICMM member companies sit on the EITI Board, and the ICMM acts as the coordinating body for industry among EITI supporting companies (ICMM n.d.a.).

CHART 2.2: The Evolution of the EITI and Other Institutional Developments, 1990-2019



Source: Authors.



Companies instead sought to reduce what they felt was a burden placed on them by PWYP's initial focus by shifting focus to disclosures by governments. As a middle ground, and as a result of the PWYP campaign, the government of the United Kingdom "saw the opportunity to develop an initiative built on the notion of equal transparency from the governments and the companies," and then-U.K. Prime Minister Tony Blair began the official process to create the EITI in September 2002 (Rich and Moberg 2015, 21; Van Oranje and Parham 2009; EITI n.d.a; PWYP n.d.). In 2003, a group of extractives industry stakeholders consisting of representatives from governments, corporations, industry, international organizations, investors, and NGOs endorsed the EITI Principles, a set of affirmations designed to increase transparency of revenues and payments in the extractives sector (see Box 2.6). In 2004, the Principles were endorsed by the G8.

Box 2.6: The 2003 EITI Principles

- We share a belief that the prudent use of natural resource wealth should be an important engine for sustainable economic growth that contributes to sustainable development and poverty reduction, but if not managed properly, can create negative economic and social impacts.
- 2. We affirm that management of natural resource wealth for the benefit of a country's citizens is in the domain of sovereign governments to be exercised in the interest of their national development.
- We recognise that the benefits of resource extraction occur as revenue streams over many years and can be highly price dependent.
- We recognise that a public understanding of government revenues and expenditure over time could help public debate and inform choice of appropriate and realistic options for sustainable development.
- 5. We underline the importance of transparency by governments and companies in the extractive industries and the need to enhance public financial management and accountability.
- 6. We recognise that achievement of greater transparency must be set in the context of respect for contracts and laws.
- 7. We recognise the enhanced environment for domestic and foreign direct investment that financial transparency may bring.
- 8. We believe in the principle and practice of accountability by government to all citizens for the stewardship of revenue streams and public expenditure.
- 9. We are committed to encouraging high standards of transparency and accountability in public life, government operations and in business.
- 10. We believe that a broadly consistent and workable approach to the disclosure of payments and revenues is required, which is simple to undertake and to use.
- 11. We believe that payments' disclosure in a given country should involve all extractive industry companies operating in that country.
- 12. In seeking solutions, we believe that all stakeholders have important and relevant contributions to make—including governments and their agencies, extractive industry companies, service companies, multilateral organisations, financial organisations, investors and nongovernmental organisations.

Source: EITI 2003.

In March 2005, EITI stakeholders and implementing countries endorsed six EITI Criteria (G8 2004; Rich and Moberg 2015), featured in Box 2.7. Where the EITI Principles sought to establish an ideological baseline, the Criteria contain actionable guidelines and measures of success.

2.4.b EITI's Evolutions: Expanding the Standard Across the NRVC

While the EITI Criteria marked a step forward in developing the EITI as a disclosure standard implemented by countries, rather than a voluntary corporate social responsibility standard as some had anticipated, some key issues in TAP remained unresolved. The next decade of work looked to address them, particularly by expanding transparency in natural resources beyond revenue to such issues as licensing and beneficial ownership. Other changes included "the maximum amount of time a country had before it was required to become EITI compliant and how regular and timely the reporting needed to be" (EITI n.d.a.). By 2007, 33 countries had agreed to adopt the EITI, but only 14 had accomplished the steps of the EITI Criteria; as a result, the newly formed EITI Secretariat and Board "decided EITI needed teeth" (Aaronson 2011, 53). They began to tighten requirements, and in 2009, issued a version of the EITI Rules at the fourth EITI conference (Rich and Moberg 2015). The EITI Rules included "policy notes" providing further clarification and guidance to implementing countries (e.g., a policy note emphasized the centrality of a vibrant civil society to EITI implementation). The indicators became requirements for implementing countries, and the 2011 version of the rules included a provision that data must be released in both a timely and regular fashion (Rich and Moberg 2015, 25).

Box 2.7: The 2005 EITI Criteria

- Regular publication of all material oil, gas, and mining payments by companies to governments ("payments") and all material revenues received by governments from oil, gas, and mining companies ("revenues") to a wide audience in a publicly accessible, comprehensive, and comprehensible manner.
- Where such audits do not already exist, payments and revenues are the subject of a credible, independent audit, applying international auditing standards.
- 3. Payments and revenues are reconciled by a credible, independent administrator, applying international auditing standards. The administrator's opinion regarding that reconciliation, including any discrepancies that may be identified, is then published.
- 4. This approach is extended to all companies, including state-owned enterprises.
- 5. Civil society is actively engaged as a participant in the design, monitoring, and evaluation of this process and contributes towards public debate.

A public, financially sustainable work plan for all the above is developed by the host government, with assistance from the international financial institutions where required, including measurable targets, a timetable for implementation, and an assessment of potential capacity constraints.

These 2011 EITI Rules, which were formally adopted at the fifth EITI Conference in Paris, provided for a restructuring: a new chapter of "EITI Requirements" set out how countries and stakeholders could achieve compliance; a "standard term of reference for validators" was provided; sign-up requirements were strengthened (with the formation of a multi-stakeholder group (MSG) to occur in advance of a country being granted Candidate status); and, time limits were placed upon candidature.⁴⁶ In particular, the Rules sought to tackle imprecision around the definition of "all material revenues received by governments" in the EITI Criteria (EITI 2011, 11). The Rules provided a template for "materiality," including production entitlements; profits taxes, royalties, and dividends; license and/ or concession fees; in-kind payments; infrastructure provision and other barter-type arrangements; and guidance on social payments, among others. Moreover, MSGs were given latitude to agree to a definition and incorporate it (EITI 2011).

An evaluation of the EITI conducted by Scanteam in 2011 directly linked a lack of societal change to the EITI's narrow focus of activities. The authors use a difference-in-differences evaluation to analyze the EITI's impact along dimensions of societal change. They find the results to be inconclusive, with both compliant and non-compliant countries experiencing more or less the same results, with country-specific variations. This is likely because EITI-implementing countries have little in common, and fragmentation along political or economic lines trumps the common factor of EITI candidature or compliance. However, the authors note that country-level analyses provide much more insight into EITI impact, though this necessarily limits the transferability of their findings. The evaluation's strategic options for the EITI going forward include forging strategic partnerships beyond the sector, creating a Standard that covered a greater part of the value chain, and rethinking task strategies within the existing administrative structure (Reite et al. 2011). The then-newly appointed chairman of the EITI, Clare Short, put the need for ongoing reform bluntly: "change will come and an enhanced EITI could become part of the reform agenda or an irrelevance that is swept aside. Only time will tell" (Short 2012).

In 2013, the EITI set out to broaden the scope of disclosures beyond value chain four (revenue) to cover everything from licenses and contracts to revenue allocation and social and economic contribution (EITI 2015). The 2013 EITI Standard mandated that compliance reports contain contextual information (for example, on the fiscal regime, relevant laws, and how extractive industry revenues are recorded in national budgets). To tackle criticisms that almost half of EITI countries were publishing aggregate data about revenues rather than data about individual companies or ministries, the 2013 EITI Standard required "disaggregated reporting" for companies, revenue stream, and "in due course, by each project" (Sovacool et al. 2016; EITI n.d.a.). In tandem with this process of clarification, significant progress was made in expanding disclosure norms. In April 2013, the EU mandated that companies disclose tax payments (Sovacool et al. 2016). Cross-sector disclosure efforts were made in November 2014, when Trafigura began to publish payments to government from the oil trade-the first commodity trader to do so (EITI n.d.a).

In response to the release of the EITI Standard—particularly the Standard's inclusion of specific requirements for domestic multi-stakeholder groups—the Institute for Multi-Stakeholder Integrity conducted an independent assessment of how the EITI's multi-stakeholder

⁴⁶ The 2011 Rules established five sign-up requirements for implementing countries: the government must issue an "unequivocal public statement of its intention to implement the EITI," commit to working with both civil society and companies on implementation, appoint a "senior individual" to lead EITI implementation, and establish an MSG to oversee implementation; the MSG should then consult with EITI stakeholders to develop and publish a "fully costed work plan, containing measurable targets, and a timetable for implementation and incorporating an assessment of capacity constraints" (EITI 2011, 13). These Rules also introduced limits on the amount of time an implementing country could remain a candidate country; candidate countries now had 18 months to publish an EITI report and two-and-a-half years to submit a final validation report endorsed by the MSG to the EITI Board, with the possibility of a one-year extension. If, at the end of that time, a candidate country has not verified compliance, it would be delisted (EITI 2011, 41).

model worked in practice (MSI Integrity 2015). By reviewing all publicly available governance materials from EITI-implementing countries, interviewing members of domestic MSGs, and observing MSG meetings, MSI Integrity concludes that "there are significant shortcomings of internal governance in many MSGs. This in turn implicates a failure at the global level of EITI to ensure sufficient oversight of MSG governance and country-level compliance with EITI's core requirements" (MSI Integrity 2015, iv). Because the EITI Standard did not specify the degree of confidentiality under which MSGs should operate, country practices varied wildly from fully transparent to near secrecy. Worse, the independence of EITI MSGs was often compromised by government officials who hand-picked civil society representatives, designated "inappropriate" CSOs to make decisions, and otherwise limited CSO access (MSI Integrity 2015, viii). To mitigate these low levels of compliance with the EITI Standard and lack of effectiveness of civil society, the authors recommended greater monitoring and incentivizing of MSGs on behalf of the EITI Board and Secretariat, and further provided recommendations for the MSGs themselves and the civil society representatives in the MSGs. Though the EITI Secretariat's response to this report evinced skepticism of some of its findings-arguing that MSI Integrity focuses on good governance as an end in and of itself, rather than assessing it in relation to its broader goals-they largely agreed with its broader argument (Berger 2015). The 2016 EITI Standard reflected some of the recommendations made in the report, notably surrounding high per diem payments (Rogan 2016).

In a further demonstration of how power imbalances between civil society and industry can manifest in MSGs, the United States became an EITI candidate country in 2013; however, the U.S.-based corporate giants Chevron and ExxonMobil—both of which are represented on the EITI board—failed to disclose their tax payments to the United States government as required under the EITI Standard. In response, civil society representatives of the USEITI multi-stakeholder group filed a grievance against those two companies, calling for them to be removed from the EITI board (Brian et al. 2018). However, the EITI Secretariat concluded that while the companies' failure to report taxes was "serious", and that they did not act "in support of the implementation of the EITI Standard," neither should they be removed from the board, as their actions were "isolated" and the companies had proved to be strong allies of the EITI "elsewhere" (Reinfeldt 2018). In November 2017, the EITI was dealt a further blow when the United States withdrew as an implementing country, though it remains a "supporting country" that is informally committed to the good governance of natural resources (Gould 2017; EITI Secretariat 2017).

In 2015, the EITI retained an independent review team to examine the initiative's administrative structures and governance (Darby et al. 2015). The team recommended consideration of board term limits and/or sanctions for nonparticipation, along with a restructuring of the committee system. Crucially, the review noted the emergence of a power imbalance within the EITI between implementing countries and other stakeholders, with implementing countries less able (or willing) to participate in the EITI's core functions. The authors identify this imbalance as one of the "greatest risks present in EITI's governance," because a gap in the policy debate between companies and civil society and what is occurring on the ground could lead to unforeseen difficulties with implementation (Darby et al. 2015, 36). The review calls for a number of practical ways to mitigate this disparity, including faster translations of Board documents into implementing country languages; improved teleconference and translation services at Board meetings, and more in-person meetings generally; increasing implementing country seats on the Board; providing funding to implementing country Board members to fund travel and accommodation costs for Board meetings; and the establishment of an EITI Implementation Forum to serve as a consultative peer advisory group to implementing countries.

2015 also saw the adoption of the "Civil Society Protocol," which responded to criticisms that civil society was a lesser player in the EITI process in authoritarian countries by seeking to ensure civil society's status as an equal partner (Van Alstine 2017). Regarding the efficacy of EITI reporting requirements, a 2015 Natural Resource Governance Institute report found that country compliance reports produced since the Standard "highlight critical deficiencies in license allocation processes, reveal politically affiliated owners of companies, and identify significant local revenues that were never disbursed" (Westenberg and George-Wagner 2015, 1). However, the report still found significant shortcomings in such areas as timeliness, openness, project-level reporting, and subnational revenue transfer reporting (Westenberg and George-Wagner 2015; Van Alstine 2017). In 2016, the EITI Board adopted a more rigorous Standard. This marked a further expansion of the EITI's scope beyond revenue transparency. Beneficial ownership disclosure in EITI reports will be made mandatory for all implementing countries by 2020, and as of early February 2017, 45 EITI countries had published roadmaps on how to make beneficial ownership of oil, gas, and mining companies transparent (EITI n.d.a; EITI n.d.d). (For more disclosure requirements under the EITI Standard, see Table 2.6).

TABLE 2.6: Requirements under the 2019 EITI Standard

ALLOCATION OF RIGHTS	PRODUCTION DATA	REVENUE COLLECTION	STATE- OWNED ENTERPRISES (SOEs)	SUBNATIONAL	SOCIAL IMPACT	REVENUE MANAGEMENT
Contract/license award/transfer process and any deviations (§ 2.2(a))	Exploration activi- ties (§ 3.1)	Legal frame- work and fiscal regime (§ 2.1)	Government transfers by SOEs (§ 2.6(a))	Direct pay- ments/receipts (§ 4.6)	Social and environmental expenditures (§ 6.1)	Revenues recorded and not recorded in budget (§ 5.1)
Register of con- tracts/licenses (§ 2.3)	Production vol- umes and values, and encourage- ment of company- and project-level data (§ 3.2)	Taxes and pri- mary revenues (§ 4.1)	SOE level of beneficial ownership (\$ 2.6(b))	Mandated national/sub- national trans- fers (\$ 5.2)	Employment, including disaggregation by gender, project, and role (6.3(d))	Earmarked revenues and budget/audit processes (§ 5.3)
Contract/license disclosure (§ 2.4)	Export volumes and values (§ 3.3)	In-kind revenues (§ 4.2)	SOE quasi-fiscal expenditures (§ 6.2)			
Beneficial own- ership (\$ 2.5)		Infrastructure/ barter provi- sions (§ 4.3)				
		Transporta- tion revenues (§ 4.4)				
		Economic contribution (§ 6.1-6.3)				

With a broader remit including secretive contracts, transfer pricing, smuggling, and fraud, the EITI was a crucial part of the May 2016 UK Anti-Corruption Summit. Limitations remain, however, with an estimated 23 EITI implementing countries having legal restrictions on civil society organizations, and a lack of clarity over EITI "supporting countries" (Dupuy 2017; EITI n.d.c.).

As of November 2019, there are 52 countries implementing the EITI, covering 373 fiscal years published in open data format and \$2.45 trillion of government revenues disclosed (NRGI 2018a; EITI n.d.b.). The EITI has broadened its administrative capacity from a small team working under the auspices of the U.K.'s Department for International Development to an independent Secretariat and Board. Increased disclosure requirements coupled with a growth in implementing countries has led to an unprecedented amount of disclosure in the extractives industry. The Publish What You Pay coalition, too, remains engaged in the work of the EITI: "members use EITI as a means to increase the openness of their extractive sector and access important information that help them hold their governments to account ... [and] Publish What You Pay seeks to broaden the boundaries of EITI so that the standard encompasses more areas of reporting and remains robust" (PWYP n.d.). By focusing on civil society participation in the EITI, PWYP works to mitigate the power imbalance between companies and civil society noted in the 2015 review.

Box 2.8: Rustad et al.'s (2017) Defense of the EITI

The authors' 2017 meta-study of 45 studies of EITI's effectiveness cautions that those who argue that EITI has been a failed intervention and policy experiment often base those claims on a faulty or selective interpretation of the goals of the effort. The authors argue that EITI had three major goals at its inception: institutional, operational, and developmental. Those three goals are each pursued on different time frames making evaluation of EITI's effectiveness difficult.

With regard to the first, institutional goal, which encompasses building an organization, creating a brand, and fostering norms of transparency, Rustad et al. (2017) argues that EITI has been largely successful. The medium-term, operational goal, which includes concrete national level implementation of the EITI standard leading to public and civic society participation, has had some limited successes and some mixed results. Finally, EITI's effect on development, which is a more long-term goal and, according to Rustad et al. (2017), at least partially "beyond EITI's direct reach" (159), is minimal to date.

While we certainly empathize with the methodological complications, we do take issue with Rustad et al. to the extent that it lowers expectations about what EITI was intended to accomplish. Although, as the authors note, evaluating success in development is hard to measure because it encompasses a variety of governance-based, economic, and/or social changes, progress in that regard is essential for there to be any claim of success.

The EITI's decade of improvements reflects an increased understanding of natural resource transparency beyond NRVC4. As knowledge of which inputs are likely to generate positive outputs has improved, the EITI has sought to expand its requirements across more steps of the NRVC. Regardless, a key question remains: has the work of the EITI actually been effective in incentivizing good governance and reducing corruption?

We turn now to empirical evaluations seeking to address this concern. A full evaluation of the EITI's impact is beyond the scope of this paper and is premature considering the program's recent evolutions; see Box 2.8. Still, a few key criticisms—particularly those regarding the importance of a bundled TAP approach—are worth recounting, since they underpin LTRC's approach.

2.4.c EITI's Success and Shortcomings

Evaluations of the EITI suggest that its efficacy has been mixed. One of the EITI's indisputable successes, however, is its generation of raw, transparent data. Without a doubt, the EITI has increased transparency efforts in many countries with natural resource endowments, including the codification of transparency measures. Hubert and Pitman (2017) assesses the EITI's effect on contract and license disclosure, arguing that the reporting mechanisms are far from perfect. Nonetheless, while disclosure efforts have varied across EITI member states, there have been meaningful disclosures and changes in disclosure policy among at least a subset of measures. Table 2.7 illustrates their findings.

CONTRACT/LICENSE	CONTRACT/LICENSE	LEGAL COMMITMENT BUT	NO CONTRACT/LICENSE
DISCLOSURES AND	DISCLOSURES, BUT NO	NO CONTRACT/LICENSE	DISCLOSURES AND NO
LEGAL REQUIREMENT	LEGAL COMMITMENT	DISCLOSURES	LEGAL COMMITMENT
(18 COUNTRIES)	(11 COUNTRIES)	(3 COUNTRIES)	(20 COUNTRIES)
Afghanistan Burkina Faso Colombia Republic of the Congo Democratic Republic of the Congo Dominican Republic Ghana Guatemala Guinea Honduras Iraq (Kurdistan) Liberia Mozambique Niger Philippines São Tomé and Príncipe Senegal Timor-Leste	Azerbaijan Chad Kyrgyzstan Malawi Mali Mauritania Mongolia Peru Sierra Leone* United Kingdom United States	Central African Republic Côte d'Ivoire Tanzania	Albania Cameroon Ethiopia Iraq (excluding Kurdistan) Indonesia Germany Kazakhstan Madagascar Myanmar Nigeria Norway Papua New Guinea Seychelles Solomon Islands Togo Tajikistan Trinidad and Tobago Ukraine Yemen Zambia

TABLE 2.7: Hubert and Pitman's (2017) Findings on EITI Contract/License Disclosure

*Sierra Leone has a legal requirement to disclose petroleum contracts but has only disclosed contracts for the much larger mining sector where there is no legal requirement.

However, some argue that the EITI's transparency requirements have not succeeded in reducing corruption and have potentially created perverse incentives. Gillies and Heuty (2011) contends that the disclosures and transparency that the EITI requires are aimed at external audiences, rather than the citizenry of the participating countries, producing ineffectual "lonely transparency" lauded outside a country but ineffectively implemented within the participating country (36). Their research, as well as that of others, also suggests that the national-level decision to join the EITI is based less on a commitment to greater transparency and more on an ulterior motive to extract other types of benefits from the affiliation, including anticorruption whitewashing (David-Barrett and Okamura 2013; Schuler 2012; Bebbington et al. 2016; Aaronson 2011; Desai and Jarvis 2012,).

Although improvements in EITI's design, reporting, and requirements will always be expected to enhance the likelihood of success, it is important to consider EITI's structural limitations and its main focus being on—the admittedly important—topic of transparency in extractives. These imply that the impact of EITI on its own will be limited in addressing corruption in countries and industry as compared with one where other country-specific and global initiatives and organizations also engage in key complementary programs to address corruption in resource-rich countries.

In light of this context, LTRC emphasizes complementary efforts beyond what can be achieved by transparency, participation, and accountability initiatives. For example, many corrupt activities funded by resource revenues in resource-rich countries occur in non-extractive sectors that are not reached by EITI, and, further, some of the over-arching, national-level factors driving corruption in the country and the extractives sector don't originate in the sector itself, and are not addressed by EITI-such as state capture, for instance. Other aspects of corruption, such as cross-border illicit money flows, can involve more than one country, and the EITI is also limited in terms of requirements on industry generally, and on anti-corruption in particular. While the EITI has been successful in attracting many implementing countries to its initiative, powerful countries which are key for addressing corruption globally and regionally are not members of the initiative and/or not implementing its requirements, such as China, the United States, Russia, South Africa, and Brazil.

Further, there are other structural limitations stemming from the fact that EITI is not responsible for investigating or prosecuting suspected corruption, and, when a corruption risk appears, stakeholders "may also have very uneven appetites for tackling corruption and some may have interests that run counter to this pursuit" (Gillies 2019).

Nonetheless, EITI, if it continues to evolve and improve, and if well-complemented with other initiatives, can make a concrete difference. In this context, we examine studies based on evidence of EITI's performance until a few years ago below, which point to challenges and mixed performance. We assess the possible improvement in results for EITI implementing countries, insofar as the more encompassing and stringent requirements over time are implemented, while at the same time being mindful of the constraints in terms of concrete impact in addressing corruption insofar as the focus is only on transparency, which is insufficient.

It ought to be recognized, however, that EITI, by having evolved over time to adopt and implement requirements to protect and enhance participation and accountability (necessary for TAP), via its civil society protocol and safeguards, has made a major step forward, which inter alia promotes keeping corruption in the sector in check—even if not assured. Without such safeguards, EITI in many countries would be unlikely to have a positive impact.

Still, to enhance its impact the EITI would be well served by attracting some of the relevant global powers as implementing countries, as well as going further rather than weakening—the strict implementation of its safeguards on civic space in implementing countries (Kaufmann, 2019), and in properly implementing beneficial ownership requirements, as well as in transparency in payments, contracts, and subcontracting, and also specifically regarding commodity traders and National Oil Companies. More generally, EITI can make further progress in clearly articulating its role in anti-corruption and in areas of high risk of corruption (Gillies 2019).

Kluttz et al. (2015) examines the impact of the EITI and PWYP in Cote d'Ivoire, Guinea, and Liberia. The authors find that the two programs increased access to information in all three nations. However, further positive outcomes were significantly limited by a variety of challenges including: few participatory mechanisms (Guinea), as well as poor enforcement of legislation and a lack of accountability (Liberia and Cote d'Ivoire). GIZ (2016), through case studies on the Democratic Republic of the Congo and Mozambigue, finds that EITI-based transparency efforts have a limited ability to affect most behaviors in extractive communities and to overcome existing governing and political challenges. The authors reached this conclusion despite receiving relatively positive responses regarding the EITI's effectiveness on an online survey that they distributed to EITI stakeholders and observers. Nearly 90 percent of EITI stakeholders answered that the EITI had made at least a small impact on "democratic accountability of government" (GIZ 2016, 57).47 However, the authors do note that respondents indicated higher levels of confidence regarding the EITI's contribution to transparency than to its contribution to improving governance (ibid). (They do not provide specific figures.) Figure 2.5 illustrates their full results.



FIGURE 2.5: Results of GIZ (2016) Online Survey to EITI Stakeholders on the Past Impact of EITI

Source: GIZ 2016.

⁴⁷ The authors explain the survey's methodology: "From February 22 until May 16, 2016 EITI stakeholders and observers could participate in an open survey to assess the EITI on www.impact-survey.com. It was promoted in a blog and newsletter on goxi.org, direct mailing to national coordinators and through further various channels. ... 108 persons participated in the survey, with all but one stating their group affiliation (n=107). There were 90 valid answers for each question with a declining trend from the beginning to the end. The overwhelming majority of respondents were representatives of national and international civil society organizations (35 respondents of national civil society and 15 of international civil society). Government respondents included 11 national EITI coordinators, five other national EITI staff, one government representative of an implementing country, and 11 representatives of supporting governments. Nine researchers and journalists participated in the survey. Only two representatives of extractive industry companies answered the questionnaire, and no representatives from institutional investors participated" (GIZ 2016, 27).

A second analysis by Sovacool et al. (2016) compares 16 EITI countries that reached compliance status before 2012 to non-EITI countries and EITI countries pre- and post-compliance, finding the EITI to have no impact on important metrics including voice and accountability, political stability, and control of corruption. The authors acknowledge important limitations to their study,⁴⁸ but nevertheless conclude that the EITI's "limited mandate, its voluntary nature, stakeholder resistance, and dependence on strong civil society" all hinder the initiative's ability to effect meaningful change (179). More specifically, this study identified that the "absence of strong, independent civil society in countries with high levels of corruption as a major obstacle to the EITI's ability to reduce corruption" (Gillies 2019). Their results are summarized in Table 2.8.

TABLE 2.8: Sovacool et al. (2016) Median Annual Change in Voice and Accountability from EITI Participation

	TIME SPAN	CHANGE IN MEDIAN PER YEAR IN EITI COUNTRIES	CHANGE IN MEDIAN PER YEAR IN COMPARISON GROUP
Voice and Accountability	1996-2002 (Pre-EITI)	+0.02	-0.01
Worldwide Governance	2002-2012 (Candidacy)	+0.00	+0.00
Indicator	2012-2014 (Compliance)	+0.02	+0.02
Rule of Law	1996-2002 (Pre-EITI)	+0.02	+0.00
	2002-2012 (Candidacy)	+0.00	+0.00
	2012-2014 (Compliance)	+0.04	+0.03
Regulatory Quality	1996-2002 (Pre-EITI)	+0.00	+0.00
	2002-2012 (Candidacy)	+0.02	+0.00
	2012-2014 (Compliance)	-0.01	+0.00
Control of Corruption	1996-2002 (Pre-EITI)	+0.00	+0.00
	2002-2012 (Candidacy)	+0.00	+0.00
	2012-2014 (Compliance)	-0.02	+0.01

Source: Sovacool et al. 2016.

⁴⁸ Acknowledged limitations include a limited time frame and a quasi-experimental design that "allows for only correlative interpretations regarding the relationship between EITI participation and governance and economic development metrics" (Sovacool et al. 2016, 180).

Third, Kasekende, Abuka, and Sarr (2016) analyzes 76 countries rich in hydrocarbons and mineral resources from 2002-2012 to assess the effectiveness of EITI in the control of corruption. Using the Worldwide Governance Indicators (WGI) Control of Corruption Index, the authors find that EITI membership has not resulted in reduced corruption rates.

Fourth, Öge (2016a) also finds that the EITI has not reduced corruption. Öge (2016a) analyzes the impact of EITI membership on corruption and transparency levels between 2006 and 2013, using interrupted time series and panel data. He finds that overall data disclosure (raw transparency) increased, but concludes that perceptions of corruption did not change. Finally, Corrigan (2017) analyzes panel data from 1997 to 2014, and finds that the EITI has a significant and positive effect on economic development on member states. However, she also finds that there have not yet been observable and significant effects in control of corruption.

Other analyses highlight perverse effects. In a separate study, Öge (2016b) conducts a cross-national analysis of 46 EITI-implementing nations to study why nations elect to join. He finds that membership significantly increases foreign direct investment, and concludes that corrupt governments often use the EITI in a "utilitarian" fashion, enjoying benefits without making meaningful reforms (140). Öge (2016b) criticizes the "narrow definition of transparency in the EITI process," which allows nations to "sign-on to the EITI without necessarily changing their usual modus operandi. Thus they implement a limited form of revenue transparency, while still keeping a tight lid on how these revenues are spent" (ibid).

Still, some find that the EITI has had a positive impact on corruption, if a limited one. David-Barrett and Okamura (2013) uses data on 185 nations from TI's Corruption Perceptions Index (CPI), World Bank Development Indicators, and the EITI to assess why corrupt nations voluntarily join the EITI. The authors find that corrupt nations join the EITI to bolster their international reputation and attain associated benefits, such as increased development aid. However, the authors also find that the decision to join the EITI led to a significant reduction on that nation's CPI score in the two years following. They suggest that this positive effect results principally from the process of implementing the EITI, which increases accountability.

Among the most recent of the quantitative studies reviewed, Papyrakis, Rieger, and Gilberthorpe (2017) also bucked the trend of studies that find that the EITI has produced no observable reductions in corruption. Focusing on resource-rich countries, the authors used panel data to measure whether EITI commitment and candidature is linked to changes in perceived corruption levels, control of corruption, and rule of law over time.⁴⁹ According to their analysis, the EITI creates a "shielding mechanism" against increases in corruption in oil and mineral rich nations:

While mineral abundant (but not necessarily dependent) economies seem to experience an increase in corruption over time, the effect is now of lower statistical significance. ... EITI participation still largely shields again against a now much milder resource curse, [because] the coefficients of the interaction terms are [mostly] insignificant ... while mineral wealth tends to be associated with reduced control of corruption ... and weaker rule of law, participation in the EITI can partly offset these tendencies (302–303).

Papyrakis et al. (2017) finds that shielding effects are particularly strong when nations enter the second stage of EITI implementation, becoming

⁴⁹ The authors' broader sample includes commitment, candidature, and compliance. When restricting their sample to the resourcerich countries that most interest LTRC, "we focus our attention on the effect of EITI on reducing corruption at the first two stages of implementation (commitment and candidate status)—that is, for the stages when the growth-reducing effect attributed to EITI membership was larger for the broader sample" (302).

official candidates. It suggests that this likely occurs because second stage nations must intensify compliance efforts in order to be awarded full participation (305). The authors thus credit EITI membership requirements with curbing corruption. The next two tables illustrate their results. Table 2.9a focuses on resource abundance and corruption perceptions; Table 2.9b focuses on mineral dependence and control of corruption and rule of law.

	DEPENDENT VARIABLE: CHANGE IN CORRUPTION FROM TI CORRUPTION PERCEPTIONS INDEX		
INDEPENDENT VARIABLE	Commitment Status Coefficient (Standard Error)	Candidate Status Coefficient (Standard Error)	
Mineral Abundance	-0.135 (0.133)	-0.146 (0.132)	
Oil Abundance	-0.204* (0.108)	-0.211 (0.108)	
Oil Abundance with EITI Commitment Status	0.195 (0.208)	N/A	
Oil Abundance with EITI Candidate Status	N/A	0.433 (0.279)	
Mineral Abundance with EITI Commitment Status	0.250 (0.194)	N/A	
Mineral Abundance with EITI Candidate Status	N/A	0.564** (0.254)	

TABLE 2.9A: Papyrakis et al. (2017) Regression Analysis of the Effect of EITI Participation

Country-clustered robust standard errors of coefficients in parentheses. Superscripts ***, **, and * indicate a one, five, and ten percent level of significance, respectively. Time dummies are included in all specifications.

INDEPENDENT VARIABLE	DEPENDENT VARIABLE: CHANGE IN CONTROL OF CORRUPTION WORLDWIDE GOVERNANCE INDICATOR (STANDARD ERROR)	DEPENDENT VARIABLE: CHANGE IN RULE OF LAW WORLDWIDE GOVERNANCE INDICATOR (STANDARD ERROR)
Mineral Dependence	-0.098*** (0.029)	-0.062** (0.029)
Mineral Dependence with EITI Commitment Status	0.050** (0.025)	0.042* (0.028)

TABLE 2.9B: Papyrakis et al. (2017) Regression Analysis of the Effect of EITI Participation

Country-clustered robust standard errors of coefficients in parentheses. Superscripts ***, **, and * indicate a one, five, and ten percent level of significance, respectively. Time dummies included in all specifications.

Source: Papyrakis et al. 2017.

While Papyrakis et al.'s (2017) recent study suggests that the EITI is a worthwhile endeavor, the lack of consistent quantitative findings (in addition to the qualitative work previously cited) suggests continued challenges that should not be ignored. An important caveat, however, is that these and other quantitative evaluations did not fully capture the effects of the updated 2013 EITI Standard-when meanwhile EITI is already implementing the 2019 Standard, following the implementation of the 2016 Standard until June 2019. As explained earlier, the EITI's updated Standard represent the initiative's efforts to provide additional open government mechanisms other than transparency and, in turn, improve development and reduce corruption. Although implementation challenges abound (Brockmyer and Fox 2015), these shifts are a step in the right direction.

Although governance results in scholarly work with evidence of years past have been mixed or inconclusive, a recent analysis with the most recent Worldwide Governance Indicators (WGIs) data suggests distinct performance trends, pointing to the importance of unbundling sets of countries, rather than relying on overall averages. The initial analysis, with updated data, suggests that older entrants to EITI, when the EITI Standard was narrower and less stringent—inter alia excluding safeguards for civic space—tend to perform less well than newer entrants (Kaufmann 2019). As seen in Charts 2.3 and 2.4, the performance on civic space as well as on corruption control of older EITI country members admitted to the initiative under lower standards deteriorated over time, while the performance of more recent entrants to the initiative has improved.

In parallel, Chart 2.4 from Kaufmann (2019) shows a different performance in terms of control of corruption between old versus new EITI member. Together with the similar findings on civic space comparing these two groups, the data suggests how vital civil society safeguards in EITI can be in addressing corruption.

CHART 2.3: The Worldwide Governance Indicators' Voice & Accountability Scores of Older and Newer EITI-Implementing Countries⁵⁰

Voice & Accountability pre- & post-EITI candidacy Older entrants (28) vs Newcomers (19) — *cutoff: 2011*



Source: Kaufmann, Kraay, and Mastruzzi 2010 and Kaufmann 2019.

CHART 2.4: The Worldwide Governance Indicators' Control of Corruption Scores of Older and Newer EITI-Implementing Countries⁵¹

Control of Corruption pre- & post-EITI candidacy Older entrants (28) vs Newcomers (19) — cutoff: 2011



Source: Kaufmann, Kraay, and Mastruzzi 2010 and Kaufmann 2019.

- 50 Older EITI sample covers the 28 emerging EITI countries that were members as of 2011. EITI Newcomers sample covers the 19 emerging EITI countries who joined between 2009 and 2017. A conservative assumption is used for countries missing data in EITI+2 (11 countries) by using the data from the last year with available data. Number of countries with actual data per period are as follows: EITI (47 countries), EITI+1 (47 countries), EITI+2 (43 countries), EITI+3 (42 countries), EITI+4 (41 countries), and EITI+5 (36 countries).
- 51 In this analysis, the older EITI sample covers 28 emerging EITI countries that were members as of 2011. The EITI Newcomers sample covers 19 emerging EITI countries that joined between 2009 and 2017.

More generally, the adoption of the EITI at the national level appears to have spearheaded broader dynamics, often including an empowerment of civil society and the fueling of public debates that have led to reforms in areas beyond the formal EITI requirements. Since EITI multi-stakeholder groups are responsible for investigating whether or not "the government systems in place for recording payments and auditing are clear, effective, and meet international standards," activists can gain an understanding of government processes (Aaronson 2011, 55). This understanding can then be translated into "the polity as a whole" (Aaronson 2011, 55; Iwerks and Venugopal 2016; Aaronson 2009).

The EITI's evolution has been rapid, and its goals are high. Nevertheless, Kolstad and Wiig's (2009) warning regarding the EITI's need to attach accountability and participation mechanisms to its existing transparency requirements to produce results still resonates:

In the absence of accountability, whereby other groups can hold a government to account and sanction misbehavior, it is unclear that the EITI will have much of an effect. It is, for instance, unclear that failing to meet EITI criteria will necessarily have any repercussions on a government, in countries where accountability mechanisms are weak. Moreover, in addition to accountability, the effect of the initiative will depend on the degree to which other groups are able to process the information made available In addition, a number of EITI countries have seen a reduction in transparency in other areas, such as press freedom, notably Gabon, Madagascar, São Tomé, and

Timor-Leste It is likely, therefore, that the EITI needs to be coupled with other types of reforms to have an effect on corruption in oil-rich countries While [the multi-stakeholder groups requirement] has the potential of improving accountability and participation in revenue management, there is also a risk that the group can become another arena for rent-seeking and patronage. Though civil society is to be represented in the multi-stakeholder group, civil society is not one thing nor necessarily representative of the population. Civil society in many resource-rich developing countries is also weak. Since the multi-stakeholder group is to be appointed by the government, there is a chance that it will be peopled with government supporters. Or along the lines of rentier state arguments, a government may use its power of appointment to undermine the existence of social groups independent of the government (529).

Generally, given the evolving nature of initiatives such as EITI, where lessons are drawn and further buy-in are secured over time, leading to improvements and further implementation, caution is warranted regarding premature conclusions. This is particularly the case given the time period often well in the past—early years of EITI—utilized in research studies, many of which are included here. Future quantitative analyses, informed by a longer period of observation, will be better suited to assess whether the updated, broader EITI framework is concretely delivering in addressing corruption in the countries and globally, and if so, through which particular dimensions and mechanisms.

2.5 Conclusion

From this analysis of the literature and practice (and also that to come in Chapters Three and Four), the LTRC project considers it clear that TAP interventions need to be bundled, requiring hybrid interventions that include multiple TAP elements to enhance chances of successfully reducing corruption and improving sustainable development, as compared with focusing on transparency measures on their own. As one World Bank guidance note echoes, "all three principles are critical to improve governance and development outcomes" (Heller et al. 2016, 4). We argue that operationalizing accountability into concrete interventions can lead to a higher probability of success in achieving the desired outcomes when combined with transparency and participatory approaches (Dewachter et al. 2018). By contrast, isolated approaches (those that fail to combine multiple TAP elements) can lead to serious shortcomings,

weakening their effect and their credibility among the same actors whose concourse is needed (citizens) or whose behavior is intended to be changed or incentivized (service providers, public officials). As shown in Section 2.4, the history of the EITI is a case in point.

However, even the best bundling of a TAP intervention is only part of the equation, because the context in which that intervention takes place is relevant. Equally important is to consider the integration of complementary reforms in the legal, administrative, and public finance and institutional realms beyond TAP. The next chapter takes on the question of why and how context matters.



LEVERAGING TRANSPARENCY TO REDUCE CORRUPTION



CHAPTER THREE: The Role of Context

We have traced the evolution of proposed TAP-based solutions to reducing corruption and improving sustainable development outcomes along the natural resource value chain (NRVC). We have explained that an initial burst of energy around transparency-based solutions gradually met disappointment when they were evaluated, and it was shown that transparency alone often was not enough to achieve the desired objectives. Combining transparency with accountability and participation measures has also been attempted and evaluated. Those combinations indeed showed some positive results in corruption reduction, but additional and substantial work was left to be done to more dramatically impact corruption.

Research points to designing a next wave of interventions that are carefully tailored to take account of contextual factors if we want to build momentum on the progress to date. This approach heads a general thread in the literature that recommends a close consideration of context when designing and implementing transparency, accountability, and participation interventions and the strategies around those interventions. The first section in this chapter details that thread. LTRC's goal when analyzing context is not just to account for it when designing a strategy, but to guide the identification of contextual factors that are key to consider for the success of a TAP intervention, and out of those, determine which can be operationalized and used for strategy design purposes.

Context, of course, can be elusive, given its many dimensions. LTRC focuses on five dimensions of context, or as we term them "contextual factors": capture; social trust, political trust, and conflict; civic space and media freedom; rule of law, justice, and impunity; and government effectiveness. We do not mean to imply that these are the only dimensions of context that matter when addressing corruption in the natural resource realm. Rather, we pinpoint how different versions of these five are regularly present in the literature and the work of practitioners as having helped to magnify a TAP intervention's impact or, conversely, to understand how and why a TAP program was derailed in its causal pathway.

In this chapter, we define each contextual factor for the purposes of our project and explain why we chose it. We then turn to a discussion of examples of TAP interventions that have sought to incorporate context considerations into either their design or to explicitly alter key contexts.

TABLE 3.1: LTRC's Five Contextual Factors of Interest

CONTEXTUAL FACTOR	LTRC WORKING DEFINITION
Capture	"The efforts of firms to shape and influence the underlying rules of the game (i.e., legislation, laws, rules, and decrees) through private payments to public officials" (Hellman et al. 1999, 4).
Social Trust, Political Trust, and Conflict	 Social Trust: The degree to which individuals in a society share and believe others share mutually beneficial goals, regardless of ethnic, racial, or religious categories (Rothstein and Uslaner 2005; Rothstein 2011, 2013). Political Trust: "Trust between citizens and political elites, or citizen confidence in political institutions" (Newton 2005). Conflict: Contexts of ongoing war or history of war, confrontations between communities
	and companies, or the presence of armed insurgencies.
Civic Space and Media Freedom	The basic democratic rights of citizens and journalists to freely associate, assemble, share information, and express opinions without fear of reprisal or censorship.
Rule of Law	The presence of an institutionalized, understood, trusted, shared, and enforced system of rights and rules that applies to everyone equally; protects all members of a society from harm; provides means of redress, resolution, and relief when harmed; and fairly determines and metes out punishment for those who break laws or violate rights.
Government Effectiveness and Capacity	The financial and/or technical capacity to carry out the functions necessary to properly manage natural resources and support anti-corruption efforts.

3.1 The Importance of Context

Like "transparency is not enough," "context matters" is a widely accepted axiom in governance studies. Arguably the most comprehensive treatment of context in the social accountability space is O'Meally (2013, ix-xiv). He explains the importance of context for social accountability, something easily translatable to TAP approaches:

Context is critical in shaping, making, and breaking [TAP] interventions Some contexts are more enabling of [TAP] and the context will influence—although not

necessarily determine—the form [TAP] is likely to take and how likely it is to achieve its objectives Yet there are no clear "recipes-for-success" as [TAP] shapes—and is shaped by—the context in often complex and unpredictable ways. For example, there does not appear to be a linear relationship between broad levels of democracy and the potential effectiveness of [TAP]. What seems to be more important are the actual forms of politics and power in a specific context that present constraints and opportunities.⁵²

52 The bracketed insertions of "TAP" are not in the original text. They are replacing the acronym "SAcc," or social accountability approaches. O'Meally (2013) defines SAcc as a "range of actions and strategies, beyond voting, that societal actors—namely citizens—employ to hold the state to account" (ix).

Other analyses similarly focus on the importance of context. Gaventa and Barrett (2010) and Mansuri and Rao (2013) both call for contextually sensitive diagnoses of the relationship among civil society, government, and markets so that the participation strategy can be adapted accordingly and can ideally build upon organic, existing modes of participation. Malena, Forster, and Singh (2004) highlights context and several of the contextual factors defined in this chapter as "critical factors of success" for an intervention (12-13); Gaventa and McGee (2010) does the same. Dewachter et al. (2018) argues that a "short route" and "long route" of accountability must be considered within a wider context. Other research demonstrates that a contextual focus, if not outright prioritization, is necessary (Barma et al. 2012; Joshi 2014; Astuti and McGregor 2015; Siregar et al. 2017; Wetterberg, Hertz, and Brinkerhoff 2018; Levy et al. 2018).

The importance of context has also become a point of emphasis for practitioners, with a recent evaluation for the World Bank's citizen engagement framework emphasizing both the importance of contextually sensitive program designs and the political challenges that the organization faces when it seeks to act according to this citizen engagement commitment (IEG/World Bank 2018). The report cautions that context-sensitive processes and designs are crucial to citizen engagement, yet the World Bank's mainstreaming approach does not always adequately account for country-specific factors, such as addressing power imbalances. It urges: "engaging citizens is about understanding societal complexity, avoiding elite capture, and changing power balance, habits, and norms, which are context-specific processes"

Although it is outside the scope of this paper to analyze the role of the major international financial institutions and donors in driving TAP programs, we note that early transparency-only and TAP efforts may have failed to fully account for context because of a top down approach. Many early contextdetached programs, driven by Western aid programs, were constructed as part of the "common swirl of politically related 'good things," rather than being well tailored to on-the-ground, complex environments (Carothers and de Gramont 2013).

More specifically within natural resource governance, Basedau (2005) makes the case for context mattering in the most direct of terms:

in the strict sense, there is no such thing as a "resource curse" ... it is not sufficient to theoretically acknowledge the general relevance of surrounding conditions. A careful conceptualization and empirical analysis of different—positive or negative—scenarios in different countries, their exact causal mechanisms and interplays as well as the relative weight of natural resources vis á vis the context ... is needed. (22-23)

We aim to follow these careful conceptualizations and empirical analyses. As we describe in Chapter Four, the foregoing considerations must be built into a research design for a more thorough understanding of the relationship between TAP reforms and targeted outcomes.

3.2 Contextual Factors

Before we define the specific contextual factors of most interest to LTRC, we want to offer a quick cautionary note about the multi-disciplinary nature of contextual analyses. The contextual factors we have honed in on cover a wide variety of fields, for example law, journalism, and public management. Numerous efforts have been made to assess these dimensions of context and their role in our outcomes of interest. Many of the analyses we use are by practitioners in a wide array of academic fields from economists, to legal scholars, to sociologists and ethnographers, to historians. Each has its own standards and methodologies, and an economist's assessment of a contextual factor may not be persuasive to a sociologist and vice versa. We do not attempt to impose a hierarchy of methodology or field of inquiry. Instead, we have attempted to find some consensus among the fields studying contextual factors for this paper. Annex 3 provides examples of the different methodologies and topics of interest covered by some of the key studies we have relied upon in crafting our approach to context.

We have developed our list of five priority contextual factors through our review of the TAP and extractives fields. As described in Annex 1, we assessed more than 650 works on natural resources and TAP, including both academic works and "gray literature" from respected advocacy and practitioner organizations. Our specification of contextual factors based upon that material was heavily influenced by the six components of the Worldwide Governance Indicators (WGIs), "a research dataset summarizing the views on the quality of governance provided by a large number of enterprise, citizen, and expert survey respondents in industrial and developing countries. These data are gathered from a number of survey institutes, think tanks, non-governmental

organizations, international organizations, and private sector firms" (World Bank Group n.d.). Utilization of the WGIs helps ensure a degree of measurability, as further discussed in the methodological notes in Annex 1. We validated the prioritization of our factors by interviewing more than 20 experts working in this area in spring 2018.

Beyond the sourcing of the data used to measure these contextual factors, they comprise elements of institutional design, function, and legitimacy that are deeply associated with democratic governance. The literature devotes significant attention to the ways in which each of these factors has significant effects on democratic legitimacy and influences corruption and social development. Although other factors fit within this framework, scholars widely view these five as the most important and effectual, specifically for the purposes of the central research questions in this project. Thus, as we explain throughout, these five factors are the most clearly implicated (in one way or another) in a TAP theory of change and the analysis of the resource curse that we have examined.

Box 3.1: The Natural Resource Charter's Domestic Foundations for Resource Governance

PRECEPT ONE: Resource management should secure the greatest benefit for citizens through an inclusive and comprehensive national strategy, clear legal framework, and competent institutions.

PRECEPT TWO: Resource governance requires decisionmakers to be accountable to an informed public.

Source: NRGI 2014.

3.2.a State Capture

The concept of capture encompasses "the efforts of firms to shape and influence the underlying rules of the game (i.e., legislation, laws, rules, and decrees) through private payments to public officials" (Hellman et al. 1999). In other words, "capture" refers to a situation in which non-state entities inappropriately influence or control the activities, decisionmaking, or outcomes of one or more governing institutions to create results that diverge from the public interest, the mission of an agency, or the general welfare of the public. It is important to distinguish state capture, prevalent in transitional democracies and which takes place due to the inordinate influence of economic elites, from kleptocratic capture. The latter involves venal, non-democratic autocracies where the power of the state is bent to the benefit of the political leadership and its cronies or families. Elements of state capture are incorporated in the "Regulatory Quality" Worldwide Governance Indicator.

As the resource curse literature shows, competent governance institutions are necessary for productively governing, regulating, and overseeing the NRVC. But those institutions can themselves be corrupted or captured, especially when their leaders have broad, explicit de jure discretion, or de facto discretion due to a lack of institutional or legal transparency. Indeed, this is the logic behind the first two precepts in the Natural Resource Charter—what it calls the "domestic foundations for resource governance." See Box 3.1.

The importance of state capture in natural resource governance is apparent. In captured institutions, the special interests that should be independently overseen by an agency unduly influence its decisions and pervert the rules to the interests' own benefit. A host of methods may be employed to capture an agency or public institution including illicit political contributions, lobbying with personal gifts, and appointing family members and leveraging familial ties (Martini 2014). State capture frequently results in the regulatory agencies overseeing natural resources granting tax breaks, applying special accounting procedures, or offering other incentives to the company in exchange for direct bribes and payoffs (McPherson and MacSearraigh 2007). Sometimes, officials just "look the other way," especially in cases where a behavior is not explicitly and obviously illegal (McPherson and MacSearraigh 2007). In other cases, the institutional failure may be unintentional:

Host governments' anti-corruption legal, judicial, and regulatory system may suffer from shortcomings and inadequacies due to lack of state institutional capacity, lax, ambiguous, incomplete, or outdated legislation, or lack of effective enforcement of existing laws and regulations, including prosecution and sanctioning. More specifically, for host governments, legislative gaps may include failure to define corruption in all its forms as a criminal offence, including cross-border bribery, which is a major risk in the extractives sector, or lack of or insufficient coverage of specific anti-corruption measures such as guaranteeing the reporting by and protection of whistle-blowers or making bribe payment expressly non-tax deductible. (OECD 2016, 15-16)

Box 3.2 offers a real-world example of state capture from the Democratic Republic of the Congo. Importantly, corruption via institutional capture is a risk even for the most developed countries (Martini 2014; Monks 2012), so Box 3.2 also includes two representative examples from the United States. Furthermore, the economic impacts of state capture are profound. Chart 3.1 shows that in high-capture countries, the private sector grows and invests less.

Box 3.2: Capture of Licensing and Environmental Protection Agencies

In many contracting regimes, rules governing the evaluation of contract bids and proposals are often nonexistent, unclear, or unenforced. This opacity and discretion is the main driver of corruption at this stage of the NRVC (see Chapter One), which creates state capture through special kickbacks and enabling the approval of deals not in the public's best interest (Rosenblum and Maples 2009). In Congo Kinshasa, the government secretly assigned rights to oil blocks that overlap with legally protected rainforests to an extremely opaque company, COMICO. Global Witness recently unmasked some of the hidden owners and holding companies, which include "a former Congolese politician and businessman, who was a cabinet member of Jean-Pierre Bemba's Congolese political party[,] ... [a] Portuguese businessman linked to the Brazilian Car Wash scandal[,] ... [and] a former business associate ... who was previously convicted of playing a part in a fraudulent investment scheme" (Global Witness 2018b, 4, 7). Similarly, an anonymous participant in an OECD roundtable reported that "in an iron ore producing country, the government granted mining rights over one of the largest untapped deposits in the world The company paid nothing up front to obtain the rights ... [and] the mining rights were later terminated ... [amid] allegations that the company obtained its rights only after gifts and cash [were] given to members of the then-president's family" (OECD 2016, 39).

State capture can also occur around regulating the environmental impacts of the third stage of the NRVC: production. The Sabin Center for Climate Change Law analyzed the 88 political appointees to environmental, energy, and natural resource management agencies in the Trump administration's first year, finding that 50 lacked "expertise and/or experience that would be directly relevant to the core missions of the departments and agencies that they have joined" and 25 had "close ties to the fossil fuel industry" (Wentz 2017). In the U.S. state of Alabama in 2018, a local coal company vice president was convicted on bribery and fraud as part of a sprawling conspiracy to avoid paying to clean up nearby soil his company had helped toxify. The conspiracy enmeshed multiple public officials and environmental agencies, and although ultimately convicted, the executive was successful in avoiding responsibility for the pollution (Whitmire 2018).



CHART 3.1: Costs of State Capture

Firm Performance, 1997-1999

Source: NRGI, derived from Hellman, Jones, and Kaufmann 2003.

The LTRC project will focus on corruption as a primary, targeted outcome. Over the past few decades, however, and due in no small part to widespread failures of some anti-corruption interventions during that time, the field has increasingly recognized the importance of considering corruption as a key contextual factor as well. Box 3.3 describes this complexity in more detail. In sum, because TAP interventions rely on mobilizing citizens to some degree and the experience of corruption makes key actors either more tolerant or more skeptical of interventions to curb it, it is important (at least theoretically) to consider the baseline level of state capture when designing a TAP intervention. The likelihood of success may very well be higher if starting levels of state capture are lower. This dual concept underlies part of the LTRC framework described in the next chapter.

3.2.b Social Trust, Political Trust, and Conflict

As explained in Chapter One, natural resources and the rents (as opposed to production) they generate have a significant causal effect on the likelihood of conflict (e.g., Basedau and Lay 2009; Gilberthorpe and Papyrakis 2015; Van der Ploeg 2011).

Conflict, then, is an obvious contextual factor for governance research. Indeed, the Worldwide Governance Indicators feature Political Stability and Absence of Violence as one of the six most important dimensions of governance. For the purposes of the LTRC research agenda, we are most interested in how conflict affects the likelihood of an intervention's success. Stated frankly, locations experiencing large, ongoing, armed conflicts are not good candidates for a TAP-Plus (as described below) intervention. We take for granted that a focused, intense, long-term, expert intervention aimed at peace-building and conflict resolution would be a more appropriate, moral, and necessary choice in such cases.⁵³ To reflect that, we focus on two particular dimensions of conflict: social trust and political trust. We consider social and political trust to be distinct concepts (Newton 2007, 342-361; Hetherington 2007, 9), though the nature of the relationship between these forms of trust is debated within the literature (Levi and Stoker 2000). We consider social trust to constitute what is sometimes described as interpersonal trust among individuals in society, while political trust is trust in political leaders or institutions (Newton 2005).

Without attempting to parse the many diverse strands of social capital and social trust literature, we define social trust as the degree to which individuals in a society share, and believe others share, mutually beneficial goals, regardless of ethnic, racial, or religious categories (Rothstein and Uslaner 2005; Rothstein 2011, 2013).

⁵³ That is not to say that we will not consider troubled jurisdictions, such as those that are recovering immediately post-conflict, for our work. Rather, it is to recognize that there are threshold requirements for our endeavor.

Box 3.3: Corruption as Context

Ignoring the contextual implications of corruption is a "theoretical mischaracterization of the problem," because systemic corruption "much more closely resembles a collective action problem" (Persson et al. 2013, 450). Rocha Menocal et al.'s extensive 2015 evidence review identifies a variety of contextual effects of corruption that will complicate an intervention's chances of success. They demonstrate "a large and statistically significant negative correlation between corruption and levels of confidence in public institutions," including both public services and the institutions of the political system itself (50). When corruption is the norm, actors will tend to be less willing to enforce reform or try to act righteously. The short-term rewards to behaving corruptly outweigh the costs if one expects that others will engage in corruption or that one's potentially risky efforts to resist a corrupt system will be insufficient.

Directly, patronage—where the corrupt "winners" share their spoils with supporters—could reduce the sting of perceived corruption and reduce demand for anti-corruption reforms (Manzetti and Wilson 2007; Dunning 2008; Morrison 2009; Ross 2012; Wiens 2015). But more indirectly, if citizens encounter corruption when trying to access public services, they are more likely to participate in corruption in the future: "lack of trust in institutions actually favors corruption insofar as it transforms citizens into clients and bribers who use patronage networks to gain access to rent-seeking decision-makers" (Cho and Kirwin 2007, iii). That is, the citizens eventually become part of the corrupt system, such that "perceptions that officials are corrupt decreases citizen satisfaction [with public services]; but the act of paying a bribe increases it" (Bratton 2007, ii). Businesses act similarly. If firms perceive a corrupt system in which their competitors have stronger political connections, they are more likely to bypass courts, pursue extra-legal benefits, and pay bribes (Hellman, Jones, and Kaufmann 2003).

Beyond public services, citizens in corrupt countries unsurprisingly exhibit far less trust in government institutions and the civil servants who fill those institutions' halls (Anderson and Tverdova 2003). This is quite a rational conclusion, as an experiment by Brollo et al. (2013) shows that if politicians see more opportunity for personal enrichment, relatively fewer "civic-minded" candidates will run and relatively more individualistic candidates will take office. Furthermore, "individuals with low confidence in institutions exhibit low levels of political participation, [and] show increased tolerance for violent means to achieve political ends" (Clausen et al. 2011, 212). Once their trust in government has been undermined by corruption, citizens are less likely to actively cooperate or even passively support efforts to clean up the system. According to Morris and Klesner (2010), they "see no way out" of a "low-level equilibrium," which "helps justify [citizens'] own participation in corruption and spawns apathy towards doing anything about it":

This mutual causality wherein corruption erodes trust in public institutions which in turn creates the conditions favorable to corrupt behavior—compounded by the fact that the perceptions of corruption are far more generalized than actual levels of corruption—creates a vicious circle that perpetuates corruption, the perception of corruption, and low levels of trust (1275-1278).

In other words, the "demand" of corruption in some ways creates its own "supply" (Dixit 2016).

Grievance and greed mechanisms explain the relationship between conflict and social trust. Grievance mechanisms are those in which high levels of real or perceived inequalities or corruption of resource income and benefits—or localized negative externalities from resource extraction—interact with an affected group's ethnic, religious, or other identity. Greed mechanisms are those in which opportunistic groups use violence to capture natural resource booty, either through political territorial control or leverage over producers (Olsson and Fors 2004; Van der Ploeg 2011; Murshed and Tadjoeddin 2009; Le Billon 2012).

Why are conflict and social trust important for TAP? Baez Camargo and Stahl's (2016) social accountability handbook explains:

Shared social norms, the patterns and intensity of social interactions, availability of social networks, and trust in institutions matter for the development of social accountability strategies as they are attributes that shape the expectations of individuals on the likely outcomes from participating in anticorruption activities. (15–16).

Moreover, conflicts further weaken state institutions and socioeconomic linkages (Le Billon 2012), incentivize insularity (Uslaner 2008), and cause a "degradation of the social contract" such that ongoing conflicts last longer and new conflicts are more likely to arise (Murshed and Tadjoeddin 2009, 1). These further entrench perceptions of "the corrupt other" and add new grievances from that corruption, such that "mistrust and lack of state legitimacy are often both a cause and a consequence of violent conflict" (Lindberg and Orjuela 2014, 729; Biddulph 2014; Heilbrunn 2011; Lindberg and Herath 2014; Orjuela 2014). In other words, the greed and grievance nexus destroys social trust, and, once social trust is undermined, it becomes much harder to prevent future conflict and create institutional structures that de-incentivize corruption, such as the rule of law (discussed in Subsection 3.2.d. below). Rothstein and Uslaner (2005) calls this the "low-trust-corruption—inequality trap."

Specific research into natural resource conflicts underscores the significance of this contextual factor to the field and to our work. In Angola, the Republic of Congo, Colombia, Indonesia, Nigeria, and Sierra Leone, conflict over diamonds, gold, and oil has induced both grievance and greed. In some cases, disenfranchised minorities have begun separatist wars in resourcerich regions, while in others, rapacious rebels have enriched themselves by extorting money from legitimate industry. Such cases have shown that conflict is most likely to occur if the resource-rich region is different from the rest of country in terms of ethnicity, culture, or religion (Caselli and Coleman 2013). Van der Ploeg's (2011) economic model, built from Hodler (2006) and Van der Ploeg and Poelkhekke (2009), shows that "if the country is homogenous ... there is no fighting ... the resource curse is more severe in countries that have many ethnic or religious fractions" (392). Beyond theoretical models, Nillesen and Bulte (2014)'s systematic review also finds some grievance mechanism like poverty or ethnicity to be necessary, without which "there is no unconditional relation between resource wealth and conflict" (81). Box 3.4 dives deeper into the ethnic grievances behind Nigeria's fractious oil producing regions.

Because of their different political economies, different natural resources types are more or less likely to set off a low-trust-corruption-inequality trap (Le Billon 2014). Relatedly, it is important to note variations in the types of conflict that may emerge in relation to resource wealth. Box 3.5 summarizes these points.

As with social trust, political trust has linkages with conflict and state legitimacy. For LTRC's purposes, we define political trust as "trust between citizens and political elites, or citizen confidence in political institutions" (Newton 2005). Political trust is widely considered an important indicator of political legitimacy and sustainability in democratic regimes (Levi and Stoker 2000; OECD 2013), and institutional confidence as a measure of support for political regimes can inform our understanding of the stability of political systems (Easton 1975).

Box 3.4: Conflict, Grievances, and Oil in the Niger Delta (excerpted from Obi and Rustad 2011)

"[Home to] over 75 percent of Nigeria's petroleum production and exports ... [the Niger Delta is] the region with the highest rates of youth unemployment and income inequality. Violent conflicts in the region are thus driven by perceptions of alienation and exclusion ... the integration of the Niger Delta into the international political economy of oil [has] simultaneously enriched international oil companies and ... national and local elites—and contributed to the disempowerment and impoverishment of local peoples ... [leading to] a vicious cycle of exploitation, protest, repression, resistance, militarization and the descent into a volatile mix of insurgent violence and criminality"

... "Feelings of marginalization gained ground even after independence in 1960, particularly after political elites became locked in a bitter struggle for power and resources In 1966 there was an abortive attempt at secession aimed at forcibly asserting ethnic minority regional autonomy by a group of ethnic ljaw youth [Later,] feelings of exclusion, dispossession, and disappointment were further reinforced by the progressive downward revision of the derivation principle of revenue allocation, which effectively reduced the 'share' of federal allocations to oil-producing ethnic minority states from 50 percent in 1966 to 3 percent in the mid-1990s. In 1999, partly in response to the protests from the region [like the Movement for the Survival of Ogoni People (MOSOP)], and to lend legitimacy to the new democratic government, the allocation was raised to 13 percent. In spite of this, the agitation for self-determination has continued, driven by the demand by Niger Delta ethnic minorities to control the oil from their states"

... "Nigeria's return to democratic rule in 1999 raised expectations ... that the elected leaders would better address the grievances of the people ... [but] politicians of the Niger Delta tapped into the groundswell of popular anger ... feeding into a spiral of local violence in the 1999 and 2003 elections, which connected with communal conflicts, politics of local resistance and the struggle for resource control, and evolved into a full insurgency by 2006 The complex conflict involved broad militant alliances like MEND [the Movement for the Emancipation of the Niger Delta] ... which combined lethal attacks and sabotage of oil installations with the effective use of global media to publicize its campaign of 'fighting for the control of oil revenues by indigenes of the Niger Delta.'''

"[The] presidential amnesty to Niger Delta militants in 2009 ... has been followed by a marked reduction in the level of conflict in the region, but it is not clear that the conditions for a permanent peace are yet prevalent" (2–9, 24).

See also Smith (2014), who "explores the dynamics between Igbo ethnic nationalism, aspirations for democracy and development, and the way that discourses about corruption figure prominently in popular imagination ... suggesting that corruption was a mechanism to marginalize Igbos, but also that corruption among Igbos themselves was both a survival strategy in the face of marginalization and an obstacle to overcoming it" (69). Trust is associated with peaceful conflict resolution (Hoffman 2002), and political trust may help mitigate the reemergence of conflict in post-civil war societies (Hutchison and Johnson 2011; see also Walter, 2002; Hartzell & Hoddie, 2001, 2003; Hoddie & Hartzell, 2005). However, political trust must often be rebuilt in these contexts, as "individuals are less likely to place trust in government if their country has recently experienced an outbreak in internal violence." (Hutchison and Johnson 2011, 749).

Government performance is an important consideration in building and maintaining political trust (Hetherington, 1998; Levi, Sacks & Tyler 2009; Rothstein 2009). Hutchison and Johnson (2011) find that poor institutional performance decreases the degree to which individuals trust their government. The authors note this finding is consistent with Bratton, Mattes, and Gyimah-Boadi's (2005) empirical study that finds African political attitudes are "primarily influenced by observations of government performance rather than commitment to abstract ideals or concerns over group attachment" (Hutchison and Johnson 2011, 738).

For an example of political trust as a relevant contextual factor, please see the description of a prospective small-scale study opportunity in Nigeria featured in Chapter Four.

3.2.c Civic Space and Media Freedom

Greater media reach magnifies the benefits of press freedom. Evidence from the Natural Resource Governance Index even suggests that stronger civic space is linked to better management of natural resource revenue particularly in national budgeting processes, subnational resource-revenue sharing, and sovereign wealth funds. Moreover it is linked to value realization which is a gauge for the non-corrupt allocation of extraction rights, exploration, production, environmental protection, revenue collection, and state-owned enterprises, as shown in Chart 3.2.

CHART 3.2: Civic Space, Value Realization, and Revenue Management

Voice and accountability and average extractive sector component score



Source: NRGI, derived from the Resource Governance Index and Worldwide Governance Indicators.

Box 3.5: Types of Resource, Types of Conflict

Oil and alluvial gemstones seem especially tied to conflict (Isham et al. 2005; Lujala 2010; Ross 2004). Some types of gemstones tend to be easily lootable and therefore easily targeted by "conflict entrepreneurs" (Korf 2005, 201). For oil, the massive upfront investment required makes companies more willing to be extorted or engage in other behaviors that support local conflicts (Ross 2012). Rigterink (2010) and Nillesen and Bulte (2014) find the resource-conflict relationship reliant on the type of resource.

Le Billon (2012) argues that the political economy of the resource in question determines the type of conflict that may arise, and offers a four-part typology:

- Coups are most likely when a resource is controlled by the central state, as winning control of the state is required to profit from the resource.
- Secessionist movements are, by contrast, most likely when a peripheral region hosts a point
 resource, as that region will profit more from its exploitation by cutting ties with the central
 government.
- For diffuse resources, more labor is required, so:
 - If a resource is far from a center of power, *warlords* can emerge to control wide swaths of the resource-rich countryside, whereas
 - Broader, *participatory rebellions* are more likely if a central power holds authority over the resource.

While this typology does not address the overall likelihood of conflict, it is useful for predicting the form that conflict is likely to take should it emerge—and so for context-specific design of our theory of change and field experiments.

Civic space is key for the infomediaries identified in Chapter Two to be able to play their powerful role supporting accountability and participation from transparency improvements (Carter 2016; Gaventa and McGee 2010; Stringer 2014). Similarly, it aids enforcement of global norms and commitments, like the EITI. Using the Worldwide Governance Indicator (WGI) for Voice and Accountability (a rough statistical proxy of many of the components in this contextual factor), Magno and Gatmaytan's (2017) regression analysis demonstrates a robust, positive relationship between civic space and the likelihood of compliance with EITI requirements. Table 3.2 shares these statistically significant results.

Conversely, when civic space is limited, corruption abounds. Various rigorous evaluations have demonstrated that countries with fewer civil society organizations, more fragile civic space, or lower degrees of press freedom have significantly more corruption (Islam et al. 2002; Brunetti and Weder 2003; Mungiu-Pippidi 2013). "Countries that repress journalists, restrict civil liberties and seek to stifle civil society organizations typically score lower" on Transparency International's Corruption Perceptions Index (Pring, Vrushi, and Kukutschka 2018).

By analyzing the WGI indicators, we can also see that the importance of civic space for better corruption control applies to Resource-Rich Countries (RRCs) as well. We note that the magnitude of the challenge in both Voice and Accountability and Control of Corruption dimension for RRCs is dire in general, and more significant than for the rest. Yet there is still variance within RRCs—with some countries showing that there is no predetermined resource curse.

AVERAGE MARGINAL **EFFECT ON EITI COMPLIANCE, INDEPENDENT VARIABLE** EFFECT⁵⁴ **Z SCORE** Voice and Accountability (lagged), controlling for 2.51** +126.7% Regulatory Quality and Control of Corruption 55 2.75*** Voice and Accountability (lagged), controlling for +145.8% Regulatory Quality and Rule of Law Voice and Accountability (lagged), controlling for 2.29** +89.4% Government Effectiveness and Rule of Law

TABLE 3.2: Magno and Gatmaytan's Correlation of Civic Space with EITI Compliance

Superscripts *** and ** indicate a one and five percent level of significance, respectively.

55 The authors ran their regression multiple times to control for a high correlation between different components of the Worldwide Governance Indicators. A fourth model, controlling for government effectiveness and control of corruption, is not included here.

^{54 &}quot;The average marginal effect shows the average amount of change in the probability of countries meeting the EITI safeguards with a unit increase in the value of indicators" (812). In other words, this number is the percentage-point increase in likelihood of complying with EITI safeguard requirements from a unit increase in the lagged Voice and Accountability indicator.



CHART 3.3: Corruption Perception and Participation (Pring, Vrushi, and Kukutschka 2018)

Relationship Between Perceived Levels of Corruption and Civil Society Participation in Each Country

Source: Pring, Vrushi, and Kukutschka 2018. The authors note that the Civil Society Participation Score was taken from the Varieties of Democracy Project, and a higher score represents more active participation of civil society in the policy process.

Furthermore, any intervention (TAP-Plus or otherwise) intended to curb corruption that relies on media freedom or civic engagement will obviously face greater challenges in contexts where civic space and media freedom are under attack. Various guantitative studies have borne out this commonsense intuition (Pellegrini 2011). A 2010 cross-country study illustrates that fiscal decentralization only lowers corruption if there is a supervisory body like a free press to monitor bureaucrats' behavior (Lessmann and Markwardt 2010)—a result Kalenborn and Lessmann (2013) echoes. Similarly, Themudo (2013) finds that "civil society strength is inversely associated with the level of corruption, but the impact is highly dependent on press freedom" (63). A similar study demonstrated that transparency improvements require a free and active media to publicize the malfeasance evidenced in released information, and that otherwise corruption continues unabated. As one study puts it, "a vibrant civil society mitigates corruption but only provided that conditions such as political competition, press freedom, and government transparency exist in the country" (Grimes 2013, 380).

Unfortunately, in many places, these rights are under attack. While in some cases civic space is weak for benign reasons, such as a lack of financial resources or expertise, often state and corporate powers undertake efforts to purposefully restrict civic space. These specific efforts may include legal obstructions to civil society organization (CSO) creation or funding, censoring speech, or wielding the judicial system as a weapon of intimidation (Dupuy 2017). They may also include extra-legal repression, through public vilification and smear campaigns, unwarranted surveillance, or threats of and actual forced disappearances and murder (Pousadela and Klein 2016). For the press in particular, the government may try to censor or buy up outlets, or privilege friendly outlets,





Squares represent countries that have joined EITI. Dots represent all remaining countries, including those who are resource-rich colored in red. Source: D. Kaufmann (2019), ibid Kaufmann, Kraay, and Mastruzzi (2010).

when allocating public advertising funds (Besley and Prat 2006; Di Tella and Franceschelli 2011). Terwindt and Schliemann (2017), detailed in Box 3.6, examines how pressure on civic space manifests at the first two steps of the NRVC using cases from India, Mexico, the Philippines, and South Africa. Additional examples can be found in the following contextual factors as well.

An emerging frontier of the civic space discourse pertains to the gendered dimensions of shrinking civic space as well as the reality that marginalized and/or disempowered communities and individuals are likely to suffer most from the effects of shrinking space (Bishop 2017). In many contexts, women and girls face structural barriers vis-à-vis equal access to government services, employment, and/or mechanisms to protect their rights. The Carter Center has carried out extensive research in multiple countries laying bare the major barriers facing women who try to make use of Right to Information modalities for holding service providers and governments to account (Carter Center n.d.). In parallel, research has demonstrated that women are more likely to be negatively affected by natural resource extraction relative to their male counterparts (Sweetman and Ezpeleta 2017; Heller and Cane 2015; Eftimie, Heller, and Strongman 2009). As LTRC tackles civic space as a key variable of interest in our forthcoming fieldwork, we will not treat civic space as a monolithic block; rather, we will take a nuanced approach to unpacking and operationalizing civic space that brings gender and inclusion lenses to bear.

As a concrete example of how strong civil society organizations can advance accountability and development, consider Björkman and Svensson's (2009) randomized experiment in Uganda's health sector. Local CSOs facilitated meetings in which community members identified key problems in health service delivery and steps for improvement, initiating community-based monitoring processes that held health providers accountable to their communities. The treatment led to significantly improved health services and outcomes. A contrary example from Banerjee, Glennerster, and Duflo (2008), however, shows how stakeholders can block accountability movements that are not backed by a strong civil society. Banerjee et al. studied incentives for public-sector nurses in India. In an effort to curb absenteeism, the health administration partnered with an NGO to create a monitoring system for nurses, complete with sanctions for excessive absenteeism. Despite

initial success, the program was rendered ineffective within eighteen months; while the NGO continued to monitor the nurses, the health administration undermined its own system by ceasing to enforce sanctions. Citizens were unable to hold the administration accountable; the NGO had no power over enforcement; local governments had only limited authority in the health sector; and villages faced a collective-action problem that prevented successful intervention (499). These opposing examples from the health sector demonstrate the importance of civil society strength as a contextual factor bearing on the success of TAP interventions.

Finally, as with all of these factors, civic space and media freedom have high levels of mutual causality and feedback with corruption. Weaker civic space makes corruption easier, which can provide the power or resources to subsequently weaken civic space further. A panel study of post-communist states finds that "corruption is likely to degrade the legal environment and fiscal viability of the NGO sector" (Epperly and Lee 2013, 171). One regression analysis of data from 47 countries finds that not only do "countries with a higher degree of media performance show higher levels of political participation and less corruption," but "they also tend to have a more lively civil society" (Müller 2014).

Box 3.6: Terwindt and Schliemann (2017) Examples of Civic Space Pressures

During consultations for consent, local authorities or companies may intentionally withhold information from communities, organizations, or local media, or threaten those groups for reporting on potential risks, until the decision to extract has been made and a project has begun. Power holders may seek to discredit or stigmatize anyone who questions or opposes a proposed project. During the licensing and contracting processes, conflicts often escalate with communities undertaking direct actions of resistance. Power holders often respond by criminalizing protest and physically harassing, even killing, group leaders or journalists who cover the struggles.
3.2.d Rule of Law

For the purposes of LTRC, we define the contextual factor of rule of law as the presence of an institutionalized, understood, trusted, shared, and enforced system of rights and rules that applies to everyone equally; protects all members of a society from harm; provides means of redress, resolution, and relief to those harmed; and fairly determines and metes out punishment for those who break laws or violate rights. We build this factor's definition with sources from a wide variety of fields, from legal theory and politics (e.g., Raz 1979; UN 2004; Worldwide Governance Indicators), to advocacy and practice (Petkova et al. 2002; Foti and de Silva 2010; Worker and De Silva 2015). Combining and considering these concepts as a group is an attempt to broaden our understanding of potential enabling elements of corruption and follows work such as the Worldwide Governance Indicators that consider these elements through a broad lens.

Like civic space, the rule of law contextual factor is fundamental to natural resource governance work and every individual element of TAP. Freedom of information laws, a common channel of transparency reform, are only impactful insofar as they are enforced and respected (Hazell and Worthy 2010; Roberts 2010; see also discussion in Chapter Two). Communities affected by natural resource extraction are unlikely to access government-held information, be consulted, or have their priorities weighed equally in decisionmaking without legally enforceable rights to access information and participation (Petkova et al. 2002). From the econometric side, De Mendonça and Da Fonseca (2012) demonstrates a strong and significant anti-corruption effect with resource-rich countries, as described in Chapter One. Mehlum et al. (2006) tests the relationship between rule of law, resource abundance, and economic growth and finds that weak institutions that allow rent-seeking and corruption lower growth from resource abundance. Conversely, institutions that more effectively carry out justice and secure and enforce the rule of law combat that effect. Kolstad and Wiig (2009) further empirically tests that claim, adding a transparency component to the specification to evaluate if Mehlum et al.'s (2006) results are robust and whether transparency alone can mitigate the resource curse. They find that rule of law remains the most important factor in shielding against the curse. Table 3.3 summarizes the latter two natural resource-specific results.

INDEPENDENT VARIABLE	MEHLUM ET AL. (2006) RESULTS ON GROWTH	KOLSTAD AND WIIG (2009) RESULTS ON GROWTH
Resource Abundance	-16.36*** (3.23)	-18.36*** (3.45)
Rule of Law / Resource Abundance	1.96** (0.97)	1.83* (1.02)
Transparency / Resource Abundance	N/A	2.42 (2.28)

TABLE 3.3: Rule of Law or Transparency to Prevent the Resource Curse?

Standard errors in parentheses. Superscripts ***, **, * indicate a one, five, and ten percent level of significance, respectively.

Source: Mehlum et al. 2006 and Kolstad and Wiig 2009.

From the intervention side, Excell and Moses (2017) reports on the Strengthening the Right to Information for People and the Environment (STRIPE) project to measure implementation of three governments' freedom of information (FOI) laws. They find that "local communities still face significant barriers ... even though the governments of Indonesia, Thailand, and Mongolia have comprehensive laws requiring the disclosure of [environmental] information Ultimately poor implementation of transparency [sic] laws impeded public access to vital sources of environmental pollution information" (7). Table 3.4 illustrates their results.

INFORMATION DESIRED BY THE COMMUNITY	LAW REQUIRES PROACTIVE RELEASE OF INFORMATION	INFORMATION IS PROACTIVELY AVAILABLE IN PRACTICE	INFORMATION IS ACCESSIBLE THROUGH RIGHT TO INFORMATION LAW		
	Indonesia				
General company information	yes	limited	limited		
Pollutant information including specific types and discharge quantity amounts	no	n/a	limited		
Permitting documents	yes	limited	limited		
General water quality of local water bodies	yes	limited	limited		
Migration or cleanup efforts or requirements	yes	limited	limited		
Potential short-term and long-term health impacts of pollution being released	yes	no	limited		
Potential impact of using contaminated water	yes	no	limited		
Biological monitoring	yes	limited	limited		

TABLE 3.4: Summary of STRIPE Tests of Three FOI Laws

INFORMATION DESIRED BY THE COMMUNITY	LAW REQUIRES PROACTIVE RELEASE OF INFORMATION	INFORMATION IS PROACTIVELY AVAILABLE IN PRACTICE	INFORMATION IS ACCESSIBLE THROUGH RIGHT TO INFORMATION LAW		
	Thailand				
General company information	no	n/a	yes		
Pollutant information including specific types and dis- charge quantity amounts	yes	limited	limited		
Permitting documents	yes	limited	limited		
General water quality of local water bodies	yes	yes	yes		
Migration or cleanup efforts or requirements	yes	limited	limited		
Potential short-term and long-term health impacts of pollution being released	yes	limited	limited		
Potential impact of using contaminated water	yes	no	limited		
Biological monitoring	no	n/a	limited		
	Mongolia				
General company information	no	n/a	limited		
Pollutant information including specific types and dis- charge quantity amounts	yes	limited	limited		
Permitting documents	no	n/a	no		
General water quality of local water bodies	yes	no	limited		
Migration or cleanup efforts or requirements	yes	no	no		
Potential short-term and long-term health impacts of pollution being released	no	n/a	no		
Potential impact of using contaminated water	yes	no	no		
Biological monitoring	no	n/a	no		

Source: Excell and Moses 2017.

The UN's definition of rule of law (2004) explicitly mentions transparency, accountability, and participation: "the principles of supremacy of law, equality before the law, accountability to the law, fairness in the application of the law, separation of powers, participation in decision-making, legal certainty, avoidance of arbitrariness, and procedural and legal transparency" (4). While justice does not necessarily imply a litigation-focused system relying on Western-style courts of law, TAP requires some institutional power structure to "make binding decisions and enforce possible sanctions" (Ebbesson 2010, 415). If there are no rules against corrupt behavior, or if breaking rules does not carry a high likelihood of serious punishment, then what are an individual's incentives for good behavior, and where can there be accountability (Persson, Rothstein, and Teorell 2013)? A corrupt judiciary is more likely to collude with embezzling civil servants or polluting companies, for example, than to provide any "teeth" to match citizen "voice" raised in complaint (Fox 2015; Foti and de Silva 2010). As a U4 Anti-Corruption Resource Centre Expert Answer explains:

Effective law enforcement is essential to deter grand corruption and break the cycle of impunity. High profile corruption cases have to be successfully investigated and prosecuted to ensure the credibility of anti-corruption efforts and restore the public confidence in certain levels of internal security and rule of law ... it is not possible to achieve high standards of accountability without a well functioning judicial system of courts, law, police, and prosecutors ... Most developing countries have weak accountability, oversight, and monitoring arrangements which hinder effective law enforcement. In some cases, anti-corruption laws are inadequate, ineffective, and unenforceable. The general failures of governance institutions, weak and corrupt judiciaries, and uncooperative police forces further undermine the effectiveness of law enforcement approaches (Chêne 2009, 2, 5).

Similarly, Precept Two of the Natural Resource Charter (2014) underscores these factors as part of the "Domestic Foundations for Resource Governance":

Roles and standards of behavior should be clearly defined and understood by all so that the public can monitor government action. A set of values and ethical standards, reflective of society's expectations for those in positions of authority and codified in laws and regulations, ought to guide decision-making. The government functions better if clear lines of responsibility are drawn, and the executive and bodies such as an independent auditor can monitor and bring to account those institutions that fail in their duties ... Along with the means to monitor actions, the government must commit to enforcing penalties, which requires political will and capacity to punish offenders. A credible and independent judiciary is paramount in this regard. Without a strong possibility of judicial action there is increased potential for corrupt or criminal activity (11).

As rule of law underpins TAP, it also underpins the other contextual factors. One of the most dire manifestations of a weak rule of law is when impunity intersects with violence as a means to close civic space. Especially in environmental rights conflicts, a "lack of effective police or judicial response to killings and death threats creates a climate of impunity that encourages and perpetuates these violations" (UNOHCHR n.d., 11). As Pousadela and Klein (2016) explains, often the worst violations "of civic space come from both state and non-state actors that are tolerated by or act in collusion with governments and security forces" who refuse to pursue justice for violations to preserve their own power (21). Much of the danger "results from ... webs of corruption that bring together politicians, public officials, security forces, private corporations, and ... organised crime" (Pousadela and Klein 2016, 21). Global Witness's recent report (2018a) on environmental defenders identified the highest total of deaths since

Box 3.7: Impunity and Violence against Liberian Communities with Palm Oil

To bully communities into accepting extractive projects that may be against their interests, some companies fund groups to threaten or even kill resisters, and a perverted legal system can accommodate or encourage such violence (López Rodríguez and Excell 2017). In 2010, the Liberian government gave global palm oil company Golden Veroleum (GVL) a large concession of land at the time occupied by more than 40,000 Liberians. Investigations by Global Witness (2015b) find that communities were harassed and threatened to try and force them to give up their claims on the land. Residents faced a dilemma between the "perverse incentives … to sell their land and work the plantations as a GVL employee, or receive nothing and risk losing their land anyway" (6). Local chiefs who opposed the company were removed from office, and community members who tried to protest or even just document land grabs were arrested and violently attacked by security forces. According to Global Witness, the highest levels of government, including the Ministry of Justice, have consistently sided with the company over community grievances, fostering a "legal vacuum" of impunity (12).

they began publishing. They find that governments' "willingness to turn a blind eye has permitted the systemic impunity that lets perpetrators know they will almost certainly never be brought to justice. In fact, governments are often complicit in the attacks. One of the most shocking facts ... is the number of killings committed by government security forces at the behest of their political bosses and in league with industry" (7). Box 3.7 recounts one case of impunity issues with the Liberian palm oil industry.

Gaventa and Barrett (2010), for example, reveals that the cases of participation successfully leading to improved development relied on "the support of key government officials as allies" or achieved sustainability through "legal reforms for accountability ... [or] the creation of new institutional mechanisms whereby citizen voice can be expressed to government institutions" (42-43). Thus, as with our conflict and civic space contextual factors, it is clear that a baseline level of rule of law must be in place for any TAP program to be successful. Chapter Four discusses how we propose to shed some light on that minimum viable baseline.

3.2.e Government Effectiveness and Capacity

As shown in Chapter Two, the most promising TAP interventions rely on a supportive government champion to enforce or support the citizen or CSOled, grassroots demands for reducing corruption. Indeed, the Natural Resource Charter itself integrates governance and accountability dimensions with "technocratic economic decisionmaking" and recognizes that "there is no guarantee that rules will be followed or capable institutions will work for the country's benefit" (Kaufmann 2015, 11; NRGI 2014, 4). For the purposes of our small-scale studies, we therefore define government effectiveness as the financial and/or technical capacity to carry out the necessary functions to properly manage natural resources and support anti-corruption efforts. In many ways, government effectiveness is a much more straightforward contextual factor than the

others. That does not mean it is less important. Effectiveness underpins the role government should play in each of the other contextual factors, to the point that the conceptual line between them is often blurred. Partly due to this underpinning and overlapping role, measuring government effectiveness remains challenging despite the existence of a Worldwide Governance Indicator.⁵⁶

In some cases, a lack of enforcement may have more to do with policymaker incentives to maintain profitable discretion, and a lack of capacity is falsely used as an excuse (Smith and Rosenblum 2011). Anti-corruption commissions and other enforcers of the rule of law cannot be successful without "a strong government commitment against corruption, a supportive legal and institutional framework, and sufficient state capacity and stability" (Chêne 2009, 2; De Sousa 2010). According to the Swedish Environmental Protection Agency, "although there is scope for improvement, the basic legal and policy framework are often in place in developing and transitional countries. The major challenges are related to effective implementation" (Wingqvist et al. 2012, 11-12).

Some research, such as Kapoor and Ravi's (2009) study, suggests that an implementation gap and lack of government effectiveness are important facilitators of corrupt behavior. The implementation gap discussion was addressed in Section 2.3.

Already limited amounts of bureaucratic capacity are stressed in countries with extractive industries. Many extractive industries, such as oil and gas, require highly technical processes and advanced technologies to identify, extract, and process the natural resource. Private companies, and especially multinational corporations, are expert at such technologies. However, governments—even advanced, developed governments—often fall behind the level of expertise and technological know-how of private industry. In countries with weaker institutions, the ability to recruit, maintain, and compensate a staff with sufficient technical expertise can be limited, further undermining institutional capacity and creating additional opportunities for corruption.

As discussed in Chapter One in the context of corruption risks along the natural resource value chain, a lack of legal and technical expertise can put the government at a relative disadvantage in contract negotiations, when monitoring adherence to regulations (especially when extraction occurs in remote locations), when auditing financial information, and in other areas. The capacity gap between governments and the companies with which they negotiate is particularly acute in natural resource governance because of the highly technical nature of extractives.

Even when government capacity is less limited, countries with natural resources do not necessarily foster open, democratic institutions, at least in the short term. Hickey et al. (2015) compares oil governance in "democratic" Ghana and "semi-authoritarian" Uganda (2). They find "little evidence that undertaking good governance reforms around transparency and accountability is either realistic or has had much positive impact ... where the more immediate policy challenge concerns how to sustain the levels of capacity required to protect the national interest" (29). Instead, the authors suggest that "a stronger focus on pockets of effectiveness might help suggest a more realistic agenda ... than efforts to move 'straight to Norway'" (29). See Box 3.8 for more on this concept of "pockets of effectiveness," which ties closely to the need for bundled TAP identified in Chapter Two.

⁵⁶ This challenge is discussed in more detail in the methodological notes in Annex 1.

Box 3.8: Roll's (2011) Pockets of Effectiveness

"A Pocket of Effectiveness (PoE) is defined as a public organisation which provides public services relatively effectively despite operating in an environment in which public service delivery is the exception rather than the norm. Most public organisations are ineffective, weak, and involved in or affected by patronage and endemic corruption in this environment. Effectiveness refers to the provision of public services by the respective public organization ..." (2).

"Our explanation for why PoE emerge is as follows: In a given political context a decisive political actor (or a group of actors) has an interest that a particular public service is being delivered effectively. The respective public organisation is then provided with a high degree of autonomy, focussed powers, and political protection. Moreover, a qualified and motivated pioneer leader with outstanding inclusive leadership and management skills is appointed. This explanation highlights that the key political mechanism for the emergence of PoE is the interaction of political interest and function. While the leadership and management factors are vital, they can only produce PoE if these political conditions are in place" (7).

Hout (2013), in Roll's (2013) edited volume on the topic, applies PoE analysis to the state oil company of Suriname, Staatsolie. He finds that, contrary to expectations from the resource curse literature and "to the experience of other state-owned enterprises in the country, the revenues earned by Staatsolie's oil sales have not been siphoned off and used as rents by the political elites. Threats that could have led to such misuse of funds were countered successfully. The company's financial transfers to the state have taken place on the basis of generally accepted norms ... Staatsolie's achievements are remarkable because Suriname's political system has traditionally had important characteristics of a patrimonial state The internal characteristics [for this success] relate, in particular, to its effective leadership and management, coupled with a clear vision on the strengthening of home-grown technological and managerial skills, while the most notable external variables are the company's strategy to steer clear of political influences and play out the formal-legal position of the firm in the petroleum sector" (4–5).

3.3 Recent Interventions Reflecting TAP with Contextual Considerations

Based on the literature review process detailed in Annex 1 and in cooperation with NRGI, we identified a small number of studies focused on natural resources that integrated contextual considerations. As LTRC's literature review has shown, programs using principles similar to the ones we propose are far from common. That is even more true in the natural resource governance field.⁵⁷ LTRC will monitor closely several ongoing initiatives and their research findings.⁵⁸

Table 3.5 summarizes these, including whether or not they successfully achieved their outcomes. In many of these cases, additional non-TAP contextual measures were introduced only as a response to context as it manifested during implementation. Others are more loosely related to TAP but still provide valuable feedback for LTRC. Only a few offer more formal examination of causal linkages between TAP and our key outcomes of interest: corruption and sustainable development.

These interventions offer an idea of how diverse the options may be when considering relevant context. Sometimes, the TAP elements themselves can be designed in a way as to address context, as in Jungbluth (2012), where the multi-stakeholder forums (a participation intervention) were chosen precisely because of the fractious context; or in Cauchi and Iwerks (2016), where the organizers of the multi-stakeholder forums took on additional responsibilities and "made it a priority to help the stakeholders work together" (12).⁵⁹ Government capacity can be considered contextual, and in Nisperos and Muhi (2016) building the capacity of civil society to take the expected action was key. Finally, in Sexton (2017) context was specifically considered as a factor in the intervention aimed at a common local culture of demonstration and protest.

While not all studies reviewed in Table 3.5 are unequivocal successes, even partial realization of a goal can be informative. Boampong (2012) analyzes a 2009 Revenue Watch Institute (RWI, the predecessor to NRGI) initiative in Astutifi, Ghana, to improve governance of that district's newly discovered gold endowment. RWI partnered with two civil society organizations-the Integrated Social Development Centre and the Institute of Local Government Studies-and focused on directing the revenue reaped by gold mining to achieve broad-based, local-level benefits. Civil society participation and access to information were targeted for improvement. Spending process transparency and accountability of government actors to the people were central parts of the intervention's design. Several critical contextual factors were also considered, particularly the fact that "lack of trust and acrimony among civil society, the district assembly and [the gold mining company] hampered dialogue and access to information" (Boampong 2012, 4). RWI further evaluated local government financial management capacity.

⁵⁷ See Mejía Acosta (2013). Also, note the example of the Natural Resource Governance Institute which explicitly prefers to "engage with diverse change agents across the decision chain in fewer countries, rather than with limited interventions across many countries" as described on their website.

⁵⁸ Namely, the Project on Resources and Governance (https://projectrg.org), two ongoing studies funded by the International Initiative for Impact Evaluation led by Pellegrini (2011) and Vicente (2010), and the third Metaketa initiative led by Evidence in Governance and Politics (http://egap.org/metaketa/metaketa-iii-natural-resource-governance).

⁵⁹ Although not included in the table because it was not natural resource-specific, Fearon et al. (2015) brought together community leaders and members to undertake community development and social inclusion projects. These initiatives were designed to increase leadercommunity accountability and public participation in decisionmaking in post-conflict contexts where trust in local leaders and fellow community members was low. The authors find that for villages that received the community-driven development program stimulus, "changes in community capacity for collective action can take place over a short period of time; can be the product of outside intervention; and can develop without fundamental changes either to the structure of economic relations or to more macro-level political processes" (466).

Boampong (2012) concludes that the effort "succeeded in building awareness, enhancing trust among stakeholders and ensuring meaningful participation from citizens and community-based organizations in preparing the district's development plan" (1). And yet there were setbacks: "the project's focus on technical solutions was unsuccessful in light of traditional non-accountability and [district] chiefs' fears about how disclosure might impact their privileges" (Pellegrini and Venugopal 2013).

To take another example, Gainer (2015) profiles a transparency and accountability initiative involving forestry management in Brazilian municipalities. The initiative blacklisted municipalities from access to markets and credit and targeted them for increased law enforcement until they came into compliance with a federal Action Plan that registered land in a computer system. The goal was to create a licensing system that would allow the government to monitor and enforce a requirement that all rural landholders in the Amazon preserve 80 percent of their property as native forest—all part of a broader effort to limit illegal deforestation and limit the destruction of the Amazon rain forest. To leave the blacklist, municipalities had to register at least 80 percent of privately owned land, reduce annual deforestation within their borders, and meet certain deforestation benchmarks.

A TAP intervention in one municipality, Dom Eliseu, was undertaken with support from nongovernmental organizations (NGOs) and the national government and had to address several contextual factors. First, the landowners were deeply skeptical and low-level conflict permeated the space: "Resentment ran especially high" (Gainer 2015, 3). In addition, municipal governmental capacity was poor. A partnership between a local NGO, Imazon, and the state government aimed to improve governmental capacity (Gainer 2015, 7). After four years' effort, Dom Eliseu left the blacklist. Gainer (2015) explains that the results of the policy changes were mixed. The data supporting their effect on deforestation trends was unclear. Ongoing compliance with the project was an open question. Still, there was significant support for the claim that blacklisting municipalities combined with the TAP intervention led to reductions in deforestation.

Our goal with this discussion goes beyond stressing the importance of context. The key question is if this understanding of context dimensions can lead to the identification of key T, A, and P interventions that can strengthen existing or past efforts, as well as identifying complementary measures from other fields beyond TAP that should be considered or introduced in order to close the implementation gap and enhance the effectiveness of the proposed TAP strategy.

3.4 Conclusion

Following Chapter Two's explanation of the importance of bundled TAP, this chapter added a necessary additional element—the focus on context. Specifically, we showed through both cross-country empirical and in-depth case studies that recognizing contextual factors—capture; social trust, political trust, and conflict; civic space and media freedom; rule of law; and government effectiveness and capacity—will affect any TAP intervention's likelihood of success. Further, and still grounded in recent, rigorous developments in the field, we explored how context is likely to differ in its manifestations at different scales (and what this means for scaling TAP interventions). This chapter also reviewed in detail the EITI.

We now turn to the application of these lessons, and those of the prior chapters, to our research design.

STUDY	AUTHORS	RESOURCE	T/P ELEMENTS	A ELEMENTS	
Subnational Revenue Windfalls in Ghana	Boampong 2012	Gold	Consultative forums and participatory development planning using royalty transfers.	Inclusion of district officials and local chiefs in fora; Memorandum of Understanding between district assembly and primary local mining company.	
Spending Wisely in Peru	Jungbluth 2012	Oil and mining	Multi-stakeholder forums to prepare participatory budgets, consensus-based development plans; Technical and financial sup- port to existing civil society.	Capacity building and technical support for local and regional governments who wanted to strengthen their negotiating position vis-à-vis the central government.	
Indonesia: Fueling the Future	Prijosusilo 2012	Oil	Information about oil revenues incorporated into participatory planning of midterm develop- ment plans; Public fora.	Memoranda of Understanding to secure local government owner- ship, backed up by decrees from district governments.	
Blacklisting Municipalities in Brazil	Gainer 2015	Forests	CSO-supported environ- mental licensing; Civic pact between local officials, civil society, businesses, and state officials.	Cooperative agreements between the municipal government and the federal prosecution service, and between the municipal government and community leaders and local organizations.	
Multi-Stakeholder Groups in the Philippines	Cauchi and Iwerks 2016	Gold	Multi-stakeholder forums with miners, government, indigenous groups, and CSOs; Logistical support, technical trainings, and peer exchange as incentives.	Good environmental manage- ment regulations already in place in one site; Executive orders to form the MSGs in both sites.	
Vertically Integrated Anti-Mining Campaigns in the Philippines	Nisperos and Muhi 2016	Mining	CSO-led protests and media campaigns.	Injunctions and legal cases filed with the Supreme Court; Consultations with the Executive branch.	
Bottom-Up Accountability in Peru	Sexton 2017	Mining	Information about partici- patory budgeting, including comparing how local govern- ment used resource revenue.	Electoral accountability via train- ing on the processes for recalling a mayor.	

TABLE 3.5: Context-Informed, Bundled TAP Interventions in Natural Resources

CONTEXTUAL FACTORS	CONTEXT-INFORMED ADAPTATIONS	SUCCESS?
Lack of trust among civil society, the district assembly, and the mining company; Tensions between traditional leaders and the company; Limited local government financial management systems.	Some attempt at trust-building.	The funder and the implementing CSO had different perspectives, with the former wanting to focus on TAP and technocratic financial management and the latter wanting to spend more time building trust and participation. Neither was fully prioritized, and the program failed to improve long-run transparency and participatory budgeting.
Conflict and insecurity for environmen- tal rights defenders; Limited government effectiveness.	Major focus on technical capacity building.	Multi-stakeholder groups were strengthened and participated in budgeting, and performed public mon- itoring that translated commitment into action; One extraction project that had not adequately disclosed possible environmental impacts was post- poned due to resistance from civil society.
Limited government effectiveness.	Major focus on technical capacity building.	Transparency mechanisms were institutionalized; Committed to implementing a sustainable develop- ment plan.
History of mistrust between landholders and environmental agencies; Limited local government technical capacity.	Interface meetings to soothe disgruntled land owners; Investments in technical capacity.	Partial success. Environmental licenses were limited in rollout, but social trust improved and deforestation was slowed by the credible threats of enforcement and efforts at community interface.
Lack of social trust and presence of conflict and insecurity for environmental rights defenders.	Focus in multi-stakeholder groups was on building trust and cooperation.	Guidelines and tax revisions were approved and indigenous communities in the province increased their royalty share; Reports on environmental impact, payments, and revenues were made transparent.
Local limitations with enforcing national laws.	Building linkages and CSO capacity to use legal system and media.	The initial projects the community opposed were halted, and a broader mining moratorium was granted until the rules could be streamlined.
Frequent social protest of pollution from mining projects; Conflict and insecurity for environmental rights defenders.	Specifically problematized protest culture.	Negative outcomes. Participants in PB training work- shops less likely to attend actual PB meetings; In districts with low-performing mayors, recalls and civil unrest increased. Mayors responded by reducing effort and spending less of discretionary budget.



119

CHAPTER FOUR: Actioning the TAP-Plus Approach

Chapter One assessed corruption along the NRVC. Chapter Two argued that a well-designed TAP intervention that includes two or all three elements of transparency, accountability, and/or participation has a higher probability of success in preventing or reducing corruption in natural resource governance, as well as improving sustainable development outcomes. Chapter Three highlighted the importance of context as a mediating factor on even a welldesigned intervention.

In this chapter, we further elaborate our "TAP-Plus" approach. TAP entails the combination of transparency, accountability, and participatory components. At the end of Chapter Two and in Chapter Three, we addressed issues that require further attention for a TAP intervention to be successful, including the implementation gap within TAP interventions and attention to the contextual factors, some of which traverse beyond TAP.

In order to build a country-adapted and evidenceinformed strategy to address corruption and capture, and to achieve other development goals, TAP-Plus also considers concrete natural resource specific complementary institutions, structures, and programs which are likely to significantly interact with TAP interventions and account for contextual factors.

This approach reflects our hypothesis that three particular areas of emphasis are needed for Tap to have a greater chance of success, namely addressing the implementation gap within TAP, accounting for the contextual factors within and outside TAP, and integrating into program design key complementary considerations (beyond TAP and contextual factors). LTRC's second phase (now underway simultaneously with the completion of this paper) is to pilot TAP-Plus natural resource governance strategies that respond to key challenges and priorities identified by local stakeholders.

We recognize that our TAP-Plus approach encompasses a complex "response surface," and as such we are unlikely to be able to investigate fully any element of the approach to a complete resolution (Pritchett 2018; Andrews et al. 2017), and, further, the treatment of these issues is far from exhaustive here.

Yet the hypothesis is that significant value added impact in programs to improve natural resource governance and corruption is likely to emerge from well-identified, context-specific sets of program interventions which incorporate measures that address the implementation gap, and which are also complementary to TAP. By scaling up impact through realistic integrated interventions, progress in making programs scalable is also likely.

These efforts will inform the third phase of the project, in which results widely disseminated in-country and abroad will lead to the identification of the most promising TAP-Plus strategies to address concrete natural resource governance challenges and to scaled-up adapted versions of one or more of the phase two small-scale pilots. Such a scaled-up approach will also allow for a more comprehensive evaluation framework, such as impact evaluation techniques when appropriate.

Dealing with contextual factors in a TAP-Plus intervention is complex. As we noted in Chapter Three, research indicates that those five context dimensions are closely linked to TAP theory, function, and successful implementation. Thus context needs to be fully considered in program design. Further, addressing and implementing actionable measures dealing with natural resource specific complementary to TAP institutions, structures, and programs is not without challenges. But there are case studies, such as at NRGI, indicating that they can be done. As LTRC considers its research plan and pilot studies, to deal with contextual factors operationally, it will endeavor to understand in a country-specific way which given contextual factors are key (and relatively unchangeable in at least the shorter-term by ecosystem actors), and which (actionable) complementary efforts are priority and could be integrated. The distinction between the traditional considerations of context, on the one hand, and pro-active consideration of a limited set of well-selected complementary interventions beyond the TAP field is critical to the LTRC approach.⁶⁰ It is largely unrealistic to alter context in the short to medium term, and particularly so via specific programs or projects.

What is possible, however, via lessons from research, and in situ evidence-based diagnostics, is to identify the priority set of complementary measures to TAP that are potentially actionable in a medium-term reform plan, program, or project. Such a limited, and country-specific, set of "other-than-TAP" complementary measures could then be integrated into studies and programs. Hence, they would be expected to move away from the traditional transparency and accountability (often single-intervention) approach, including actions in the legal, administrative, institutional, and/or public finance areas. We initially discuss two examples of prospective small-scale studies in the second half of this chapter, as a starting point toward such integration, which is central to the TAP-Plus approach. The selection of the LTRC's future larger-scale TAP-Plus initiative would be expected to be informed and framed by the results of small-scale studies, or variants thereof, like these.

As mentioned, as part of the TAP-Plus approach, we also have identified a set of complementary institutions, structures, and programs that are deeply interwoven into the natural resource value chain (NRVC), interrelated with the contextual factors, and that go beyond TAP interventions that focus on classic governmental institutions. Specifically, state-owned enterprises (SOEs), sovereign wealth funds (SWFs) and beneficial ownership (BO)-related programs may have an outsized impact on the success or failure of a TAP intervention and thus merit recognition since they have not been given enough emphasis before. Therefore, in the first half of this chapter we discuss SOEs, SWFs, and BOs relevance to the anti-corruption landscape in this chapter.

Then we offer two hypothetical examples of how the TAP-Plus approach could look in a given country. In the Mongolia example, we explore the issue of beneficial ownership transparency efforts and how they could be improved with a TAP-Plus approach that prioritizes one particular contextual factor closely linked to TAP: media freedom. In Nigeria, we discuss initiatives relating to budget transparency that would include improved citizen engagement and bottom up accountability efforts. Here the contextual factors are political trust and conflict. Acknowledging the efforts of other programs working toward similar goals, our study selection and design will be realistic, taking into account what is feasible, yet consistent with the main tenets proposed in our framework.

⁶⁰ Likewise is the importance of addressing the implementation gap within TAP, and the particular focus on the interface between industry and governments, inter alia via state capture (or undue elite influence in shaping the rules of the game in extractives). Details on these in Kaufmann, Eisen, and Heller, forthcoming.

4.1 Key Institutions, Structures, and Programs Affecting TAP-Plus Strategies: Three Examples

Three institutional or programmatic settings are important to any effort to understand the natural resource curse and to address corruption and development outcomes in RRCs: state owned enterprises, sovereign wealth funds, and beneficial ownership programs.

4.1.a State-Owned Enterprise Reforms

In many resource-rich countries, natural resource exploitation is undertaken by SOEs. Since they are state-owned and therefore exercise some public power, they may be viewed in some regards as agents within democratic governance principal-agent theory and therefore amenable to TAP initiatives. However, as NRGI notes, SOEs' incentive structures, behavior patterns, and power relationships with government actors and citizens typically are complicated. SOEs have a central role in many NRVCs so they cannot be ignored in our TAP-Plus approach.

Of 224 bribery cases studied by the OECD, 27 percent involved SOEs, and 80 percent of the total bribe amounts went to them (OECD 2014, 23). Moreover, as Chart 4.1 shows, the recent OECD Survey of anticorruption and integrity in SOEs (2017) suggests how the materialized risk of corruption and similar malpractice is higher in the mining and oil industry than in any other economic sectors. SOE corruption and diversion of funds from the public can do real harm: In South Sudan, the SOE diverted funds to a militia group, and in Nigeria, SOE money went to rig elections.

One SOE, the Nigerian National Petroleum Corporation (NNPC), has been at the center of a number of well-publicized corruption scandals and "is a well-established venue for the broader patronage and corruption patterns that weakens accountability and good governance in Nigeria" (Sayne, Gillies, and Katsouris 2015, 25). It "suffers from high corruption

CHART 4.1: Corruption and Other Irregular Practices by State-Owned Enterprise Sector

Sectors of respondents that said "yes" "in your assessment, did any of the [listed] risks materialise into activities/actions in the last three years in (or involving) your company?



risks," with a tendency to concentrate its operations on "the best opportunities for private benefit"—a problem compounded by captured governmental actors that block efforts at reform (ibid, 2, 24–6).

Three aspects of SOEs have received study in the last decade—corporate governance reform, corporate accountability benchmarks, and improved government effectiveness in overseeing SOEs—and may merit further analysis by LTRC in the future in considering TAP-Plus approaches.

First, corporate governance of SOEs has been analyzed for its link to corruption. When NRGI evaluated 81 SOEs operating in the natural resource value chain in 2017, it found that only nine of them "achieved a good standard of transparency and accountable governance" (NRGI 2018b, 2). A number of reform measures for improved corporate governance in oil-oriented SOEs have been proposed to address the poor management that may allow them to be sources of corruption. These reforms include, for instance, defining clear structures and roles for state shareholders as well as defining their commercial mandate (Heller, Mahdavi, and Schreuder 2014).

The corporate governance changes proposed by NRGI to NNPC illustrate the magnitude of the changes that may need to be undertaken: "at a minimum, the corporation needs a new ownership structure, stronger operating mandate, clarified commercial and non-commercial roles, limits on quasi-fiscal and other questionable spending, and a corporate governance framework that allows for accountable, productive decision-making, starting at the board level" (Sayne, Gillies, and Katsouris 2015, 69).

Second, in addition to formal corporate governance practices, fully assessing the results that SOEs deliver to citizens is a rich field of study. NRGI's experiences point to the need for a performance benchmarking, anti-capture framework against which the SOE can be gauged on whether it has achieved the goals laid out by the government and the company's own leadership.

Third, an SOE is theoretically at least an institution owned and controlled by the state. However, in practice many of them have come to operate quasi-independent of public oversight. In some instances, the lack of public supervision is due to poor government capacity. As one study noted, "to ensure that companies are held to high performance and ethical standards, those actors charged with watching over them—often ministries, tax authorities, auditors-general, parliament, and civil society—must have the political space, financial means, and knowledge necessary to scrutinize, pose tough questions, and demand results" (Gillies, Heller, and Kaufmann 2018). In the case of the NNPC, for example, Nigeria's tangled legal relationship with it facilitates corruption. Nigerian public officials from other government bodies "say they cannot independently verify or challenge the oil sale figures provided by NNPC For example, one government task force found two separate sets of oil sale books that diverged at times by more than \$100 million per year" (Sayne, Gillies, and Katsouris 2015, 10).

A key step in proposing a TAP-Plus approach in Nigeria or another country with SOE challenges would be to understand the precise nature of those challenges and how they intersect with or affect the effort.

4.1.b Sovereign Wealth Funds

Additionally, it is important to look at the structure and accountability mechanism of sovereign wealth funds (SWFs) in the countries that have established them to manage extractive sector revenue. In 2019, SWFs held more than \$8 trillion in assets globally, much of it derived from oil, gas, and mineral wealth. Many of the natural resource wealth-driven SWFs are of recent vintage. One 2015 analysis found that half of the 53 extractives SWFs in existence that year had been created between 2005 and 2012 (Stevens, Lahn, and Kooroshy 2015).

Many of the SWFs have been created to counter the resource curse. As Stevens et al. explain: "The motivation for having such funds varies from country to country but is often one or more of the following: stabilizing revenue streams to counter the effects of commodity-price volatility; providing an intergenerational saving mechanism; avoiding Dutch disease by sterilizing foreign-exchange inflows; moderating capital spending in an attempt to ensure that the domestic revenues directed into the economy do not exceed domestic absorption capacity; and, finally, ensuring arm's-length management of revenues that is both transparent and insulated from day-to-day politics" (Stevens, Lahn, and Kooroshy 2015, 20).

Despite the intention to use SWFs as anticorruption, pro-development institutions, they have not necessarily succeeded. Drezner has suggested that SWFs may increase the chance of corruption and may crowd out private business initiatives (Drezner 2008). The NRGI's 2017 evaluation of 33 SWFs gave 11 of them failing marks. "The funds with the weakest scores have suffered the most from excessive risk-taking, high management fees, and politically motivated investments." It cautioned that more SWFs may be mismanaged since they are "so opaque that there is no way to know how much may be lost to mismanagement—or who benefits from these funds' investments" (NRGI 2017a, 17).

SWFs can only serve a purpose and fulfill macroeconomic objectives if there are appropriate rules in place (Bauer 2014a). Not only should rules gain broadbased consensus before they are implemented, but there must also be effective and independent oversight with teeth to ensure compliance once the rule is enacted (ibid). Rules that regulate deposit and withdrawal and lay out clear investment guidelines can ensure that funds function as planned (ibid). Additionally, there should be rules that clearly delineate responsibilities between institutions and detail disclosure requirements to prevent corruption and ensure transparency (ibid).

As with SOEs, a TAP-Plus undertaking by LTRC (and by others) must understand the interaction of its efforts with an SWF operating in its space.

4.1.c Beneficial Ownership Screening and Verification Programs

Hidden beneficial owners of natural resource-related companies have been linked to significant levels of tax evasion, corruption, and international financial fraud. For example, Indonesia's anti-corruption commission found that "24% of all contracts in the mining sector do not have taxpayer identification numbers." More broadly, 40 percent of the mining and coal licenses were opaque, making it impossible to determine if they met the nation's environmental, technical, and financial criteria for licenses. Under the circumstances, tax revenue collection was inhibited, so much so that in 2014, license-holders were \$300 million in arrears to the government (EITI Indonesia 2017).

Corruption risks are particularly linked to politically exposed persons (PEPs), or high-level public officials or politicians (or their family members) who have managed to acquire a stake in a natural resource company or an investment project. Often, but not always, the stake is acquired in exchange for a favorable regulatory or licensing decision. A review of 100 real-world cases of license or contract awards in the oil, gas, and mining sectors in which accusations of corruption arose found that over half involved a PEP as a hidden beneficial owner (Sayne, Gillies, Watkins 2017).

Beneficial ownership transparency is a relatively recent, rapidly growing reform in the natural resource space. As such, rigorous research around it is only beginning. Yet, it offers an opportunity complementing legal changes "to address underlying anti-corruption policy gaps in these host countries at the same time" (Westenberg 2018, 52).

Of concern, however, is that the massive efforts going toward simply achieving beneficial ownership transparency risk replicating the limitations of other transparency-focused interventions; beneficial ownership transparency alone is insufficient to prevent corruption (Kolstad and Søreide 2009; Kolstad and Wiig 2009; Ölcer 2009; MSI Integrity 2015; Sovacool and Andrews 2015; Sovacool et al. 2016; Corrigan 2017; Dupuy 2017; Rustad et al. 2017). Westenberg and Sayne (2018) reviews more than 50 mining and oil laws, finding that while half of those laws⁶¹ prohibit PEPs from "holding interests in companies applying for extractives licenses," not a single one "required regulators to check whether or not such PEP interests existed as part of screening license applications" (1). Even the public beneficial ownership register of the United Kingdom—a widely praised BO transparency pioneer—faces criticism for containing no mechanism for verifying the beneficial ownership information submitted by companies (OpenOwnership and Global Witness 2017).

Therefore, critical potential approaches complementary to Beneficiary Ownership reforms would need to include accountability rules for PEPs, individuals, and organizations that present conflict-of-interest or corruption risks. The mere adoption of generalized beneficial ownership disclosure standards and registries in a country-part of the new wave of transparency reforms in the natural resource governance space—is insufficient in this scenario. It will have little impact if the review and vetting process at the licensing award stage does not mandate that beneficial ownership needs to be fully disclosed as a qualification criteria and/or if such participation by politicians and high-level officials is still deemed lawful. Other mechanisms, such as mandatory procedures for recusal and open contracting writ large (e.g., government disclosures of decisionmakers) are further needed to reduce corruption risk (Westenberg 2018; OCP and NRGI 2018). Furthermore, beneficial ownership registries must be actively updated and verified to maximize their impact over time. Where problematic beneficial ownership is revealed, existing laws must be enforced.

In order to maximize effectiveness, approaches to increasing beneficial ownership transparency should be global in nature, and, to reduce the implementation gap surrounding the potential impact of beneficial ownership transparency reforms, complementary cross-sectoral, interagency, and cross-jurisdictional coordination is needed. Even in countries where companies are required to report, update, and publish beneficial ownership information, beneficial ownership disclosure can be evaded through creating shell companies in countries without disclosure requirements. As a result, beneficial ownership transparency initiatives will be most effective in the context of a holistic global approach to releasing public and cross-verifiable data for use by both governments and civil society actors. Complementary administrative and legal actions, then, would be required for beneficial ownership disclosure to have impact. The enforcement of the law (i.e., government effectiveness) is clearly a challenge. Screening and verification of beneficial ownership information alone is "insufficient" (Westenberg 2018).

These initiatives to create a unified approach might also spur various stakeholders (such as companies, CSOs, and info-infomediaries) to embrace further TAP initiatives: "Coordinated efforts could demand more proactive industry leadership from publicly listed companies" (Westenberg 2018, 51). This work would also set the stage for the formalization of a stronger global anti-corruption legal framework. The latter is crucial, as "the screening procedures used to identify the ultimate beneficial owners will

⁶¹ Another concern in the design of these public registers involves the definition of a beneficial owner. A comprehensive definition is used by the U.S. Department of the Treasury's Financial Crimes Enforcement Network (FinCEN), whose "Final Rule" on the subject employs a two-prong test of ownership and control (31 CFR § 1010.230). Under this standard, a beneficial owner is both someone who directly or indirectly owns 25 percent or more of a legal entity customer, and also a "single individual with significant responsibility to control, manage, or direct a legal entity customer" (31 CFR § 1010.230(d)(2)). The first prong is not a perfect measure, with some experts calling for the threshold to be closer to five percent (Westenberg and Sayne 2018), but the second prong of control is both key and less prevalent in public registers (including that of the United Kingdom). The missing second prong poses particular risks for disclosure of PEP beneficial owners, whose informal control of a company would therefore go unexposed, and ought to be designed for in beneficial ownership transparency initiatives, as indeed is called for under the EITI's beneficial ownership disclosure roadmap (EITI 2016). Thus, though the expansion of beneficial ownership transparency initiatives in recent years marks unmistakable progress, these and other mechanisms are needed to take the field beyond transparency and more fully mitigate conflicts of interest in extractives licensing.

require the appropriate mechanisms for requesting information formally and informally from officials in other countries" (Votava, Hauch, and Clementucci 2018, 33). Box 4.1 examines the role of TAP actions (via civil society engagement) to overcome challenges in BO verification processes

Box 4.1: Verification of Beneficial Ownership Information (excerpted from Sztykowski and Taggart 2017 and Sztykowski 2018)

"Verification' is frequently said to be a critical step in generating high-quality beneficial ownership information ... [yet it] is not one step, but three:

- 1. Ensuring that the person making a statement about beneficial ownership is who they say they are, and that they have the right to make the claim (**authentication** and **authorization**);
- 2. Ensuring that the data submitted is a legitimate possible value (validation);
- 3. Verifying that the statement made is actually true (which we will call truth verification)

[L]et's be blunt: we should expect people who are hiding from accountability to lie about their ownership of a company ... " (Sztykowski and Taggart 2017). This is why civil society participation is needed. "As an example, Slovakian civil society investigated the beneficial owners of a medical supplies company after finding that the company had participated in multiple public tenders as a sole bidder. They found that the company had not reported a beneficial owner to the public Slovakian beneficial ownership register, raising a clear red flag that the true owner was hiding their identity" (Sztykowski and Taggart 2017).

"After some further digging, civil society was able to trace ownership of the company back to nominees based in Cyprus. The company was sanctioned with a \leq 50,000 fine for disclosing incorrect information to the register, cited as the first such fine in history" (Szytkowski and Taggart 2017). "Our partners at Global Witness know first hand what it takes to uncover the true owners of a company or resource when they are determined to hide. To take just one example, their 2013 investigation into land sales in Sarawak, Malaysia showed how the country's company ownership laws could be circumvented using offshoring to allow foreign 'investors', lawyers and public officials to make huge profits on land gifted by the state. Uncovering the truth required the Global Witness team to pose as investors and take hidden cameras into secret meetings to obtain evidence that would never show up in a paper trail. ... It is because of the resource-intensive nature of these investigations that civil society has called most vocally for public, open data on beneficial ownership. Because although no one can guarantee the truth of what's reported to a register, this data provides crucial leads and red flags" (Sztykowski 2018).

4.2 Considering Pilot Opportunities

LTRC is aiming at a country portfolio of pilot projects that is geographically diverse, features locations with high and medium corruption risks, and deals with a wide variety of challenges. In each country where scoping takes place, the LTRC team and partners will identify through consultations and interviews the key challenges and priorities the country faces in terms of corruption across extractive industries and across the natural resource value chain. Once a key challenge has been selected for a possible LTRC pilot, a co-creation process with key stakeholders aims at identifying the most appropriate TAP-Plus strategy based on the existing context, as well as the precise selection of jurisdictional units where the strategy will be piloted.

The examples below are opportunities based on preliminary research in the identified countries. They may or may not be implemented after the scoping process is completed. Most importantly, the specific ways in which we might intervene as discussed below are representative only, as any actual intervention will be co-designed with stakeholders and change agents on the ground.

4.2.a Investigative Journalism of Beneficial Ownership Data in Mongolia

Background

The Mongolian mining sector plays an outsized role in the economy of that nation, in recent years earning the nation the nickname "Minegolia" (Langfitt 2012). In 2016, it contributed 20 percent of the nation's Gross Domestic Product (EITI 2019). One year earlier, in 2015, more than 1,170 different mining sites were extracting 80 different types of minerals from copper to tungsten and gold to fluorspar. All told, mining constituted 64.7 percent of total industrial production (UNDP 2016, 15). As a result, Mongolia has undergone unprecedented economic growth. In 2011, the three million person nation had a 17 percent GDP growth rate, the highest in the world. Since then, the rate has declined, and in 2017, as a result of a commodity price bust, the nation received a \$5.5 billion IMF bailout (Edwards 2017).

LTRC has identified the ongoing process towards beneficial ownership as a key vehicle for an anti-corruption approach that could be strengthened in coordination with other TAP efforts across the natural resource value chain. This potential LTRC pilot program would attempt to address an implementation gap with respect to beneficial ownership or help improve use of beneficial ownership information by a wider set of civil society organizations. As part of our approach, LTRC would explicitly and strategically adapt the pilot to a challenging though not insurmountable contextual factor: media freedom.

Beneficial Ownership and Corruption Risks

Murky ownership arrangements of natural resource companies are a source of large corruption risks, according to UNDP's and Transparency International's corruption risk assessments (UNDP 2016; Biastoch 2017). In LTRC's expert consultations, one interviewee reported that "basically all" politicians in Mongolia hold direct or indirect stakes in natural resource companies. This results in major risks of conflicts of interest and opacity in the evaluation and issuance of tenders, mineral value assessments, work permissions, contradictory laws on local consultation requirements, and bribery and low accountability in operations reporting of production quantities and mine retirement (UNDP 2016).

While Mongolian law does not mandate beneficial ownership disclosure, the government has started to make progress. Early voluntary beneficial ownership disclosure efforts for EITI yielded some results. In 2013, for example 215 of 230 companies voluntarily disclosed their ownership structures for the Mongolia annual EITI report, and EITI Mongolia has published a visualization tool for the data, available at http://www.eitimongolia.mn/en/beneficial-owners. Moving beyond voluntary efforts, the national EITI Working Group helped to amend legislation to create a legal mandate for disclosing beneficial ownership of mining licenses. That legislation is still pending. Natural resource beneficial ownership features prominently in the National 2017-2023 Program to Combat Corruption, the State Policy on the

Mineral Resources Sector 2014-2025 (EITI 2017), and Mongolia's Second National OGP Action Plan.

Ongoing TAP Efforts Not Related to Beneficial Ownership

NRGI and the Open Society Forum have assembled and trained a number of Mongolian CSOs on contract transparency and natural resource oversight. Despite high turnover and sustainability issues, the network that those partners have established includes local organizations from across the country engaged in transparency and accountability activities most relevant to their local situation. For example, one was campaigning to demand access to contracts; others were successfully monitoring existing contracts; and still others were participating in negotiations of new agreements. The Open Society Forum also participates on Mongolia's EITI board alongside a variety of additional civil society partners. One, Transparency Foundation, is the Publish What You Pay member in Mongolia. The projects being undertaken by Open Society Forum, Transparency Foundation, and NRGI span access to information in various sectors and try to facilitate access by the public to information in agencies and lower levels of government. In the spring of 2019, the government of Mongolia launched an online contracts portal making more than 150 of them available for public inspection, though questions still remain whether the disclosures are broad enough.

NRGI's Country Strategy Note includes beneficial ownership and CSO capacity-building as key strategic responses needed in Mongolia. And as the brief descriptions above show, there have been positive developments regarding both. Voluntary beneficial ownership disclosure has occurred, and legal codification is underway, although at a slower pace than anticipated. In addition, a number of bundled transparency, accountability, and participation-oriented initiatives already in place have strengthened CSOs in Mongolia, even if they have not focused on beneficial ownership per se.

Assessing Contextual Factors

One significant contextual factor that may be inhibiting these efforts, however, is media freedom. As we have noted, TAP initiatives that involve complex information flows often require infomediaries if they are to succeed. According to Freedom House, Mongolia has a "vibrant media sector" (Freedom House 2016b). It features hundreds of newspapers and about two dozen television stations (ibid). Indeed, one Mongolian journalist was a member of the International Consortium of Investigative Journalists which won a Pulitzer Prize in 2017 for reporting on the Panama Papers, which unveiled a global web of hidden shell companies used by the wealthy and powerful. But strong undercurrents limit the ability of infomediaries to tackle corruption. Many media outlets are affiliated with political parties or partisan interests. Reporters Without Borders and Press Institute of Mongolia reported in the 2016 Media Ownership Monitor that 29 of the 39 investigated media outlets in Mongolia had political affiliations through their founders or owners. In general, media outlets are not transparent about their ownership structure. Only one in 10 is proactive and open about its ownership (RSF 2018b). In addition, self-censorship for fear of punitive defamation lawsuits has been a problem for the media sector. Civil or criminal cases against reporters for defamation are not uncommon. In 2016, the Mongolian CSO Globe International Center reported 12 instances of journalists or news outlets being sued for defamation. From 1999-2016, more than half of all civil and criminal defamation cases, for a total of 414 cases, were filed against media and journalists. Freedom House rates the Mongolian press freedom status as "partly free" (Freedom House 2016b).

Pulling the Pieces Together with a TAP-Plus Approach

An LTRC TAP-Plus program (if undertaken) would engage key national and international stakeholders working in anti-corruption efforts in Mongolia's extractive sector. LTRC and relevant stakeholders would identify the current gaps in the underlying theory of change for beneficial ownership reforms to curb or prevent corruption and beyond. The first step in an LTRC TAP-Plus program in Mongolia would be to seek an integrated understanding of the current TAP landscape around the natural resource value chain in general and the existing beneficial ownership system specifically—from the implementation and update of the registry itself, to the communication and engagement of citizenry and civil society, as well as existing accountability measures (if any).

It would then assess the contextual factors in which the beneficial ownership system is operating and determine if any are actionable. For instance, LTRC would explicitly explore with the key players pursuing anti-corruption in extractives and focusing on beneficial ownership, as well as other diagnostic efforts, to identify the key challenges they face in this area, and particularly what complementary adaptations and interventions in the regulatory and institutional space would be needed to increase the impact of the ongoing disclosure-related initiatives (such as on beneficiary ownership disclosure) they are engaged in.⁶²

Potential Ideas for Beneficial Ownership TAP-Plus

For those actions that could be undertaken in the short term, a TAP-Plus strategy to be piloted by LTRC itself might engage with interventions that either address an implementation gap or help strengthen better use of beneficial ownership information by a wider set of civil society organizations, including media organizations. However, we caution that LTRC's analysis of Mongolia is preliminary and subject to further modification.

On the TAP side of TAP-Plus, this could mean several things. For example, customization of beneficial ownership information responding to interest of specific actors or communities or linking it to ongoing contract disclosure efforts, increasing access to information by a wider array of stakeholders (strengthening transparency and participation in the process), or testing a new tool that improves transparency-participation-accountability interactivity. On the Plus side of TAP-Plus, one option for prioritizing the contextual factor of media freedom would be to strengthen through experimentation the existing efforts from Reporters Without Borders and the Press Institute of Mongolia to increase media coverage of natural resource beneficial ownership while carefully navigating defamation concerns and media ownership difficulties.⁶³ This might include evaluating such measures as providing legal support to media houses to empower them to push back on specious legal accusations; facilitating collaboration between data scientists and reporters to enable better analysis of and reporting around existing beneficial ownership data; or supporting countervailing pro-reform coalitions to leverage the reporting around beneficial ownership data to put pressure on lawmakers and sitting officials.

A second group of critical institutional/regulatory challenges likely cannot be tackled on a rapid enough timeline to intersect with a small-scale LTRC study due to their unpredictable political or societal nature. These include passage of a mandatory beneficial ownership disclosure law, improved PEP accountability rules and structures in the beneficial ownership space as detailed earlier in this Chapter (Westenberg 2018), or changes to defamation laws. A TAP-Plus effort would assess which ones could still be part of an initiative to promote their discussion and importance among wide audiences within Mongolia. For example, if key legislation were needed to facilitate the update of audit information that can supplement the beneficial ownership registry, LTRC could work with local partners in building a case for it based on

⁶² This process would allow LTRC to inform the proposal and co-design with local partners the different components of a TAP-Plus program in the country. Some of the gaps in current TAP initiatives such as the beneficial ownership strategy could be translated into interventions or actions as part of a TAP-Plus pilot in the country in the coming months; understandably, others cannot. By creating a TAP and Plusinformed strategy, LTRC would able to test an effort to supplement current TAP-only efforts with context-informed interventions in order to improve their likelihood of success.

⁶³ Mongolia's EITI roadmap for beneficial ownership does include potentially innovative initiatives that could be ripe for LTRC's involvement. For example, in 2018, the multi-stakeholder group committed to establish and train a network of investigative journalists to enforce beneficial ownership accountability.

existing evidence and its potential to increase the impact of ongoing initiatives, including those not funded through LTRC. Formative research, knowledge products, and events would be designed to support an initial pilot with an eye to strengthening citizen engagement, transparency, and accountability in the sector beyond the pilot. These institutional/ regulatory challenges could be further examined in a larger phase three study following, and building upon, the phase two small scale effort.

4.2.b Citizen Engagement and Bottom-Up Accountability in Nigerian Budget Tracking

Background

Nigeria is the largest oil-producing country in Africa. After the discovery of oil in 1956, Nigeria's energy industry struggled with corruption and capture—a devastating situation for a sector that could be used to fuel development and alleviate poverty (Auty 1993; Sala-i-Martin and Subramanian 2013; Ross 2015). Like other resource-rich countries, Nigeria suffers from Dutch disease: The Niger Delta, the key oil producing region of Nigeria, is one of the more impoverished regions in Nigeria.

Nigeria employs an oil revenue-sharing model, in which three percent of all oil revenue is distributed between national, state, and local governments. This revenue is distributed according to an allocation formula (52.68 percent to the central government, 26.72 percent to regional governments, and 20.60 percent to local governments). According to the Nigeria EITI, revenue from oil and gas is normally allocated to the state budget from joint venture operations. Oil- and gas- producing regions receive an additional 13 percent of the government revenue from production in their territory. This additional allocation is meant to facilitate service delivery and infrastructure provision. State allocations are then remitted to local government areas (LGAs), which are administrated by a local council.

In addition to increased government efforts, the last few years have shown great development in the role of civil society with the rise of citizen engagement groups, budget tracking initiatives such as BudgIT, and advocacy organizations. With the rise of social media and increased capacity and coverage of oil by traditional media, citizens are aware of corruption and are more vocal in demanding change. This confluence of conditions offers an interesting entry point for robust research and experimentation that builds on existing initiatives to better respond to the challenges of the Nigerian landscape in the path towards curbing and preventing corruption in natural resources, and through this, to improve sustainable development outcomes.

The Implementation Gap in Budget Tracking

A major issue with this revenue distribution model is a lack of transparency in both total revenue and budgets derived from oil revenues and in how these funds are allocated across budgets of national agencies and across states. Tracking the flow of these funds from national to state to local levels is difficult; uncovering how funds are spent even more so. Investigative journalists and civil society organizations working to uncover how money is spent via budget tracking face three major challenges: a lack of information regarding the amount of money that should be distributed and how it is being distributed; a lack of mechanisms for journalists' reports to trigger action; and, finally, a normalization of corruption that has led to a lack of citizen engagement and of bottom-up accountability.

The Nigerian CSO BudgIT and other expenditure tracking initiatives are working to make the budgets and flows of funds more transparent through publications of national and state budgets on online platforms. Identifying areas of over- or under- budgeting can also indicate a need to shift resource allocation. Additionally, identifying where these systems break down can be used to find areas of mismanagement or corruption. CSOs and citizens can then use this information to identify services intended to be provided and hold officials accountable for spending resources for earmarked services. Though BudgIT and other CSOs have conducted work in pairing budget transparency programs with citizen engagement and bottom-up accountability, they have implemented citizen engagement through differing models, which makes it ripe for a pilot opportunity adapting the tools to the challenges of community-level budget tracking.

The TAP-Plus Opportunity

LTRC has identified bolstering citizen engagement to improve bottom-up accountability in Nigerian budget tracking initiatives as a potential pilot opportunity. Evidence on budget tracking for effective accountability to date, though promising (e.g., de Renzio, Azeem, and Ramkumar 2006; Robinson and Vyasulu 2006; Sirker and Cosic 2007), has largely focused on transparency as an outcome in and of itself. Bundled approaches are under-researched (Fox 2019), and the inclusion of context as an explicit part of the program design of budget tracking initiatives is similarly under-studied. In Nigeria as elsewhere, budget tracking faces a knowledge gap regarding methods that create real accountability vis-a-vis budget leakage and corruption. The TAP-Plus framework has the potential to fill this knowledge gap through the creation of evidence regarding how citizen engagement can be bolstered in a context of low political trust and low government effectiveness to improve governance outcomes, and specifically anti-corruption outcomes, in Nigeria.

The first step of the TAP-Plus process will be to engage with civil society, public sector, and private sector representatives where appropriate to enhance our understanding of the TAP landscape in Nigeria. This will enable LTRC and local partners to identify challenges, look at both the system as a whole and particular challenges, and understand the context under which programs operate and what the contextual challenges are. We will then work to identify which of those gaps can be filled with transparency, accountability, and participation interventions that do take into account context, and aim at singling which factors complementary to TAP need to be integrated into the project, consistent with a TAP plus approach. As co-creation with local partners is a fundamental part of LTRC's pilot process, the ideas outlined below are preliminary and are intended to be indicative only of how the TAP-Plus framework *could* be applied; they are not intended to be representative of LTRC's specific pilot work and project design, which will be co-developed at a later date.

We begin with the core TAP elements. Transparency elements of the intervention that LTRC could be interested in testing include "storytelling" methodologies, by which we mean communications mechanisms to synthesize data and transmit key takeaways, mindful of the specific context in which information is shared (e.g., the audience, purpose, and location) (Moezzi, Janda, and Rotmann 2017). Though a transparency initiative, storytelling can help shed light on what is effective in mobilizing citizen engagement (lbid). In the context of budget tracking, where data is already publicly available but is not necessarily making its way to the community level, storytelling could seek to inform citizens of such details as: the amount of money that is supposed to be used for community services, how that money is currently being used, what projects are supposed to be funded in the next year, and what redress mechanisms are available for perceived misuse of funds. We will learn from what modes of storytelling have previously worked in different contexts in Nigeria and testing how storytelling works in combination with other approaches to promote bottom-up accountability. Storytelling inherently relies on engagement with citizens and is anchored in two of the transparency field's seminal success stories: publicly disseminated budget information at the grassroots level in India leading to improved fiscal flows and reduced corruption (Bhatnagar 2003), and fiscal tracking of education expenditures in Uganda leading to reduced leakage of funds (Reinikka 2001).

Participation is, of course, the core component of any citizen engagement initiative, including one focused on budget tracking issues (Marín 2017; Derbyshire and Mwamba 2013; Shah 2007). By iterating and rapidly testing levels and modes of citizen engagement, LTRC can help inform best practices for continued engagement. These modes will be further developed through co-creation with Nigerian partner organizations, but possibilities include public forums that bring together representatives from the community, local government, and industry, and/or community forums led by citizens from other villages that have seen success in bottom-up accountability. Community forums are of particular interest as a possible mechanism for exploring ways to overcome normalization of corruption, where citizens in corrupt societies can come to believe that action will not serve to effect change. Normalization of corruption poses a significant obstacle to citizen engagement (Hoffmann and Patel 2017).

Accountability elements of a pilot focused on citizen engagement in budget tracking could take multiple forms (Sharma 2009), with LTRC possibly working to rapid-test different modes of bottom-up accountability to identify which has the greatest ability to drive engagement and the greatest potential for success. Specifically, LTRC could aim to vary targets for accountability (e.g., local representatives versus state-level representatives, following the sandwich strategy developed in Fox 2015) and the call to action for citizens (e.g., phone calls versus petitions). These will be further developed in the co-creation workshop with local partners, particularly those in investigative journalism.

Assessing Contextual Factors

Political trust-defined by Newton (2005) as trust "between citizens and political elites, or citizen confidence in political institutions"-has emerged from our preliminary research as a salient contextual factor in Nigeria. It is clear through LTRC's review of the literature (e.g., Derbyshire and Mwamba 2013) and meetings with community members in Nigeria that little political trust exists between the community and the local government. While numerous (and sometimes conflicting) hypotheses exist regarding the nature of the relationship between political trust and engagement (Levi and Stoker 2000), we recognize that failures of political trust can contribute to reduced levels of at least some forms of participation. In Nigeria, our initial consultations suggested that this dynamic is present at the community level even when relevant budget information does make its way to communities. LTRC will therefore consider mechanisms for improving the contextual factor of political trust in its study design. One possible vehicle for doing so is through relaying success stories of citizen engagement as discussed above. Another possible avenue for addressing political trust is experimenting with programs to reinvest the recovered proceeds of stolen oil funds in affected communities.

Finally, we would be remiss if we did not consider another, related contextual factor in Nigeria: conflict. Contestation of the wealth from oil production has been at the center of many conflicts in that nation. That includes the Biafran civil war in 1967 and the emergence of the movement for the emancipation of the Niger Delta in 1995. As Obi and Rustad notes, "Violent conflicts in the region are ... driven by perceptions of alienation and exclusion ... the integration of the Niger Delta into the international political economy of oil [has] simultaneously enriched international oil companies and ... national and local elites-and contributed to the disempowerment and impoverishment of local peoples ... [leading to] a vicious cycle of exploitation, protest, repression, resistance, militarization and the descent into a volatile mix of insurgent violence and criminality" (2011, 24).

While the linkages and direction of causality between conflict, political trust, and corruption are complex, perceptions of corruption can contribute to the emergence or intensification of conflict, exacerbate grievances, and undermine public confidence in governing institutions (O'Donnell 2004). In certain of the local jurisdictions where we may work, conflict or its aftermath is prevalent. We are attempting to assess how that may affect the likelihood of success of the TAP-Plus strategy and to account for it. For example, if we determine that conflict will affect the capacity of individuals to participate in a small-scale study, we may utilize additional tools to allow for remote or anonymized participation. Alternatively, we may test interventions comparatively in two jurisdictions, one suffering from higher levels of conflict and one lesser, perhaps incorporating the additional tools described above. While we are still formulating how we will take account of conflict, including through consultations with potential local partners, our point is that when it comes to TAP, one size does not fit all. Attention will

need to be paid to contextual factors such as conflict (as well as complementary measures, as per below), consistent with the TAP-Plus model.

Assessing Complementary Measures

Integrating transparency, accountability and participation is necessary in program design, as well as accounting, is necessary for enhanced impact compared with single focus on transparency measures alone. Yet it is not sufficient. Consistent with the TAP plus framework advanced in the LTRC, complementary measures to TAP are also warranted. Hence the pilot studies aim to consider and integrate selected such complementary measures as well. Such complementary measures could focus on selected and priority institutional, regulatory, public financial, and/ or legal reforms.

In this regard, and accounting for the Nigeria case, the role of the Nigerian National Petroleum Corporation (NNPC) looms large for any program that addresses resource governance and integrity challenges, and thus specifically in any assessment of potential TAP-Plus interventions in that nation. The petroleum industry is solely operated and regulated by the state-owned oil company, the NNPC (SDN, 2015). NNPC and its agencies, including the Petroleum Products Pricing and Regulatory Agency (PPPRA), estimate fuel prices, issue licenses, own fuel stations, administer subsidies, and act as their own marketers and competitors (SDN, 2015). As its own claimant, NNPC pays itself out of the domestic crude earnings but is effectively exempt from the inter-agency process and is constitutionally exempt from the auditing process (Sayne, Gillies, and Katsouris 2015).

It is unlikely, given the short time scale of the LTRC pilots, that a program to address the NNPC could be fully undertaken during the same time frame as such pilot, although the importance of ongoing complementary (to traditional TAP) reforms ought not be underestimated. Further, measurable impacts of selected reforms in the earlier stages may be feasible.

Yet, while scandals and governance challenges in the Nigerian oil sector continue to exist, it is worth noting that some efforts have been adopted over the past few years to try and curb corruption in the NNPC and in some other agencies, and programs. In 2018, the Petroleum Industry Governance bill was passed by the Senate. It called for the establishment of a Nigerian Petroleum Regulatory Commission and the unbundling of the NNPC to limit its power and increase its oversight. In 2015, Nigeria joined the Open Government Partnership and committed to both developing a beneficial ownership platform and implementing open contracting. And at the state level, OGP found traction with the Nigeria Governors' Forum to push forward transparency and accountability at the state level. The assessment of the actual implementation so far of the measures already adopted, as well as the extent of progression of such implementation during the period of implementation of a possible pilot study in Nigeria, could be part of the pilot study, complementing the TAP intervention.

Similarly, in the forthcoming small scale study in Nigeria, LTRC could also explore a particular complementary challenge, critical to the governance and corruption in the oil sector, and related to both the integrity and transparency of the budget, and to NNPC, namely fuel subsidies. Fuel subsidies pose a significant financial burden on the Nigerian economy and government. Although Nigeria leads Africa in oil production, it has limited oil refinery infrastructure, and the majority of its fuel is imported (Sakanko, Obilikwu, & David, 2019). To offset the cost of petroleum to consumers, the government funds a fuel subsidy policy through two mechanisms. Currently known as "under-recovery," the Nigerian government provides a Petrol Import Subsidy, which pays marketers the difference between the imported price of petrol and the Expected Open Market Price (EOMP) (Okeowo, 2019). The second form of subsidy is known as the Petrol Price Equalization Subsidy, which allocates money to oil marketers to offset the cost of transportation to more inland states (Okeowo, 2019). With population growth, rising oil prices, economic growth, increased demand for oil, and geographic variation in oil pricing, the government has been forced to invest more funds into upkeeping the subsidy policy (Songwe & Moyo, 2012). The fuel subsidy program cost the government an estimated \$8 billion in 2011, an unsustainable cost with the population's increasing fuel consumption (Songwe & Moyo, 2012).

As the country's sole oil proprietor, NNPC operates with minimal transparency on the availability and distribution of subsidy funds, with the bill growing rapidly. The total amount allocated to fuel subsidies through NNPC increased by 400% between 2007 and 2014 (SDN, 2015). NNPC has often been associated with payment anomalies on unavailable petroleum products, lacked the adequate documentation to support payment claims, and sets aside funding to be used outside of PPPRA approval chains (Gillies et al., 2015). An external review by KPMG found that NNPC paid itself approximately \$6.5 billion in subsidies on 15.6 billion liters of petroleum derivatives that were not available to the market, displaying the misappropriation in subsidy payments and issues in its service-delivery (Gillies et al., 2015).

With its high cost, the fuel subsidy policy is unsustainable and allows for high rates of corruption, government mismanagement, and procurement fraud (Wapner, 2017). The subsidy has increased the domestic demand for petrol, yet the demand has not been met by Nigeria's unreliable and inadequate refinery infrastructure (Wapner, 2017). The IMF, World Bank, UN, and a number of leading CSOs and researchers have called for the removal of fuel subsidies, with the critique that they place burdens on government budgets through the loss of goods from smuggling, create an unequal and inefficient distribution of resources, and divert funds from needed social programs and infrastructure (Flochel & Gooptu, 2017; International Monetary Fund 2013; Beedell, 2017).

There is a substantial literature on potential mechanisms for subsidy reforms. It is clear that all would require a program of effective communications, managing expectations, compensation for the most vulnerable, and, importantly significant citizen buy-in (International Monetary Fund 2013; Anand et al., 2013; Atansah, 2017). Despite broad evidence on potential mechanisms to be included in a subsidy reform, there is minimal social and political environment research on how to these reforms might be implemented. And to date, citizen support for reform has been limited. Nigerian citizens perceive the subsidy as one of the few tangible benefits provided by the government, although it disproportionately benefits the top income quartile (Beedell, 2017; Umar & Musa, 2013). The continued debate around fuel subsidies provides an opportunity for LTRC to contribute evidence to shape the dialogue on fuel subsidies reform.

In sum, by advancing transparency, accountability, and civic participation initiatives at the local level in Nigeria, the LTRC team aims to enhance citizen engagement and bottom-up accountability. In so doing we hope to contribute to both the mitigation of corruption risks in budget allocation and revenue flows and resulting development goals (including enhanced public services and infrastructure) through improved governance of oil revenues.

4.3 Conclusion

The idea of combining elements of transparency, accountability, and participation is not new. These three elements, together with a generic treatment of context, have been considered in the past when designing and evaluating governance interventions. This paper has summarized the extant literature on each of these topics and identified best practices, successful intervention types, and the conditions under which TAP-Plus improvements in natural resource governance can translate into corruption reduction and downstream sustainable development outcomes. These lessons and insights allow us to posit an overall approach for the research program LTRC will implement over the coming years. Based on this framework, the LTRC project's next phase will involve partnering with local stakeholders to design and test a new generation of natural resource governance strategies that, if successful, will be scaled in the third phase of research.



Conclusion

TRC seeks to build upon decades of work by scholars and practitioners to enhance stakeholder knowledge and understanding of evidence-informed policies and programs to mitigate corruption risks along the NRVC and advance sustainable development outcomes. As part of this effort, in this paper we have surveyed the theoretical and practical debates surrounding efforts to reduce corruption along the NRVC; identified corruption risks at each step of the NRVC; outlined decades' worth of interventions to reduce corruption in the natural resource space, including those related to transparency, accountability, and participation; and traced the evolution of TAP in the extractives space.

Our analysis of the literature and practice at the intersection of TAP and natural resource governance suggests that TAP interventions have shown progress, and well designed TAP interventions can successfully contribute to reducing corruption in natural resource governance and improving sustainable development goals. However, substantial work remains. A key limitation of many TAP approaches is that they do not consider or sufficiently account for contextual factors and complementary institutions, structures, or programs when designing an intervention. Based upon our analysis, we identified five key contextual factors we will consider when designing a TAP strategy: capture; social trust, political trust, and conflict; civic space and media freedom; rule of law; and government effectiveness and capacity. These contextual factors, which manifest differently at micro (i.e., typically, subnational) and macro (i.e., typically national) levels, can constrain or enable the likelihood of success with respect to TAP reforms.

To account for these contextual factors, as well as the role played by key institutions and programs, we developed a framework called "TAP-Plus." TAP-Plus constitutes an approach that combines transparency, accountability, and participatory-focused approaches that, informed by careful consideration of contextual factors and additional structures and programs, can overcome unfavorable context, take advantage of opportunities presented by a given context, and/or mitigate implementation gaps. During the next phase of LTRC, we will pilot TAP-Plus strategies through a series of small-scale studies before scaling a promising study or studies and forming conclusions regarding leading practices. To that end, in this paper we have initially suggested a few illustrative, prospective small-scale study opportunities that LTRC may consider in the areas of citizen engagement and bottom-up accountability and beneficial ownership transparency. Following further and concrete work regarding the issues brought up here and in the design of the upcoming set of studies, complemented with a focus on the methodological and data needs for these initiatives ahead, our expectation is that LTRC's research and practice with respect to TAP-Plus will help establish and advance evidence-informed leading practices in resource-rich countries and across the natural resource value chain.

ANNEX 1: Description and Limitations of the LTRC Literature Review Process

he literature review that informed this paper took place in 2017 and 2018. We began the literature collection and selection process by scraping citations from several seed papers identified by the LTRC principal investigators as key resources in the natural resource governance and/or TAP spaces.⁶⁴ We also added citations for "gray literature" focused on natural resource governance and field studies of TAP interventions, based upon a web review of relevant interventions and more than 20 interviews with key experts in the natural resource governance and TAP spaces. In particular, we exhaustively reviewed the past two to three years of publications for several flagship organizations, including the Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative, Natural Resource Governance Institute, Open Government Partnership, Oxfam, Publish What You Pay, and the U4 Anti-Corruption Resource Centre. We further reviewed natural resource-specific publications and research windows for the International Initiative for Impact Evaluation (3ie), Evidence in Governance and Politics, Abdul Latif Jameel Poverty Action Lab, and the Transparency and Accountability Initiative. The vast majority of the reviewed literature was English-language, with a minute subset in Spanish.

We then categorized each of the resources identified in this first phase of the literature review according to whether they related to natural resources and assigned a priority level to provide a rough measure of salience to the project's research questions. Newer, heavily cited, and more extensive papers were more likely to receive a higher prioritization, as were reports and articles describing discrete interventions. As a result of this first phase, we compiled around 280 high-priority resources.

We sorted these resources into general, non-exclusive categories, distributed the categories among the team, and then lightly coded each resource based on certain broad variables of interest. Such variables included the step in the natural resource value chain (where applicable), natural resource sector, geography, social accountability actor, and type of intervention. The reader also included a short summary of the main finding or utility of the resource. Importantly, these variables were considered tags to identify resource relevance to certain topics that would be covered in this paper. They were not intended to be rigorous codes for any type of analysis. As such, we mapped the distributions of our resources across the variables of interest only to evaluate coverage and identify certain themes and categorical intersections that might have been underrepresented.

In a second phase of the literature review, we aimed to intentionally (non-randomly) supplement any

⁶⁴ These initial papers included the LTRC proposal (2017), itself already the product of in-depth research, as well as: Mildner and Lauster (2011), Brockmyer and Fox (2015), Rocha Menocal et al. (2015), and Williamson and Eisen (2016).

potential underrepresentations of our first dataset. To that end, we took a subset of highly cited and relevant works from our initial dataset and scraped the more recent papers that cited those works. We then filtered that list to identify highly cited works and manually identified high-priority new resources. We also performed manual online keyword searches to even out underrepresented thematic categories. The resulting subset of highly cited and recent priority resources was then added to our pool of literature, for a total of roughly 650 journal articles, books, websites, and blog posts. A slightly updated coding and skimming process similar to that described above was applied to the new resources.

This working bibliography was made available to more than 60 experts in the natural resource governance and TAP spaces during a project launch event at Brookings in September 2017, and again at a natural resource governance workshop at Brookings in April 2018 that featured about 30 participants representing civil society organizations, industry, academia, multilateral organizations, and other key stakeholder groups. These experts were encouraged to point out any missing cornerstone publications, critique our categories for representativeness and exhaustiveness, and share any new articles that might have escaped our earlier scrapes.

This database was synthesized into thematic writeups, which were themselves further synthesized to provide part of the general framework of this paper. In parallel, we refined the extensive set of resources using a series of substantive criteria to yield a subset of 157 resources focused on the intersection of TAP and natural resource governance. These resources were analyzed in much further depth and coded with much more rigor than others in the literature database, providing the foundation for an annotated bibliography that additionally informed the findings in this paper.⁶⁵ Further sources were referenced throughout the development of this paper.

65 Additional process details and the annotated bibliography itself can be found at www.brookings.edu/ltrc.

ANNEX 2: Unpacking the Resource Curse by Type of Resource

There are of course salient differences between two major extractive sectors, oil/gas and mining. As outlined in Chapter Two, there are three closely related factors that capture important distinctions in a resource's political economy. These include its lootability, its relative location, and the level of the country's economic dependence on that resource. These characteristics influence the overarching patterns of corruption risk for oil and for minerals that will emerge in context. Of course, both are typically associated with very high upfront investments and have the potential to generate extraordinary profits (Ross 2012).

Hydrocarbons, particularly oil, are the resources most prone to corruption and conflict, and as such, have been the most studied (Ross 2012, 2015). Oil typically has a higher rent share by gross value and is easier to tax. Thus, oil-rich countries tend to exhibit a higher fiscal dependence. But because oil prices are so volatile and because "the oil industry is usually governed at the highest political levels," politicians are more likely to discount their future, electing to steal in the short term (while there is something worth stealing) despite the risk of long-term consequences (Al-Kasim et al. 2008, 14). Similarly, oil and gas production facilities often require large upfront investments, which increases oil companies' susceptibility to extortion. Finally, oil production is relatively easily shrouded in secrecy since it typically has a smaller physical footprint and often occurs

wholly offshore (where it is less visible to monitors). Perhaps most importantly for our study of transparency-based remedies:

Governments often collude with international oil companies to conceal their transactions, and use their own national oil companies to hide both revenues and expenditures Secrecy is a key reason why oil revenues are so commonly squandered, why oil-fueled dictators can remain in power, since they can conceal evidence of their greed and incompetence; and why insurgents are generally reluctant to lay down their arms, because they distrust offers by the government to share their country's oil revenues more equitably (Ross 2015, 6).

Mining of high-value minerals like gold, platinum, and diamonds still poses significant, if somewhat different, corruption risks. Those resources are of a highly concentrated value compared to minerals like coal and are relatively easy to hide, transport, and smuggle compared to large barrels of oil or other minerals like coltan (Petermann et al. 2007; Sanchez da la Sierra 2014). Mining is more likely to physically affect local communities through local pollution or overexploitation of arable land and water sources, which creates incentives for actors engaging in transactional corruption to bribe or capture local political or consultative processes (Dougherty 2015; Knutsen et al. 2017). In their review of 496 mines across Africa, Knutsen et al. (2017) finds that "mine openings clearly increase bribe payments" (332). Finally, it is even more challenging to accurately measure the quantity and quality of mineral ore extracted and exported compared to petroleum, incentivizing efforts to underreport or bribe to avoid due taxation (Readhead 2018). Of course, these are just trends, not universal rules. Oil companies sometimes capture local consultative processes and high-level politicians sometimes expect mineral companies to bribe. At the risk of oversimplifying a rich literature about a complicated natural resource governance issue, the above could be summarized as: Oil tends to facilitate the demand for high-level, grand corruption, whereas mining tends to facilitate the supply of local corruption.

ANNEX 3: Different Micro/Macro-Level Relationships for Different Contextual Factors

ur TAP-Plus framework to identify key contextual factors and natural resource-specific complementary structures, programs, and measures in an effort to enhance the design of TAP strategies starts by acknowledging that context manifests differently at different levels or units and that it can change over time at a different pace and even in different directions across them. For example, at a national level, some elements of context are endogenous to a place's political history and geography and therefore a project like LTRC is highly unlikely to operationalize interventions able to change such context. LTRC activities may, however, seize windows of opportunity opened by recent events and trends in a given country in order to introduce and test solutions to key governance challenges in the extractives space. At a local level, context affects the incentives and behavior of individuals and actors in ways that can, and perhaps must be addressed, improved, or defended in order for a TAP intervention to effectively prevent or curb corruption.

For LTRC's purposes, we will talk of macro- and micro-level factors as a shorthand with the understanding that we do not mean to impose a rigid, binary framework, especially given the extraordinary diversity of governmental levels and the different ways power can be structured and spread amongst those levels. The distinction between micro and macro level is almost never static across geographical space, through time, or even within formal legal frameworks. For example, a "regional" contextual factor might be macro level with respect to one intervention design but micro level with respect to another. Rather, micro/macro levels should be understood in relative terms, and in light of power, authority, or collectivization to a specific jurisdiction. O'Meally (2013) explains that "contextual variables can be separated into distinct domains" only "with the understanding that the domains inevitably overlap and interlock" (7). Additionally, the "polycentric" branch of the environmental governance literature conceives of a particular governance system as comprised of multiple, overlapping levels of decisionmakers with some equilibrium of autonomy from and authority over each other (Carlisle and Gruby 2017; Ostrom 2010).

At the risk of oversimplifying, the examples in the following table use a standard, national versus local shorthand to clarify the functional distinction between micro and macro levels of the five contextual factors we consider in the paper. Often that distinction is applicable when demonstrating how an individual contextual factor can manifest. However, it is not inevitably so.

Table A3.1 places the LTRC contextual factors of interest into this micro-level/macro-level distinction and offers concrete examples to illustrate the difference. Later in this annex, we explain how we intend to use this analytical framework to help LTRC determine whether a contextual environment is enabling or prohibitive for successful TAP interventions and also whether additional, complementary engagements might be warranted.

CONTEXTUAL FACTORS	MICRO LEVEL: MANIFESTATIONS OF CONTEXTUAL FACTORS THAT CAN, AND PERHAPS MUST, BE PROBLEMATIZED BY THE INTERVENTION	MACRO LEVEL: CONTEXT THAT WILL AFFECT AN INTERVENTION BUT IS BEYOND THE ABILITY OF THAT INTERVENTION TO AFFECT	
Capture	Negative example ⁶⁶ : The only road connecting a community to the highway is controlled by a group that expects bribes, so bribery is accepted behavior. Positive example ⁶⁷ : A recent scandal with a local politician has energized the community to "sniff out" corruption.	Negative example: The majority of the members of the country's parliament have personal or familial stakes in mining projects, distorting their legislation. Positive example: Lobbying is carefully regulated, closely monitored, and transparent.	
Rule of Law	Negative example: Local courts are bribed by landholders and companies to decide cases in their favor. Positive example: The Environmental Ministry uses technology to monitor land use and enforce contract terms.	Negative example: The country's executive wields discretion over the enforcement of laws and contracts to benefit his or her family and political allies. Positive example: A well-functioning system of checks and balances prevents or punishes corruption.	
Civic Space and Media Freedom	Negative example: A company interested in developing a resource sends armed men to threaten a community against resisting. Positive example: Consultations with affected communities are actually required and their deci- sions are respected.	Negative example: The National Intelligence Agency illegally surveils civil society leaders. Positive example: A diverse array of media outlets exist, largely free to investigate and criticize elites.	
Social Trust, Political Trust, and Conflict	Negative example: The resource-rich region con- tains an ethnic minority with historical grievances against the dominant group. Positive example: There is no history of organized violence or conflict in the region, and people gen- erally trust one another and authority figures.	Negative example: The country is at war. Positive example: The country is highly tolerant of minorities in both law and practice.	
Government Effectiveness / Capacity	Negative example: The local government lacks the experience necessary to effectively conduct oversight of natural resource extraction licensing and revenue collection. Positive example: The local government is sufficiently funded and staffed to carry out its responsibilities.	Negative example: A ministry with low capacity has centralized control of all natural resource governance functions. Positive example: National ministries are suf- ficiently funded and staffed to carry out their responsibilities.	

TABLE A3.1: Examples of Micro- / Macro-Level Plus Distinctions

⁶⁶ By "negative example," we mean an instance in which the specific contextual factor interacts with a TAP program to derail its success.

⁶⁷ By "favorable example," we mean an instance in which the specific contextual factor interacts with a TAP program to complement and magnify the program's efforts.

Our macro/micro discussion is supported by a number of analyses. Snyder (2001) explains, "focusing on the dynamic linkages among the levels and regions of a political system provides a new way of looking at the relationship between contrasting political phenomena observed at the 'center' (i.e., the national level) and at the 'periphery' (i.e., the subnational level)" (101). Parks and Cole (2010) distinguishes between a country's "primary" political settlement that "governs inter-elite competition for central authority and access to the central state" and its "secondary" political settlements "defined as the arrangements among powerful local elites to control political competition and governance below the national level" (18). O'Meally (2013) and Joshi (2014) develop checklists and guides for explicitly considering macro- and micro-level contextual factors affecting social accountability when designing an intervention. Fox, Aceron, and Guillán Montero (2016) and Read and Manuelyan Atinc (2017) build on O'Meally (2013) and Joshi (2014) to explore and successfully intervene within a "multi-level framework," adapted for visualization (see Figure A3.1):

Each level is nested within a set of incentives and constraints shaped in part by the higher level; in turn, each level shapes, in part, the incentives and constraints which prevail at lower levels. At the peak level is the country's national political context—the national political settlement, the national-level institutional arrangements for the ... sector derived from that settlement, and national-level policies for the ... sector. At the next level down is the subnational context, shaped partly by the national level, and partly by distinctive, provincial-level drivers. The provincial-level political context in turn affects the operation of provincial ... bureaucracies. All of this cascades down to the de jure and de facto [local]-level governance arrangements, and thence to ... outcomes (Levy et al. 2018, 14-15).

NATIONAL POLITICAL AND INSTITUTIONAL CONTEXT REGIONAL POLITICAL AND INSTITUTIONAL CONTEXT REGIONAL BUREAUCRACY LOCAL DE JURE AND DE FACTO GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENTS LOCAL PERFORMANCE / OUTCOMES OF INTEREST

FIGURE A3.1: A Multi-Level Framework for Governance

Adapted from Levy et al. 2018.
We believe this separation to be the most functionally and practically useful for the purposes of LTRC. Fox (2015) recognizes that only considering "local, front-line service providers ... leaves out the rest of the 'supply chain' of governance" and that "program monitoring that is partial or exclusively local in scope may well manage to change the shape of the 'corruption market,' but not necessarily its size" (355). In a later work, Fox et al. (2016) therefore calls for the "vertical integration" of civic engagement efforts—that is to say, bundled TAP that is adapted, as appropriate, to macro- and micro-level context. Box A3.1 explains further.

Box A3.1: "Scaling" TAP (excerpted from Fox and Aceron 2016)

"One missing link involves the challenge of how to take scale into account. In international development discussions, scale is usually understood as a reference to size: more or bigger. Here, scale will be understood differently. 'Taking scale into account' will refer to articulating how different levels of decisionmaking interact with each other (from the local level to district, provincial, national, and transnational arenas)—both for the public sector and for civil society."

"Conventional approaches to [TAP] do not take this sense of scale into account. On the one hand, most social accountability initiatives (such as community scorecards) are locally bounded, while on the other hand, most open government initiatives rely on national agencies to disclose official budget or activity data, which is rarely disaggregated in citizen-friendly or actionable ways. These initiatives are often limited by their approach to scale: local interventions remain localized, rarely spreading horizontally or extending their leverage vertically by influencing higher level authorities, while national initiatives based in capital cities risk circulating primarily among the already-convinced—or remaining limited to cyberspace, delinked from offline civic action. In contrast, vertically integrated accountability initiatives take scale into account by linking citizen action at the grassroots with action at the national level Multi-level citizen oversight initiatives can gain additional traction if the evidence they produce manages to trigger public checks-and-balances institutions of horizontal accountability."

"This reframed meaning of scale sets the stage for the proposition of 'vertical integration' of civil society policy monitoring and advocacy. Vertical integration tries to address power imbalances by emphasizing the coordinated independent oversight of public sector actors at local, subnational, national, and transnational levels. The goal is for the whole to be greater than the sum of the parts. The core rationale for monitoring each stage and level of public sector decisionmaking, non-decisionmaking, and performance is to reveal more precisely not only where the main causes of accountability failures are located, but also their interconnected nature. This focus on understanding as many links in the chain of public sector decisions as possible is relevant both to inform possible solutions and to empower the coalitions needed to promote them" (3-4).

It is important also to note that the space in which the LTRC project is focused has unique qualities. The NRVC, as a multi-stage governance process, creates a diverse space for contextual factors to manifest.

Because this project looks across the NRVC, different contextual factors must be considered and concretely treated with complementary steps depending on the governance environment within that individual stage. These efforts will reinforce one another and make "the whole greater than the sum of the parts."

Finally, in a political economy as globalized as the natural resource value chain, an understanding of transnational as well as macro and micro context must be undertaken. Haufler (2012) asserts that "the transnational governance of natural resources has some characteristics of a regime complex or organizational field, given the diverse collection of governance initiatives that has emerged However, there has never been an effort to negotiate a single comprehensive regime, perhaps because it has never before been viewed as a single problem area. It is a loosely structured field, which may explain the divergence in institutional outcomes yet pressure towards similar norms" (9).

As noted in Chapter Two, EITI is the largest extractives international multi-stakeholder group setting governance standards that member nations attempt to achieve. There are, of course, other such groups, for example the Kimberley Process dealing with conflict diamonds or the OGP, which as noted in Chapter Two has a natural resources component. In addition, a number of other supply-chain "due diligence" or transparency initiatives have started in the last few years, such as the Global Sustainability Initiative, a multi-stakeholder group with a focus on mineral mining.

In addition, an extensive body of international treaties and laws address corruption. Table A3.2 lays out the most important ones. Other treaty regimes relevant to our contextual analysis include tax treaties and bilateral investment treaties. A country's ratification and implementation of such treaties are relevant contextual factors, as are international sanction mechanisms, bearing in mind that the enforcement mechanisms for transnational initiatives ranging from the EITI, to supply chain transparency standards, to UN treaties are as diverse as one might suspect.

Overall, various types of TAP-Plus interventions in extractives, particularly in settings where multinational corporations are involved, are likely to have a significantly higher impact in deterring corruption if there is a favorable international context favoring coordination, advocacy, and information sharing vis-à-vis legally binding mechanisms barring and sanctioning corruption abroad, such as the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and the OECD Convention on Combating Bribery.

SPONSORING ORGANIZATION	TREATIES AND LAWS	OPENING OF TREATY	ENTRY INTO FORCE	DESCRIPTION	RATIFICATION STATUS
95th United States Congress	Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977	N/A	Dec. 19, 1977	Amends the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 to make it unlawful for certain classes of persons to make payments to foreign officials	N/A
Organization of American States	Inter-American Convention Against Corruption	Mar. 29, 1996	Mar. 6, 1997	Promotes mechanisms to prevent and combat corruption and facili- tates cooperation among parties	Ratified by 24 Countries
United Nations	United Nations Declaration Against Corrup- tion and Bribery in International Commercial Transactions	N/A	Dec. 16, 1996	Condemns all corrupt practices, endorses work in international fora, and calls for actions by the U.N.	N/A
Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development	Convention on Combating Bribery of Foreign Public Officials in Inter- national Business Transactions	Dec. 17, 1997	Feb. 15, 1999	Establishes legally binding stan- dards to criminalize bribery of foreign public officials in interna- tional business transactions	Ratified by 44 Countries
Council of Europe	Criminal Law Convention on Corruption	Jan. 27, 1999	Jul. 1, 2002	Criminalizes a large number of corrupt practices among mem- bers and provides for comple- mentary criminal law measures and for improved international co-operation in the prosecution of corruption offenses	Ratified by 48 Countries
Council of Europe	Agreement Estab- lishing the Group of States against Corruption	N/A	May 1, 1999	Established GRECO, which aims to improve the capacity of its members to fight corruption by following up compliance with their undertakings	Currently has 49 Members
Council of Europe	Civil Law Conven- tion on Corruption	Nov. 4, 1999	Nov. 1, 2003	Defines common international rules in the field of civil law and corruption and requires parties to provide for remedies for persons who have suffered damage as results of acts of corruption	Ratified by 35 Countries

TABLE A3.2: International and Global-in-Scope Anti-Corruption Treaties and Laws

SPONSORING ORGANIZATION	TREATIES AND LAWS	OPENING OF TREATY	ENTRY INTO FORCE	DESCRIPTION	RATIFICATION STATUS
United Nations	United Nations Convention against Transnational Organized Crime	Nov. 15, 2000	Sep. 29, 2003	Requires parties to criminalize certain conduct and to cooperate on extradition and mutual legal assistance in relation to these crimes	Ratified by 147 Countries
Council of Europe	Additional Protocol to the Criminal Law Convention on Corruption	May 15, 2003	Feb. 1, 2005	Extends the scope of the Conven- tion to jurors and to arbitrators in commercial, civil, and other matters	Ratified by 45 Countries
African Union	African Union Convention on Pre- venting and Com- bating Corruption	Jul. 1, 2003	Aug. 5, 2006	Promotes mechanisms to prevent and combat corruption and facili- tates cooperation among parties	Ratified by 40 Countries
United Nations	United Nations Convention against Corruption	Oct. 31, 2003	Dec. 14, 2005	Promotes measures to prevent and combat corruption and facili- tates international cooperation in the fight against corruption	Ratified by 140 Countries
Parliament of the United Kingdom	Bribery Act 2010	N/A	Jul. 1, 2011	Makes provisions about offenses related to bribery; and for con- nected purposes	N/A

An Initial Framework for LTRC Site and Topic Selection Based on Macro and Micro Context

The framework below allows LTRC researchers considering TAP-Plus interventions to assess which contextual factors merit particular attention and, additionally, inform the identification of complementary approaches beyond TAP that enhance the TAP strategy.⁶⁸ The framework can also be used to decide on the site selection for pilot experiences. When adapting TAP-Plus solutions, the initial small-scale studies in the LTRC research agenda will explicitly focus on what we have described as micro-level contextual factors. Partially, this focus is a practical decision. Compare, for example, the distant complexity of incentives within a massive central government to the relatively simple dynamic of a municipal office with four full-time employees whom most of their constituents know by name. As we commence LTRC's small-scale studies, the latter is more suitable to be problematized as an outcome of interest for this stage of research. In the later, larger-scale aspect of the research program (or even in the later stages of the small-scale studies), we will

68 Given this framework's complex "response surface," we are unlikely to be able to fully investigate every element of this framework to a complete resolution (Pritchett 2018; Andrews et al. 2017).

reconsider our micro focus and other elements of this framework.⁶⁹

Of course, macro-level context will matter greatly even in the small-scale pilot phase. In the above example, macro-level context might well affect the likelihood of changing the incentives of those four employees, because it affects individual incentive calculations. A national government largely perceived as corrupt may create an individual permission structure for local power-holders to engage in similar behavior (Lipman-Blumen 2004; Aguilera and Vadera 2008).

However, more fundamentally, a micro-level focus is appropriate to commence our work because "contextual variables, particularly at the micro level, are likely to be critical to understanding the series of events and interactions between local factors that led up to ... outcomes" (Wetterberg, Hertz, and Brinkerhoff 2015, 28). It is the micro-level factors that:

underpin why some initiatives work, and may not be present in specific instances we are concerned with, and thus lead to intervention failure ... even if the overall climate in a country is favourable for S[ocial] A[ccountability] type action, at the local level it might not be. For example, while a country might have a free and fair media, at the local level, the newspapers might be controlled by particular groups opposed to greater accountability ... Or particular groups / communities may not have access to newspapers, or radio, or TV, or might be illiterate (Joshi 2014, 27, 33-34). Chart A3.1 illustrates how the consideration of macro- and micro-level context affects the way that LTRC decides on investing in a TAP-Plus small-scale study in a given place. We place micro-level context on the horizontal axis and macro-level context on the vertical axis, creating four quadrants of micro- and macro-level context combinations creating an assessment of whether the context explored is "favorable" or "unfavorable."

The table following the chart shows the same information in a more linear way. The framework can be applied to the discussion of any contextual factor being considered that is relevant to the challenge being explored in a given country.

One important consideration here is that context is not static. Parallel reforms in other fields, including those discussed in this paper and additional ones we identify in the next phases, for complementary strategies will be integrated with TAP. We keep in mind that the initiatives are all interlinked, but as a community of reformers we have historically treated them as separate silos. The proponents in one field often mistakenly dismiss other initiatives as non-actionable "context" or secondary considerations. Therefore, the LTRC assessment will carefully look at these and consider whether it is not restricting this framework to dismiss opportunities to strategically bundle TAP and other initiatives or complementary reforms that substantially enhance the effectiveness of the TAP strategy for sustained change.

⁶⁹ We note that contextual factors need not necessarily be regarded as given, particularly in the longer term, and due to broader factors and forces than program-level interventions. Of course, they generally are—or, at best, are seen—as changing slowly and responding to much larger nationwide dynamics. In this sense they are often regarded as "macro"-level factors, in contrast with governance, institutional, and regulatory factors within the natural resource space, which are more amenable to interventions. But that may not always be the case. For instance, the notion of political will is often emphasized as a given macro-level determinant of the success or failure of reforms. But political will can change as a result of particular TAP wins and related complementary developments. We have seen this in the wake of the major exposures of corruption in some Latin American countries, complemented by rule-of-law factors such as a strengthening of the judiciary and the increasing use of plea bargaining. Market incentives, including via international investors and risk rating agencies, can also significantly alter the political economy calculus. There may be multiplicative effects from the combination of selected interventions—a potential outsize impact of working across disciplines/fields, combining TAP and other interventions. See treatment of this issue in Kaufmann, Eisen, and Heller, forthcoming.



CHART A3.1: Context Assessment for LTRC Engagement

ТҮРЕ	MICRO-LEVEL CONTEXT	MACRO-LEVEL CONTEXT	CONTEXTUAL EFFECT ON LIKELIHOOD OF SUCCESS
1	Favorable	Favorable	Enabling
2	Unfavorable	Favorable	Challenging (Micro)
3	Favorable	Unfavorable	Challenging (Macro)
4	Unfavorable	Unfavorable	Prohibitive

Source: Authors.

Type 1: Enabling Context

A bundled, well-designed small scale TAP-Plus intervention with favorable macro- and micro-level contexts will be considered enabled for us in Phase Two. Note that "enabled" does not mean that the intervention will achieve success. Many project design and implementation decisions will ultimately affect the outcome. Rather, in a Type 1 example, context will not make the intervention any more difficult. What this means is that the context dimension being considered will not support or require adding plus elements to the TAP bundle, so we will not test it as part of LTRC.⁷⁰

Type 2: Challenging Micro-Level Context

In these cases, there is an unfavorable micro-level context for the factor being considered, while the macro-level context is still favorable. This problem will affect the effectiveness of transparency, accountability, and participation approaches in reducing corruption. LTRC will promote, in these cases, codesign that is able to adapt the TAP bundle and may add a complementary intervention that focuses on this challenging contextual factor at the micro level. These are the cases on which we will focus.

Type 3: Challenging Macro-Level Context

In these cases, there is an unfavorable macro-level context, while the micro-level context looks favorable. Consideration of a TAP-Plus strategy under these circumstances will depend on the level of engagement and commitment of stakeholders involved. While experimentation is something we will explore, we will not prioritize work in these places, for the reasons described in this annex.⁷¹

⁷⁰ We acknowledge that this is a risk, since if this assumption is false none of the rest of our testing will produce positive results; however, based on the current state of literature in the field as summarized in Chapter Two, we feel comfortable with this foundation.

⁷¹ This annex describes a potential conceptualization of those different relationships. We include it here for two reasons. First, our review of the literature left us less confident in defending this conceptualization, because it is based on less substantial research. Second, it would only become relevant as a second-order question; the first research steps would be to prove the micro-level concepts, regardless of whether these macro- to micro-level relationships are correct.

Type 4: Prohibitive Context

In these cases, neither the micro- nor the macro-level contexts may be favorable enough to expect an intervention to effect the changes necessary to lower corruption or promote sustainable development goals. In those settings, lower priority would be given to trying and introducing a TAP-Plus strategy as part of LTRC, unless openings may exist ahead due to the recent trends at either level.

Still, with so much more to understand about the particular characteristics of potential intervention countries, we need a leap in mindset to explore the notion of a priori parity, or at least neutrality, between TAP on the one hand, and critical reforms in other fields—law, regulation, public finance, administration, competitiveness, and political institutions. As we learn from other phases of LTRC, we may be able to include what we initially thought to be highly challenging or prohibitive spaces in our interventions. We base this on the idea that other reforms overlooked by us can open a window of opportunity for us to intervene with a TAP-Plus strategy that benefits from the integration of diverse reforms for a long-term and sustained impact.

As noted above, the LTRC model for approaching natural resource governance in a given country depicts four quadrants with different combinations of favorable and unfavorable macro- and micro-level contexts, treating all contextual factors proposed for our analysis (see Chapter Three) as the same. This annex describes a possible conceptualization of the different relationships between macro- and microlevel contextual factors.

A **reliant** relationship is one where the micro-level contextual factor is necessarily dependent on the macro-level context, because the micro level either feeds from the macro level or is dependent on the macro level as a foundation. Note that the inverse is not necessarily true; unfavorable conditions of a particular reliant context can exist at the micro level even if there is a favorable macro-level context (Joshi 2014). The rule of law and civic space/media freedom contextual factors could conceivably fall into this category.

- Rule of Law: The rule of law relies on top-down government institutions and effective, fair judicial systems (O'Donnell 2004; Chêne 2009). Rule of law at the micro level is often only effective, and indeed relevant, if some action or injunction locally can be referred to or activate authority and enforcement from the larger state system of justice and accountability. See Selfa's (2004) case of a community land management project as an example.
- Civic Space and Media Freedom: Civic space is heavily reliant on macro-level laws ensuring, protecting, and reinforcing civic freedoms (Brechenmacher 2017; Dupuy 2017). For media to be an effective governance player at the micro level, for example, there must be adequate laws on the books that are enforced and followed at the macro level. Freedoms of speech, expression, and assembly are often first attacked by powerful, elite central forces at the macro level (e.g., Kaye 2016).

Again, for these two reliant contextual factors, unfavorable macro-level context does not imply unfavorable micro-level context, but favorable microlevel context relies on favorable macro-level context. As a concrete example, an outlying community *may* be vulnerable to rights violations by a large local company in a micro-level context where the national ombudsman has little insight, or where there is one radio station owned by a corrupt individual, regardless of how well the central justice system functions or how many media channels exist in more developed and populated zones. But if the national justice system itself is captured or ineffective, or if media is censored by law, peripheral communities will *certainly* be vulnerable to exploitation.

An **independent** contextual factor is the opposite; the existence of favorable micro-level context is not reliant on the situation at the macro level. The micro-level context could function relatively well even without a high level of the macro-level context. Furthermore, it is the micro level of these contextual factors that is primarily relevant to citizens because the more or only direct, relevant impacts on their lives are from how that context manifests in their local communities. Government effectiveness and social trust, political trust, and conflict could fall in this category.

- Government Effectiveness: A local government could be effective at implementing local policies and programs even if the national government is not. Of the most relevant components of effectiveness, it is the local level that is most important and, often, problematic (Campos and Hellman 2005; Ponce and McClintock 2014).
- Social Trust, Political Trust, and Conflict: By our definition, social trust and the grievances that threaten it are most relevant at the micro level because it is this level at which people share or lose trust. Rothstein (2013) even holds that the actions of public officials whom citizens encounter, who are overwhelmingly likely to be local officials, are the primary driver of social trust.

For independent contextual factors, our framework does not suggest that the macro level does not matter. To say that a well-functioning national agency charged with protecting the environment is irrelevant, or that ongoing armed conflict outside of the location of interest will not affect social trust, would be farcical. Rather, we hold that microlevel context matters more. According to Campos and Hellman (2005), "Local officials-even more than their national counterparts-are subject to the risks of capture and clientelism. Countervailing institutions at the local level generally lack the independence and capacity to check these risks" (250). In a review of progress on environmental protection policies, the OECD found that "the implementation gap [is] particularly evident at the sub-national level" (OECD 2007, 12). Although that review is more than a decade old, more recent studies reveal the situation has not greatly advanced (Cust and Viale 2016). In Peru, the level of local bureaucratic capacity is a key determinant of whether mining production and local revenue from royalty payments leads to increases in social conflict (Ponce and McClintock 2014). Whether that violent protest is in response to mining runoff, regional ethnic partisanship (Murshed and Tadjoeddin 2009; Caselli and Coleman 2013), or local resistance to being "pillaged as 'national sacrifice zones'" (Le Billon 2012, 6), it is the immediate, micro-level impact that matters most to individuals and that will most directly affect an intervention's likelihood of success.

ANNEX 4: Key Context Studies

TABLE A4.1: Key Context Studies

YEAR	AUTHOR(S)	METHODOLOGY	GENERAL TOPIC OF INQUIRY	THESIS STATEMENT
2004	Malena, Forster, and Singh	Literature Review	Social Accountability	"The parameters for social accountability are largely determined by the existing political context and culture The existence of these underlying factors, and the potential risks that their absence may pose, must be taken into account when planning social accountability initiatives An unfavorable context does not mean that social accountability activities should not be pursued. In such circumstances, however, an analysis of the key factors influencing the environment for social accountability (and the risks they entail) must be undertaken and appropriate strategies for addressing potential barriers developed" (12)
2005	Basedau	Literature Review; Theory-Building	Resource Curse	"Exceptions and variations [to the resource curse] require theoretical explanation which are most likely found in the country-specific con- text, i.e. adverse effects of resource abundance are most likely only, or particularly, under certain contextual conditions" (22)
2009	Chêne	Literature Review	Law Enforcement	"The success of such interventions is also influ- enced by how well integrated new anti- corruption norms and laws are in local societies. Many anti-corruption institutions are based on new institutions, often established by donors, which lack legitimacy and ownership or are ill fitted to the local context" (5)

YEAR	AUTHOR(S)	METHODOLOGY	GENERAL TOPIC OF INQUIRY	THESIS STATEMENT
2009	Kapoor and Ravi	Observational Data	Corruption	"Our results suggest that policy makers who are strengthening government institutions by improving the quality of education, pursuing reformist policies which encourages foreign investment and introduce measures which lead to better management of public offices, could have a direct impact on corruption" (3)
2010	Gaventa and Barrett	Meta-analysis	Citizen Engagement	"This study has argued that outcomes matter, but they can be understood through a variety of approaches systematic reviews of qualitative data over multiple cases and contexts can be as important and insightful as quantitative and controlled evidence-building in a small number of settings" (60)
2010	Gaventa and McGee	Multiple Case Studies	Citizen Engagement	"States are not built through institutions alone. Organized citizens also play a critical role, through articulating their concerns, mobilizing pressure for change and monitoring government performance" (1)
2011	Pellegrini	Observational Data	Corruption	"We do not find support for the belief that certain national historical characteristics are a cause of corruption" (47)
2012	Barma et al.	Qualitative Analysis: Multiple Case Studies	Resource Curse	"This book provides a much-needed framework for approaching natural resource management more systematically, focusing attention on the governance and political economy dimensions of the quest to transform natural resource rents into sustainable development riches" (x)
2013	O'Meally	Literature Review	Social Accountability	"Context shapes the form and effectiveness of S[ocial] Acc[ountability], but often in unpredict- able and complex ways" (xiv)
2013	Mansuri and Rao	Meta-analysis	Participatory Development	"The evidence suggests that community-based and -driven development projects are best undertaken in a context-specific manner, with a long time horizon and with careful and well- designed monitoring and evaluation systems" (abstract)

YEAR	AUTHOR(S)	METHODOLOGY	GENERAL TOPIC OF INQUIRY	THESIS STATEMENT
2014	Joshi	Theory-Building	Social Accountability	"A two-pronged approach to the study of context seems to be emerging. On the macro side is an approach that examines the exist- ing literature to identify patterns of enabling and constraining contextual factors in broad domains (O'Meally 2013). On the other hand is an approach that attempts to unpack particular causal chains and the microcontextual condi- tions that seem to make them work" (33)
2015	Astuti and MacGregor	Case Study	Participatory Development	"We have identified a fertile politics underpin- ning the production of apparently non-political technical processes. Forest stakeholders are not responding to green economy initiatives in straightforward ways; instead they are exercis- ing agency, strategically engaging in different initiatives to advance their interests. As such initiatives like REDD+ should be seen as sites of contestation, where global priorities encoun- ter diverse political ecologies that shape how programmes unfold. This is shaking up forest governance, rearranging the roles and subjectiv- ities of different actors" (2288)
2015	Rocha Menocal et al.	Meta-analysis	Corruption	"Anti-corruption measures are most effective when other contextual factors support them and when they are integrated into a broader package of institutional reforms" (7)
2016	Baez Camargo and Stahl	Theory-Building	Social Accountability	"The understanding of the local context (includ- ing attributes such as institutional trust, social capital, community values and norms) is the starting point to the development of effective social accountability strategies" (4)
2017	Siregar et al.	Case Study	Participatory Development	"The underlying assumption for the contextual- isation of social accountability initiatives is that the relationship between citizens and service providers is largely determined by a society's social capital on the one hand, and service providers' incentives, on the other hand The objective of any social accountability initiative is to contribute towards a more cooperative relationship between service providers and cit- izens where service providers have an incentive to deliver good services and be accountable towards citizens" (11–12)

YEAR	AUTHOR(S)	METHODOLOGY	GENERAL TOPIC OF INQUIRY	THESIS STATEMENT
2018	Wetterberg, Hertz, and Brinkerhoff	Case Study	Social Accountability	"Use contextual data as a guide, and be prepared to make 'small bets' on testing and adapting social accountability (SA) interventions. The apparent importance of micro-contexts leads us to re-examine the value of investing in collecting detailed macro-con- textual information as input to programmatic decisions for SA interventions. Such inves- tigations may not contribute much a priori understanding of the viability of SA. We suggest large investments in gathering additional infor- mation should be avoided up-front" (O580)
2018	Dewachter et al.	Statistical Analysis, Observational Data/Intra- Country Cross Sectional	Citizen Engagement	"Future accountability interventions should thus not fall into the trap of isolating interventions or actors, but rather study and then tap into the accountability ecosystem in place, in order to support and strengthen them. This is thus a call to bring complexity and context back in" (168)
2018	Levy et al.	Mixed-Methods: Case Study, Statistical Analysis (Observational Data)	Governance; Education Systems	"One task for 'good fit' analysis is to delineate a practical framework for distinguishing among different contexts A multi-level framework provides a platform for giving practical content to the idea of 'good fit'" (14,15).

ANNEX 5: Measures, Indices, and Other Methodological Considerations

A sevidenced by the frequency of caveats throughout this paper, there are significant operational challenges we will have to consider when setting up our small-scale studies. Two such challenges are how to measure and identify favorable and unfavorable levels of context (and, of course, corruption) and how to deal with mutual causality. This annex describes those challenges, offers an example of how to mitigate them, and then highlights our case selection criteria.⁷² We close this annex with a discussion of a sample of potential measures and indices that, among others, we may use.

Measurement and Specification Issues

Just like corruption, our contextual factors certainly meet the Overseas Development Institute's standard of "hard to measure" since they are "abstract, multi-dimensional concepts" and, by definition, manifest in "challenging settings" (Buffardi, Paseanen, and Hearn 2019, 31). Beyond the standard complexity of trying to measure concepts that "are not cardinal numbers and are not inherently orderable" (Pritchett 2018), we have the added complexity of micro and macro scales, as well as a very high degree of endogeneity and mutual causality.

Though by no means clear-cut, identifying contextual factors at the macro scale is perhaps the easiest of

these challenges. A variety of national indices, not without their often-valid criticisms, exist, as overviewed at the end of this annex. At the subnational level, however, such indices are far less common if not nonexistent in a vast majority of cases. Furthermore, as the resource curse literature in Chapter One explains, none of the contextual symptoms of the curse are unidirectional; multi-collinearity and mutual causality abound, both between natural resource wealth and symptoms like conflict and corruption, as well as between those very symptoms.

These challenges are certainly not unique to LTRC (e.g., Mejía Acosta 2013), and as mentioned before, decisions on particular TAP-intervention designs, indicators, and data collection strategies will necessarily depend on the final opportunities we identify during scoping. Still, we find two branches of the governance research and methodological literature encouraging and instructional: contribution and process tracing and the subnational comparative method. We provide a short overview of these approaches, using the example of social trust.

Subnational Comparative Method

Because our macro/micro-level framework theoretically recognizes the "inherent uneven-ness within states and societies," we can use the subnational

⁷² Note that because we will only be able to test a subset of the universe of possible intersections of TAP design, geographic selection, and contextual factors, this section is still very much in the high-level "recognition" style of the rest of the paper. More granular design decisions will need to be postponed until actual opportunities have been identified, subject to the parameters of our criteria.

comparative method to practically leverage how a "change initiative is likely to unfold in diverse ways across districts, provinces, and sectors" to study the "patterns of variation that otherwise would be hidden by homogenizing national averages" (Fox 2015, 235). Snyder (2001), one of the leading proponents of this approach, explains:

A focus on subnational units can make it easier to construct controlled comparisons that increase the probability of obtaining valid causal inferences Two strategies of subnational analysis can be distinguished: (1) within-nation comparisons that focus on subnational cases within a single country; and (2) between-nation comparisons that focus on subnational cases across countries. Moreover, these two strategies can be fruitfully combined in a single study Subnational units within a single country can often be more easily matched on cultural, historical, ecological, and socioeconomic dimensions than can national units ... [and] comparing similar subnational units across distinct national units may be a more powerful strategy for making valid causal inferences than comparing national units (94-96).

In other words, it is possible, but not automatic or easy, to combine within-nation and between-nation subnational comparisons to control for the different levels of context necessary to test different TAP-Plus approaches.

As previously mentioned, macro-level context and corruption data will not be overly difficult to acquire. To avoid the numerous critiques leveled at various indices in this space (e.g., Andersson and Heywood 2009), we will try to identify extreme or deviant cases rather than marginal, unclear situations (Seawright 2016), and we will supplement any index with on-the-ground, participatory verification with country change-agents. At the micro level, however, we will largely have to identify the high and low levels of context and corruption as a key first step of intervening. While some barometers include some usable subnational questions—such as Afrobarometer's on participation in community groups and extensive questioning about bribery and impunity—at best these data are at the regional (state) level. Further specification will be necessary along key questions such as those for social trust suggested by Baez Camargo and Stahl's contextualization handbook (2016). Additionally, we will likely need to proxy for corruption in our research design to complement perceptions data per the guidance of Kaufmann, Kraay, and Mastruzzi (2007).

- The NRGI case studies in Boampong (2012) and Prijosusilo (2012), for example, used institutionalization of elements of transparency and civic monitoring as their proxy for reduced corruption.
- One of the leading anti-corruption impact evaluators, Olken, has proxied corruption as missing rice (2006) and discrepancies in reported construction costs and independent cost estimates (2007).
- Pre-analysis plans in the natural resource iteration of the innovative Metaketa research initiative included a variety of proxies, from comparing satellite data of actual deforestation against community-agreed logging levels (Christensen et al. 2019), to tracing the investigation and sanction of community complaints made to the national environmental prosecutor (Kopas et al. 2018).

While the most appropriate proxy or proxies will of course depend on the specific project, we are confident that such proxies are feasible for any small-scale studies we might consider.

For our practical purposes, we would follow the recommendation from Wetterberg, Hertz, and Brinkerhoff (2015) to

Use contextual data as a guide, but be prepared for unexpected outcomes We, therefore, recommend that practitioners use available contextual data to guide decisions about where to introduce [TAP] interventions, but avoid large investments in time and resources to gather additional information on context. Data-gathering efforts should be focused on micro-contexts (Joshi 2014) as opposed to completing depictions of macro-contexts (O'Meally 2013), which have less direct effects on [the intervention] (Wetterberg, Hertz, and Brinkerhoff 2015, 28-29).

We therefore expect to employ a similar methodology to that employed in Phase Two of the Transparency for Development mixed methods evaluation (Kosack et al. 2017). That is, we could:

- Use regional-level data, where available and useful, to delimit regions of relevance from which to sample. Note that extreme or deviant cases will be easier to identify and can be just as useful, if not more so, at examining causal pathways (Seawright 2016).
- 2. Randomly select communities within those specified regions of relevance and verify the resulting samples with key informant interviews and stakeholder focus groups to ensure representation of, and measure, the micro-level contextual factors and corruption.
- 3. Closely collaborate with a national CSO with extensive local linkages to validate, inform, and support each step.

As Mejía Acosta (2013) notes, "organising systematic questionnaires for key stakeholders or beneficiary populations is expensive, time-consuming and technically demanding" but is still "perhaps the most effective way to generate detailed and valid data on causal processes [and] document impacts and areas for improvement" (S102). Methods of prioritizing evidence before collection, such as contribution tracing, can make this data collection more feasible (Befani and Stedman-Bryce 2017). More specifically, by "assessing the quality, strength, power, or probative value that select pieces of evidence hold in support of (or against)" a causal argument when planning for data collection, rather than collecting as much data as possible for post hoc prioritization, we can increase "the likelihood that the evaluator asks the 'right' questions of the 'right' people and looks in the 'right' places with the most appropriate tools" (Befani and Stedman-Bryce 2017, 45, 57).

On the mutual causality and interaction effects of the contextual factors, we actually expect this to be less of an issue in practice than might be expected, at least in the small-scale study phase of research.⁷³ First, when designing the LTRC pilots we are not building a randomized controlled trial or analyzing large statistical datasets, but rather applying nimbler qualitative approaches, so multi-collinearity in contextual components of our theory of change is acceptable. In fact, part of the analysis will be to understand the interrelation of contextual factors. Second, the close interrelationships of the contextual factors mean that many of the subnational cases we may select are likely to share similar combinations of contextual factors. A case where only one contextual factor was a challenge, such as a micro instance of very high social trust but very low civic space, would be theoretically and logically rare, not to mention less externally valid. Finally, we recognize that even the intentional, nimble, adaptive approaches we will employ may not be sufficient for us to shield against all the specific challenges during the pilot phase. Even so, evidence strongly suggests such approaches can help with successful implementation (e.g., Andrews et al. 2017) and even more strongly help identify implementation breakdowns (Aston 2018).

73 We recognize it will be a challenge in the following phase of longer-form evaluation.

In sum, like the Transparency for Development (T4D) program and especially in this first phase,⁷⁴ we anticipate being limited to drawing evidence-informed, but not comprehensively definitive,

conclusions about the plausibility and implausibility of various contextual and design differences in determining any differences we observe in the relationship of process and outcomes. To reiterate, the emphasis here is on plausibility. There is always a chance that even a contextual factor that is not correlated with any difference in the relationship of process and outcomes is still influencing that relationship indirectly, just as there is always a chance that a design difference that appears important is only spuriously related to the relationship between process and outcome. Such spurious correlations and interactive or mediating factors can be examined if the sample of examples is large enough. Given our small sample size, the goal of the evaluation is to make as much progress as possible on the research questions, as well as to set the stage for more targeted exploration of the most promising design factors and contextual differences our small sample reveals (Kosack et al. 2017, 34).

Case Criteria and Characteristics

In addition to these methodological considerations, we will evaluate each study opportunity through a set of criteria. We recognize that there may be tradeoffs for each potential small-scale study. Therefore, the criteria below will not be used as a rubric, but rather as a set of questions to aid in study selection and design.

• Ethics: Are we sufficiently confident that our intervention will improve the status quo and that no participants will be placed in harm's way? As

the discussion of the contextual factors of interest made clear, we are interested in testing out TAP-Plus approaches in challenging contexts but do not directly aim to improve those contexts as a primary outcome. As a result, there will inevitably be some situations that are too fragile for us to ethically intervene, either because TAP would possibly endanger participants, or because an entirely different intervention than LTRC is needed.

- Collaboration: Is there a capable partner organization or government partner with whom LTRC can co-design and/or co-implement the study? LTRC will collaborate with global, multilateral, national, and especially local partners to both help with feasibility and ensure the study responds to local challengers and stakeholders.
- Importance: Is this research question important to the most pressing natural resource governance problems facing citizens, policymakers, implementers, and advocates? LTRC is a valuable platform to test new hypotheses and interventions. Before deciding which small-scale studies to implement, LTRC will try to assess the relative importance of interventions through interviews with key relevant stakeholders at all levels. We seek to avoid an extractive research process that privileges our parochial interests over those of local stakeholders.

In addition, there are key intrinsic characteristics to consider when designing potential small-scale studies. In designing them, we will seek to diversify the studies to include a variety of these characteristics in an effort to understand the replicability and applicability of the results to various conditions, thereby allowing LTRC to test a degree of external validity. Characteristics that will be considered and diversified include the following:

A. Context: As described in the LTRC research framework, small-scale studies will focus on micro-level contexts along government

⁷⁴ Also like the T4D program, we remind readers that the small-scale studies are the initial phase of research. These results will inform the next phase: scaled-up impact evaluations of promising approaches.

effectiveness; rule of law; media freedom and civic space; and social trust, political trust, and conflict. In all small-scale studies, LTRC will focus on contexts of high macro-level context, for the reasons detailed in Annex 3.

- B. Geography: For the small-scale studies, geography refers to both global regions and countries as well as diverse areas within a given country. LTRC will seek to implement the small-scale studies in a variety of geographies as relevant. In identifying geographies, LTRC will research and include any relevant information about the country, region, and municipality, such as jurisdictional rankings from key indices.
- C. Scale: For LTRC, the scale of the studies will depend on the type of study being conducted. For example, a participatory budgeting study would necessarily occur at the municipal level for reasons of feasibility, while a study on beneficial ownership would need to occur at a state or national level with authority over such matters. Here again, LTRC will seek to diversify the scale of the studies along the local, regional, or national scale, as relevant and feasible for the type of study and the specific questions being investigated about the macro/micro scale.
- D. Value Chain Link: LTRC will identify the specific link along the natural resource value chain that the study will target. Here again, LTRC will try to diversify value chain focus most likely through diverse intervention types to generate information on the "interventionability" along the value chain.⁷⁵
- E. **Resource:** LTRC will focus specifically on nonrenewable natural resources, namely mining, oil, and gas. Due to the different corruption issues that plague renewable and non-renewable

resources, we recognized a need to limit the scope of work to create greater comparability between the various studies. With the similarly timed third Metaketa initiative specifically targeting renewable natural resource corruption, we see non-renewables as our greatest value add.⁷⁶

- F. **Private Sector:** LTRC will attempt to diversify study design to include interventions that have various degrees of interaction with the private sector. In some cases, the private sector may be joint partners, while in others private sector actions may be measures as an outcome of the intervention. This will naturally depend on the context and nature of the local corruption issue; private sector participation is not a necessary criterion.
- G. **Technology:** Similarly, we will attempt to diversify our study design to include interventions that use varying degrees of technology. We would like to expand the body of work on the potential role and effectiveness of technology on natural resource interventions, but we also recognize the challenges in prioritizing technology above "fit."⁷⁷

Existing Measures and Indices

Finally, this appendix will review the relevant measures and indices for contextual factors of interest. The contextual factors discussed throughout this paper are critical to understanding the theory of change by which TAP reforms can influence social development outcomes and levels of corruption. This appendix will offer a general discussion of descriptions and the use of multiple measures and indices for each contextual factor of interest. It will review why the multiple-measure approach is effective for their primary use in this paper: case selection for

⁷⁵ Corruption risks by step in the value chain are detailed in the paper.

⁷⁶ See http://egap.org/metaketa/metaketa-iii-natural-resource-governance for more information.

⁷⁷ See the Making All Voices Count program, which generated many excellent works elaborating on this challenge.

future small-scale studies/interventions. Finally, it will review each measure for each of the contextual factors, describing some of the benefits and drawbacks of each.

For the purpose of this paper, we focus on five contextual factors of interest that will influence the effects of TAP reforms. They are (1) social trust, political trust, and conflict; (2) rule of law, (3) civic space and media freedom; (4) government effectiveness and capacity; and (5) capture. Full definitions of each of these variables and associated concepts can be found in Chapter Three.

Matching measures to concepts

Given the wide array of contextual factors under consideration, our ability to match them to specific existing measures is highly variable. For some contextual factors, there is a precise measure of the underlying, relevant concept reflected in a given variable. In other cases, we can rely on proxies that attempt to get at those critical underlying concepts but are not exact measures. In other situations, indices may include measures of key concepts that reflect the contextual factor of interest and so can break the index apart to capture the relevant metrics. Where that approach is not possible—namely where data are incomplete or unavailable-we will work to match categorical measures to our concepts of interest and data, while remaining sensitive to the dangers of conceptual stretching.

For example, the Democracy Index offers a broad assessment of a contextual factor of interest—regime type—but can also be used to measure disaggregated or topical concepts within a democratic (or non-democratic) system. Compiled by the Economist Intelligence Unit (EIU), the Democracy Index categorizes governments into four groups: "Full Democracies," "Flawed Democracies," "Hybrid Regimes," and "Authoritarian Regimes." To create those groupings based on the quality of democracy, the Democracy Index scores countries in each of five categories: "Electoral Process and Pluralism," "Functioning of Government," "Political Participation," "Political Culture," and "Civil Liberties." EIU explains that across those five categories, it scores each country on a set of 60 indicators that are combined within and across categories to create an overall score and rank.⁷⁸

The index provides an overarching typology for rough categorization, but if a project sought to evaluate minority participation rights, there is a corresponding sub-score for every country. Similarly, there is a separate sub-score on women's participation rights in each country, among other potentially useful subscores. We envision using these measures in a variety of ways to support project design, implementation, and evaluation. Primarily, they will be used to select places to conduct the next stage of this project, small-scale studies/interventions, and to design the interventions in ways that will reflect and accommodate the realities on the ground in the sites that we select. In future stages of the research, we will likely employ these measures to evaluate the success of our interventions and to evaluate findings in the context of broader theories in the discipline. At this stage of the project-the selection of sites for small-scale studies and the design of interventions-the more data, the better. Gathering as much relevant information and metrics about the underlying concepts behind the key contextual factor of interest as possible is essential to good, thoughtful design. Unlike an empirical analysis that requires a single, clean, and clear measure of a specific variable, this portion of the project requires comprehensive knowledge. As a result, we will often use multiple metrics for each contextual factor, even in cases where measures may deviate from each other or suggest different findings.

For the analysis stage, variable selection will be more tailored and reflective of the methodologies and analysis chosen. Exactly which measures to include is an ongoing discussion and will form part of the design work as well. To frame these discussions,

78 A full description of the methodology used to calculate the Democracy Index can be found in Kekic (2007).

we now turn to a discussion of some of the benefits and drawbacks of certain measures for each contextual factor.

Measures of Conflict and Social Trust

Fragile States Index

There are three measures we may use to assess conflict within a country. They are presented in no specific order. First is the Fragile States Index (FSI) from the Fund for Peace. The Fragile States Index offers a dynamic, complex measure of "the normal pressures that all states experience [and identifies] when those pressures are outweighing a state's capacity to manage those pressures."79 The FSI offers both an overall score that measures the fragility of a state and a subsequent ranking of 178 countries. In addition, because the FSI has been calculated over the course of several years, it also presents an opportunity to measure annual changes to demonstrate possible trends within countries. The overall score is a useful tool for assessing fragility, based largely on internal conflicts within a country. However, the overall score also factors in a series of individual measures (labeled "indicators" under FSI) that may demonstrate fragility, but not necessarily conflict, in and of themselves.⁸⁰ In some situations, it may be wise to use individual indicators or groups of indicators to address more clearly the concept of conflict.

The use of the FSI must be carefully considered. The FSI is intended not only to identify conflict but can be used to consider possible, future conflict. In that way, and for the purposes of this project, if we are seeking to evaluate current, active conflict, the overall FSI score may not be the most useful measure. It is under that circumstance that the use of component indicators will be more accurate, or another measure may be more apt.

State Fragility Index

A similar score to measure conflict is the State Fragility Index from the Center for Systemic Peace. Like the FSI, the State Fragility Index is a composite measure of a country's fragility, based on a series of individual indicator values.⁸¹ The Index allows for an individual assessment of a country's fragility as well as a ranking of countries throughout the world. This measure also offers a sub-focus on conflict. The conceptualization of conflict can be multifaceted. It can include armed internal conflict, international conflict with another country in which fighting happens within one's own country, and international conflict in which fighting happens entirely abroad. The Armed Conflict Indicator built into the State Fragility Index includes each. That indicator, for example, would equate the United States and Afghanistan being labeled "at war," despite the effect of conflict in each country being vastly different. This is not to undermine that determination, as there are aspects of conflict—cost, loss of life, political attention, etc.—that can affect both countries. However, for the purposes of this project, such a designation may be less useful, and in this case, the overall index score, the ranking, or other sub-scores/indicators may be more relevant.

Worldwide Governance Index

Finally, The Worldwide Governance Index by the World Bank is a measure that we will use throughout this project for multiple contextual factors. The repeated use of this Index (like the repeated use of other measures/indices which we will discuss

⁷⁹ A full description of the methodology can be found in The Fund for Peace (2017).

⁸⁰ The FSI uses an index of 12 indicators to calculate the overall score. They are: (1) security apparatus, (2) factionalized elites, (3) group grievance, (4) economic decline, (5) uneven economic development, (6) human flight and brain drain, (7) state legitimacy, (8) public services, (9) human rights and rule of law, (10) demographic pressures, (11) refugees and internally displaced persons (IDPs), and (12) external intervention.

⁸¹ The State Fragility Index is based on sub-composites—an Effectiveness Score and a Legitimacy Score—composed of separate measures each for effectiveness and legitimacy for each of four categories: security, political, economic, and social. In addition, the Index is based on an Armed Conflict Indicator, Regime Type, Net Oil Production or Consumption, and Regional Effects. A full description of the methodology can be found in Marshall and Cole (2014).

below) occurs because of the comprehensiveness of the measure. In assessing "governance," any quality measure or index would need to factor in numerous concepts and variables in order to achieve the intended task. For the purpose of the Index, the World Bank seeks to measure "governance," defined as "the traditions and institutions by which authority in a country is exercised. This includes the process by which governments are selected, monitored and replaced; the capacity of the government to effectively formulate and implement sound policies; and the respect of citizens and the state for the institutions that govern economic and social interactions among them."⁸²

While the World Bank's Governance Index is one of the most widely used metrics and datasets, for the purposes of this project, the aggregate Index score is not useful. Component parts of this Index, however, are highly important for assessing the contextual factors in this project. One category within the Governance Index measures "Political Stability and Absence of Violence/Terrorism." This category is calculated based on more than a dozen variables collected from a variety of sources that focus on inter- and intra-state war, intensity of conflicts, presence of terrorism, and rioting, among others.⁸³ This portion of the index and the underlying data offer significant insight into the presence, nature, and degree of conflict, which will be useful for this contextual factor.

Transformation Index

LTRC's primary measure of social trust derives from one component of the Bertelsman Stiftung's Transformation Index (BTI). The BTI includes two separate measures: the Status Index and the Management Index.⁸⁴ The Status Index assesses the state of a nation's democracy and market economy. The Management Index, which is less relevant for our purposes here, assesses the management performance of national leadership. Both indices are calculated by selecting multiple experts per country—typically two—and surveying them on a host of criteria.

The Status Index's democracy assessment includes five sub-criteria. One, which measures political and social integration, is of particular interest because it disaggregates an assessment of social trust. The Political and Social Integration sub-criterion is based upon four sub-criteria of its own: party system; interest groups; approval of democracy; and, most importantly here, social capital. This social capital measure "aims to assess the level of trust between citizens, which fosters cooperation and mutual support for purposes of self-help, rather than primarily to further political objectives. Social capital may also be based on cultural patterns of interaction characterizing traditional societies" (BTI 2018a, 24). Nations are ranked on a scale from 1 to 10, where 1 indicates "a very low level of trust among the population" and rudimentary civic self-organization; 10 indicates "a very high level of trust among the population and a large number of autonomous, self-organized groups, associations and organizations" (24). LTRC's other utilizations of the BTI data are discussed further below.

Measures of Rule of Law

Worldwide Governance Index

Again, the Worldwide Governance Index is a critical tool for assessing rule of law. One subcategory of the Governance Index is simply labeled "Rule of Law." The measure is calculated using dozens of different variables that seek to measure the underlying concept and do so quite effectively. They include variables like property rights, personal experiences as victims of violence, confidence in the judicial system,

⁸² A full description of the methodology can be found in World Bank Group (n.d.).

⁸³ The complete list of variables used for this category can be found in World Bank (n.d.b) "Political Stability."

⁸⁴ The Transformation Index data can be found in BTI (2018b).

speediness of trials, equal treatment, fairness of the judicial process, and measures of enforcement of the law, among others.⁸⁵ Both the category as a whole and many of the individual variables used to calculate the categorical measure will be helpful in fully assessing our contextual factor of interest.

However, the broader categorical measure may well be factoring in too many concepts that go beyond the purpose of this paper. Moreover, we may ultimately be more interested in how specific violations of justice or the rule of law or specific instances of impunity may manifest in a given country at a given time. The power of the comprehensiveness of this category (and the broader measure) is that it offers us the ability to drill down into very specific details of the contextual factor we seek to assess.

Human Freedom Index

In addition, the Cato Institute produces the Human Freedom Index (HFI), a comprehensive measure of freedom throughout the world. The aggregate measure—the Human Freedom score—combines "Personal Freedom" and "Economic Freedom," each of which is based on a significant number of subcategories and variables within each.⁸⁶ Like the Worldwide Governance Index, the comprehensive nature of the HFI lends itself to multiple uses for measuring the contextual factors of interest in this project. Also like the Worldwide Governance Index, the aggregate measure from this index is less useful for measuring individual contextual factors in this project, as the HFI includes such a broad array of sub-measures. Even the two component parts that make up the Human Freedom Score—Personal Freedom and Economic Freedom are too broad for the purposes of this project.

Despite the breadth of the HFI, individual categories and variables are extremely informative to several parts of this project. For the purposes of Impunity, Justice, and the Rule of Law, the HFI offers five key categories that will provide relevant and useful data.

One of these categories under the Personal Freedom subindex is the Rule of Law, which is composed of three parts: procedural justice, civil justice, and criminal justice. In addition, Personal Freedom includes Women's Security and Safety, a category with a key set of variables that focus on women's equal treatment, access to justice, and possible impunity experience by their government on account of gender. Next, under Personal Freedom is a third category labeled Identity and Relationships which considers gender, marriage and parental rights, and freedoms to divorce. Finally, under Personal Freedom is a fourth category labeled Religion that focuses on equal treatment and protection as well as the types of impunity religious groups face from their government. A fifth category, under Economic Freedom and relevant to Rule of Law, is Legal System and Property Rights. This category includes measures of judicial independence, interference in the legal system, and the enforceability of contracts, among others. Combined, these data from the HFI provide significant insight for the purposes of this contextual factor.

Freedom in the World Score

Every two years, Freedom House issues its Freedom in the World report that assesses levels of freedom in countries across the world, assigns a score to each country, ranks each country, and attaches a label based on how democratic or free that country is. Freedom House explains that their measure "assesses the real-world rights and freedoms enjoyed by individuals, rather than governments or government performance per se. Political rights and civil liberties can be affected by both state and non-state actors, including insurgents and other armed groups."87 The Freedom in the World score is an index composed of two broad ratings: one based on political rights and one based on civil liberties. For each, there are a series of indicators/variables on which a country is rated based on answers to dozens of specific, targeted questions, and those ratings are combined to produce an overall score.

⁸⁵ The complete list of variables used for this category can be found in World Bank (n.d.c) "Rule of Law."

⁸⁶ The complete list of variables used in this Index can be found in Vásquez and Porčnik (2017).

⁸⁷ A full description of the methodology can be found in Freedom House (2016a).

The broader score is too comprehensive to be useful for measuring individual, key, contextual factors of interest in this project, as are the two broader ratings. However, some of the individual indicators/variables that Freedom House employs are useful for multiple contextual factors used in this project.

For Rule of Law, there are multiple categories and questions that assess the level of justice and the stability of the rule of law in a country. They include protections for minority groups, the presence of oppression of specific groups, judicial independence, the presence of the rule of law in civil and criminal proceedings, due process rights, and equal treatment under the law, among others. The ratings for specific questions that fall into these categories will highlight the types of activities, freedoms, or violations of freedoms that are useful in assessing this contextual factor.

Measuring Civic Space and Media Freedom

Human Freedom Index

The Cato Institute's Human Freedom Index also provides important insight into both civic space and media freedom. This is unsurprising given the explicit focus on freedom that guides the broader index. Just like the HFI's applicability to our understanding of Rule of Law, its use here rests not with the broader Human Freedom score. Instead, component parts of this index are most useful. Two categories of data are most relevant for purposes of our project. First, reflecting civic space, the Personal Freedom component of the HFI includes a category measuring Association, Assembly and Civil Society. This includes measures of rights to associate and assemble peaceably, as well as the ability to organize political parties and other civil and cultural organizations. Second, reflecting media freedom, the Personal Freedom component of the HFI includes a category measuring Expression and Information. This category focuses largely on press rights, including variables measuring press killed or jailed, laws or norms that influence or control media and its content, and other measures.

These data offer information on individuals' access to each other and to information within the country in which they live. They also highlight the efforts and successes that governments have in suppressing people and information within society.

Freedom in the World Score

One of the two main categories of ratings used in Freedom House's Freedom in the World score involves civil liberties. Several of the questions used to rate a country's civil liberties closely reflect important concepts underlying one of our contextual factors, Civic Space and Media Freedom. Freedom House queries a host of issues related to media freedom including a free and independent media, citizens' access to media, levels of censorship, and the safety of journalists. Beyond media freedom, Freedom House considers a broad definition of civic space, examining such items as freedom to form parties, freedom of cultural expression, religious freedom, academic freedom, free speech rights, freedom to assemble and demonstrate, and freedom to form organizations and unions.

Measures of each of these are critical to understanding the openness of a society and the possible challenges that exist society-wide, within specific groups in a society, or for individuals to gather and consider information in society. Each offers value to our understanding of Civic Space and Media Freedom at the national level and combined will provide more detailed knowledge of the environment within a country.

Civil Space Monitor

CIVICUS's Civic Space Monitor assesses civic space conditions, defined as "the respect in policy and practice for the freedoms of association, peaceful assembly and expression" (CIVICUS 2018, 1) of 196 nations in real time.⁸⁸ Researchers aggregate a range of qualitative and quantitative sources to derive a final civic space rating on a five-category scale: open, narrowed, obstructed, repressed, and closed. Data reviewed and coded includes reports regarding civil space produced by civil society, international indices on civic space indicators generated by civil society organizations and academic institutions, reports by CIVICUS's research partners and interviews with national-level civil society groups; and input from users of the CIVI-CUS website. CIVICUS places the greatest weight on sources produced at the national level and continuously updates each nation's base score based on new information. An independent panel of eleven experts reviews all changes in country ratings.

Freedom of the Press Score

Every two years, Freedom House produces its Freedom *of the Press* report. The report produces scores and rankings for each country based on levels of press freedom. The scores are calculated from a set of 23 broad questions and over 100 targeted questions that fall into three categories: Legal Environment, Political Environment, and Economic Environment.⁸⁹ Answers to those questions are scored, aggregated, and ultimately produce a threepart rating determining whether a country's press is free, partly free, or not free.

These measures provide a comprehensive evaluation of the freedom of the press in each country. The three-part rating system is a blunt instrument that can be used in many contexts, but the trichotomy offers little granular understanding of the media freedom context within a country. However, values assigned for each question provide a bounty of knowledge useful for this project.

The Legal Environment category includes questions such as whether the law ensures freedom of press

and of expression (and if such laws are enforced), press restrictions under the law, libel laws and penalties, whether the legal system fairly adjudicates press cases, and whether media regulatory bodies are independent, among others. The Political Environment category includes questions regarding whether government or a party determines media content, if there is (un)official censorship, if journalists self-censor, if citizens have access to diverse media, and if journalists face violence or threats, among others. Finally, the Economic Environment category examines whether there is state ownership of media, whether media ownership is transparent, whether media ownership is concentrated, and whether the creation of reporting outlets or platforms is cost-prohibitive, among others. The answers and scoring of these questions paint a comprehensive, day-to-day, on-the-ground picture of the media environment within a country and the specific types of threats or challenges (if any) that exist.

While the Freedom of the Press Survey offers critical and keen insights into media freedom, it has limitations. Some of the questions asked as part of the survey touch on civic space and civic freedoms, such as the rights of expression. However, in order to fully assess the contextual factor of interest—civic space and media freedom—these data will be best used in conjunction with other measures of Civic Space in order to gather a full understanding of this variable.

World Press Freedom Index

Reporters Without Borders (RSF) also compiles its own survey of press freedom: the World Press Freedom Index (WPFI). In some ways, the WPFI is similar to Freedom House's Press Freedom Survey, but it differs in a few key ways. First, RSF sends its questionnaire to "journalists, media lawyers, researchers, and other media specialists" in 180 countries, translating the text of the survey into 20

⁸⁸ A full description of the methodology can be found in CIVICUS (2018).

⁸⁹ A complete list of the questions asked in this survey can be found in Freedom House (2017).

different languages.⁹⁰ Next, it combines the results of the survey with "quantitative data on abuses and acts of violence against journalists during the period evaluated" to produce an index.⁹¹ The index both produces an absolute score for each of the 180 countries and allows for a ranking of countries from most to least free.

The WPFI offers a broad-based assessment of media freedom, largely gathering information from individuals on the ground who are doing the work of journalism every day. The 2016 survey included 70 questions that fell into seven categories: pluralism, media independence, environment and self-censorship, legislative framework, transparency, infrastructure, and abuses. There is significant overlap between some of the underlying concepts queried in the WPFI and Freedom House's Freedom of the Press Survey. However, differences exist between the two. The result is that both surveys are useful in revealing information about media freedom within countries across the world and should be used in concert with each other. The WPFI, like other indices, can offer some information through its aggregate score, but can provide a significant level of data based on survey results for each of the 70 questions. That flexibility allows us to focus on specific types of media restrictions, threats, and challenges in order to understand in detail what is happening within a given country.

It should be noted that, like the Freedom of the Press Survey, the WPFI touches on but does not thoroughly assess the issue of Civic Space, which is part of the contextual factor being assessed. That stands not as a criticism of the WPFI but instead reflects its important focus. Like the Freedom of the Press Survey, it should be used in concert with other measures of Civic Space to provide that necessary full evaluation of this contextual factor.

Measuring Government Effectiveness

Worldwide Governance Index

The Worldwide Governance Index also provides insight into the broad category of Government Effectiveness. In fact, the Index provides a category by that precise name and is one of the most widespread measures of governance used across social science disciplines. The World Bank describes this category as measuring "perceptions of the quality of public services, the quality of the civil service and the degree of its independence from political pressures, the quality of policy formulation and implementation, and the credibility of the government's commitment to such policies."⁹²

Specifically, the category captures the ability of government to provide basic services effectively and also includes measures of bureaucratic capacity and quality. While measures of government effectiveness could surely capture many more concepts than this, the Governance Index category does well to capture measures of bureaucracy. Other measures will be needed to highlight the effectiveness of other areas of government. At the same time, and as with criticisms of many other measures, this metric does not allow the capture of subnational variation. While that is true across contextual factors and the measures we employ to capture them, that is a particular challenge when discussing the quality of bureaucracy and the distribution of public goods and services, as in many countries this is done largely or in part by subnational governments or decentralized units of the national government.

The Democracy Index

The Economist's Economist Intelligence Unit produces its own index assessing the quality of democracy in countries across the world. The index is calculated, and countries are sorted, according to their index score into four regime types: Full Democracies,

⁹⁰ The English language text of the 2016 survey can be found in RSF (2016).

⁹¹ A full description of the methodology can be found in RSF (2018a).

⁹² The complete list of variables used for this category can be found in World Bank (n.d.a) "Government Effectiveness."

Flawed Democracies, Hybrid Regimes, and Authoritarian Regimes. The index is tabulated using 60 indicators divided into five categories: Electoral Process and Pluralism, Functioning of Government, Political Participation, Political Culture, and Civil Liberties. These indicators are effectively scaled and added to create the index.

Like the Worldwide Governance Index, this index is comprehensive, and its broad use will not necessarily be useful in assessing individual contextual factors. However, using individual indicators by category will be useful. This is particularly true for measuring Government Effectiveness. Under the category "Functioning of Government," there are a host of indicators that well-reflect the underlying concept of effectiveness. They include whether elected representatives determine policy, whether checks and balances are present, whether special domestic groups—such as economic or religious groups exert non-democratic parallel power, whether the civil service is capable of implementing policy, and whether citizens have confidence in government and in parties. Data from these individual indicators and each country's measure in the Functioning of Government category will be an important means of assessing this contextual factor.

Transformation Index

As noted earlier, the Bertelsmann Stiftung produces the Transformation Index (BTI), which assesses the quality of governance in a country as well as changes (transformation) in the quality of that governance. The measure very broadly examines governance, but also includes a host of indicators (scored from survey questions) that granularly measure the effectiveness of government institutions. The index is calculated by selecting multiple experts per country—typically two—and surveying them on a host of concepts. The most recent survey is divided into three sections: Democracy, Market Economy, and Management. Those sections are divided into 17 categories and 49 questions.⁹³ Each question is answered with a value; values are aggregated to create scores and eventually an index.

There are a host of relevant questions to assess Government Effectiveness, particularly in the context of this project. These questions include (but are not limited to) whether a country has a basic administrative structure; whether democratically elected representatives have the effective power to govern; whether democratic institutions are capable of performing; whether there are constraints on political leadership's governance capacity; whether government sets and maintains strategic priorities; whether government is effective in implementing its own policies; whether government is innovative and flexible; and whether government efficiently uses human, financial, and organizational resources. These assessments of each country for the relevant questions related to Government Effectiveness will assist in our evaluation of the key contextual factors of interest.

The BTI covers a set of 129 countries that "have yet to achieve a fully consolidated democracy and market economy, have populations of more than two million (excepting seven states chosen as particularly interesting cases), and are recognized as sovereign states" (BTI 2016). Many of these countries will be relevant for the purposes of this project; however, countries not included under this measure will also be relevant. For developed democracies and advanced economies, the Bertelsmann Stiftung also issues Sustainable Governance Indicators for an additional 41 counties in the OECD, EU, and/or in the Eurozone. While the surveys are not identical, there is considerable overlap, particularly with regard to measures of government effectiveness.

⁹³ The full division of these concepts is available on p. 9 of the full report, available here: https://www.bti-project.org/fileadmin/files/BTI/ Downloads/Zusaetzliche_Downloads/Codebook_BTI_2016.pdf.

Measuring Capture

Corruption Perceptions Index

Transparency International produces a measure each year called the Corruption Perceptions Index (CPI). It is a complex index that aggregates measures from a group of 13 other indices, of which some data are applicable to some countries, while others are not. For example, some of those 13 measures look only at Africa or only at Asia. Indicator values are re-scaled and aggregated to produce a score for each country. That score provides a ranking for all countries in the world, and comparisons can be made across space and over time.

While the Corruption Perceptions Index offers insight into a variety of types of corruption that can manifest in a country (whether it is the type of corruption viewed as petty or that which is considered grand). However, within this index, there are values that assess state capture—one of the key contextual factors in this document. Two of the measures used to assess state capture ask directly about that concept and are drawn from the African Development Bank's (ADB) Country Policy and Institutional Assessment and the World Bank's Country Policy and Institutional Assessment.⁹⁴ These are two of the most relevant measures of state capture among databases across the world. However, they come with limitations. The ADB's measure covers only 54 African countries. The World Bank's measure covers only 95 countries across the world. This project will look both within and outside of Africa, making the former applicable only in those cases on the continent. The latter will be more broadly applicable but will likely exclude certain countries we wish to examine. Still, the CPI provides the most applicable and accurate measure of state capture that is collected consistently over time and across space.

94 A discussion of each of these sources and the location of relevant data can be found in Transparency International (2017).

Works Cited

- Aaronson, Susan Ariel. 2009. "Corporate Strategy and Inadequate Governance: The Pitfalls of CSR." Business and Development Discussion Papers, Word Bank Institute, no. 11: 1–4. http://siteresources.worldbank. org/CGCSRLP/Resources/pitfallsofcsr.pdf.
- Aaronson, Susan Ariel. 2011. "Limited Partnership: Business, Government, Civil Society, and the Public in the Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative (EITI)." *Public Administration and Development* 31, no. 1: 50–63. https://doi.org/10.1002/pad.588.
- Acemoglu, Daron, Simon Johnson, and James A. Robinson. 2001a. "The Colonial Origins of Comparative Development: An Empirical Investigation." *The American Economic Review* 91, no. 55: 1369–1401. https://www.jstor.org/stable/2677930.
- Acemoglu, Daron, Simon Johnson, and James A. Robinson. 2001b. "An African Success Story: Botswana." MIT Department of Economics Working Paper, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge, MA. https://economics.mit.edu/files/284.
- Acemoglu, Daron, Simon Johnson, and James A. Robinson. 2002. "Reversal of Fortune: Geography and Institutions in the Making of the World Income Distribution." *The Quarterly Journal of Economics* 117, no. 4: 1231–1294. https://www.jstor.org/stable/4132478.
- Acemoglu, Daron, Simon Johnson, and James A. Robinson. 2005. "Institutions as a Fundamental Cause of Long-Run Growth." In *Handbook of Economic Growth, Volume 1A,* edited by Philippe Aghion and Steven Durlauf, 386–472. Amsterdam: Elsevier.
- Ackerman, John M., and Irma E. Sandoval-Ballesteros. 2006. "The Global Explosion of Freedom of Information Laws." *Administrative Law Review* 58, no. 1: 85130. https://www.jstor.org/stable/40712005.
- Adida, Claire, Jessica Gottlieb, Eric Kramon, and Gweneth McClendon. 2017. "Breaking the Clientelistic Voting Equilibrium: The Joint Importance of Salience and Coordination." *AidData*. https://www.aiddata.org/publications/ breaking-the-clientelistic-voting-equilibrium-the-joint-importance-of-salience-and-coordination.

- Agrawal, Arun, and Krishna Gupta. 2005. "Decentralization and Participation: The Governance of Common Pool Resources in Nepal's Terai." *World Development* 33, no. 7: 11011114. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. worlddev.2005.04.009.
- Aguilera, Ruth V., and Abhijeet K. Vadera. 2008. "The Dark Side of Authority: Antecedents, Mechanisms, and Outcomes of Organizational Corruption." *Journal of Business Ethics* 77, no. 4: 431449. https:// link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10551-007-9358-8.
- Al-Kasim, Farouk, Tina Søreide, and Aled Williams. 2008. "Grand Corruption in the Regulation of Oil." U4 Anti-Corruption Resource Centre, Chr. Michelsen Institute. https://www.u4.no/publications/ grand-corruption-in-the-regulation-of-oil.
- Alkire, Sabina. 2002. Valuing Freedoms: Sen's Capability Approach and Poverty Reduction. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press.
- Amnesty International. 2003. "Human Rights on the Line: The Baku-Tbilisi-Ceyhan Pipeline Project." https://www.amnesty.org.uk/files/baku_line_0.pdf.
- Amnesty International. 2017. "Amnesty International Report 2016/17: The State of the World's Human Rights." https://www.amnesty.org.au/annual-report-2016-17.
- Amnesty International. 2018. "Amnesty International Report 2017/18: The State of the World's Human Rights." https://www.amnesty.org/en/documents/POL10/6700/2018/En.
- Anand, Rahul, David Coady, Adil Mohommad, Vimal Thakoor, and James P. Walsh. 2013. "The Fiscal and Welfare Impacts of Reforming Fuel Subsidies in India." International Monetary Fund Working Paper. https://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/wp/2013/wp13128.pdf.
- Andersen, Jørgen Juel and Silje Aslaksen. 2013. "Oil and Political Survival." *Journal of Development Economics* 100, no. 1: 89–106. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdeveco.2012.08.008.
- Andersen, Jørgen Juel, and Michael L. Ross. 2014. "The Big Oil Change: A Closer Look at the Haber-Menaldo Analysis." *Comparative Political Studies* 47, no. 7: 993–1021. https://doi.org/10.1177/0010414013488557.
- Anderson, Christopher J., and Yuliya V. Tverdova. 2003. "Corruption, Political Allegiances, and Attitudes toward Government in Contemporary Democracies." *American Journal of Political Science* 47, no. 1: 91–109. https://www.jstor.org/stable/3186095.
- Andersson, Staffan, and Paul M. Heywood. 2009. "The Politics of Perception: Use and Abuse of Transparency International's Approach to Measuring Corruption." *Political Studies* 57, no. 4: 746–67. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9248.2008.00758.x.
- Andrews, Matt, Lant Pritchett, and Michael Woolcock. 2017. Building State Capacity: Evidence, Analysis, Action. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press.

- Anti-Corruption Evidence (ACE) Research Consortium. N.d. "Introducing the ACE Research Consortium." https://ace.soas.ac.uk/publication/introducing-the-ace-research-consortium/.
- Arellano-Yanguas, Javier. 2011. "Aggravating the Resource Curse: Decentralization, Mining and Conflict in Peru." *The Journal of Development Studies* 47, no. 4: 617–638. https://doi.org/10.1080/00220381003706478.
- Arezki, Rabah, and Markus Brückner. 2011. "Oil Rents, Corruption, and State Stability: Evidence from Panel Data Regressions." *European Economic Review* 55, no. 7: 955–963. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.euroecorev.2011.03.004.
- Arnstein, Sherry R. 1969. "A Ladder of Citizen Participation." *Journal of the American Planning Association*, Vol. 35, no. 4: 2016–224. doi: 10.1080/01944366908977225.
- Asia Indigenous Peoples Pact Foundation. 2016. "Comments on the Second Draft Environmental and Social Framework (ESF) of the World Bank." https://consultations.worldbank.org/Data/hub/files/ wb_esf_2nd_draft_-_aipp_comments_-_15mar2016.pdf.
- Aston, Tom. 2018. "Sounding Clever or Being Smart?—How to do More with Less in Evaluating Governance Programmes." CARE Insights Development Blog, CARE International. https://insights.careinternational.org.uk/development-blog/sounding-clever-or-being-smart-howto-do-more-with-less-in-evaluating-governance-programmes.
- Astuti, Rini, and Andrew McGregor. 2015. "Responding to the Green Economy: How REDD+ and the One Map Initiative Are Transforming Forest Governance in Indonesia." *Third World Quarterly* 36, no. 12: 2273–2293. https://doi.org/10.1080/01436597.2015.1082422.
- Atansah, Priscilla, Masoomeh Khandan, Todd Moss, Anit Mukherjee, and Jennifer Richmond. 2017. "When Do Subsidy Reforms Stick? Lessons from Iran, Nigeria, and India." CGD Policy Paper. Washington, DC: Center for Global Development. https://www.cgdev.org/publication/ when-dosubsidy-reforms-stick-lessons-iran-nigeria-and-india.
- Auty, Richard. 1993. Sustaining Development in Mineral Economies: The Resource Curse Thesis. Oxford University Press.
- Auty, Richard. 2001. Resource Abundance and Economic Development. Oxford University Press.
- Baez Camargo, C. and Franziska Stahl. 2016. Social Accountability: A Practitioner's Handbook. Basel Institute on Governance. https://gpsaknowledge.org/knowledge-repository/ social-accountabilitya-practitioners-handbook.
- Banerjee, Abhijit V., Rachel Glennerster, and Esther Duflo. 2008. "Putting a Band-Aid on a Corpse: Incentives for Nurses in the Indian Public Health Care System." *Journal of the European Economic Association* 6, no. 2–3: 487–500. https://doi.org/10.1162/JEEA.2008.6.2-3.487.

- Banerjee, Abhijit V., Rukmini Banerji, Esther Duflo, Rachel Glennerster, and Stuti Khemani. 2010. "Pitfalls of Participatory Programs: Evidence from a Randomized Evaluation in Education in India." *American Economic Journal: Economic Policy* 2, no. 1: 1–30. https://doi.org/10.1257/pol.2.1.1.
- Banisar, David. 2006. "Freedom of Information Around the World 2006: A Global Survey of Access to Government Information Laws." SSRN Electronic Journal. http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.1707336.
- Bannon, Ian, and Paul Collier, eds. 2003. Natural Resources and Violent Conflict—Options and Actions. World Bank. http://hdl.handle.net/10986/15047.
- Barczewski, Benjamin. 2013. "How Well Do Environmental Regulations Work in Kenya? A Case Study of the Thika Highway Improvement Project." University of Nairobi Department of Geography & Environmental Studies; Center for Sustainable Urban Development, Earth Institute, Columbia University. http://csud.ei.columbia.edu/files/2013/06/How-Well-Do-Environmental-Regulations-Work-in-Kenya.pdf.
- Barma, Naazneen H., Kai Kaiser, Tuan Minh Le, and Lorena Viñuela. 2012. *Rents to Riches? The Political Economy of Natural Resource-Led Development*. World Bank. http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/545221468150583397/ Rents-to-riches-The-political-economy-of-natural-resource-led-development.
- Barr, Abigail, Lawrence Bategeka, Madina Guloba, Ibrahim Kasirye, Frederick Mugisha, Pieter Serneels, and Andrew Zeitlin. 2012. "Management and Motivation in Ugandan Primary Schools: An Impact Evaluation Report." Partnership for Economic Policy. http://ageconsearch.umn.edu/record/164412.
- Basedau, Matthias. 2005. "Context Matters—Rethinking the Resource Curse in Sub-Saharan Africa." Working Papers Global and Area Studies, German Overseas Institute, Hamburg, Germany. http:// dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.906983.
- Basedau, Matthias, and Jann Lay. 2009. "Resource Curse or Rentier Peace? The Ambiguous Effects of Oil Wealth and Oil Dependence on Violent Conflict." *Journal of Peace Research* 46, no. 6: 757–776. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022343309340500.
- Bauer, Andrew. 2014. "Sovereign Wealth Funds: Guidance for Policymakers." Natural Resource Governance Institute (NRGI). https://resourcegovernance.org/blog/ sovereign-wealth-funds-guidance-policymakers.
- Bauer, Andrew, Malan Rietveld, and Perrine Toledano. 2014. "Managing the Public Trust: How to Make Natural Resource Funds Work for Citizens." Revenue Watch Institute and Vale Columbia Center on Sustainable International Investment. http://ccsi.columbia.edu/files/2014/09/ NRF_Complete_Report_EN.pdf.
- Bauer, Andrew, and Juan Carlos Quiroz. 2016. "Resource Governance." In *The Handbook of Global Energy Policy*, edited by Andreas Goldthau, 244–264. United Kingdom: John Wiley & Sons Ltd.

- Bauer, Andrew, Rebecca Iwerks, Matteo Pellegrini, and Varsha Venugopal. 2016a. "Subnational Governance of Extractives: Fostering National Prosperity by Addressing Local Challenges." Natural Resource Governance Institute. https://resourcegovernance.org/analysis-tools/publications/ subnational-governance-extractives-fostering-national-prosperity.
- Bauer, Andrew, Uyanga Gankhuyag, Sofi Halling, David Manley, and Varsha Venugopal. 2016b. "Natural Resource Revenue Sharing." Natural Resource Governance Institute and United Nations Development Programme. https://resourcegovernance.org/sites/default/files/documents/nrgi_ undp_resource-sharing_web_0.pdf.
- Bauer, Andrew, and David Mihalyi. 2018. "Premature Funds: How Overenthusiasm and Bad Advice Can Leave Countries Poorer." Natural Resource Governance Institute. https://resourcegovernance.org/ analysis-tools/publications/premature-funds.
- Bebbington, Anthony. 2010. "Extractive Industries and Stunted States: Conflict, Responsibility and Institutional Change in the Andes." In *Corporate Social Responsibility: Comparative Critiques*, edited by K. Ravi Raman and Ronnie D. Lipschutz. 97–115. London: Palgrave MacMillan UK.
- Bebbington, Anthony, Elisa Arond, and Juan Luis Dammert. 2016. "Scalar Politics and Transnational Governance Innovations: A Political Settlements Lens on the Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative in the Andes." ESID Working Paper Series, The University of Manchester, Manchester, England. https://eiti.org/sites/default/files/documents/esid_wp_66_bebbington_arond_dammert.pdf.
- Bebbington, Anthony, Abdul-Gafaru Abdulai, Marja Hinfelaar, Denise Humphreys Bebbington, and Cynthia Sanborn. 2017. "Political Settlements and the Governance of Extractive Industry: A Comparative Analysis of the Longue Durée in Africa and Latin America."ESID Working Paper Series, The University of Manchester, Manchester, England. https://www.gov.uk/dfid-research-outputs/ political-settlements-and-the-governance-of-extractive-industry-a-comparative-analysis-of-the-longue-duree-in-africa-and-latin-america.
- Beedell, Estan. 2017. "Evaluating the Impact of Nigeria's Fuel Subsidy Regime." University of Ottawa Graduate School of Public and International Affairs. http://hdl.handle.net/10393/36523.
- Befani, Barbara and Gavin Stedman-Bryce. 2017. "Process Tracing and Bayesian Updating for Impact Evaluation." *Evaluation* 23, no. 1: 42–60. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F1356389016654584.
- Bell, Joseph C., and Teresa Maurea Faria. 2007. "Critical Issues for a Revenue Management Law." In *Escaping the Resource Curse*, edited by Macartan Humphreys, Jeffrey D. Sachs, and Joseph E. Stiglitz, 286–321. New York: Columbia University Press.
- Bénit-Gbaffou, Claire. 2011. "Up Close and Personal'—How Does Local Democracy Help the Poor Access the State? Stories of Accountability and Clientelism in Johannesburg." Journal of Asian and African Studies 46, no. 5: 453–464. https://doi.org/10.1177/0021909611415998.
- Berger, Christina. 2015. "Right Questions—But Not Necessarily the Right Answers." Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative. https://eiti.org/news/right-questions-not-necessarily-right-answers.

- Berliner, Daniel. 2014. "The Political Origins of Transparency." *The Journal of Politics* 76, no. 2: 479–491. http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S0022381613001412.
- Besley, Timothy, and Andrea Prat. 2006. "Handcuffs for the Grabbing Hand? Media Capture and Government Accountability." *American Economic Review* 96, no. 3: 720–736. http://doi.org/10.1257/aer.96.3.720.
- Beverelli, Cosimo, Salvatore Dell'Erba, and Nadia Rocha. 2011. "Dutch Disease Revisited: Oil Discoveries and Movements of the Real Exchange Rate When Manufacturing Is Resource-Intensive." *International Economics and Economic Policy* 8, no. 2: 139–153. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10368-011-0190-3.
- Bhatnagar, Deepti; Animesh Rathore, Magui Moreno Torres, Parameeta Kanungo. 2003. "Mazdoor Kisan Shakti Sangathan (MKSS) (English)." World Bank. http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/ en/484901468050066053/Mazdoor-Kisan-Shakti-Sangathan-MKSS.
- Bhattacharyya, Sambit, and Roland Hodler. 2010. "Natural Resources, Democracy and Corruption." *European Economic Review* 54, no. 4: 608–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.euroecorev.2009.10.004.
- Biastoch, Richard. 2017. "Mining for Sustainable Development: Mineral Licensing Corruption Risk Assessment in Mongolia." *Transparency International Mongolia*. http://transparency.org.au/tia/ wp-content/uploads/2017/08/Mongolia_M4SD.pdf.
- Bickham, Edward. 2015. "Mining and the Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative: A Review of International and In-Country Experiences of the EITI from the Perspective of Supporting Mining Companies." International Council on Mining and Metals. https://eiti.org/document/ mining-extractive-industries-transparency-initiative.
- Biddulph, Robin. 2014. "Can Elite Corruption be a Legitimate Machiavellian Tool in an Unruly World? The Case of Post-Conflict Cambodia." *Third World Quarterly* 35, no. 5: 872–887. https://doi.org/10.1080/01436597.2014.921435.
- Bishop, Kate. 2017. "Standing Firm: Women- and Trans-Led Organizations Respond to Closing Space for Civil Society." Mama Cash and Urgent Action Fund. https://www.hrfn.org/resources/ standing-firm-women-and-trans-led-organisations-respond-to-closing-space-for-civil-society.
- Birkinshaw, Patrick. 2006. "Freedom of Information and Openness: Fundamental Human Rights." Administrative Law Review 58, no. 1: 177–218. https://www.jstor.org/stable/40712007.
- Birkinshaw, Patrick. 2010. Freedom of Information: The Law, the Practice and the Ideal, Fourth Edition. Cambridge University Press.
- Björkman, Martina, and Jakob Svensson. 2009. "Power to the People: Evidence from a Randomized Field Experiment on Community-Based Monitoring in Uganda." *The Quarterly Journal of Economics* 124, no. 2: 735–769. https://doi.org/10.1162/qjec.2009.124.2.735.
- Björkman Nyqvist, Martina, Damien de Walque, and Jakob Svensson. 2017. "Experimental Evidence on the Long-Run Impact of Community-Based Monitoring." *American Economic Journal: Applied Economics* 9, no. 1: 33–69. https://doi.org/10.1257/app.20150027.

- Blattman, Christopher, Jason Hwang, and Jeffrey G. Williamson. 2007. "Winners and Losers in the Commodity Lottery: The Impact of Terms of Trade Growth and Volatility in the Periphery 1870–1939." *Journal of Development Economics* 82, no. 1: 156–179. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdeveco.2005.09.003.
- Boampong, Owusu. 2012. "Ghana's Golden Opportunity." Revenue Watch Institute. https://resourcegovernance.org/analysis-tools/publications/ghanas-golden-opportunity.
- Boldbaatar, Delgermaa, Nadja Kunz, and Eric Werker. 2019. "Improved Resource Governance Through Transparency: Evidence from Mongolia." *The Extractive Industries and Society.* https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exis.2018.12.007.
- Booth, David, and Diana Cammack. 2013. *Governance for Development in Africa: Solving Collective Action Problems.* London: Zed Books.
- Bradshaw, Sarah, Brian Linneker, and Lisa Overton. 2016. "Gender and Social Accountability: Ensuring Women's Inclusion in Citizen-Led Accountability Programming Relating to Extractive Industries." Oxfam America. https://www.oxfamamerica.org/explore/research-publications/ gender-and-social-accountability.
- Brahmbhatt, Milan, Otaviano Canuto, and Ekaterina Vostruknutova. 2010. "Dealing with Dutch Disease." *Economic Premise*, no. 16. Washington, DC: World Bank. http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/ en/794871468161957086/Dealing-with-Dutch-disease.
- Bratton, Michael. 2007. "Are You Being Served? Popular Satisfaction with Health and Education Services in Africa." Afrobarometer Working Papers, Afrobarometer. http://afrobarometer.org/sites/default/files/publications/Working%20paper/AfropaperNo65.pdf.
- Brechenmacher, Saskia. 2017. "How State Restrictions Are Reshaping Civic Space Around the World." *The Global Observatory*, May 22, 2017. https://theglobalobservatory.org/2017/05/ ethiopia-russia-egypt-civil-society.
- Bria, Emanuel, Patrick R. P. Heller, Thomas Lassourd, Erica Westenberg, Max George-Wagner, and Andrew Bauer. 2016. "Indonesia's Oil and Gas Legislation: Critical Issues." Natural Resource Governance Institute. https://resourcegovernance.org/analysis-tools/publications/ indonesias-oil-and-gas-legislation-critical-issues.
- Brian, Danielle et al. 2018. "News: Civil society organizations call on ExxonMobil and Chevron to be removed from the EITI Board." http://www.pwypusa.org/pwyp-news/ civil-society-organizations-call-on-exxonmobil-and-chevron-to-be-removed-from-the-eiti-board/.
- Brockmyer, Brandon, and Jonathan Fox. 2015. "Assessing the Evidence: The Effectiveness and Impact of Public Governance-Oriented Multi-Stakeholder Initiatives." Transparency and Accountability Initiative. https://eiti.org/document/ assessing-evidence-effectiveness-impact-of-public-governanceoriented-multistakeholder.

- Brollo, Fernanda, Tommaso Nannicini, Roberto Perotti, and Guido Tabellini. 2013. "The Political Resource Curse." *American Economic Review* 103, no. 5: 1789–1796. http://www.rperotti.com/doc/ PoliticalresourceCurseAER2013.pdf.
- Brunetti, Aymo, and Beatrice Weder. 2003. "A Free Press is Bad News for Corruption." *Journal of Public Economics* 87, no. 7–8: 1801–1824. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0047-2727(01)00186-4.
- BTI. 2016. "Codebook for Country Assessments: 2016." *Bertelsmann Stiftung*. https://www.bti-project.org/fileadmin/files/BTI/Downloads/Zusaetzliche_Downloads/Codebook_BTI_2016.pdf.
- BTI. 2018a. "Codebook for Country Assessments: 2018." *Bertelsmann Stiftung*. https://www.bti-project.org/fileadmin/files/BTI/Downloads/Zusaetzliche_Downloads/BTI2018_Codebook.pdf.
- BTI. 2018b. "Transformation Index." Bertelsmann Stiftung. https://www.bti-project.org/en/data.
- Buffardi, Anne L., Tiina Pasanen, and Simon Hearn. 2019. "Measuring the Hard-to-Measure in Development: Dimensions, Measurement Challenges, and Responses." In *Development in Turbulent Times: The Many Faces of Inequality Within Europe*, edited by Paul Dobrescu, 31–46. Springer International Publishing.
- Bush, Ray. 2009. "'Soon There Will be No-One Left to Take the Corpses to the Morgue': Accumulation and Abjection in Ghana's Mining Communities." *Resources Policy* 34, no. 1–2: 57–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resourpol.2008.02.002.
- Busse, Matthias, and Steffen Gröning. 2013. "The Resource Curse Revisited: Governance and Natural Resources." *Public Choice* 154, no. 1–2: 1–20. https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s11127-011-9804-0.
- Button, Mark, David Shepherd, and Dean Blackbourn. 2018. "Co-Offending and Bribery: The Recruitment of Participants to Corrupt Schemes and the Implications for Prevention." *Security Journal* 31, no. 4: 882-900. https://doi.org/10.1057/s41284-018-0139-0.
- Cain, Bruce E., Patrick Egan, and Sergio Fabbrini. 2003. "Towards More Open Democracies: The Expansion of Freedom of Information Laws." In *Democracy Transformed?: Expanding Political Opportunities in Advanced Industrial Democracies*, edited by Bruce E. Cain, Russell J. Dalton, and Susan E. Scarrow, 115–139. Oxford University Press.
- Calland, Richard, and Kristina Bentley. 2013. "The Impact and Effectiveness of Accountability and Transparency Initiatives: Freedom of Information." *Development Policy Review* 31, no. s1. https://doi.org/10.1111/dpr.12020.
- Campos, Jose Edgardo and Joel S. Hellman. 2005. "Governance Gone Local: Does Decentralization Improve Accountability?" In *East Asia Decentralizes*, 237–252. Washington, DC: The World Bank.
- Caripis, Lisa. 2017. "Combatting Corruption in Mining Approvals: Assessing the Risks in 18 Resource-Rich Countries." Transparency International and Transparency International Australia. https://www.transparency.org/whatwedo/publication/combatting_corruption_in_mining_approvals.

Carlisle, Keith, and Rebecca L. Gruby. 2017. "Polycentric Systems of Governance: A Theoretical Model for the Commons." *Policy Studies Journal* early view. https://doi.org/10.1111/psj.12212.

Carmody, Pádraig. 2011. The New Scramble for Africa. Cambridge, MA: Polity Press.

- Carothers, Thomas, and Saskia Brechenmacher. 2014. "Accountability, Transparency, Participation, and Inclusion: A New Development Consensus?" Carnegie Endowment for International Peace. http://carnegieendowment.org/files/new_development_consensus.pdf.
- Carothers, Thomas, and Diane de Gramont. 2013. Development Aid Confronts Politics : The Almost Revolution. Carnegie Endowment for International Peace. http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=cat05372a&AN=bil.ocn829645868&site=eds-live&scope=site.
- Carpenter, Daniel, and David A. Moss. 2014. "Introduction." In *Preventing Regulatory Capture: Special Interest Influence and How to Limit It*, edited by Daniel Carpenter and David A. Moss. New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Carter, Becky. 2016. "Infomediaries and Accountability." GSDRC Helpdesk Research Report, University of Birmingham. https://gsdrc.org/publications/infomediaries-and-accountability.
- Carter Center. n.d. "Women and the Right of Access to Information." https://www.cartercenter.org/peace/ ati/women.html.
- Caselli, Francesco, and Wilbur John Coleman II. 2013. "On the Theory of Ethnic Conflict." *Journal of the European Economic Association* 11, no. S1: 161–192. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1542-4774.2012.01103.x.
- Caselli, Francesco, and Guy Michaels. 2013. "Do Oil Windfalls Improve Living Standards? Evidence from Brazil." American Economic Journal: Applied Economics 5, no. 1: 208–238. https://www.jstor.org/ stable/43189424.
- Caselli, Francesco, and Andrea Tesei. 2016. "Resource Windfalls, Political Regimes, and Political Stability." *Review of Economics and Statistics* 98, no. 3: 573–590. https://doi.org/10.1162/REST_a_00538.
- Cauchi, Marietta, and Rebecca Iwerks. 2016. "Improving Impacts of Extraction Through Subnational Multi-Stakeholder Groups in the Philippines." Natural Resource Governance Institute. https://resourcegovernance.org/sites/default/files/documents/subnational-msgs-philippines_0.pdf.
- Central Bank of Nigeria (CBN). n.d. "Reserve Management." Central Bank of Nigeria. https://www.cbn.gov. ng/IntOps/ReserveMgmt.asp.
- Chambers, Robert. 2009. "So That the Poor Count More: Using Participatory Methods for Impact Evaluation." *Journal of Development Effectiveness* 1, no. 3: 243–246. https://doi.org/10.1080/19439340903137199.
- Chayes, Sarah. 2017. "When Corruption Is the Operating System: The Case of Honduras." Carnegie Endowment for International Peace. http://carnegieendowment.org/2017/05/30/ when-corruption-is-operating-system-case-of-honduras-pub-69999.

- Chêne, Marie. 2009. "The Impact of Law Enforcement Interventions on Corruption." U4 Anti-Corruption Resource Centre, Chr. Michelsen Institute. https://www.u4.no/publications/ impact-of-law-enforcement-interventions-on-corruption.
- Chêne, Marie. 2017. "Natural Resource Management Transparency and Governance: A Literature Review Focusing on Extractive Industries." U4 Anti-Corruption Resource Centre, Chr. Michelsen Institute. https://www.u4.no/publications/natural-resource-management-transparency-and-governance.pdf.
- Cho, Wonbin, and Matthew F. Kirwin. 2007. "A Vicious Circle of Corruption and Mistrust in Institutions in Sub-Saharan Africa: A Micro-Level Analysis." Afrobarometer Working Papers, Afrobarometer. http://afrobarometer.org/publications/wp71-vicious-circle-corruption-and-mistrust-institutions-sub-saharan-africa-micro-level.
- Chong, Alberto, Ana L. De La O, Dean Karlan, and Leonard Wantchekon. 2015. "Does Corruption Information Inspire the Fight or Quash the Hope? A Field Experiment in Mexico on Voter Turnout, Choice, and Party Identification." *The Journal of Politics* (Chicago Journals), Vol. 77, No. 1 (January 2015), pp. 55-71. https://cpb-us-w2.wpmucdn.com/campuspress.yale.edu/dist/d/345/files/2010/11/ Chongetal_2015-2gbmbxg.pdf.
- Christensen, Darin, Alexandra Hartman, and Cyrus Samii. 2019. "Legibility and External Investment: An Institutional Natural Experiment in Liberia." Working Paper. https://darinchristensen.com/files/ liberia-tenure.pdf.
- CIVICUS. 2018. "CIVICUS Monitor Methodology Paper." https://www.civicus.org/documents/civicusmonitor-methodology-paper.pdf.
- Clausen, Bianca, Aart Kraay, and Zsolt Nyiri. 2011. "Corruption and Confidence in Public Institutions: Evidence from a Global Survey." *The World Bank Economic Review* 25, no. 2: 212–249. https://academic.oup.com/wber/article-abstract/25/2/212/1658255.
- Colchester, Marcus, and Maurizio Farhan Ferrari. 2007. "Making FPIC Work: Challenges and Prospects for Indigenous Peoples." Forest Peoples Programme. https://www.forestpeoples.org/en/topics/ civil-political-rights/publication/2010/making-fpic-free-prior-and-informed-consent-work-chal.
- Collier, Paul. 2007. The Bottom Billion: Why the Poorest Countries Are Falling Behind and What Can Be Done About It. Oxford University Press.
- Collier, Paul. 2013. "How We can Help African Nations to Extract Fair Value." *Financial Times*, May 12, 2013. https://www.ft.com/content/45065606-b8d9-11e2-869f-00144feabdc0.
- Collier, Paul, and Anke Hoeffler. 2004. "Greed and Grievance in Civil War." Oxford Economic Papers 56, no. 4: 563-595. https://doi.org/10.1093/oep/gpf064.
- Collier, Paul, and Benedikt Goderis. 2008. "Commodity Prices, Growth, and the Natural Resource Curse: Reconciling a Conundrum." University of Oxford. https://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.1473716.
Columbia Center on Sustainable Investment (CCSI). 2015. "Natural Resource Contracts as a Tool for Managing the Mining Sector." CCSI. http://ccsi.columbia.edu/2015/07/23/ natural-resource-contracts-as-a-tool-for-managing-the-mining-sector.

Cooke, Bill, and Uma Kothari. 2001. Participation: The New Tyranny. New York: Zed Books Ltd.

- Cooley, Alexander and J.C. Sharman. 2015. "Blurring the Line Between Licit and Illicit: Transnational Corruption Networks in Central Asia and Beyond." *Central Asian Survey* 34, no. 1: 11–28. https://doi.org/10.1080/02634937.2015.1010799.
- Corrigan, Caitlin. 2017. "The Effects of Increased Revenue Transparency in the Extractives Sector: The Case of the Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative." *The Extractive Industries and Society* 4, no. 4: 779–787. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exis.2017.03.004.
- Costa, Samia. 2013. "Do Freedom of Information Laws Decrease Corruption?" *The Journal of Law, Economics, and Organization* 29, no. 6: 1317–1343. https://doi.org/10.1093/jleo/ews016.
- Cowman, Sian. 2017. "The Criminalization of Social Protest Against Extractivism in Latin America." The Democracy Center. https://democracyctr.org/resource/ criminalization-social-protest-against-extractivism-latin-america.
- Crabtree, John. 2014. "Funding Local Government: Use (and Abuse) of Peru's Canon System." Bulletin of Latin American Research: Journal of the Society for Latin American Studies 33, no. 4: 452–467. https://doi.org/10.1111/blar.12174.
- Cust, James, and David Mihalyi. 2017. "The Presource Curse: Oil Discoveries Can Lead First to Jubilation Then to Economic Jeopardy." *Finance & Development* 54, no. 4: 36–40. https://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/fandd/2017/12/cust.htm.
- Cust, Jim, and Claudia Viale. 2016. "Is There Evidence for a Subnational Resource Curse?" Natural Resource Governance Institute. https://resourcegovernance.org/analysis-tools/publications/ there-evidence-subnational-resource-curse.
- Darby, Sefton. 2008. "EITI: Beyond the Basics." Revenue Watch Institute. https://resourcegovernance.org/ analysis-tools/publications/eiti-beyond-basics.
- Darby, Sefton, Edward Bickham, Frenky Simanjuntak, and Negbalee Warner. 2015. "Review of international governance and oversight of the EITI." Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative. https://eiti.org/ document/review-of-international-governance-oversight-of-eiti.
- Darch, Colin, and Peter Graham Underwood. 2005. "Freedom of Information Legislation, State Compliance and the Discourse of Knowledge: The South African Experience." *The International Information & Library Review* 37, no. 2: 77–86. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.iilr.2005.05.003.
- David-Barrett, Elizabeth, and Ken Okamura. 2013. "The Transparency Paradox: Why Do Corrupt Countries Join EITI?" Working Paper 38, European Research Centre for Anti-Corruption and State-Building, Berlin, Germany. https://eiti.org/sites/default/files/documents/The-Transparency-Paradox.-Whydo-Corrupt-Countries-Join-EITI1.pdf.

- Deininger, Klaus, Daniel Ayalew Ali, and Tekie Alemu. 2011. "Impacts of Land Certification on Tenure Security, Investment, and Land Market Participation: Evidence from Ethiopia." *Land Economics* 87, no. 2: 312–334. www.jstor.org/stable/41307216.
- De Mendonça, Helder Ferreira, and André Oliviera da Fonseca. 2012. "Corruption, Income, and Rule of Law: Empirical Evidence from Developing and Developed Economies." *Brazilian Journal of Political Economy* 32, no. 2: 305–314. http://dx.doi.org/10.1590/S0101-31572012000200009.
- Derbyshire, Helen; Wilf Mwamba. 2013 "Supporting citizen engagement in governance: The experience of the State Accountability and Voice Initiative in Nigeria." *Department for International Development*. http://savi-nigeria.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/02/Thinking-and-Acting-Politically_FINAL.pdf.
- de Renzio, Paul; Vitus Azeem, Vivek Ramkumar. 2006. "Budget Monitoring as an Advocacy Tool Uganda Debt Network Case Study." International Budget Partnership. https://www.internationalbudget.org/ wp-content/uploads/Budget-Monitoring-as-an-Advocacy-Tool-Uganda-Debt-Network-Summary-English.pdf.
- Dermawan, Ahmad, Elena Petkova, Anna Sinaga, Mumu Muhajir, and Yayan Indriatmoko. 2011. "Preventing the Risk of Corruption in REDD+ in Indonesia." CIFOR Working Paper, Center for International Forestry Research (CIFOR), Bogor, Indonesia. https://www.cifor.org/library/3476.
- Desai, Deval, and Michael Jarvis. 2012. "Governance and Accountability in Extractive Industries: Theory and Practice at the World Bank." *Journal of Energy & Natural Resources Law* 30, no. 2: 101–128. https://doi.org/10.1080/02646811.2012.11435288.
- De Sousa, Luís. 2010. "Anti-Corruption Agencies: Between Empowerment and Irrelevance." *Crime Law and Social Change* 53, no. 1: 5–22. https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10611-009-9211-3.
- De Soysa, Indra. 2000. "The Resource Curse: Are Civil Wars Driven by Rapacity or Paucity?" In Mats Berdal and David M. Malone, eds. *Greed and Greivance: Economic Agendas in Civil Wars*. Boulder: Lynne Rienner Publishers, Inc.
- Devarajan, Shantayana, Stuti Khemani, and Michael Walton. 2014. "Can Civil Society Overcome Government Failure in Africa?" *World Bank Research Observer* 29, no. 1: 20–47. https://elibrary.worldbank.org/doi/ abs/10.1093/wbro/lkt008.
- Dewachter, Sara, Nathalie Holvoet, Miet Kuppens, and Nadia Molenaers. 2018. "Beyond the Short versus Long Accountability Route Dichotomy: Using Multi-Track Accountability Pathways to Study Performance of Rural Water Services in Uganda." *World Development* 102: 158–169. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2017.09.018.
- Dietrich, Daniel. 2017. "The Role of Infomediaries in Improving Efficiency, Transparency and Accountability in Public Contracting." Open Contracting Partnership. October 5, 2017. https://www.open-contracting.org/2017/10/05/ role-infomediaries-improving-efficiency-transparency-accountability-public-contracting.

- Di Tella, Rafael, and Ignacio Franceschelli. 2011. "Government Advertising and Media Coverage of Corruption Scandals." *American Economic Journal: Applied Economics* 3: 119–151. https://doi.org/10.1257/app.3.4.119.
- Dixit, Avinash. 2016. "Corruption: Supply-Side and Demand-Side Solutions." In *Development in India*, edited by S. Mahendra Dev and P.G. Babu, 57–68. Springer: New Delhi.
- Djankov, Simeon, Rafael La Porta, Florencio Lopez-de-Silanes, Andrei Shleifer. 2010. "Disclosure by Politicians." *American Economic Journal: Applied Economics*, Vol 2, No.2 (April 2010): 179–209. https://www.aeaweb.org/articles?id=10.1257/app.2.2.179.
- Dobbs, Richard, Jeremy Oppenheim, Adam Kendall, Fraser Thompson, Martin Bratt, and Fransje van der Marel. 2013. "Reverse the Curse: Maximizing the Potential of Resource-Driven Economics." McKinsey Global Institute. https://www.mckinsey.com/industries/metals-and-mining/our-insights/ reverse-the-curse-maximizing-the-potential-of-resource-driven-economies.
- Donato, Katherine, and Adrian Garcia Mosqueira. 2018. "Information Improves Provider Behaviour: A Replication Study of a Community-Based Monitoring Programme in Uganda." *The Journal of Development Studies*. https://doi.org/10.1080/00220388.2018.1506577.
- Dougherty, Michael L. 2015. "By the Gun or By the Bribe: Firm Size, Environmental Governance and Corruption Among Mining Companies in Guatemala." U4 Anti-Corruption Resource Centre, Chr. Michelsen Institute. https://www.u4.no/publications/by-the-gun-or-by-the-bribe-firm-size-environmental-governance-and-corruption-among-mining-companies-in-guatemala.
- Drezner, Daniel W. 2008. "Sovereign Wealth Funds and the (In)Security of Global Finance." Journal of International Affairs 62 (1): 115. http://search.ebscohost.com/login. aspx?direct=true&db=edsjsr&AN=edsjsr.24358148&site=eds-live&scope=site.
- D'Souza, Anna, and Daniel Kaufmann. 2013. "Who Bribes in Public Contracting and Why: Worldwide Evidence from Firms." *Economics of Governance* 14, no. 4: 333–367. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10101-013-0130-5.
- Dunning, Thad. 2008. Crude Democracy: Natural Resource Wealth and Political Regimes. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Dupuy, Kendra. 2017. "The Global Participation Backlash: Implications for Natural Resource Initiatives." U4 Brief 2017:4. Chr. Michelsen Institute. https://www.cmi.no/ publications/6256-the-global-participation-backlash.
- Dupuy, Kendra, and David Aled Williams. 2016. "Deciding Over Nature: Corruption and Environmental Impact Assessments." U4 Anti-Corruption Resource Center, Chr. Michelsen Institute. https://www.cmi.no/publications/5986-deciding-over-nature#pdf.
- Dutta, Nabamita, and Sanjukta Roy. 2016. "State Fragility and Transparency." International Journal of Development Issues 15, no. 3: 202–223. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJDI-06-2016-0034.

- Easton, David. 1975. "A Re-Assessment of the Concept of Political Support." *British Journal of Political Science* 5, no. 4 (1975): 435-57. http://www.jstor.org/stable/193437.
- Ebbesson, Jonas. 2010. "The Rule of Law in Governance of Complex Socio-Ecological Changes." *Global Environmental Change* 20, no. 3: 414–422. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2009.10.009.
- Edling, Herbert. 2005. "Preventing Corruption in Public Finance Management: A Practical Guide." Deutsche Gesellschaft für Technische Zusammenarbeit (GTZ) GmbH. http://siteresources.worldbank.org/EXTFINANCIALMGMT/Resour ces/313217-1196229169083/4441154-1196275288288/4444688-1196378010797/ PreventingCorruptioninPublicFinanceManagement.pdf.
- Edwards, Terrence. 2017. "IMF approves \$5.5 billion bailout package for Mongolia." *Reuters.* https://www.reuters.com/article/uk-mongolia-imf/ imf-approves-5-5-billion-bailout-package-for-mongolia-idUKKBN18LOAC.
- Eftimie, Adriana, Katherine Heller, and John Strongman. 2009. "Gender Dimensions of the Extractive Industries: Mining for Equity." World Bank. https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/bitstream/handle/10986/18236/511140NWP0extr10Box342018B01PUBLIC1.pdf.
- Egorov, Georgy, Sergei Guriev, and Konstantin Sonin. 2009. "Why Resource-Poor Dictators Allow Freer Media: A Theory and Evidence from Panel Data." *American Political Science Review* 103, no. 4: 645– 668. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0003055409990219.
- Eisen, Norman, Daniel Kaufmann, and Nathaniel Heller. 2018. "Annotated Bibliography: Transparency, Accountability, and Participation Along the Natural Resource Value Chain." The Brookings Institution. https://www.brookings.edu/research/annotated-bibliography-transparency-accountability-and-participation-along-the-natural-resource-value-chain.
- Epperly, Brad, and Taedong Lee. 2013. "Corruption and NGO Sustainability: A Panel Study of Post-Communist States." VOLUNTAS 26, no. 1: 171–197. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11266-013-9404-3.
- Ernst & Young (EY). 2015. "Managing Bribery and Corruption Risks in the Mining and Metals Industry." https://www.ey.com/Publication/vwLUAssets/EY-managingfraud-bribery-and-corruption-risks-in-the-mining-and-metals-industry/\$FILE/ EY-managing-fraud-bribery-and-corruption-risks-in-the-mining-and-metals-industry.pdf.
- Esteves, Ana Maria, Bruce Coyne, and Ana Moreno. 2013. "Local Content Initiatives: Enhancing the Subnational Benefits of the Oil, Gas, and Mining Sectors." Natural Resource Governance Institute. https://resourcegovernance.org/analysis-tools/publications/ local-content-initiatives-enhancing-subnational-benefits-oil-gas-and.
- Evidence and Lessons from Latin America (ELLA). 2012. "Small-Scale and Informal Mining: A Big Problem for Latin American States." http://ella.practicalaction.org/knowledge-brief/ small-scale-and-informal-mining-a-big-problem-for-latin-american-states.

- Excell, Caroll and Elizabeth Moses. 2017. "Thirsting for Justice: Transparency and Poor People's Struggle for Clean Water in Indonesia, Mongolia, and Thailand." World Resources Institute: The Access Initiative. https://www.wri.org/publication/thirsting-for-justice.
- Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative (EITI). 2003. "The EITI Principles." EITI. https://eiti.org/sites/default/files/documents/eiti-standard-principles.pdf.
- Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative (EITI). 2011. "EITI Rules, 2011 Edition." https://eiti.org/sites/ default/files/documents/2011-11-01_2011_EITI_RULES.pdf.
- Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative (EITI). 2015. "The EITI Standard." https://eiti.org/standard/overview.
- Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative (EITI). n.d.a. "History of the EITI: How It All Started, Where We Went and Where We Are Now." https://eiti.org/history#eiti-history-timeline.
- Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative (EITI). n.d.b. "Open EITI Data." https://eiti.org/explore-data-portal.
- Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative (EITI). n.d.c. "Supporting Countries." https://eiti.org/supporters/countries.
- Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative (EITI). n.d.d. "Beneficial Ownership: Revealing Who Stands Behind the Companies." https://eiti.org/beneficial-ownership.
- Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative (EITI). 2019. "Mongolia." https://eiti.org/mongolia.
- Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative (EITI). 2017. "Beneficial Ownership Transparency: Milestones on the Road to 2020 — Highlights from EITI Countries." https://eiti.org/document/ beneficial-ownership-transparency-milestones-on-road-to-2020-highlights-from-eiti-countries.
- Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative (EITI) Indonesia. 2017. "EITI Indonesia Report 2014: Contextual Report." https://eiti.org/sites/default/files/documents/eiti_indonesia_report-2014-contextual-report-english.pdf.
- Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative (EITI) Secretariat. 2017. "EITI Chair Statement on United States Withdrawal from the EITI." EITI. November 2, 2017. https://eiti.org/news/ eiti-chair-statement-on-united-states-withdrawal-from-eiti.
- Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative (EITI) Secretariat. 2018. "OGP and the EITI Creating a Transparency Circle." https://eiti.org/news/ogp-eiti-creating-transparency-circle.
- Fearon, James D. 2005. "Primary Commodity Exports and Civil War." *The Journal of Conflict Resolution* 49, no. 4: 483-507. http://www.jstor.org/stable/30045128.
- Fearon, James D., and David D. Laitin. 2003. "Ethnicity, Insurgency, and Civil War." *The American Political Science Review* 97, no. 1: 75–90. https://www.jstor.org/stable/3118222.

- Fearon, James D., Macartan Humphreys, and Jeremy M. Weinstein. 2015. "How Does Development Assistance Affect Collective Action Capacity? Results from a Field Experiment in Post-Conflict Liberia." *The American Political Science Review* 109, no. 3: 450–69. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S0003055415000283.
- Fetzer, Thiemo, and Stephan Kyburz. 2017. "Does Democracy Moderate Resource-Induced Conflict?" https://sites.tufts.edu/neudc2017/files/2017/10/paper_429.pdf.
- Fisman, Raymond, and Roberta Gatti. 2002. "Decentralization and Corruption: Evidence Across Countries." *Journal of Public Economics* 83, no. 3: 325–345. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0047-2727(00)00158-4.
- Flochel, Thomas, Sudarshan Gooptu. 2017. "The Energy Subsidy Reform Assessment Framework: Guidance for Comprehensive Energy Subsidy Reforms." World Bank Group. https://doi.org/10.1596/28863.
- Forstater, Maya and Alexandra Readhead. 2017a. "A Brutal Lesson for Multinationals: Golden Tax Deals Can Come Back and Bite You." *The Guardian*. July 6, 2017. https:// www.theguardian.com/global-development-professionals-network/2017/ jul/06/a-brutal-lesson-for-multinationals-golden-tax-deals-can-come-back-and-bite-you.
- Forstater, Maya, and Alexandra Readhead. 2017b. "Inflated Expectations about Mineral Export Invoicing are Having Real Consequences in Tanzania." Center for Global Development, June 23, 2017. https://www.cgdev.org/blog/ inflated-expectations-about-mineral-export-misinvoicing-are-having-real-consequences-tanzania.
- Foti, Joseph and Lalanath de Silva. 2010. "A Seat at the Table: Including the Poor in Decisions for Development and Environment." World Resources Institute. https://pdf.wri.org/a_seat_at_the_table.pdf.
- Fox, Jonathan. 2004. "Empowerment and Institutional Change: Mapping Virtuous Circles of State-society Interaction." In Power, Rights, and Poverty: Concepts and Connections, edited by Ruth Alsop, 68–92. World Bank; DFID. https://gsdrc.org/document-library/ empowerment-and-institutional-change-mapping-virtuous-circles-of-state-society-interaction.
- Fox, Jonathan. 2005. "Empowerment and Institutional Change: Mapping 'Virtuous Circles' of State-Society Interaction." In Power, Rights, and Poverty: Concepts and Connections, edited by Alsop Ruth, 68–93. World Bank. https://elibrary.worldbank.org/doi/pdf/10.1596/978-0-8213-6310-2.
- Fox, Jonathan. 2007. "The Uncertain Relationship between Transparency and Accountability." *Development in Practice* 17, no. 4–5: 663–671. https://doi.org/10.1080/09614520701469955.
- Fox, Jonathan. 2015. "Social Accountability: What Does the Evidence Really Say?" *World Development* 72: 346-361. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2015.03.011.
- Fox, Jonathan. 2019. "How can a rethink of lessons from field experiments inform future research in transparency, participation and accountability?" International Initiative for Impact Evaluation. Accessed September 25, 2019. https://www.3ieimpact.org/blogs/ how-can-rethink-lessons-field-experiments-inform-future-research-transparency-participation.

- Fox, Jonathan, and Libby Haight. 2010. "Transparency Reforms: Theory and Practice." In *Mexico's Democratic Challenges: Politics, Government, and Society*, edited by Andrew Selee and Jacqueline Peschard. Stanford, CA: Stanford University Press.
- Fox, Jonathan, Joy Aceron, and Aránzazu Guillán Montero. 2016. "Doing Accountability Differently: A Proposal for the Vertical Integration of Civil Society Monitoring and Advocacy." U4 Anti-Corruption Centre, Chr. Michelsen Institute. https://www.u4.no/publications/doing-accountability-differently-a-proposal-for-the-vertical-integration-of-civil-society-monitoring-and-advocacy.
- Frankel, Jeffrey A. 2012. "The Natural Resource Curse: A Survey of Diagnoses and Some Prescriptions." In Commodity Price Volatility and Inclusive Growth in Low-Income Countries, edited by Rabah Arezki, Catherine Pattillo, Marc Quintyn, and Min Zhu, 7–34. Washington, DC: International Monetary Fund. http://dx.doi.org/10.5089/9781616353797.071.
- Frederiksen, Tomas. 2017. "Corporate Social Responsibility and Political Settlements in the Mining Sector in Ghana, Zambia, and Peru." Effective States and Inclusive Development: Working Paper No. 74. http://www.effective-states.org/working-paper-74/.
- Freedom House. 2016a. "Freedom in the World 2016." https://freedomhouse.org/sites/default/files/FH_ FITW_Report_2016.pdf.
- Freedom House. 2016b. "Mongolia | Freedom of the Press 2016." https://freedomhouse.org/report/ freedom-press/2016/mongolia.

Freedom House. 2017. "2017 Methodology." https://freedomhouse.org/report/freedom-press-2017-methodology.

Front Line Defenders. 2017. "Annual Report on Human Rights Defenders at Risk in 2016." https://www.frontlinedefenders.org/en/resource-publication/annual-report-human-rights-defenders-risk-2016.

The Fund for Peace. 2017. "Methodology." Fragile States Index. https://fragilestatesindex.org/methodology/.

- Fung, Archon, David Weil, Mary Graham, and Elena Fagotto. 2004. "The Political Economy of Transparency: What Makes Disclosure Policies Effective?" Ash Institute for Democratic Governance and Innovation, John F. Kennedy School of Government, Harvard University. https://ash.harvard.edu/ files/political_econ_transparency.pdf.
- Fung, Archon, Mary Graham, and David Weil. 2007. *Full Disclosure: The Perils and Promise of Transparency*. New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Gainer, Maya. 2015. "Defending the Environment at the Local Level: Dom Eliseu, Brazil, 2008–2014." Innovations for Successful Societies, Princeton University. https://successfulsocieties.princeton.edu/ publications/defending-environment-local-level-dom-eliseu-brazil-2008%E2%80%932014.
- Gaventa, John, and Gregory Barrett. 2010. "So What Difference Does It Make? Mapping the Outcomes of Citizen Engagement." *IDS Working Papers* 2010, no. 347: 1–72. http://unpan1.un.org/intradoc/ groups/public/documents/un-dpadm/unpan044380.pdf.

- Gaventa, John, and Rosemary McGee. 2010. *Citizen Action and National Policy Reform: Making Change Happen*. London: Zed Books.
- Gaventa, John, and Gregory Barrett. 2012. "Mapping the Outcomes of Citizen Engagement." World Development 40, no. 12: 2399–2410. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2012.05.014.
- Gaventa, John, and Rosemary McGee. 2013. "The Impact of Transparency and Accountability Initiatives." Development Policy Review 31 (s1): s3–28. https://doi.org/10.1111/dpr.12017.
- Ghosh, Padmaparna. 2007. "Are the Govt's Green Clearances a Farce?" *LiveMint*, December 27, 2007. https://www.livemint.com/Politics/cjoWXgFC8N93EY0j1kZdRL/Are-the-govt8217s-greenclearances-a-farce.html.
- Gilberthorpe, Emma, and Elissaios Papyrakis. 2015. "The Extractive Industries and Development: The Resource Curse at the Micro, Meso and Macro Levels." *The Extractive Industries and Society* 2, no. 2: 381–390. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exis.2015.02.008.
- Gillies, Alexandra. 2009. "Reforming Corruption Out of Nigerian Oil? Part One: Mapping Corruption Risks in Oil Sector Governance." U4 Anti-Corruption Resource Centre, Chr. Michelsen Institute. https:// www.u4.no/publications/reforming-corruption-out-of-nigerian-oil-part-one-mapping-corruptionrisks-in-oil-sector-governance.
- Gillies, Alexandra. 2010. "Reputational Concerns and the Emergence of Oil Sector Transparency as an International Norm." *International Studies Quarterly* 54, no. 1: 103–126. https://www.jstor.org/stable/40664239.
- Gillies Alexandra. 2019. "The EITI's Role in Addressing Corruption." EITI Secretariat. https://eiti.org/document/eitis-role-in-addressing-corruption.
- Gillies, Alexandra, and Antoine Heuty. 2011. "Does Transparency Work? The Challenges of Measurement and Effectiveness in Resource-Rich Countries." Yale Journal of International Affairs 6, no. 2: 25–42. http://yalejournal.org/wp-content/uploads/2011/09/4.Articles_GilliesHeuty.pdf.
- Gillies, Alexandra, Patrick Heller, and Daniel Kaufmann. 2018. "What Makes an Accountable State-Owned Enterprise?" Natural Resource Governance Institute. https://resourcegovernance.org/blog/ what-makes-an-accountable-state-owned-enterprise.
- GIZ (Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit). 2016. "Assessing the Effectiveness and Impact of the Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative (EITI)." https://eiti.org/sites/default/files/ documents/eiti_impact_study_giz_2016.pdf.
- Global Witness. 2007. "Heavy Mittal? A State Within a State: The Inequitable Mineral Development Agency Between the Government of Liberia and Mittal Steel Holdings NV." https://www.globalwitness.org/ en/archive/heavy-mittal.
- Global Witness. 2009. "Country for Sale: How Cambodia's Elite has Captured the Country's Extractive Industries." https://www.globalwitness.org/en/reports/country-sale.

- Global Witness. 2015. "The New Snake Oil? The Violence, Threats, and False Promises Driving Rapid Palm Oil Expansion in Liberia." https://www.globalwitness.org/en/campaigns/land-deals/new-snake-oil.
- Global Witness. 2017a. "Shell Knew: Emails Show Senior Executives at UK's Biggest Company Knew it was Party to a Vast Bribery Scheme." https://www.globalwitness.org/en/campaigns/ oil-gas-and-mining/shell-knew.
- Global Witness. 2017b. "'Buyers in Good Faith': How Timber Exporters are Complicit in Plundering Peru's Amazon." https://www.globalwitness.org/fr/campaigns/forests/buyers-good-faith.
- Global Witness. 2017c. "Honduras: The Deadliest Place to Defend the Planet." https://www.globalwitness.org/en/campaigns/environmental-activists/ honduras-deadliest-country-world-environmental-activism.
- Global Witness. 2018a. "At What Cost? Irresponsible Business and the Murder of Land and Environmental Defenders in 2017." https://www.globalwitness.org/en-gb/campaigns/environmental-activists/ at-what-cost.
- Global Witness. 2018b. "Not For Sale: Congo's Forests Must Be Protected from the Fossil Fuels Industry." https://www.globalwitness.org/en/campaigns/oil-gas-and-mining/not-for-sale-salonga.
- Gould, Carol C. 1996. "Diversity and Democracy: Representing Differences." In *Democracy and Difference: Contesting the Boundaries of the Political*, edited by Seyla Benhabib, 171–186. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Gould, Gregory J. 2017. Letter to Mr. Friedrik Reinfeldt, Chair, Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative. November 2, 2017. https://eiti.org/sites/default/files/documents/signed_eiti_withdraw_11-17.pdf.
- Green, Jessica. 2013. *Rethinking Private Authority: Agents and Entrepreneurs in Global Environmental Governance*. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Greenspan, Emily et al. 2015. "Community Consent Index 2015: Oil, Gas, and Mining Company Positions on Free, Prior, and Informed Consent." Oxfam International. https://www.oxfam.org/en/research/ community-consent-index-2015.
- Grimes, Marcia. 2013. "The Contingencies of Societal Accountability: Examining the Link Between Civil Society and Good Government." Studies in Comparative International Development 48, no. 4: 380– 402. https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s12116-012-9126-3.
- Gupta, Kartick. 2017. "Are Oil and Gas Firms More Likely to Engage in Unethical Practices Than Other Firms?" *Energy Policy* 100: 101–112. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2016.10.009.
- Gurses, Mehmet. 2011. "Elites, Oil, and Democratization: A Survival Analysis." *Social Science Quarterly* 92, no. 1: 164–184. https://www.jstor.org/stable/42956479.

- G8. 2004. "Fighting Corruption and Improving Transparency." http://www.g8.utoronto.ca/summit/ 2004seaisland/corruption.html.
- Haber, Stephen, and Victor Menaldo. 2011. "Do Natural Resources Fuel Authoritarianism? A Reappraisal of the Resource Curse." *American Political Science Review* 105, no. 1: 1–26. https://www.jstor.org/stable/41480824.
- Hadiz, Vedi R. 2010. Localising Power in Post-Authoritarian Indonesia: A Southeast Asia Perspective. Stanford University Press.
- Halloran, Brendan. 2016. "Accountability Ecosystems: Directions of Accountability and Points of Engagement." Making All Voices Count. https://opendocs.ids.ac.uk/opendocs/bitstream/ handle/123456789/11739/RB_ManilaBgnd_Accountability_final.pdf.
- Hartzell, Caroline, Matthew Hoddie, and Donald Rothchild. 2001. "Stabilizing the Peace after Civil War: An Investigation of Some Key Variables." *International Organization* 55 (1): 183. http://search.ebscohost. com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=edsjsr&AN=edsjsr.3078601&site=eds-live&scope=site.
- Haufler, Virginia. 2012. "Transnational Business Governance and the Management of Natural Resources." Osgoode CLPE Research Paper No. 18/2012. https://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2143388.
- Hazell, Robert, and Ben Worthy. 2010. "Assessing the Performance of Freedom of Information." *Government Information Quarterly* 27, no. 4: 352–359. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.giq.2010.03.005.
- Hearn, Simon. 2018. "Measuring the Hard to Measure in Development." Video recording. https://www.odi. org/events/4527-measuring-hard-measure-development.
- Heilbrunn, John. 2011. "Post-Conflict Reconstruction, Legitimacy and Anti-Corruption Commissions." In Corruption and Post-Conflict Peacebuilding: Selling the Peace?, edited by Christine Cheng and Dominik Zaum, 201–217. London: Routledge.
- Heller, Katherine, and Isabel Cane. 2015. "Gender and the Extractives Industries: An Overview." World Bank. https://olc.worldbank.org/content/gender-and-extractive-industries.
- Heller, Katherine, Warren van Wicklin III, Saki Kumagai, with Michael Jarvis, Sanjay Agarwal, and Theodore Dreger. 2016. "Integrating Social Accountability Approaches into Extractive Industries Projects: A Guidance Note." World Bank. http://hdl.handle.net/10986/24771.
- Heller, Patrick, Paasha Mahdavi, and Johannes Schreuder. 2014. "Reforming National Oil Companies: Nine Recommendations." Natural Resource Governance Institute (NRGI). https://resourcegovernance. org/analysis-tools/publications/reforming-national-oil-companies-nine-recommendations.
- Hellman, Joel S., Geraint Jones, Mark Schankerman, and Daniel Kaufmann. 1999. "Measuring Governance, Corruption, and State Capture: How Firms and Bureaucrats Shape the Business Environment in Transit." World Bank Policy Research Working Paper Series. https://doi.org/10.1596/1813-9450-2312.

- Hellman, Joel, and Daniel Kaufmann. 2001. "Confronting the Challenges of State Capture in Transition Economies." *Finance & Development* 38, no. 3. https://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/ fandd/2001/09/hellman.htm.
- Hellman, Joel S., Geraint Jones, and Daniel Kaufmann. 2003. "Seize the State, Seize the Day: State Capture, Corruption, and Influence in Transition." *Journal of Comparative Economics* 31, no. 4: 751–773. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jce.2003.09.006.
- Hetherington, Marc J. 1998. "The Political Relevance of Political Trust." The American Political Science Review 92, no. 4 (1998): 791-808. DOI: 10.2307/2586304.
- Hetherington, Marc J. 2007. Why Trust Matters. Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- Hickey, Sam, Abdul-Gafaru Abdulai, Angelo Izama, and Giles Mohan. 2015. "The Politics of Governing Oil Effectively: A Comparative Study of Two New Oil-Rich States in Africa." Effective States and Inclusive Development Working Paper Series. http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2695723.
- Hilson, Gavin. 2017. "Shootings and Burning Excavators: Some Rapid Reflections on the Government of Ghana's Handling of the Informal *Galamsey* Mining 'Menace." *Resources Policy* 54: 109–116. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resourpol.2017.09.009.
- Hodler, Roland. 2006. "The Curse of Natural Resources in Fractionalized Countries." *European Economic Review* 50, no. 6: 1367–1386. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.euroecorev.2005.05.004.
- Hoffman, Aaron M. 2002. "A Conceptualization of Trust in International Relations." *European Journal of International Relations* 8 (3): 375. doi:10.1177/1354066102008003003.
- Hoffmann, Leena; Raj Navanit Patel. 2017. "Collective Action On Corruption in Nigeria: A Social Norms Approach to Connecting Society and Institutions." *Chatham House*. http://search.ebscohost.com/ login.aspx?direct=true&db=edsggo&AN=edsgcl.492449431&site=eds-live&scope=site.
- Hubert, Don. 2017. "Many Ways to Lose a Billion: How Governments Fail to Secure a Fair Share of Natural Resource Wealth." Publish What You Pay. http://www.publishwhatyoupay.org/wp-content/ uploads/2017/07/PWYP-Report-ManyWaysToLoseABillion-EN-INTERACTIVE.pdf.
- Hubert, Don, and Rob Pitman. 2017. "Past the Tipping Point? Contract Disclosure within EITI." Natural Resource Governance Institute. https://resourcegovernance.org/analysis-tools/publications/ past-tipping-point.
- Humphreys, Macartan. 2005. "Natural Resources, Conflict, and Conflict Resolution: Uncovering the Mechanisms." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 49, no. 4: 508-537. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022002705277545.
- Hutchison, Marc L. and Kristin Johnson. 2011. "Capacity to Trust? Institutional Capacity, Conflict, and Political Trust in Africa, 2000–2005." Journal of Peace Research 48, no. 6: 737. https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/0022343311417981.

- Ibadoglu, Gubad. 2015. "Diminished Returns: Managing Oil Revenues in Azerbaijan." Natural Resource Governance Institute. https://resourcegovernance.org/analysis-tools/publications/ diminished-returns-managing-oil-revenues-azerbaijan.
- limi, Atsushi. 2007. "Escaping from the Resource Curse: Evidence from Botswana and the Rest of the World." IMF Staff Papers 54, no. 4: 663–699. https://www.jstor.org/stable/30035929.
- International Association for Public Participation (IAP2). 2018. "IAP2 Spectrum of Public Participation." https://cdn.ymaws.com/www.iap2.org/resource/resmgr/pillars/Spectrum_8.5x11_Print.pdf.
- International Association for Public Participation (IAP2). n.d. "Core Values for Public Participation." https://www.iap2.org/page/corevalues.
- International Council on Mining and Metals (ICMM). 2009. "Position Statement on Transparency of Mineral Revenues." https://www.icmm.com/en-gb/members/member-commitments/position-statements/ transparency-of-mineral-revenues-position-statement.
- International Council on Mining and Metals (ICMM). 2019. "Mining With Principles: Strategy & Action Plan 2019–2021." https://www.icmm.com/website/graphics/icmm-2019-21-strategy-and-action-plan.pdf.
- International Council on Mining and Metals (ICMM). n.d.a. "EITI." https://www.icmm.com/en-gb/ society-and-the-economy/governance-and-transparency/eiti.
- International Council on Mining and Metals (ICMM). n.d.b. "Our Members." https://www.icmm.com/ en-gb/members.
- International Monetary Fund (IMF). 2012. "Fiscal Transparency, Accountability, and Risk." https://www.imf.org/external/np/pp/eng/2012/080712.pdf.
- International Monetary Fund (IMF). 2013. "Energy Subsidy Reform—Lessons and Implications." https://www.imf.org/en/Publications/Policy-Papers/Issues/2016/12/31/ Energy-Subsidy-Reform-Lessons-and-Implications-PP4741.
- Ioannou, Ioannis and George Serafeim. 2017. "The Consequences of Mandatory Corporate Sustainability Reporting." Harvard Business School Research Working Paper No. 11-100. https://papers.ssrn.com/ sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=1799589.
- Isaksen, Jan. 2005. "The Budget Process and Corruption." U4 Anti-Corruption Centre, Chr. Michelsen Institute. https://www.cmi.no/publications/2559-the-budget-process-and-corruption.
- Isham, Jonathan, Michael Woolcock, Lant Pritchett, and Gwen Busby. 2005. "The Varieties of Resource Experience: Natural Resource Export Structures and the Political Economy of Economic Growth." *The World Bank Economic Review* 19, no. 2: 141–174. https://doi.org/10.1093/wber/lhi010.

- Islam, Roumeen. 2003. "Do More Transparent Governments Govern Better?" Policy Research Working Paper 3077, World Bank. http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/568401468741328131/109509322 _20041117183019/additional/multiOpage.pdf.
- Islam, Roumeen, Simeon Djankov, and Caralee McLeish. 2002. "The right to tell: the role of mass media in economic development." *World Bank Institute Development* Studies.http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/651141468314989649/ The-right-to-tell-the-role-of-mass-media-in-economic-development.
- Iwerks, Rebecca and Varsha Venugopal. 2016. "It Takes a Village: Routes to Local-Level Extractives Transparency". Natural Resource Governance Institute. https://resourcegovernance.org/sites/ default/files/documents/sn_transparency_20160809.pdf.
- Jancsics, David and István Jávor. 2012. "Corrupt Governmental Networks." International Public Management Journal 15, no. 1: 62–99. https://doi.org/10.1080/10967494.2012.684019.
- Jensen, Nathan, and Leonard Wantchekon. 2004. "Resource Wealth and Political Regimes in Africa." Comparative Political Studies 37, no. 7: 816–841. https://doi.org/10.1177/0010414004266867.
- Jia, Suzhe, Marie Lintzer, Elizabeth Moses, and Carole Excell. 2017. "Closing the Gap: Strengthening the Development and Implementation of Natural Resource Commitments in the Open Government Partnership." Open Government Partnership and Natural Resource Governance Institute. https:// resourcegovernance.org/sites/default/files/documents/closing-the-gap.pdf.
- Joshi, Anuradha. 2013. "Do They Work? Assessing the Impact of Transparency and Accountability Initiatives in Service Delivery." *Development Policy Review* 31: s29–48. https://doi.org/10.1111/dpr.12018.
- Joshi, Anuradha. 2014. "Reading the Local Context: A Causal Chain Approach to Social Accountability." *IDS Bulletin* 45, no. 5: 23–35. https://www.ids.ac.uk/publications/ reading-the-local-context-a-causal-chain-approach-to-social-accountability.
- Joshi, Anuradha. 2017. "Legal Empowerment and Social Accountability: Complementary Strategies Toward Rights-Based Development in Health?" *World Development* 99: 160–172. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2017.07.008.
- Jungbluth, Werner. 2012. "Spending Wisely: Helping Peruvians Manage Resource Wealth." Revenue Watch Institute. https://resourcegovernance.org/analysis-tools/publications/ spending-wisely-helping-peruvians-manage-resource-wealth.
- Kakonge, John O. 2006. "Environmental Planning in Sub-Saharan Africa: Environmental Impact Assessment at the Crossroads." Yale School of Forestry and Environmental Studies. http://environment.yale.edu/ publication-series/952.html.
- Kalenborn, Christine, and Christian Lessmann. 2013. "The Impact of Democracy and Press Freedom on Corruption: Conditionality Matters." *Journal of Policy Modeling* 35, no. 6: 857–886. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jpolmod.2013.02.009.

- Kaminsky, Graciela L., Carmen M. Reinhart, and Carlos A. Végh. 2005. "When It Rains, It Pours: Procyclical Capital Flows and Macroeconomic Policies." In *NBER Macroeconomics Annual 2004, Volume 19*, edited by Mark Gertler and Kenneth Rogoff, 11–82. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press. https://www.nber.org/chapters/c6668.
- Kapoor, Mudit, and Shamika Ravi. 2009. "Determinants of Corruption: Government Effectiveness vs. Cultural Norms." https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=1443617.
- Karl, Terry Lynn. 1997. The Paradox of Plenty: Oil Booms and Petro-States. Berkeley: University of California Press.
- Karl, Terry Lynn. 2007. "Ensuring Fairness: The Case for a Transparent Fiscal Social Contract." In *Escaping the Resource Curse*, edited by Macartan Humphreys, Jeffrey D. Sachs, and Joseph E. Stiglitz, 256–285. New York: Columbia University Press.
- Kasekende, Elizabeth, Charles Abuka, and Mare Sarr. 2016. "Extractives Industries and Corruption: Investigating the Effectiveness of EITI as a Scrutiny Mechanism." *Resources Policy* 48: 117–128. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resourpol.2016.03.002.
- Katsouris, Christina, and Aaron Sayne. 2013. "Nigeria's Criminal Crude: International Options to Combat the Export of Stolen Oil." Chatham House. https://www.chathamhouse.org/publications/papers/ view/194254.
- Kaufmann, Daniel. 2016. "Challenges and Reform Opportunities in Governance and Natural Resources: Mongolia and Asia in a Global Empirical Perspective." Lecture at the Mongolia Economic Forum, Ulaanbaatar, Mongolia, March 31, 2016. https://resourcegovernance.org/sites/default/files/documents/nrgi_mongolia-governance-public-lecture-english.pdf.
- Kaufmann, Daniel. 2019. "From Rhetoric to Action: Addressing Corruption and State Capture through the Extractives Industries Transparency Initiative." Natural Resource Governance Institute. https://resourcegovernance.org/blog/ rhetoric-action-addressing-corruption-and-state-capture-through-extractives-industries.
- Kaufmann, Daniel, and Ana Bellver. 2005. "Transparenting Transparency: Initial Empirics and Policy Applications." Social Science Research Network. https://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.808664.
- Kaufmann, Daniel, Aart Kraay. 2002. "Growth Without Governance." World Bank Policy Research Working Paper No. 2928. https://ssrn.com/abstract=316861.
- Kaufmann, Daniel, Aart Kraay, and Massimo Mastruzzi. 2007. "Measuring Corruption: Myths and Realities." World Bank. http://hdl.handle.net/10986/9576.
- Kaufmann, Daniel, Aart Kraay, and Massimo Mastruzzi. 2010. "The Worldwide Governance Indicators: Methodology and Analytical Issues." *The World Bank and Development Research Group, Macroeconomics and Growth Team*: Policy research working paper 5430. https://ssrn.com/ abstract=1682130.

- Kaufmann, Daniel, Aart Kraay, and Massimo Mastruzzi. 2011. "The Worldwide Governance Indicators: Methodology and Analytical Issues." *Hague Journal on the Rule of Law* 3, no. 2: 220–246. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1876404511200046.
- Kaufmann, Daniel. 2015. "Evidence-Based Reflections on Natural Resource Governance and Corruption in Africa." In Africa at a Fork in the Road: Taking off or Disappointment Once Again? edited by Ernesto Zedillo, Olivier Cattaneo, and Haynie Wheeler. Yale Center for the Study of Globalization (YCSG). https://resourcegovernance.org/analysis-tools/publications/ evidence-based-reflections-natural-resource-governance-and-corruption.
- Kaye, David. 2016. "Freedom of Expression and the Private Sector in the Digital Age." Report of the Special Rapporteur on freedom of expression to the Human Rights Council, United Nations. https://www.ohchr.org/EN/Issues/FreedomOpinion/Pages/Privatesectorinthedigitalage. aspx?platform=hootsuite.
- Keefer, Philip, and Stuti Khemani. 2011. "Mass Media and Public Services: The Effects of Radio Access on Public Education in Benin." World Bank Policy Research Working Paper, World Bank. http://hdl.handle.net/10986/3697.
- Kekic, Laza. 2007. "The Economist Intelligence Unit's index of democracy." The World in 2007. https://www.economist.com/media/pdf/DEMOCRACY_INDEX_2007_v3.pdf.
- Khadiagala, Gilbert. 2014. "Global and Regional Mechanisms for Governing the Resource Curse in Africa." Resource Insight 12, 10–25. SARW Resource Insight. 42. 1–23. https://eiti.org/sites/default/files/documents/Global-and-Regional-Mechanisms-Resource-Governance-Africa.pdf.
- Klare, Michael, and Daniel Volman. 2006. "The African 'Oil Rush' and US National Security." *Third World Quarterly* 27, no. 4: 609–628. https://doi.org/10.1080/01436590600720835.
- Kluttz, Carey, Johathan Gbede, Aliou Barry, and Thomas Nah. 2015. "Converting Natural Resources into Development: From Transparency to More Efficient Natural Resources Management." Open Society Initiative for West Africa (OSIWA). http://www.osiwa.org/publication/ converting-natural-resources-into-development.
- Knutsen, Carl Henrik, Andreas Kotsadam, Eivind Hammersmark Olsen, and Tore Wig. 2017. "Mining and Local Corruption in Africa." *American Journal of Political Science* 61, no. 2: 320–334. https://doi. org/10.1111/ajps.12268.
- Kolstad, Ivar, and Arne Wiig. 2009. "Is Transparency the Key to Reducing Corruption in Resource-Rich Countries?" *World Development* 37, no. 3: 521–532. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2008.07.002.
- Kolstad, Ivar, and Tina Søreide. 2009. "Corruption in Natural Resource Management: Implications for Policy Makers." Resources Policy 34, no. 4: 214–226. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resourpol.2009.05.001.
- Kolstad, Ivar, Arne Wiig. 2015. "Does Democracy Reduce Corruption?" *Democratization* 23, no. 7 (2016): 1198-1215. https://doi.org/10.1080/13510347.2015.1071797.

- Kopas, Jacob, Tara Slough, and Johannes Urpelainen. 2018. "Community Monitoring and Technology Transfer to Prevent Deforestation: A Field Experiment in the Peruvian Amazon." *Evidence in Governance and Politics*. https://egap.org/registration/2822.
- Korf, Benedikt. 2005. "Rethinking the Greed-Grievance Nexus: Property Rights and the Political Economy of War in Sri Lanka." *Journal of Peace Research* 42, no. 2: 201–217. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022343305050691.
- Kosack, Stephen, Jessica Creighton, and Courtney Tolmie. 2017. "An Approach to Small-Scale Mixed Methods Experimentation: Transparency for Development, Phase 2." Ash Center for Democratic Governance and Innovation, John F. Kennedy School of Government, Harvard Kennedy School. https://ash.harvard.edu/files/ash/files/t4d_phase_2_evaluation_design_working_paper.pdf.
- Kramarz, Teresa, and Susan Park. 2016. "Accountability in Global Environmental Governance: A Meaningful Tool for Action?" *Global Environmental Politics* 16, no. 2: 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1162/GLEP_a_00349.
- Kronenberg, Tobias. 2004. "The Curse of Natural Resources in the Transition Economies." *Economics of Transition* 12, no. 3: 399–426. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0967-0750.2004.00187.x.
- Kubba, Juman, and Eryn Schornick. 2015. "Who Are You Really Doing Business With? Learning Lessons from Coca Cola's Experiences in Myanmar." *Global Witness*, July 1, 2015. https://www.globalwitness.org/ en/blog/who-are-you-really-doing-business-learning-lessons-coca-colas-experiences-myanmar.
- Kyle, Jordan. 2014. "What Can We Learn from Oil Contracts? Clarifying the Links Between Transparency and Accountability." In Juan Cruz Vieyra and Malaika Masson, eds. *Transparent Governance in an Age of Abundance: Experiences from the Extractive Industries in Latin America and the Caribbean*. Washington, D.C.: Inter-American Development Bank. https://publications.iadb.org/en/publication/16880/ transparent-governance-age-abundance-experiences-extractive-industries-latin.
- Labrador, Rocio Cara. 2019. "Venezuela: The Rise and Fall of a Petrostate." Council on Foreign Relations, last updated January 24, 2019. https://www.cfr.org/backgrounder/venezuela-crisis.
- Lagunes, Paul. 2017. International Growth Centre (IGC) Working Paper C-89335-PER-1. "Guardians of Accountability: A Field Experiment on Corruption and Inefficiency in Local Public Works." https://www.theigc.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/11/Lagunes-2017-Working-paper.pdf.
- Lagunes, Paul, and Oscar Pocasangre. 2018. "Dynamic Transparency: An Audit of Mexico's Freedom of Information Act." *Public Administration* 97, no. 1: 162–176. https://doi.org/10.1111/padm.12553.
- Langfitt, Frank. 2012. "Mineral-Rich Mongolia Rapidly Becoming 'Minegolia." Morning Edition. https://www.npr.org/2012/05/21/152683549/mineral-rich-mongolia-rapidly-becoming-minegolia.

Lasa Aresti, Maria. 2016a. "Mineral Revenue Sharing in Peru." Natural Resource Governance Institute. https://resourcegovernance.org/sites/default/files/documents/mineral-revenue-sharing-in-peru_0.pdf.

- Lasa Aresti, Maria. 2016b. "Revenue Sharing Case Study: Oil and Gas Revenue Sharing in Iraq." Natural Resource Governance Institute. https://resourcegovernance.org/analysis-tools/publications/ revenue-sharing-case-study-oil-and-gas-revenue-sharing-iraq.
- Lassibille, Gérard, Jee-Peng Tan, Cornelia Jesse, and Trang Van Nguyen. 2010. "Managing for Results in Primary Education in Madagascar: Evaluating the Impact of Selected Workflow Interventions." *The World Bank Economic Review* 24, no. 2: 303–329. http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/ en/539301468088145388/Managing-for-results-in-primary-education-in-Madagascar-evaluatingthe-impact-of-selected-workflow-interventions.
- Le Billon, Philippe. 2011. "Extractive Sectors and Illicit Financial Flows: What Role for Revenue Governance Initiatives?" U4 Anti-Corruption Centre, Chr. Michelsen Institute. https://www.u4.no/publications/ extractive-sectors-and-illicit-financial-flows-what-role-for-revenue-governance-initiatives.
- Le Billon, Philippe. 2012a. "Contract Negotiation and Asset Recovery in Post-Conflict Settings." In *High-Value Natural Resources and Peacebuilding*, eds. Päivi Lujala and Siri Aas Rustad. London: Earthscan.
- Le Billon, Philippe. 2012b. Wars of Plunder: Conflicts, Profits and the Politics of Resources. New York: Columbia University Press.
- Le Billon, Philippe. 2014. "Natural Resources and Corruption in Post-War Transitions: Matters of Trust." Third World Quarterly 35, no. 5: 770–786. https://doi.org/10.1080/01436597.2014.921429.
- Lederman, Daniel, and William Maloney. 2007. "Natural Resources: Neither Curse nor Destiny." Stanford Economics and Finance and The World Bank. http://siteresources.worldbank.org/ INTTRADERESEARCH/Resources/D.Lederman_W.Maloney_Natural_Resources_book.pdf.
- Lederman, Daniel, and William Maloney. 2008. "In Search of the Missing Resource Curse." Policy Research Working Paper WPS 4766, World Bank. http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/ en/655741468315286668/In-search-of-the-missing-resource-curse.
- Leite, Carlos, and Jens Weidmann. 2002. "Does Mother Nature Corrupt? Natural Resources, Corruption, and Economic Growth." In *Governance, Corruption, and Economic Performance*, eds. George T. Abed and Sanjeev Gupta, 159–196. Washington, DC: IMF.
- Lessmann, Christian, and Gunther Markwardt. 2010. "One Size Fits All? Decentralization, Corruption, and the Monitoring of Bureaucrats." *World Development* 38, no. 4: 631–646. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. worlddev.2009.11.003.
- Levi, Margaret, and Laura Stoker. 2000. "Political Trust and Trustworthiness." Annual Review of Political Science 3 (1): 475. doi:10.1146/annurev.polisci.3.1.475.
- Levi, M., A. Sacks, and T. Tyler. 2009. "Conceptualizing Legitimacy, Measuring Legitimating Beliefs." *AMERICAN BEHAVIORAL SCIENTIST*, no. 3: 354. http://search.ebscohost.com/login. aspx?direct=true&db=edsbl&AN=CN074460444&site=eds-live&scope=site.

- Levy, Brian, Robert Cameron, Ursual Hoadley, and Vinothan Naidoo, eds. 2018. *The Politicsand Governance of Basic Education: A Tale of Two South African Provinces*. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press.
- Lieberman, Evan S., Daniel N. Posner, and Lily L. Tsai. 2014. "Does Information Lead to More Active Citizenship? Evidence from an Education Intervention in Rural Kenya." *World Development* 60: 69–83. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2014.03.014.
- Lindberg, Jonas, and Camilla Orjuela. 2014. "Corruption in the Aftermath of War: An Introduction." *Third World Quarterly* 35, no. 5: 723-736. https://doi.org/10.1080/01436597.2014.921421.
- Lindberg, Jonas, and Dhammika Herath. 2014. "Land and Grievances in Post-Conflict Sri Lanka: Exploring the Role of Corruption Complaints. *Third World Quarterly* 35, no. 5: 888-904. https://doi.org/10.1080/01 436597.2014.921444.
- Lindner, Samira. 2014. "Good Practice in Mitigating Corruption Risks in the Extractives Sector." U4 Anti-Corruption Resource Centre, Chr. Michelsen Institute. https://www.u4.no/publications/ good-practice-in-mitigating-corruption-risks-in-the-extractives-sector.
- Lindstedt, Catharina, and Daniel Naurin. 2010. "Transparency Is Not Enough: Making Transparency Effective in Reducing Corruption." *International Political Science Review* 31, no. 3: 301–322. https://doi.org/10.1177/0192512110377602.
- Lipman-Blumen, Jean. 2004. The Allure of Toxic Leaders: Why We Follow Destructive Bosses and Corrupt Politicians—and How We Can Survive Them. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press.
- Longchamp, Olivier, and Nathalie Perrot. 2017. "Trading in Corruption: Evidence and Mitigation Measures for Corruption in the Trading of Oil and Minerals." U4 Anti-Corruption Resource Center, Chr. Michelsen Institute. http://www.u4.no/publications/trading-in-corruption-evidence-and-mitigation-measuresfor-corruption-in-the-trading-of-oil-and-minerals.
- Lujala, Päivi. 2010. "The Spoils of Nature: Armed Civil Conflict and Rebel Access to Natural Resources." Journal of Peace Research 47, no. 1: 15–28. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022343309350015.
- Macdonald, Catherine. 2017. "The Role of Participation in Sustainable Community Development Programmes in the Extractive Industries." WIDER Working Paper, United Nations University World Institute for Development Economics Research (UNU-WIDER), February 2017. https://www.wider.unu.edu/publication/ role-participation-sustainable-community-development-programmes-extractives-industries.
- MacInnes, Angus, Marcus Colchester, and Andrew Whitmore. 2017. "Free, Prior, and Informed Consent: How to Rectify the Devastating Consequences of Harmful Mining for Indigenous Peoples'." *Perspectives in Ecology and Conservation* 15, no. 3: 152–160. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pecon.2017.05.007.
- Magno, Cielo and Dante Gatmaytan. 2017. "Corruption and Civic Space: Contextual Factors Influencing EITI Compliance." *The Extractive Industries and Society* 4, no. 4: 806–815. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. exis.2017.07.003.

- Maguwu, Farai. 2017. "Investigating Illicit Financial Flows in Zimbabwe's Lithium Mining Sector." Illicit Financial Flows Research Series, TrustAfrica. http://iffoadatabase.trustafrica.org/cgi-bin/koha/ opac-detail.pl?biblionumber=1003.
- Mahdavy, Hussein. 1970. "The Patterns and Problems of Economic Development in Rentier States: The Case of Iran." In *Studies in Economic History of the Middle East*, edited by M.A. Cook, 428–467. London: Oxford University Press.
- Malena, Carmen, Reiner Forster, and Janmejay Singh. 2004. "Social Accountability: An Introduction to the Concept and Emerging Practice. Social Development Papers. World Bank. http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/327691468779445304/ Social-accountability-an-introduction-to-the-concept-and-emerging-practice.
- Malesky, Edmund J., Paul J. Schuler, Anh Tran. 2013. "The Adverse Effects of Sunshine: A Field Experiment on Legislative Transparency in an Authoritarian Assembly." *American Political Science Review* 106.4 (2012): 762–786. https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=1642659.
- Mansuri, Ghazala, and Vijayendra Rao. 2004. "Community-Based and -Driven Development: A Critical Review." *The World Bank Research Observer* 19, no. 1: 1–39. https://doi.org/10.1093/wbro/lkh012.
- Mansuri, Ghazala, and Vijayendra Rao. 2013. Localizing Development : Does Participation Work? World Bank. https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/11859.
- Manzetti, Luigi, and Carole J. Wilson. 2007. "Why Do Corrupt Governments Maintain Public Support?" *Comparative Political Studies* 40, no. 8: 949–970. https://doi.org/10.1177/0010414005285759.
- Marín, José María. 2017. "Evidence of Citizen Engagement Impact in Promoting Good Governance and Anti-Corruption Efforts." U4 Anti-Corruption Resource Center. https://www.u4.no/publications/ evidence-of-citizen-engagement-impact-in-promoting-good-governance-and-anti-corruption-efforts.
- Marshall, Monty G., and Benjamin. R. Cole. 2014. "State Fragility Index and Matrix 2014." Center for Systemic Peace. http://www.systemicpeace.org/inscr/SFImatrix2014c.pdf.
- Martini, Maíra. 2014. "State Capture: An Overview." Transparency International. https://knowledgehub. transparency.org/helpdesk/state-capture-an-overview.
- Massé, Frédéric, and Philippe Le Billon. 2017. "Gold Mining in Colombia, Post-War Crime and the Peace Agreement with the FARC." *Third World Thematics: A TWQ Journal* 3, no. 1: 116–134. https://doi.org/10.1080/23802014.2017.1362322.

Mauro, Paolo. 2002. "The Persistence of Corruption and Slow Economic Growth." IMF

McPherson, Charles, and Stephen MacSearraigh. 2007. "Corruption in the Petroleum Sector." In *The Many* Faces of Corruption: Tracking Vulnerabilities at the Sector Level, edited by J. Edgardo Campos and Sanjay Pradhan, 191–220. World Bank. https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/6848.

- Mehlum, Halvor, Karl Moene, and Ragnar Torvik. 2002. "Plunder & Protection Inc." *Journal of Peace Research* 39, no. 4: 447-459. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022343302039004005.
- Mehlum, Halvor, Karl Moene, and Ragnar Torvik. 2006. "Institutions and the Resource Curse." *The Economic Journal* 116 (508): 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-0297.2006.01045.x.
- Mejía Acosta, Andrés. 2013. "The Impact and Effectiveness of Accountability and Transparency Initiatives: The Governance of Natural Resources." *Development Policy Review* 31, no. 1: 89–105. https://doi.org/10.1111/dpr.12021.
- Mendel, Toby, and Helen Darbishire. 2011. "Ask Your Government! The 6 Question Campaign: A Comparative Analysis of Access to Budget Information in 80 Countries." Access Info Europe, Centre for Law and Democracy, and International Budget Partnership. https://www.access-info.org/wpcontent/uploads/6QC_Report_Publication_version_September_2011.pdf.
- Michener, Gregory. 2015. "Assessing Freedom of Information in Latin America a Decade Later: Illuminating a Transparency Causal Mechanism." *Latin American Politics and Society* 57, no. 3: 77–99. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1548-2456.2015.00275.x.
- Mildner, Stormy-Annika, and Gitta Lauster. 2011. "Curse or Blessing—Development or Misery: Scrambling to the Bottom or Scrambling to the Top—Natural Resources, Economic Growth, and Conflict: A Literature Review." Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit (GIZ). http://goxi.org/ group/virtualthinktank/forum/topics/natural-resources-economic-growth-and-conflict-a-literature.
- Mintzberg, Henry, Bruce Ahlstrand, and Joseph B. Lampel. 2005. Strategy Safari: The Complete Guide Through the Wilds of Strategic Management. New York: The Free Press.
- Moezzi, Mithra, Kathryn B. Janda, and Sea Rotmann. 2017. "Using Stories, Narratives, and Storytelling in Energy and Climate Change Research." *Energy Research & Social Science* 31 (September): 1–10. doi:10.1016/j.erss.2017.06.034.
- Mongolia Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative. 2013. "Shareholders" http://www.eitimongolia.mn/ en/beneficial-owners.
- Monks, Robert. 2012. "The Corporate Capture of the United States." Harvard Law School Forum on Corporate Governance & Financial Regulation. https://corpgov.law.harvard.edu/2012/01/05/ the-corporate-capture-of-the-united-states.
- Monteiro, Joana, and Claudio Ferraz. 2012. "Does Oil Make Leaders Unaccountable? Evidence from Brazil's Offshore Oil Boom." Unpublished manuscript, May 2012. http://parisschoolofeconomics.eu/docs/ ydepot/semin/texte1213/CLA2012DOE.pdf.
- Morgandi, Matteo. 2008. "Extractive Industries Revenues Distribution at the Subnational Level." Natural Resource Governance Institute. https://resourcegovernance.org/analysis-tools/publications/ extractive-industries-revenues-distribution-subnational-level.

- Morris, Stephen D., and Joseph L. Klesner. 2010. "Corruption and Trust: Theoretical Considerations and Evidence From Mexico." *Comparative Political Studies* 43, no. 10: 1258–1285. https://doi.org/10.1177/0010414010369072.
- Morrison, Kevin M. 2009. "Oil, Nontax Revenue, and the Redistributional Foundations of Regime Stability." International Organization 63, no. 1: 107-138. https://www.jstor.org/stable/40071885.
- MSI Integrity (Institute for Multi-Stakeholder Integrity). 2015. "Protecting the Cornerstone: Assessing the Governance of the Extractives Industries Transparency Initiative Multi-Stakeholder Groups." http://www.msi-integrity.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/02/MSI-Integrity-Protecting-The-Cornerstone-Report.pdf.
- Müller, Lisa. 2014. "The Impact of the Mass Media on the Quality of Democracy Within a State Remains a Much Overlooked Area of Study." London School of Economics and Political Science Euro Crisis in the Press. http://blogs.lse.ac.uk/eurocrisispress/2014/12/10/the-impact-of-the-mass-media-onthe-quality-of-democracy-within-a-state-remains-a-much-overlooked-area-of-study.
- Mungiu-Pippidi, Alina. 2013. "Controlling Corruption Through Collective Action." *Journal of Democracy* 24, no.1: 101–115. https://www.journalofdemocracy.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/01/Mungiu-Pippidi-24-1.pdf.
- Mungiu-Pippidi, Alina. 2015. The Quest for Good Governance: How Societies Develop Control of Corruption. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.
- Munilla, Isabel, and Kathleen Brophy. 2018. "Contract Disclosure Survey 2018." Oxfam International. https://oxf.am/2HDbbt1.
- Murshed, Syed Mansoob, and Mohammad Zulfan Tadjoeddin. 2009. "Revisiting the Greed and Grievance Explanations for Violent Internal Conflict." *Journal of International Development* 21, no. 1: 87–111. https://doi.org/10.1002/jid.1478.
- Nadgrodkiewicz, Anna, Maiko Nakagaki, and Marko Tomicic. 2012. "Improving Public Governance: Closing the Implementation Gap Between Law and Practice." The Center for International Private Enterprise and Global Integrity. https://www.cipe.org/resources/ improving-public-governance-closing-implementation-gap-law-practice.
- Natural Resource Governance Institute (NRGI). 2010. "The Value Chain." https://resourcegovernance.org/ analysis-tools/publications/value-chain.
- Natural Resource Governance Institute (NRGI). 2014. "Natural Resource Charter: Second Edition." https:// resourcegovernance.org/analysis-tools/publications/natural-resource-charter-2nd-ed.
- Natural Resource Governance Institute (NRGI). 2015. "Fiscal Regime Design: What Revenues the Government Will be Entitled to Collect." https://resourcegovernance.org/analysis-tools/publications/primer-fiscal-regime-design.

- Natural Resource Governance Institute (NRGI). 2016. "International Best Practices for Transparency in Contract Management: Recommendations for the National Hydrocarbons Commission of the Government of the United Mexican States." https://resourcegovernance.org/sites/default/files/documents/international-best-practices-contract-management-english.pdf.
- Natural Resource Governance Institute (NRGI). 2017a. "2017 Resource Governance Index." https://resourcegovernanceindex.org/about/global-report.
- Natural Resource Governance Institute (NRGI). 2017b. "2017 Resource Governance Index: Method Paper." https://api.resourcegovernanceindex.org/system/documents/documents/000/000/074/original/2017_Resource_Governance_Index_method_paper.pdf?1498601280.
- Natural Resource Governance Institute (NRGI). 2018a. "Primer: The Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative (EITI): Using EITI to Promote Policy Reform." https://resourcegovernance.org/ analysis-tools/publications/primer-extractive-industries-transparency-initiative-eiti.
- Natural Resource Governance Institute (NRGI). 2018b. "Guide to Extractive Sector State-Owned Enterprise Disclosures." https://resourcegovernance.org/analysis-tools/publications/ guide-to-extractive-sector-state-owned-enterprise-disclosures.
- Naurin, Daniel. 2006. "Transparency, Publicity, Accountability—The Missing Links." Swiss Political Science Review 12, no. 3: 90–98.
- Nest, Michael. 2017. "Mining Awards Corruption Risk Assessment Tool." 2nd ed. Transparency International and Transparency International Australia. https://www.transparency.org/whatwedo/publication/ mining_awards_corruption_risk_assessment_tool.
- Newton, Kenneth. 2005. "Social and Political Trust." ESS EduNet. Accessed September 25, 2019. http://essedunet.nsd.uib.no/cms/topics/2/1/1.html.
- Newton, Kenneth. 2007. "Social and Political Trust." In *The Oxford Handbook of Political Behavior*, edited by Russell J. Dalton and Hans-Dieter Klingemann, 342–361. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Nigeria Natural Resource Charter (NNRC). 2018. "NNRC Assesses the Impact of Crude Oil Theft on Nigerians." NNRC. November 28, 2018. http://www.nigerianrc.org/ nnrc-assesses-the-impact-of-crude-oil-theft-on-nigerians.
- Nillesen, Eleonora, and Erwin Bulte. 2014. "Natural Resources and Violent Conflict." Annual Review of Resource Economics 6: 69–83. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-resource-091912-151910.
- Nisperos, Benedict G., and Rhia Muhi. 2016. "Intensifying the Anti-Mining Campaign." Making All Voices Count. http://www.makingallvoicescount.org/publication/intensifying-anti-mining-campaign.
- North, Douglass C. 1990. Institutions, Institutional Change and Economic Performance. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.

- Nossiter, Adam. 2014. "Governor of Nigeria's Central Bank Is Fired After Warning of Missing Oil Revenue." New York Times, February 20, 2014. https://www.nytimes.com/2014/02/21/world/africa/governorof-nigerias-central-bank-is-fired-after-warning-of-missing-oil-revenue.html.
- Nossiter, Adam. 2015. "In Nigeria's Election, Muhammadu Buhari Defeats Goodluck Jonathan." New York Times, March 31, 2015. https://www.nytimes.com/2015/04/01/world/africa/nigeria-election-muhammadu-buhari-goodluck-jonathan.html.
- Ober, Josiah. 2002. "Classical Athenian Democracy and Democracy Today: Culture, Knowledge, Power." Lecture at the University of Bristol, October 28, 2002. Published in John Morrill, ed. 2004. The Promotion of Knowledge: Lectures to Mark the Centenary of the British Academy, 1902–2002. https:// www.thebritishacademy.ac.uk/sites/default/files/122p145.pdf.
- Obi, Cyril, and Siri Aas Rustad. 2011. Oil and Insurgency in the Niger Delta: Managing the Complex Politics of Petro-Violence. New York: Palgrave MacMillan.
- O'Donnell, Guillermo. 2004. "The Quality of Democracy: Why the Rule of Law Matters." *Journal of Democracy* 15, 4: 32–46. http://dx.doi.org/10.1353/jod.2004.0076.
- OECD. 2003. Fighting Corruption: What Role for Civil Society? The Experience of the OECD. https://www.oecd. org/daf/anti-bribery/anti-briberyconvention/19567549.pdf.
- OECD. 2007. "Policies for a Better Environment: Progress in Eastern Europe, Caucasus and Central Asia." https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/docserver/9789264027350-en. pdf?expires=1549376423&id=id&accname=ocid44008324&checksum=540BF355B3E0D-363C56E484A77CA8408.
- OECD. 2013. "Government at a Glance 2013." https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/governance/ government-at-a-glance-2013/trust-in-government-policy-effectiveness-and-the-governance-agenda_gov_glance-2013-6-en;jsessionid=IpIcqyIruM-eDPs5qWQc28yA.ip-10-240-5-23.
- OECD. 2014. OECD Foreign Bribery Report: An Analysis of the Crime of Bribery of Foreign Public Officials. Paris: OECD Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264226616-en.
- OECD. 2016. Corruption in the Extractive Value Chain: Typology of Risks, Mitigation Measures and Incentives. Paris: OECD Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264256569-en.
- OECD. 2018. State-Owned Enterprises and Corruption: What Are the Risks and What Can Be Done? OECD Publishing, Paris. https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264303058-en.
- Öge, Kerem. 2016a. "Which Transparency Matters? Compliance with Anti-Corruption Efforts in Extractive Industries." *Resources Policy* 49: 41–50. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resourpol.2016.04.001.
- Öge, Kerem. 2016b. "To Disclose or Not to Disclose: How Global Competition for Foreign Direct Investment Influences Transparency Reforms in Extractive Industries." *Energy Policy* 98: 133–141. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.enpol.2016.08.019.

- Okeowo, Gabriel. 2019. "Nigeria's Petrol Subsidy Regime." BudgIT. http://fixouroil.com/wp-content/ uploads/2019/03/Nigerias-Petrol-Subsidy-Regime_BudgIT.pdf.
- Ölcer, Dilan. 2009. "Extracting the Maximum from the EITI." Working Paper. OECD Development Centre Working Papers, Paris, France. https://eiti.org/document/extracting-maximum-from-eiti.
- Olken, Benjamin A. 2006. "Corruption and the Costs of Redistribution: Micro Evidence from Indonesia." *Journal of Public Economics* 90, no 4–5: 853–870. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpubeco.2005.05.004.
- Olken, Benjamin A. 2007. "Monitoring Corruption: Evidence from a Field Experiment in Indonesia." *Journal of Political Economy* 115, no. 2: 200–249. https://doi.org/10.1086/517935.
- Olsson, Ola, and Heather Congdon Fors. 2004. "Congo: The Prize of Predation." *Journal of Peace Research* 41, no. 3: 321–336. https://www.jstor.org/stable/4149747.
- O'Meally, Simon C. 2013. "Mapping Context for Social Accountability: A Resource Paper." World Bank. http:// siteresources.worldbank.org/EXTSOCIALDEVELOPMENT/Resources/244362-1193949504055/ Context_and_SAcc_RESOURCE_PAPER.pdf.
- Open Government Partnership (OGP). 2015. "Open Government Guide." https://www.opengovpartnership. org/documents/the-open-government-guide/.
- Open Government Partnership (OGP). 2018a. "Opportunities for EITI-OGP Collaboration in 2018." EITI and OGP. https://www.opengovpartnership.org/sites/default/files/OGP_EITI_MoU_20180405.pdf.
- Open Government Partnership (OGP). 2018b. "OGP Explorer: All Commitments." OGP. http://www.opengovpartnership.org/explorer/all-data.html.
- Open Government Partnership (OGP). n.d. "Governing the Earth's Natural Resources: Utilizing the Open Government Partnership for Meaningful Reform." Open Government Partnership, World Resources Institute, and Natural Resource Governance Institute. https://resourcegovernance.org/sites/default/ files/ONR-WG_ExecutiveSummary.pdf.
- OpenOil. 2016. "Financial Analysis of the Acacia Mining Tax Dispute." http://openoil.net/wp/wp-content/ uploads/2014/09/Acacia-Tax-Dispute-Briefing-160610_v0.2.pdf.
- OpenOwnership and Global Witness. 2017. "Learning the Lessons from the UK's Public Beneficial Ownership Register." October 2017. https://www.globalwitness.org/en/campaigns/ corruption-and-money-laundering/learning-lessons-uks-public-beneficial-ownership-register/.
- Orjuela, Camilla. 2014. "Corruption and Identity Politics in Divided Societies." *Third World Quarterly* 35, no. 5. https://doi.org/10.1080/01436597.2014.921426.

- Østensen, Åse Gilje, and Mats Stridsman. 2017. "Shadow Value Chains: Tracing the Link between Corruption, Illicit Activity and Lootable Natural Resources from West Africa." U4 Anti-Corruption Resource Centre, Chr. Michelsen Institute. https://www.u4.no/publications/shadow-value-chains-tracing-the-link-between-corruption-illicit-activity-and-lootable-natural-resources-from-west-africa.
- Ostrom, Elinor. 2010. "Polycentric Systems for Coping with Collective Action and Global Environmental Change." *Global Environmental Change* 20, no. 4: 550–557. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. gloenvcha.2010.07.004.
- Oxfam. 2017. "Testing Community Consent: Tullow Oil Project in Kenya." https://oxf.am/2Hws6ig.
- Oxfam Australia. 2010. "Guide to Free Prior and Informed Consent." https://www.culturalsurvival.org/sites/ default/files/guidetofreepriorinformedconsent_0.pdf.
- Pact. n.d. "Mines to Markets." https://www.pactworld.org/mines-markets.
- Page, Matthew. 2018. "A New Taxonomy for Corruption in Nigeria." Carnegie Endowment for International Peace. https://carnegieendowment.org/2018/07/17/ new-taxonomy-for-corruption-in-nigeria-pub-76811.
- Pan, Lei, and Luc Christiaensen. 2012. "Who Is Vouching for the Input Voucher? Decentralized Targeting and Elite Capture in Tanzania." *World Development* 40, no. 8: 1619–1633. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. worlddev.2012.04.012.
- Pande, Suchi. 2008. "The Right to Information and Societal Accountability: The Case of the Delhi PDS Campaign." IDS Bulletin 38, no. 6: 47–55. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1759-5436.2007.tb00418.x.
- Papyrakis, Elissaios, and Reyer Gerlagh. 2004. "The Resource Curse Hypothesis and its Transmission Channels." *Journal of Comparative Economics* 32, no. 1: 181–193. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jce.2003.11.002.
- Papyrakis, Elissaios, Matthias Rieger, and Emma Gilberthorpe. 2017. "Corruption and the Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative." *The Journal of Development Studies* 53, no. 2: 295–309. https://doi.org/10.1080/00220388.2016.1160065.
- Parks, Thomas, and William Cole. 2010. "Political Settlements: Implications for International Development Policy and Practice." The Asia Foundation: Occasional Paper Series. https://www.asiafoundation. org/resources/pdfs/PoliticalSettlementsFINAL.pdf.
- Peisakhin, Leonid, and Paul Pinto. 2010. "Is Transparency an Effective Anti-Corruption Strategy? Evidence From a Field Experiment in India." *Regulation & Governance* 4, no. 3: 261–280. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1748-5991.2010.01081.x.
- Peixoto, Tiago. 2013. "The Uncertain Relationship Between Open Data and Accountability: A Response to Yu and Robinson's *The New Ambiguity of 'Open Government'.*" UCLA Law Review 60: 200-213. https:// www.uclalawreview.org/the-uncertain-relationship-between-open-data-and-accountability-a-response-to-yu-and-robinsons-the-new-ambiguity-of-open-government.

- Pellegrini, Lorenzo. 2011. "Causes of Corruption: A Survey of Cross-Country Analyses and Extended Results." In Corruption, Development and the Environment, 29–51. Springer, Dordrecht. https://link.springer. com/chapter/10.1007/978-94-007-0599-9_3.
- Pellegrini, Matteo, and Varsha Venugopal. 2013. "From Conflict to Collaboration: Lessons Learned from RWI Work at the Subnational Level." Natural Resource Governance Institute. https://resourcegovernance. org/analysis-tools/publications/conflict-collaboration-lessons-learned-rwi-work-subnational-level.
- Persson, Anna, Bo Rothstein, and Jan Teorell. 2013. "Why Anticorruption Reforms Fail—Systemic Corruption as a Collective Action Problem." *Governance* 26, no. 3: 449–471. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-0491.2012.01604.x.
- Petermann, Andrea, Juan Ignacio Guzmán, and John E. Tilton. 2007. "Mining and Corruption." *Resources Policy* 32, no. 3: 91–103. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resourpol.2007.08.003.
- Petkova, E., C. Maurer, N. Henninger, and F. Irwin. 2002. *Closing the Gap: Information, Participation, and Justice in Decision-Making for the Environment.* Washington, DC: World Resources Institute.
- Ponce, Aldo F. and Cynthia McClintock. 2014. "The Explosive Combination of Inefficient Local Bureaucracies and Mining Production: Evidence from Localized Societal Protests in Peru." *Latin American Politics and Society* 56, no. 3: 118-140. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1548-2456.2014.00243.x.
- Pousadela, Inés M., and Asmara Klein. 2016. "Against All Odds: The Perils of Fighting for Natural Resource Justice." CIVICUS and Publish What You Pay. https://www.civicus.org/index.php/media-resources/ reports-publications/2655-against-all-odds-the-perils-of-fighting-for-natural-resource.
- Prijosusilo, Bramantyo. 2012. "Indonesia: Fueling the Future." Revenue Watch Institute. https://resourcegovernance.org/analysis-tools/publications/indonesia-fueling-future.
- Pring, Coralie, Jon Vrushi, and Roberto Kukutschka. 2018. "Digging Deeper into Corruption, Violence against Journalists, and Active Civil Society." Transparency International. https://www.transparency.org/ news/feature/digging_deeper_into_corruption_violence_against_journalists.
- Pritchett, Lant. 2018. "NYU DRI Presentation by Lant Pritchett (Harvard). NYU DRI, February 21, 2018. Video, 1:28:22.

Publish What You Pay (PWYP). n.d. "EITI." PWYP. https://eiti.org/supporter/publish-what-you-pay-coalition.

- Radon, Jenik. 2016. "The Peruvian Mining Sector: Exploring Issues Related to Social License, Corruption, and Trans-Pacific Partnership Treaty."Columbia University School of International and Public Affairs 2016 Capstone Report. https://sipa.columbia.edu/file/3361/download?token=RPWkw3AQ.
- Raffler, Pia, Daniel L. Posner, and Doug Parkerson. 2018. "The Weakness of Bottom-Up Accountability: Experimental Evidence from the Ugandan Health Sector." Working Paper, Innovations for Policy Action. https://www.poverty-action.org/publication/ weakness-bottom-accountability-experimental-evidence-ugandan-health-sector.

- Rathinam, Francis, Priyanka Cardoz, Zeba Siddiqui, and Marie Gaarder. 2019. "Transparency and Accountability in the Extractives Sector: A Synthesis of What Works and What Does Not." International Initiative for Impact Evaluation (3ie) Working Paper. http://doi. org/10.23846/WP0033.
- Ravallion, Martin, Dominique van de Walle, Puja Dutta, and Rinku Murgai. 2013. "Testing Information Constraints on India's Largest Antipoverty Program." Policy Research Working Paper Series, World Bank. https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/15834.
- Raz, Joseph. 1979. The Authority of Law: Essays on Law and Morality. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press.
- Read, Lindsay, and Tamar Manuelyan Atinc. 2017. "Information for Accountability: Transparency and Citizen Engagement for Improved Service Delivery in Education Systems." The Brookings Institution. https:// www.brookings.edu/research/information-for-accountability-transparency-and-citizen-engagement-for-improved-service-delivery-in-education-systems.
- Readhead, Alexandra. 2016. "Preventing Tax Base Erosion in Africa: A Regional Study of Transfer Pricing Challenges in the Mining Sector." Natural Resource Governance Institute. https://resourcegovernance.org/analysis-tools/publications/ preventing-tax-base-erosion-africa-regional-study-transfer-pricing.
- Readhead, Alexandra. 2018. "Monitoring the Value of Mineral Exports: Policy Options for Governments." IGF-OECD Program to Address BEPS in Mining. http://www.oecd.org/tax/beps/monitoring-the-value-of-mineral-exports-oecd-igf.pdf.
- Readhead, Alexandra, Daniel Mulé, and Anton Op de Beke. 2018. "Examining the Crude Details." Oxfam International. https://oxf.am/2B4XEK9.
- Reinfeldt, Fredrik. 2018. "EITI Chair Statement in Response to USEITI Grievance Letter." EITI, May 30, 2018. https://eiti.org/document/statement-in-response-to-useiti-grievance-letter.
- Reinikka, Ritva, and Jakob Svensson. 2011. "The Power of Information in Public Services: Evidence from Education in Uganda." *Journal of Public Economics* 95, no. 7: 956–966. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jpubeco.2011.02.006.
- Reinikka, Ritva, and Jakob Svensson. 2001. "Explaining Leakage of Public Funds." World Bank. http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/551731468739539807/Explaining-leakage-of-public-funds.
- Reite, Torun, Arne Disch, David Gairdner, and Audun Gleinsik. 2011. "Achievements and Strategic Options: Evaluation of the Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative. Final Report." https://eiti.org/sites/ default/files/documents/2011-EITI-evaluation-report.pdf.
- Reporters Without Borders (RSF). 2016. "RSF Survey 2016." https://rsf.org/sites/default/files/ rsf_survey_en.pdf.
- Reporters Without Borders (RSF). 2018a. "Detailed methodology." 2018 World Press Freedom Index. https://rsf.org/en/detailed-methodology.

- Reporters Without Borders (RSF). 2018b. "Who owns the Media in Mongolia?" https://rsf.org/en/news/ who-owns-media-mongolia.
- Rettberg, Angelika and Juan Felipe Ortiz-Riomalo. 2016. "Golden Opportunity, or a New Twist on the Resource-Conflict Relationship: Links between the Drug Trade and Illegal Gold Mining in Colombia." *World Development* 84: 82–96. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2016.03.020.
- Rich, Eddie and Jonas Moberg. 2015. Beyond Governments: Making Collective Governance Work—Lessons from the Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative. New York: Greenleaf Publishing.
- Rigterink, Anouk S. 2010. "Natural Resources and Civil Conflict: An Overview of Controversies, Consensus, and Channels." *The Economics of Peace and Security Journal* 5, no. 2: 17–22. https://www.epsjournal. org.uk/index.php/EPSJ/article/view/115/109.
- Ríos, Mauricio O., Florian Bruyas, and Jodi Liss. 2015. "Preventing Conflict in Resource-Rich Countries: The Extractive Industries Value Chain as a Framework for Conflict Prevention: A Discussion Paper." The EU-UN Partnership on Land, Natural Resources and Conflict Prevention; The World Bank's Oil, Gas and Mining Unit, Energy and Extractives Global Practice. http://hdl.handle.net/10986/24081.
- Roberts, Alisdair. 2010. "A Great and Revolutionary Law? The First Four Years of India's Right to Information Act." *Public Administration Review* 70, no. 6: https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-6210.2010.02224.x.
- Robinson, Mark, Vinod Vyasulu. 2006. "Democratizing the Budget: Fundar's Budget Analysis and Advocacy Initiatives in Mexico." Fundar. https://www.internationalbudget.org/publications/ democratizing-the-budget-fundars-budget-analysis-and-advocacy-initiatives-in-mexico-2/.
- Robinson, James A., Ragnar Torvik, and Thierry Verdier. 2006. "Political Foundations of the Resource Curse." *Journal of Development Economics* 79, no. 2: 447–468. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdeveco.2006.01.008.
- Rocha Menocal, Alina, and Bhavna Sharma. 2008. "Joint Evaluation of Citizens' Voice and Accountability: Synthesis Report." Synthesis Report EV692. London, UK: DFID. https://www.odi.org/sites/odi.org. uk/files/odi-assets/publications-opinion-files/3425.pdf.
- Rocha Menocal, Alina, Nils Taxell, Jesper Stenberg Johnsøn, Maya Schmaljohann, Aranzazú Guillan Montero, Francesco De Simone, Kendra Dupuy, and Julia Tobias. 2015. "Why Corruption Matters: Understanding Causes, Effects, and How to Address Them." Overseas Development Institute. https://www.odi.org/publications/9652-corruption-matters.
- Rogan, Dyveke. 2016. "Improved Standard for Improved Sector Governance." Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative. https://eiti.org/blog/improved-standard-for-improved-sector-governance.

Rose-Ackerman, Susan. 1978. Corruption: A Study in Political Economy. New York: Academic Press.

- Rosenblum, Peter, and Susan Maples. 2009. "Contracts Confidential: Ending Secret Deals in the Extractive Industries." Revenue Watch Institute. https://resourcegovernance.org/analysis-tools/publications/ contracts-confidential-ending-secret-deals-extractive-industries.
- Ross, Michael L. 2001. "Does Oil Hinder Democracy?" *World Politics* 53, no. 3: 325–361. https://doi.org/10.1353/wp.2001.0011.
- Ross, Michael L. 2004. "What Do We Know About Natural Resources and Civil War?" Journal of Peace Research 41, no. 3: 337–356. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022343304043773.
- Ross, Michael L. 2012. The Oil Curse: How Petroleum Wealth Shapes the Development of Nations. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Ross, Michael L. 2015. "What Have We Learned about the Resource Curse?" *Annual Review of Political Science* 18, no. 1: 239–259. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-polisci-052213-040359.
- Ross, Tracy J. 2009. "A Test of Democracy: Ethiopia's Mass Media and Freedom of Information Proclamation." *Penn State Law Review* 114, no. 3: 1047–1066. http://pennstatelawreview.org/articles/114/114%20Penn%20St.%20L.%20Rev.%201047.pdf.
- Rothstein, Bo. 2009. "Creating Political Legitimacy: Electoral Democracy Versus Quality of Government." *AMERICAN BEHAVIORAL SCIENTIST*, no. 3: 311. http://search.ebscohost.com/login. aspx?direct=true&db=edsbl&AN=CN074460420&site=eds-live&scope=site.
- Rothstein, Bo. 2011. The Quality of Government: Corruption, Social Trust, and Inequality in International Perspective. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Rothstein, Bo. 2013. "Corruption and Social Trust: Why the Fish Rots from the Head Down." Social Research: An International Quarterly 80, no. 4: 1009–1032. https://muse.jhu.edu/article/541985/pdf.
- Rothstein, Bo, and Eric M. Uslaner. 2005. "All for All: Equality and Social Trust." LSE Health and Social Care Discussion Paper. https://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.824506.
- Rustad, Siri Aas and Helga Malmin Binningsbø. 2012. "A Price Worth Fighting For? Natural Resources and Conflict Recurrence." *Journal of Peace Research* 49, no. 4: 531–546.
- Rustad, Siri Aas, Philippe Le Billon, and Päivi Lujala. 2017. "Has the Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative Been a Success? Identifying and Evaluating EITI Goals." *Resources Policy* 51: 151–162. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resourpol.2016.12.004.
- Sabel, Charles F. 2004. "Beyond Principal-Agent Governance: Experimentalist Organizations, Learning, and Accountability." *Wetenschappelijke Raad Voor Het Regeringsbeleid*. https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/0a17/b2b6bc1463edb83da637511f13aff62848ff. pdf?_ga=2.82098582.1218133764.1571253168-1569580697.1568128117.

- Sachs, Jeffrey D., and Andrew M. Warner. 1997. "Natural Resource Abundance and Economic Growth." Center for International Development and Harvard Institute for International Development. https://doi.org/10.7916/D86T0TC1.
- Sakanko, Musa Abudullahi, James Obilikwu, and Joseph David. 2019. "Oil Price Volatility and Balance of Payments (BOP): Evidence of Nigeria." Bingham Journal of Economics Allied Studies (BJEAS) 2, No. 3 (June 2019): 167-181. https://www.researchgate.net/profile/ Joseph_David12/publication/334469703_OIL_PRICE_VOLATILITY_AND_BALANCE_OF_ PAYMENTS_BOP_EVIDENCE_OF_NIGERIA/links/5d2cf8a592851cf440871205/ OIL-PRICE-VOLATILITY-AND-BALANCE-OF-PAYMENTS-BOP-EVIDENCE-OF-NIGERIA.pdf.
- Sala-i-Martin, Xavier, and Arvind Subramanian. 2003. "Addressing the Natural Resource Curse: An Illustration from Nigeria." NBER Working Paper Series, National Bureau of Economic Research, Cambridge, MA. https://www.nber.org/papers/w9804.pdf.
- Sala-i-Martin, Xavier, and Arvind Subramanian. 2013. "Addressing the Natural Resource Curse: An Illustration from Nigeria." *Journal of African Economies* 22, no. 4: 570–615. https://doi.org/10.1093/jae/ejs033.
- Sampford, Charles, Arthur Shacklock, Carmel Conors, and Fredrik Galtung, eds. 2006. *Measuring Corruption*. Aldershot, UK: Ashgate Publishing.
- Sanborn, Cynthia A., Tania Ramírez, and Verónica Hurtado. 2017. "Mining, Political Settlements and Inclusive Development in Peru (ESID Working Paper No. 79)." ESID Working Paper Series, The University of Manchester, Manchester, England. http://www.effective-states.org/wp-content/uploads/working_ papers/final-pdfs/esid_wp_79_sanborn_ramirez_hurtado.pdf.
- Sanchez de la Sierra, Raul. 2014. "On the Origin of States: Stationary Bandits and Taxation in Eastern Congo." Working Paper, University of California, Berkeley. http://cpd.berkeley.edu/wp-content/ uploads/2016/02/Bandits-or-states.pdf.
- Sanusi, Lamido. 2013. "Dear Mr. President, The NNPC Has Stolen \$50 Billion of Crude Oil Earnings'—Transcript of The Letter from The CBN Gov To President Jonathan." Sahara Reporters (Nigeria), December 10, 2013. http://saharareporters.com/2013/12/10/ dear-mr-president-nnpc-has-stolen-50-billion-crude-oil-earnings-transcript-letter-cbn-gov.
- Sanusi, Lamido. 2015. "Unanswered Questions on Nigeria's Missing Oil Revenue Billions." *Financial Times*, May 13, 2015. https://www.ft.com/content/e337c7a4-f4a2-11e4-8a42-00144feab7de.
- Sayne, Aaron, Alexandra Gillies, and Christina Katsouris. 2015. "Inside NNPC Oil Sales: A Case for Reform in Nigeria." Natural Resource Governance Institute. https://resourcegovernance.org/sites/default/ files/documents/nrgi_insidennpcoilsales_mainreport.pdf.
- Sayne, Aaron, and Alexandra Gillies. 2016. "Initial Evidence of Corruption Risks in Government Oil and Gas Sales." Natural Resource Governance Institute. https://resourcegovernance.org/analysis-tools/ publications/initial-evidence-corruption-risks-government-oil-and-gas-sales.

- Sayne, Aaron, Alexandra Gillies, and Andrew Watkins. 2017. "Twelve Red Flags: Corruption Risks in the Award of Extractive Sector Licenses and Contracts." Natural Resource Governance Institute. https://resourcegovernance.org/analysis-tools/publications/ twelve-red-flags-corruption-risks-award-extractive-sector-licenses-and.
- Schedler, Andreas. 1999. "Conceptualizing Accountability." In *The Self-Restraining State: Power and Accountability in New Democracies*, edited by Andreas Schedler, Larry Diamond, and Marc F. Plattner, 13–28. Boulder, CO: Lynne Rienner Publishing.
- Schiffrin, Anya, and George Lugalambi, eds. 2017. *African Muckracking:* 75 Years of Investigative Journalism from Africa. Auckland Park, South Africa: Jacana Media.
- Schilling-Vacaflor, Almut. 2012. "Democratizing Resource Governance through Prior Consultations? Lessons from Bolivia's Hydrocarbon Sector." GIGA Working Paper Series. https://www.giga-hamburg.de/en/ publication/democratizing-resource-governance-through-prior-consultations-lessons-from-bolivia%E2%80%99s.
- Schuler, Douglas A. 2012. "A Club Theory Approach to Voluntary Social Programs: Multinational Companies and the Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative." *Business and Politics* 14, no. 3: 1–24. https://doi.org/10.1515/bap-2012-0024.
- SDN. 2015. "Spotlight Issue: Nigeria's Fuel Subsidy." Stakeholder Democracy Network (SDN). http://www.stakeholderdemocracy.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/09/SPOTLIGHT-ISSUE-NIGERIA%E2%80%99S-FUEL-SUBSIDY-HC.pdf.
- Seawright, Jason. 2016. "The Case for Selecting Cases That Are Deviant or Extreme on the Independent Variable." *Sociological Methods & Research* 45, no. 3: 493–525. https://doi. org/10.1177/0049124116643556.
- Selfa, Theresa. 2004. "Mobilizing at the Frontier: Framing Social Justice Claims in a Natural Resources Management Project in Rondônia, Brazil." Society & Natural Resources 17, no. 8: 717-734. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/08941920490480714.
- Sen, Sucharita. 2016. "Revisiting the Participatory Model of Development: Institutional Survival in Watershed Programmes in Four Indian States." Social Change 46, no. 4: 526–543. https://doi.org/10.1177/0258042X16666597.
- Sexton, Renard. 2017. "The Perverse Effects of Civic Education: Evidence from a Field Experiment in Peru." Innovations for Poverty Action. https://www.poverty-action.org/sites/default/files/publications/ Accountability_Conflict_Peru.pdf.
- Shah, Anwar, ed. 2007. "Participatory Budgeting." World Bank. http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/ en/635011468330986995/Participatory-budgeting.
- Sharma, Bhavna. 2009. "Voice, Accountability, and Civic Engagement: A Conceptual Overview." United Nations Development Programme Oslo Governance Centre. https://www.odi.org/sites/odi.org.uk/files/ odi-assets/publications-opinion-files/3349.pdf.

- Short, Clare. 2012. "The EITI Ten Years On: Achievements and Challenges." (Speech delivered at Governance and Transparency: The Second Oxford Anti-Corruption Conference—Kellog College, University of Oxford, 19 January 2012). https://www.clareshort.org/speeches/eiti-ten-years-on.
- Shortell, Paul, and Maw Htun Aung. 2016. "Mineral and Gemstone Licensing in Myanmar." Natural Resource Governance Institute. https://resourcegovernance.org/analysis-tools/publications/ mineral-and-gemstone-licensing-myanmar.
- Siregar, Fajri, Mona Luthfina Usmani, Larastri Kumaralalita, Halida Nufaisa, and Dinita Andriana Putri. 2017. "Complaining to Improve Governance: Four Stories of Complaint—Handling Systems in Indonesia." Making All Voices Count. http://www.makingallvoicescount.org/publication/ complaining-improve-governance-four-stories-complaint-handling-systems-indonesia.
- Sirker, Karen, and Sladjana Cosic. 2007. "Empowering the Marginalized: Case Studies of Social Accountability Initiatives in Asia." World Bank. http:// documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/922061468206055176/ Empowering-the-marginalized-case-studies-of-social-accountability-initiatives-in-Asia.
- Skaperdas, Stergios. 2002. "Warlord Competition." *Journal of Peace Research* 39, no. 4: 435–446. https://www.jstor.org/stable/1555276.
- Smith, Benjamin. 2007. Hard Times in the Lands of Plenty: Oil Politics in Iran and Indonesia. Ithaca, NY: Cornell University Press.
- Smith, Daniel Jordan. 2014. "Corruption Complaints, Inequality and Ethnic Grievances in Post-Biafra Nigeria." Third World Quarterly 35, no. 5: 787–802. https://doi.org/10.1080/01436597.2014.921430.
- Smith, Erin, and Peter Rosenblum. 2011. "Enforcing the Rules." Revenue Watch Institute. https://resourcegovernance.org/analysis-tools/publications/enforcing-rules.
- Snell, Rick, and Peter Sebina. 2007. "Information Flows: The Real Art of Information Management and Freedom of Information." *Archives and Manuscripts* 35, no. 1: 54–81. https://eprints.utas.edu. au/3983/1/3983.pdf.
- Snyder, Richard. 2001. "Scaling Down: The Subnational Comparative Method." Studies in Comparative International Development 36, no. 1: 93–110. https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/BF02687586.
- Snyder, Richard, and Ravi Bhavnani. 2005. "Diamonds, Blood, and Taxes: A Revenue-Centered Framework for Explaining Political Order." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 49, no. 4: 563–597. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022002705277796.
- Songwe, Vera, Nelipher Moyo. 2012. "Removal of Fuel Subsidies in Nigeria: An Economic Necessity and a Political Dilemma." The Brookings Institution. https://www.brookings.edu/opinions/ removal-of-fuel-subsidies-in-nigeria-an-economic-necessity-and-a-political-dilemma/.
- Sovacool, Benjamin K, and Nathan Andrews. 2015. "Does Transparency Matter? Evaluating the Governance Impacts of the Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative (EITI) in Azerbaijan and Liberia." *Resources Policy* 45: 183-192. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resourpol.2015.04.003.

- Sovacool, Benjamin K., Götz Walter, Thijs Van de Graaf, and Nathan Andrews. 2016. "Energy Governance, Transnational Rules, and the Resource Curse: Exploring the Effectiveness of the Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative (EITI)." World Development 83: 179–192. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2016.01.021.
- Standing, André, and Gavin Hilson. 2013. "Distributing Mining Wealth to Communities in Ghana: Addressing Problems of Elite Capture and Political Corruption." U4 Anti-Corruption Centre, Chr. Michelsen Institute. https://www.u4.no/publications/distributing-mining-wealth-to-communities-in-ghana-addressing-problems-of-elite-capture-and-political-corruption.
- Stapenhurst, Rick. 2000. "The Media Role in Curbing Corruption." World Bank. https://www.researchgate. net/publication/265232533_The_Media_Role_in_Curbing_Corruption.
- Stapenhurst, Rick, and Mitchell O'Brien. n.d. "Accountability in Governance." World Bank. https://siteresources.worldbank.org/PUBLICSECTORANDGOVERNANCE/Resources/ AccountabilityGovernance.pdf.
- Stevens, Paul, and Evelyn Dietsche. 2008. "Resource Curse: An Analysis of Causes, Experiences and Possible Ways Forward." *Energy Policy* 31, no. 1: 56–65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2007.10.003.
- Stevens, Paul, and Glada Lahn, Jaakko Kooroshy. 2015. "The Resource Curse Revisited." Chatham House. https://www.chathamhouse.org/sites/default/files/publications/research/20150804Resource-CurseRevisitedStevensLahnKooroshyFinal.pdf.
- Stiglitz, Joseph. 1999. "On Liberty, the Right to Know, and Public Discourse: The Role of Transparency in Public Life." Oxford Amnesty Lecture, Oxford, UK, January 27, 1999. https://www8.gsb.columbia. edu/researcharchive/articles/1475.
- Stringer, Rebecca. 2014. "The Power of Talk: Media and Accountability in Three African Countries." BBC Media Action. https://www.bbc.co.uk/mediaaction/publications-and-resources/policy/briefings/ policy-power-of-talk.
- Sweetman, Caroline, and Maria Ezpeleta. 2017. "Introduction: Natural Resource Justice." *Gender and Development* 25, no. 3: 353–366. https://doi.org/10.1080/13552074.2017.1395138.
- Sztykowski, Zosia, and Chris Taggart. 2017. "What We Really Mean When We Talk About Verification (Part 1 of 4)." OpenOwnership. https://openownership.org/news/ what-we-really-mean-when-we-talk-about-verification-part-1-of-4.
- Sztykowski, Zosia. 2018. "What We Really Mean When We Talk About Verification: Truth Verification (Part 4 of 4)." OpenOwnership. https://openownership.org/news/ what-we-really-mean-when-we-talk-about-verification-truth-verification-part-4-of-4.
- Terwindt, Carolijn, and Christian Schliemann. 2017. *Tricky Business: Space for Civil Society in Natural Resource Struggles*. Berlin: Heinrich Böll Foundation Publication Series on Democracy. https://www.boell.de/en/2017/12/07/tricky-business.

- Tetra Tech. n.d. "Property Rights and Artisanal Diamond Development, Africa." https://www.tetratech.com/ en/projects/property-rights-and-artisanal-diamond-development-africa.
- Themudo, Nuno S. 2013. "Reassessing the Impact of Civil Society: Nonprofit Sector, Press Freedom, and Corruption." *Governance* 26, no. 1: https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-0491.2012.01602.x.
- Toto Same, Achille. 2008. "Mineral-Rich Countries and Dutch Disease: Understanding the Macroeconomic Implications of Windfalls and the Development Prospects: The Case of Equatorial Guinea." World Bank Policy Research Working Paper 4595. https://doi.org/10.1596/1813-9450-4595.
- Transparency International. 2017. "Corruption Perceptions Index 2017: Full Source Description." http:// files.transparency.org/content/download/2181/13740/file/CPI_2017_SourceDescription%20 Document_EN.pdf.
- Transparency International. n.d. "How Do You Define Corruption?" https://www.transparency.org/ what-is-corruption#define.
- Transparency International (TI) Zimbabwe. 2012. "Annual State of Corruption Report 2012: A Look at the Mining Sector in Zimbabwe—Gold, Diamonds, and Platinum." http://www.tizim.org/tizim.org/ wp-content/uploads/2016/05/Report4.pdf.
- Transparency for Development (T4D). 2017. "Citizen Voices, Community Solutions: Designing Better Transparency and Accountability Approaches to Improve Health." Ash Center Occasional Papers, Harvard Kennedy School Ash Center for Democratic Governance and Innovation. https://ash.harvard.edu/files/ash/files/citizen_voices_community_solutions.pdf.
- Triwibowo, Darmawan, and Nelson A. Seixas Miranda. 2016. "Investing for the Future: Timor-Leste's Petroleum Fund." Case Study. Natural Resource Governance Institute. https://resourcegovernance. org/analysis-tools/publications/investing-future-timor-leste%E2%80%99s-petroleum-fund.
- Umar, Muhammad Sani, Tijjani Bashir Musa. 2013. "Stock Prices and Firm Earning Per Share in Nigeria." Journal of Research in National Development 11(2): 187–192. https://www.transcampus.org/ JORINDV11Dec2013/Jorind%20Vol11%20No2%20Dec%20Chapter22.pdf.
- United Nations. 1948. "Universal Declaration of Human Rights." http://www.un.org/en/ universal-declaration-human-rights.
- United Nations (UN). 2004. "The Rule of Law and Transitional Justice in Conflict and Post-Conflict Societies: Report of the Secretary-General." http://www.un.org/en/ga/search/view_doc. asp?symbol=S/2004/616.
- United Nations Conference on Trade and Development (UNCTAD). 2015. "The State of Commodity Dependence 2014." New-York and Geneva: UNCTAD. https://unctad.org/en/pages/ PublicationWebflyer.aspx?publicationid=1171.

- United Nations Development Programme (UNDP). 2016. "Corruption Risk Assessment in Mining Sector of Mongolia." http://www.mn.undp.org/content/dam/mongolia/Publications/DemGov/20160603_ MiningCorruptionStudy/Corruption%20risk%20assessment_Mining_Eng.pdf.
- United Nations Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights (UNOHCHR). n.d. "Human Rights Defenders: Protecting the Right to Defend Human Rights." UNOHCHR Fact Sheet. https://www. ohchr.org/Documents/Publications/FactSheet29en.pdf.
- Uphoff, Norman. 1998. "Community-Based Natural Resource Management: Connecting Micro and Macro Processes, and People With Their Environments." Plenary Presentation, International CBNRM Workshop, Washington, DC, May 10–14, 1998.
- Uslaner, Eric M. 2008. "Does Diversity Drive Down Trust?" In *Civil Society, the State and Social Capital: Theory, Evidence and Policy*, edited by Per Selle and Sanjeev Prakash. London: Routledge.
- Vadlamannati, Krishna Chaitanya, and Arusha Cooray. 2016. "Do Freedom of Information Laws Improve Bureaucratic Efficiency? An Empirical Investigation." *Oxford Economic Papers* 68, no. 4: 968–993. https://doi.org/10.1093/oep/gpw008.
- Vadlamannati, Krishna Chaitanya, and Arusha Cooray. 2017. "Transparency Pays? Evaluating the Effects of the Freedom of Information Laws on Perceived Government Corruption." *The Journal of Development Studies* 53, no. 1: 116–137. https://doi.org/10.1080/00220388.2016.1178385.
- Van Alstine, James. 2014. "Transparency in Energy Governance: The Extractives Industries Transparency Initiative and Publish What You Pay Campaign." In *Transparency in Global Environmental Governance: Critical Perspectives*, edited by Aarti Gupta and Michael Mason, 249–270. Cambridge, MA: The MIT Press.
- Van Alstine, James. 2017. "Critical Reflections on 15 Years of the Extractives Industries Transparency Initiative (EITI)." *The Extractive Industries and Society* 4, no. 4: 766–770. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. exis.2017.10.010.
- Van der Ploeg, Frederick. 2006. "Challenges and Opportunities for Resource Rich Economies." CEPR Discussion Paper, Centre for Economic Policy Research. https://ssrn.com/abstract=921856.
- Van der Ploeg, Frederick. 2007. "Africa and Natural Resources: Managing Natural Resources for Sustainable Growth." African Development Bank Annual Report 2007. https://www.researchgate.net/ publication/265073068_AFRICA_AND_NATURAL_RESOURCES_Managing_Natural_Resources_ for_Sustainable_Growth_1.
- Van der Ploeg, Frederick. 2011. "Natural Resources: Curse or Blessing?" *Journal of Economic Literature*, 49, no. 2: 366–420. https://www.jstor.org/stable/23071620.
- Van der Ploeg, Frederick, and Steven Poelhekke. 2009. "Volatility and the Natural Resource Curse." Oxford Economic Papers 61, no. 4: 727–760. https://doi.org/10.1093/oep/gpp027.

- Van Oranje, Mabel, and Henry Parham. 2009. "Publishing What We Learned: An Assessment of the Publish What You Pay Coalition." Publish What You Pay. http://www.publishwhatyoupay.org/wp-content/ uploads/2015/06/Publishing-What-We-Learned.pdf.
- Vásquez, Ian, and Tanja Porčnik. 2017. "The Human Freedom Index 2017." The Cato Institute, The Fraser Institute, and the Friedrich Naumann Foundation for Freedom. https://object.cato.org/sites/cato. org/files/human-freedom-index-files/2017-human-freedom-index-2.pdf.
- Venables, Anthony J. 2016. "Using Natural Resources for Development: Why Has It Proven So Difficult?" Journal of Economic Perspectives 30, no. 1: 161–184. https://pubs.aeaweb.org/doi/pdfplus/10.1257/ jep.30.1.161.
- Venugopal, Varsha. 2014. "Assessing Mineral Licensing in a Decentralized Context: The Case of Indonesia." Natural Resource Governance Institute. https://resourcegovernance.org/analysis-tools/ publications/assessing-mineral-licensing-decentralized-context-case-indonesia.
- Vicente, Pedro C. 2010. "Does Oil Corrupt? Evidence from a Natural Experiment in West Africa." *Journal of Development Economics* 92, no. 1: 28–38. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdeveco.2009.01.005.
- Votava, Cari L., Jeanne M. Hauch, and Francesco Clementucci. 2018. *License to Drill: A Manual on Integrity Due Diligence for Licensing in Extractive Sectors*. World Bank. http://hdl.handle.net/10986/29809.
- Wacziarg, Romain. 2012. "The First Law of Petropolitics." *Economica* 79, no. 4: 641–657. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-0335.2011.00902.x.
- Wagner, Livia. 2016. "Organized Crime and Illegally Mined Gold in Latin America." The Global Initiative Against Transnational Organized Crime. https://arcominero.infoamazonia.org/GIATOC-OC_ Illegally-Mined-Gold-in-Latin-America-3c3f978eef80083bdd8780d7c5a21f1e.pdf.
- Walter, Martin. 2016. "Extractives in Latin America and the Caribbean: The Basics." Inter-American Development Bank. https://publications.iadb.org/en/publication/12378/ extractives-latin-america-and-caribbean-basics.
- Wapner, Abraham. 2017. "Downstream Beneficiation Case Study: Nigeria." Columbia Center on Sustainable Investment. http://ccsi.columbia.edu/files/2013/10/Nigeria-Case-Study-May-2017_ CCSI-Final-2.pdf.
- Wentz, Jessica. 2017. "Trump Appointees at Environmental, Energy and Natural Resource Management Agencies: Not Much Expertise, Plenty of Fossil Fuel Connections." Climate Law Blog, Sabin Center for Climate Change Law, April 10, 2017. http://blogs.law.columbia.edu/climatechange/2017/04/10/ trump-appointees-at-environmental-energy-and-natural-resource-management-agencies-not-much-expertise-plenty-of-fossil-fuel-connections/.
- Westenberg, Erica. 2018. "Leveraging Beneficial Ownership Information in the Extractive Sector." Natural Resource Governance Institute (NRGI). https://resourcegovernance.org/analysis-tools/ publications/leveraging-beneficial-ownership-information-extractive-sector.

- Westenberg, Erica, and Max George-Wagner. 2015. "From Reporting to Reform: Eleven Opportunities for Increasing EITI Impacts." Natural Resource Governance Institute. https://resourcegovernance.org/ analysis-tools/publications/reporting-reform-eleven-opportunities-increasing-eiti-impacts.
- Westenberg, Erica and Aaron Sayne. 2018. "Beneficial Ownership Screening: Practical Measures to Reduce Corruption Risks in Extractives Licensing." Natural Resource Governance Institute. https://resourcegovernance.org/sites/default/files/documents/beneficial-ownership-screening_0.pdf.
- Wetterberg, Anna, Jana C. Hertz, and Derick W. Brinkerhoff. 2015. "Social Accountability in Frontline Service Delivery: Citizen Empowerment and State Response in Four Indonesian Districts." International Development Working Paper Series, RTI International. https://www.rti.org/publication/ social-accountability-frontline-service-delivery-0.
- Wetterberg, Anna, Jana C. Hertz, and Derick W. Brinkerhoff. 2018. "Social Accountability in Frontline Service Delivery: Citizen Engagement and Provider Response in Four Indonesian Districts." *Development Policy Review* 36, no. S1: 0564–0585. https://doi.org/10.1111/dpr.12273.
- Whitmire, Kyle. 2018. "Dirty Business: How Alabama conspired against its own people." AL.com, July 29, 2018. https://www.al.com/news/2018/07/dirty_business_how_alabama_con.html.
- Whitt, J. Preston. 2013. "Humala's Peruvian Impotence: Forced Equilibrium in Latin American International Political Economy." *The 2013 Elliott School Undergraduate Scholars Journal*: 27–46. https://elliott.gwu. edu/sites/g/files/zaxdzs2141/f/downloads/acad/advising/ugrad-scholars-2013-journal.pdf.
- Wiens, David. 2015. "Natural Resources and Government Responsiveness." *Politics, Philosophy, and Economics* 14, no. 1: 84–105. https://doi.org/10.1177/1470594X13496755.
- Williams, Aled, and Kendra Dupuy. 2016. "At the Extremes: Corruption in Natural Resource Management Revisited." U4 Anti-Corruption Resource Center, Chr. Michelsen Institute. https://www.u4.no/ publications/at-the-extremes-corruption-in-natural-resource-management-revisited.
- Williamson, Vanessa, and Norman Eisen. 2016. "The Impact of Open Government: Assessing the Evidence." The Brookings Institution. https://www.brookings.edu/research/ the-impact-of-open-government-assessing-the-evidence.
- Wingqvist, Gunilla Ölund, Olof Drakenberg, Daniel Slunge, Martin Slöstedt, and Anders Ekborn. 2012. "The Role of Governance for Improved Environmental Outcomes." Swedish Environmental Protection Agency. https://www.naturvardsverket.se/Documents/publikationer6400/978-91-620-6514-0.pdf.
- Worker, Jesse, and Lalanath de Silva. 2015. "The Environmental Democracy Index Technical Note." World Resources Institute. https://environmentaldemocracyindex.org/sites/default/files/files/EDI_ Technical%20Note%20Final%207_9_15.pdf.
- World Bank. 1996. "The World Bank Participation Sourcebook." http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/ en/289471468741587739/The-World-Bank-participation-sourcebook.

- World Bank. 1997. "Helping Countries Combat Corruption: The Role of the World Bank." http://www1.worldbank.org/publicsector/anticorrupt/corruptn.pdf.
- World Bank. 2003. "World Development Report 2004: Making Services Work for Poor People." http://hdl.handle.net/10986/5986.
- World Bank. 2016. "Making Politics Work for Development: Harnessing Transparency and Citizen Engagement." http://www.worldbank.org/en/research/publication/ making-politics-work-for-development.
- World Bank. 2017. "World Development Report 2017: Governance and the Law." http://www.worldbank.org/ en/publication/wdr2017.
- World Bank. 2018. "Engaging Citizens for Better Development Results: An Independent Evaluation." Independent Evaluation Group, Washington, DC: World Bank. https://ieg.worldbankgroup.org/ sites/default/files/Data/Evaluation/files/Engaging_Citizens_for_Better_Development_Results_ FullReport.pdf.
- World Bank. n.d.a. "Government Effectiveness." https://info.worldbank.org/governance/wgi/pdf/ge.pdf.
- World Bank. n.d.b. "Political Stability and Absence of Violence/Terrorism." http://info.worldbank.org/ governance/wgi/pdf/pv.pdf.
- World Bank. n.d.c. "Rule of Law." http://info.worldbank.org/governance/wgi/pdf/rl.pdf.
- World Bank Group. n.d. "Worldwide Governance Indicators." http://info.worldbank.org/governance/wgi/ index.aspx#home.
- World Resources Institute. 2015. "Environmental Democracy Index." World Resources Institute. https://environmentaldemocracyindex.org.
- World Trade Organization. 2010. "World Trade Report 2010." https://www.wto.org/english/res_e/booksp_e/anrep_e/wtr10-2b_e.pdf.
- Worthy, Ben. 2010. "More Open but Not More Trusted? The Effect of the Freedom of Information Act 2000 on the United Kingdom Central Government." *Governance* 23, no. 4: 561–582. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-0491.2010.01498.x.







Leveraging Transparency to Reduce Corruption

LTRC is a research project led by the Brookings Institution and supported by Results for Development (R4D) and the Natural Resource Governance Institute (NRGI).

For more information on LTRC, please visit www.brookings.edu/about-the-leveraging-transparencyto-reduce-corruption-project/ or contact us at LTRC@brookings.edu.